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Synthomer plc

We continue to make good progress towards our strategic objectives despite challenging market
conditions in 2019. The acquisition of the highly complementary OMNOVA Solutions inc will
extend our geographic reach, expand our global platform and allow us to further differentiate our
business. Our successful capital investment expansion programme in 2018/2019 positions us well
to capture higher-than-market growth and extend cur leadership positions in our core markets.

Whe we are

Synthomer is a speciality chemicals company and
one of the world's leading suppliers of water-based
polymers. With strong geographic and end market
diversity combined with product differentiation,
Synthorner holds leadership positions in a wide
range of rmarkets including coatings, construction,
texties, paper and healthcare.

Our purpose

As a global Jeader in water-based polymer
chemistry, our purpose is to continually innovate
to meet the needs of our customers and society

in a sustainable way.

What we do

We operate through three global businesses -
Performance Elastorners (PE);

Functional Solutions (FS); and

industrial Specialities {IS).

Performance Elastomers is focused on
healthcare, carpet and paper markets through
our Nitrile Butadiene Rubber latex (NBR)

and Styrene Butadiene Rubber atex (SBR)
water-based products. Functional Solutions is
iocused on coatings, construction, adhesives
and technical textiles markets through our
acrylic and vinylic water-based dispersions.

BUILDING GLOBAL

Industrial Specialities is focused on our speciality
chemical additives and non-water-based
chemistry for a broad range of applications from
polymer additives and monomers to emerging
materials and technologies.

Qur culture

Synthomer is fully committed to building a
business where the people, purpose, culture
and values of the Group are fully aligned.
Synthomer is a diverse glebal company with an
inclusive culture which embodies meritocracy,
openness, fairness and transparency.

OQur values

Synthomer has five core values. At the heart

of our business is SHE (Safety, Health and
Environmental) — we aiways have time to work
safely. We are accountable — we deliver our
pramises. On innovation — we welcome change
and new ideas, For teamwork — we recognise that
we are stronger as one team. For integrity - we act
with integrity and show respect.

DIFFERENTIATION

Financial highlights (see page 154 for definitions}

EBITDA Underlying PBT Underlying EPS

£177.9m £116.2m 25.3p

Free Cash Flow

£92.8m

2018:£181.0m 2018; £135.1m 2018: 30.7p

Nen-Financial Highlights

Volume Sales volume from Recordable accident
new products frequency rate

1,465, kes 22% 0.20

2018:1,517.6ktes 2018: 1% 2018: 0.23

Underlying statement

Profit before tax IFRS basic earnings
per share

£100.5m 21.5p

2018: £120.3m 2018: 27.4p

Energy consumplion

3.63cun

The Group's management uses Underlying performance to plan far, control and assess the performance of the Group. Underlying performance ditfers from the statutory IFRS performance
as it excludes the effect of Special items, which are detailed in note 4. The Board's view s that Underlying performance provides additional clarity for the Group’s mvestors and stakeholders
and $0 it1s the primary focus of the Group's narrative reporting. Where appropriate, IFRS performance inclusive of Special ltems 1s aiso described. References to 'unit margin' and ‘margin' are
used in the commentary on Underdying performance Unit margin {or margin} is caiculated on selling price less variable raw malerial and logistics costs,
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Strategic Repart

Synthomer at a glance

Innovative solutions that create and sustain value

2,900

smployees

Over

4,000

customers

25

production sites

22%

of sales volume
from producis
less than five years old

What we

produce
{Revenue)

Performance Elastomers
Funcuonal Sowons
Industrial Speciahties

Performance Functional
Elastomers Soilutions
Volume Volume
1. Papes 32.4% 1. Coafings 33 4%
2. Health & Protection 39.6% 2. Textiles 23.4%
3. Carpet 9.9% 3. Canstruction 221%
4, Compounds 2.8% 4. Adhesives 13.8%
5. Foam 8.3% 5. Other 1.2%
VYolumes Volumes

849 1ktes

2018: 859.5ktes

Revenue Underlying

operating profit
£623.7m £71.5m
2018: £704.5m 2018: £87.2m
EBITDA IFRS

operating profit
£96.3m £71.2m
2018; £107.9m 2018; £684.7m

487.4ktes

2018: 526 0ktes

Revenue Underlying

operating profit
£612.8m £52.3m
2018; £6B0.1m 2018: £53.0m
EBITDA IFRS

operating profit

£48.0m

2018: £50.4m

£69.9m

2018; £64.Im

Market position
No 2 preducer globally in NBR latex.

dNa 1 producer in Eurapaan SBR latex.
No 1 producer globally of High Solids SBR.

Markat position

Top five global water-based polyrmer producer,
with leadership positicns in dispersions in
Europe, Middle East and Asia.

F4 Synthomer pic Annual Report 2019

Industrial
Specialities

Volume

1. Coatings 32.9%
2. Polymer Additives 19.1%
3. Monomers 48.0%

Volumes

129.2ktes

2018: 132.1ktes

Revenue Underlying

operating profit
£222.6m £16.0m
2018: £234,3m 2018: £16.7m
EBITDA IFRS

operating profit
£24.8m £11.3m
2018: £23.5m 2018: £12.1m

Market position

Leading positions in selected niche speciality
chemical markets globially.




How we do business

The way we do business has become increasingly
global as we foliow our customer requirements,
extend our global operating network and leverage
our focus on research, development and innovation.
Our acquisition of OMNCOVA Sclutions Inc will
extend our geographic reach, expand cur global
platform and allow us to further differentiate our
business, Our global divisional structure alows the
simple integration of CMNOVA into our structure
whilst ensuring our market alignment and proximity
to our customers.

Read more Page 28

Key
Sales cifice
Operational head office
Manufacturing site
Manufacturing site
and R&D centre

Our Environmental, Social and Governance approach Qur ESG pillars
As a global leader in water-based poiymer chemistry, our
purpese is 1o continually inncovate to meet the needs of our Strategy

customers and saciety in a sustainable way. Today, our water-

based products eliminate the use of over 500ktes of volatile Governance and compliance

organic compounds containing solvents, with our innovation KPI Peopls
rapidly introducing state-of-the-art products with regulatory and
envircnmental compliance. Increasingly we focus on projects Sustainable value chain

around alternative raw materials and lower energy intensive
products and technologies. QOur continuous improvement
pregrammes in all our operations focus on driving efficiency
and excellence 1o minimise the use of resources. We are
resolutely focused on sustainability and environmental, social
and governance {ESG) improvements, and we are committed to
reporting under the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI} framework
and measuring our progress against interaticnally recegnised
standards. We pride oursefves on the progress that has

been made and are determined to deliver on our targets and
objectives, recognising that there is more to be dona in this
important area.

Health and safety

Envirenment

Read more in our Sustainability section on page 46,

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Our investment case

Our strong geographic and end market diversity combined
with increasing product differentiation and a clear strategy
for growth offers a compelling investment case.

—

A

A Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019
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Six compelling reasons
to invest in Synthomer:

N

oV,

We are a differentiated global
chemical company with
leadership positions in attractive
GDP-plus end markets

We are continuing to grow the
proportion of speciality chemicals
in our portfolio

Increasing demand for our
products is underpinned by
global mega trends and our blue-
chip customer base

[~

(@)

[®))

Strong organic and inorganic growth
drivers are at the core of our strategy -
with our growth capex programme and
highly synergistic OMNOVA acquisition
driving further progress

We are a sustainable and responsible
operator — a global leader in water-based
polymers, eliminating the need for volatile
organic compeound containing solvent-
based products in diverse end markets

We have attractive financial metrics with
resilient Group unit margins and strong
free cash flow

For more information on our investment case see
www. synthomer.com

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Chairman's statement

Neil Johnson
Chairman
Governance highlights QOverview
= Commitment to achieve 2019 has been a challenging year for the glabal
one third female chemical industry. Despite the underlying market
Board membership conditions Synthomer has made considerable

progress to underpin and deliver long-term growth.

— Active ‘employee voice in July 2018 we announced the acquisition of

programme OMNOVA Solution ing, a highly synergistic US

= Policies and practices speciality chemical business and long-term
implemented to comply target for Synthomer. The acquisition, which is
in full with the 2018 expecied 1o complete in March 2020, will ensure
Governance Code continued growth for the coming years. We also

fargely completed a major investment programme
bringing on-line additional low-cost capacity

1o growth markets and delivered record leveis

of innovation through customer focused new
product development.

Qur EBITOA was broadty stable at £177.9m, down
1.7% on the record EBITDA delivered of £181.0m

in 2018. This resilient performance reflects growth

in Functional Solutions, Industrial Specialities and
the Performance Elastomers NBR markets, which
helped to offset a shortfall in the Performance
Elastomers SBR markets, where European paper
has been particularly weak. Underlying profit before
tax decreased by 14.0% ffom £135.1m to £116.2m
with depreciation and interest costs up £13.2m (34%)
and £2.6m (37%) respectively, as a result of our
recent investment in growth capacity and IFRS 16
Leases accounting. IFRS profit before tax decreased
by 16.5% from £120.3m in 2018 to £100.5m.

Building a platform for future growth

Acquisition of Qur acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc
OMNOVA announced in July will be the targest acquisition
E::: 1";‘"9 on in the Group's history. OMNOVA brings greater

geographical diversity and product differentiation
in our core chemistries and markets. It follows the
successful completion of three belt-on transactions
since 2016 which have seen Synthomer strengthen

6 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019



“Despite 2019 being a challenging year for the global
chemical industry | am pleased to report that the
Group has made considerable progress in positioning
the business to deliver long term organic and inorganic
growth and is placed well for the future.”

its market positions, expand #s technology and
geographic presence and drive significant synergies
and profitable growth.

Over the last three years we have made significant
investment to erganically expand our business,
which will position us well as markets recover and
provide a platform for future growth. New capacity
has been introduced in Performance Elastomers
36 ktes and Functional Solutions. In Functional Solutions,
——— cur two major speciality acrylic dispersions plant
expansions were commissioned successfully, with
36ktes at Worms (Germany) and 12ktes at Roebuck

at Worms (Germany)

1 2kt (USA). These invastments have further optimised our
e8 dispersion palymer network, providing large scale,
at Roebuck (USA) low cost plants with incremental capacity to support

growth of cur higher margin speciality products.
Our largest investment, the S0ktes plant expansion
at our Pasir Gudang {Malaysia} Nitriie latex plant,
was completed successfully in late 2018 and is now
producing state-of-the-art products to support this
high growth market.

Purpose, culture and values

The Board is committed to building a business
where the purpese, culture and values of the Group
are fully aligned. As a global chemical company
with & leadership posHion in water-based polymer
chemistry, cur purpose is to continually innovate to
meet the needs of our customers and society in a
sustainabie way.

We continue 10 develop an open, diverse and
transparent culture. We remain resolute in our
commitment 1o achieving worid class performance
in Safety, Health and Environmental activities.

Qur updated Gode of Conduct has been
successfully implemented to provide clarity in the
standards we expect as a Group.

Cur people agenda has made good progress in 2019
and there s rmuch to come in 2020 as we welcome
new colleagues from OMNOVA. In 2019 we have
strengthened our international graduate recruitment,
leadership and learning development programmes,
and further strengthened our employee brand.

QOur core values of SHE, Accountability, Integrity,
Teamwork and Innovation continue to unify the

way Synthomer does business and, combined with
our culture, underpin the success of the Group.
Positively, early impressions suggest OMNQOVA
shares a similar culture to Synthomer which will allow
swift progress as the companies come together.

Governance

With new policies and practices in place from the
start of 2019 we were in full compliance with the
2018 Corporate Governance Code throughout the
year. The Board and its Committees were very active
during the year as governance mechanisms were
deployed to support our value creation, engage
extensively with shareholders and fulfil our leadership
and cversight responsibilities.

Our Remuneration Committee Chair led an extensive
shareholder consultation exercise which was very
helpfut in shaping and developing the proposed new
Directors' remuneration policy, which will be put
forward for approval at the forthcoming AGM,

Following the significant minority vote against my
re-election at the 2019 AGM, Brendan Connolly, as
Senior Independent Director, led an engagement
exercise with a number of our significant
shareholders. The results of that engagement

and the Board's response were published on

22 Qctober 2019. As part of that response the
Nomination Gommittee has underway a search
process for the recruitment of an additional female
Non-Executive Director during 2020, which will bring
female representation on our Board to 30% in 2020
and to one third in due course. Following careful
consideration the Board also concluded that there
are no concerns over my availability to devote
sufficient time to my role at Synthomer.

The importance of diversity and its key role in
effective governance and is fully recognised.

Whilst good progress has been made at Board leve)
and amongst the wider workforce, we are conscious
that improvement is required in gender diversity
amongst our Executive Committee and their direct
reports. We continue to develop and implement
succession planning strategies to address this and
will engage with and update our shareholders as we
make progress.

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019 7
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s statement continued

Sustainability and
our inhovative
new products

Read maore on page 46

8

As the designated Jead Non-Executive Director,
Alex Catto undertook an extensive workforce
engagement programme during the year and
provided valuable feedback and insight to the
Board on employee sentiment in our main naticnal
employrment markets. Our wider stakeholder
precesses inciuding slakeholder identification,
engagement mechanisms and the impact ot
their views on our decision making, is described
throughout this report and summarised in the
Governance section.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
As a global leader in water-based polymer chemistry,
our products are responsible for avoiding the use of
sighificant amounts of volatile organic compounds
and solvents every year. Qur product range and
strong innavation pipeline deliver materials to meet
current and future needs of society and do so inan
increasingly sustainable way. Cur innovative new
products deliver benefits of lower energy intensity,
removal of sclvents and heiping customers to meet
more stringent regulatory standards. We recognise
that there is much to do to meet the needs of society
on carben emissions and climate change, and
through our continuous innovation we are committed
to addressing the economie, environmenta!l and
social aspects of sustainability.

Synthamer manufactures speciality chemicals
using large scale and compiex manufacturing
processes thal consume hazardous raw materials.
Our standards relating to SHE are high and
maintaining these is fundamental to the way we
operate our business.

We have clear policies and procedures that underpin
all our processes and we remain resolute in our
commitment 1o learn lessens from our activities,
share best practices and continually improve,

Quantifying, improving and communicating the
sustainability of all our activities continues to
strengthen with the introduction in 2019 of our first
ESG report aigned with Globat Reporting Initiative
(GRI) Standards. With increased focus on ESG,

our programme identifies key issues affecting our
stakeholders, communicates the activities being
undertaken and sets key Group performance targets
for the future.

Synthomer ple Annual Repert 2048

Synthomer recognises the significance and
importance of being a responsibie company.

We take responsibility for the life cycle of our
proeducts and the impact that our operations have
an peopte and the environment. We are committed
to approaching our business in an ethical and
environrnentally sount manner and have been
committed to the International Council of Chemicail
Associations (ICCA) Responsible Care project since
the early 1990s,

We operate in 24 countries around the globe and

we always alm to make a positive contribution

to the communities we operate in. We recognise

that Synthomer is built on reputation and the trust
and confidence of our stakeholders — not only

our sharehoiders and employees but also our
suppliers, customers and the wider community and
environment in which we operate. Through cur ‘We
Care’ initiative, we empower and support Synthomer
employees who are passionate about making a
difference to those around them in their comrmunities
as a part of charitable activities or where learning
and career development can be promoted in areas
such as chemistry and engineering. Our social
media presence cantinues te highlight the excellent
contribution made by our employees worldwide.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final ordinary
dividend of 6.9p (2018: 8.5p) per share.

Taken with the 2019 interim ordinary dividend of 4.0p
(2018: 3.7p) per share, the totai ordinary dividend is
10.9p (2018 12.2p). The total dividend for the year is
consistent with the Group's dividend policy. The final
dividend per share is subject to shareholder approval
at the Annual General Mesting on 29 Aprit 202¢ and
wil! be payable on 7 July 2020 to those shareholders
registered at the close of business on 5 June 2020.

Neil Johnson
Chairman
5 March 2020



Chief Executive Officer’s review

BUILDING

GLOBAL
DIFFERENTIATION

Strategic highlights

— Resilient performance in all
husinesses apart from SBR
in Europe in the face of
difficult market conditions

~ Acquisition of OMNOVA
Solutions Inc wilt
strengthen platform
for future growth

= New low cost capacity
introduced to drive
organic growth

- Continued transformation
and self-help
pregrammes in place 10
underpin performance

= Record return on R&D
investment - 22% of
sales volumes from new
products launched
in the past five years

= Strong Free Cash Flow at
£92.8m (2018: £27.8m}
rernains a key feature of
the Group

£177.9m

EBITDA

Performance

2019 has undoubtably been a challenging year for
Synthomer and the broader chemical industry, driven
by economic unceriainty and a slowdown in key
markets, Despite these difficull market conditions,
the Group has shown resilience across our
businesses, testament to our differentiated portfolio
of products serving diverse end markets across the
globe. We have made strong prograss in positioning
the business to continue to deiiver on its strategy of
driving lorg-term growth through proactive organic
and inorganic investment decisions.

Qur acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc was
announced in July and will be the largest acquisition
in the history of the Group. OMNOVA is a highly
synergistic US pased speciality chemicals company
which brings greater gecgraphical diversity and
product differerdiation in our core chemistries

and markets.

Synthomer has also made strong cperational
progress during 2018. New low-cost capacity has
been successfully introduced in higher growth
markets across our Perforrmance Elastomers and
Functional Solutions asset base. This capacity
will continue to drive EBITDA growth in the
coming years,

In a challenging macroeconomic environment

our EBITDA decreased by 1.7% from E181.0m fo
£177.9m including the benefit of the adoption of IFRS
16 Leases of £7.9m. The resilience of our business
is underpinned by our geographic, product and end
market diversity. In this context we were pleased
with the improverments in our Functional Solutions,
Industrial Specialities and Performance Elastomers
NBR markets largely offsetting the disappointing
performance in Performance Elastomers SBR
markets principally attributable to a challenging

Calum MacLean
LChief Executive Officer

European paper business. Functional Solutions
saw a 9.0% increase in EBITDA to £63.9m despite
a 7.3% reduction in volumes which was impacted
py the sale of 51% of the Group's Dubai cperations
in June 2018, Industrial Specialities saw a2 5.5%
increase in EBITDA to £24.8m demonstrating the
resilience of this business in the face of challenges
in the automotive, monomer and coatings markets.
EBITDA in Performance Elastomers decreased

by 10.8% to £96.3m where the impact of the SBR
stowdown in Europe and closure in Q4 2018 of our
Malaysian natura! rubber production line exceeded
growth in the NBR business.

Underlying profit betore tax reduced from £135.1m
to £116.2m as a result of reduction in EBITDA, the
rise n depreciation reflecting our significant growth
capex programme over the last three years, and

the rise in interest costs relating to our interest

rate fix. IFRS profit before tax decreased by 16.5%
from £120.3m in 2018 to £100.5m in 2019 with the
reduction consistent with the reduction in Underlying
profit before tax.

Free Cash Flow of £92.8m (2018: £27.8m) was
strong, primarily reflecting tight working capital
control in 2019. Capitai spend was in line with
expectations at £63.1m (20718: £75.7m) and in line
with our capital investment capacity expansion
programme. As part of our acquisition of OMNUOVA,
Synthomer issued shares in a rights issue

raising £199.1m nat of fees. Until the acquisition
completes, these proceeds have been used to repay
borrowings, leading to a closing net cash position
of £20.7m (2018: net debt of £214.0m).

Synthomer pl¢ Annual Report 2019 ]
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer's review continued

25%

Reduction in our
roling Injury rate

10

Safety, health and environment

Synthomer's success is directly related to the Group
conducting its business in a safe and responsible
way. Syntnomer sets high standards in relation to
safety, health and environmental (SHE) activities,
which are supporied by appropriate levels of
investment, improvement initiatives and by rigorous
assurance under the supervision of the Group SHE
team. Cur perfermance against these standards

is reporied at each Executive Committee and
Board meeting.

Good progress has been made in process safely,
occupaticnal health and safety, and environmental
compliance, with the Group continuing to target
consistent world class performance through its
strong operating practices. The acquisition of
OMNOCVA represents the opportunity to deploy our
proven technigues across our axpanded network,

In 2019 we saw a 25% reduction in our rolling all
injury rate and a 21% reduction in our process
safety rate, with long-term underlying rates reducing
significantly. Our focus on permit to work system
improvements was maintained and targets for
auditing high hazard and live permits achieved,
embedding our required standards and lessons to
learn around our global operations network.

tnorganic growth - Acquisition of OMNOVA
The £654m acquisition of OMNOVA will provide

an ideal platform for Synthomer to deliver

against its exciting sustainable growth strategy.
OMNOVA has been a Synthomer target for some
years due to its cornmaon chemistry, technology
and access to attractive markets. The acquisition
wilf extend Synthomer's geographic platform in

the core markets of the US and China, making

it a truly global leader in water-based solutions
with increased specialisation, greater scale for
more efficient production and distribution, and an
increased innovation pipeline. The combination
brings strong synergy potential which in turn will
bring growth and additional stakeholder value for
the coming years. We expect to deliver $29.6m

of synergies over three years from completion.

A dedicated and experienced integration tearm has
been identified to ensure that the integration plan is
delivered. Synthomer successfully introduced a new
global business structure in 2019 to better serve
our customers, drive operational efficiencies and
leverage our product portfolio globally. Due to the
commaon chemistry and markets with OMNOVA, this
global business structure will operate unchanged
with larger, lower cost global businasses providing
the most efficient and effective structure to operate
the integrated business.

Qur integration of OMNOVA will be a key focus
for the Group as soon as the transaction
completes, which we expect 1o be in March 2020.
The accelerated reduction of debt will also be a

Synthromer ye Annual Report 2019

major emphasis in accordance with the business
pian for the acquisition of OMNOVA. Once the
reduction of leverage has been delivered, the
Group will resume its disciplined approach in
assessing boit-on and transformational acquisition
opporiunities to drive further stakehoider value.

Qrganic growth

QOur strategy of sustainable growth in the chemical
sector is built on our expanding broad blue-chip
customer base with long-term established
relaticnships, wide global platform and the efficient
production of increasingly differentiated chemicals
characterised by high barriers to entry. Our market
leading positions, focused innovation and global
asset network provide the foundations for our
organic growth strategy.

In 2019 we saw the results of cur investment in

the commissioning of new low cost capacity by
debottienecking existing facilities in Performance
Elasterners and Functional Solutions. In (3 2012
our new disparsion assets in Worms {Germany)
(36ktes) and Roebuck (USA) (12ktes) came online.
These plants produce higher margin, made-to-order
acrylic dispersions in locations close to their
markets. Accessing GDP plus markets, these plants
will provide opportunities in Functional Soluticns
over the next two to three years. In Performance
Elastomers our 90ktes Nitrile latex capacity
expansion at Pasir Gudang (Malaysia) came cnfine at
the end of 2018, and through 2018 this has delivered
improved market share and growth in our attractive
health and protection glove market. With a further
investment agreed to deliver an additional 60ktes at
Pasir Gudang in Q4 2021, Synthomer is committed
to supporting long-term growth in the Nitrile market
through capacity expansion and innovation of
market leading products such as our patented
SyNovus® range.

Continued focus on transformation and cost
reduction programmes

2019 has been a difficutt year for our SBR business,
which serves the paper, carpet, compounds and
foam markets. A combination of slower economic
activity and ongoeing reduction in demand for coated
paper has substantially depressed demand in the
major end use segments during the year. In the
absence of growth, our SBR plants ran at lower
than anticipated utilisation rates during the year,

and significant over capacity now exists in the
market. An extensive review of our European SBR
network is now largely complete, with the objective
of optimising the network to operate in the most
efficient and effective way. Ali of our SBR sites
remain profitakle and we have a range of value-
enhancing opticns available {o us. A further update
will be provided once the review is complete and the
appropriate course of action has been determined.



“The £654m acquisition of OMNOVA will provide an ideal
platform for Synthomer to deliver against its exciting sustainable

growth strategy.”

Through our Operational Excellence the Group
continues to focus on transformation and cost
reduction programmes across our wider network.
Against a backdrop of challenging market
conditions, these self-help opportunities are key to
the delivery of perforrmance and the generation of
long-term value. In addition to work across our SBR
network, transformation projects to drive improved
long-term profitability are underway in Kluang
(Malaysia), Sokotov {Czech Republic), Ribécourt
{France) and Chonburi (Thailand). On cost reduction,
our ‘Mindset’ non-manpower fixed cost reduction
programme commenced in 2019 in Europe and will
be rolled out further in 2020 with the target to defiver
£1.5m of savings during the year.

In grder to deliver our long-term inorganic growth
agenda and to ensure the efficiency, effectiveness
and compliance of our organisation, the Group has
commenced a business transformation ‘Pathway’
programme. The programme is designed 1o deliver a
consistent set of global business processes across
a unified target operating model, to transferm our
technology architecture into a single set of proven
integrated systems and to build additicnal efficiency
and effectiveness globally. The programme will begin
to deliver benefits in early 2021, is expected to be
completed for the existing Group in 2022 and meets
the capital expenditure hurdle rates for Synthomer,
providing an attractive payback for the Group and a
sound platform for future growth.

Discipline in capital allocation remains a key focus for
the Group, with hurdle rates for capital expenditure
growth projects remaining urichanged at a payback
of less than five years or a 12% IRR.

Innovation

Innovation continues to be a core pillar of

business growth, allowing Synthomer to secure
improved differentiated market positions and
pravide solutions to generate added value for our
customers. In 2019, the Group had 16 new product
launches across a broad base of application areas.
Qur key performance indicator for innovation is

the proportion of a year's sales volumes attributed
to new products launched in the past five years,
which increased to 22% in 2019, and remains a key
differentiator for the Group. We continue to focus
on protecting our proprietary intellectual property
through patents, with eleven flings in 2019.

The acquisition of OMNOVA presents significant
innovation opportunities for the Group, An increased
innovation pipeline, a strengthened technology
portfolio across wider markets and geographies and
further opportunitias for synergies as we focus our
activities and standards. Qur operational excellence
teams will be key to the delivery of product and
technology transfers as we meet the needs of a
wider customer and geographic base to deiiver best
in class differentiated solutions to accelerate the
delivery of our business strategies.

To further enhance our innovation facilities, the
Group has invested in a state-of-the-an Innovation
Centre in Malaysia which will open in Q3 2020.
The new facility will bring additional space and
allow us to build upon the accelerated time-to-
market for new innovations that we have delivered
in recent years.

In 2019 Synthomer increased its collaborative
research with supply chain partners and academic
institutions. We have supported a large European
Union project, involving the Universities of
Montpellier and Torino, locking at the use of plant-
derived sustainable raw materials as components
of Synthomer's core water-based polymer systems.
Broad coliaboration allows the Group to address
mare effectively the new requirements resuiting
from mega trends which will drive long-term growth,
regulations and changes to product and market
requirements. Our innovation activities increasingly
focus on the sustainability of our methods 1o
develop less energy intensive products, to ensure
ease of recyclability for our supply chain, and 1c
allow our customers 10 meet aver more stringent
regulatory requirements.

Outlook

In the year ahead, we are not anticipating any
change to the economic environment, with
industrial end markets remaining challenging and
additional uncertainty relating to the potential
impact of Coronavirus. Whilst we expect to see
benefits from our recent capital investrnent in

2020, this will be largely offset by foreign exchange
translation assuming rates remain at current levels.
Nevertheless, the contribution from the acquisition of
OMNOVA, and the synergies this wilt bring, ensures
that Synthomer will take a significant step forward
this year.

Calum MacLean

Chief Executive Officer
5 March 2020
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Strategic Report

Market overview

Synthomer is a speciality chemicals company and
one of the world’s leading suppliers of water-based
polymers. With strong geographic diversity and
product differentiation, Synthomer holds leadership
positions in a wide range of markets including

ceoatings, construction, texties, paper and healthcare.

MAXIMISING
OPPORTUNITIES
FOR GROWTH

In 2018, Synthomer changed its structure to three
global businesses - Performance Elastomers,
Functional Solutions and industrial Specialities.

Performance Elastomers is focused gn healthcare,
paper, carpet, compounds and foam markets
through cur Nitrile Butadiene Rubber tatex INBR}
and Styrene Butadiene Rubber latex (SBR) products.
Functional Solutions is focused on coatings,
construction, adhesives and technical textiles
rmarkets through our acrylic and vinylic water-based
dispersions. Industrial Specialities is focused on
our speciality chemical additives and non water-
based chemistry for a broad range of applications,
from polymer additives to emerging materials

and technologies.

Qur former regional structure served us well but with
our customer base becoming increasingly glebal
and the development of technology accelerating
market opportunities, our new structure will

provide closer proximity to our customers and

their global requirements, accelerate our sales
growth, sharpen our commercial focus and drive
operational efficiencies. The new structure will
enable Synthorner to better leverage its global
product portiolio and customer relationships, better
exploit ts R&D capability within chemistries, and
bring greater operational focus te production sites.
This structure will atiow the smooth integration of
the OMNOVA business to form three larger gicbal
businesses wilth greater gecgraphic presence.

Sales, marketing, R&D and production will be
focused by business group into dedicated global
teams whilst retaining very strong regionai strength
and local focus.

Read more about our business model and strategy
on page 28.
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Mariet position

Principal
markets ssrved

Profile

Revenuea (2019}

Customers

Market and trends

Priarities for 2020

No 2 producer gletally in Nitrile Butadiene Rubber latex.

Our markets

Perfarmance Elastomers

No 1 preducer in European Styrene Butadiene
Rubber latex.

No 1 producer globally of High Solids Styrene
Butadiene Rubber.

Medica! gloves. medicz) devices and healthcare rnarkets.

Coated board, speciality and graphic papers and
packaging, mattresses, pillows and footwear,
Compounds for residential, industrial, automative, carpets
and arttficial turf.

Twelve manufacturing plants iocated in Malaysia, Italy,
Germany, Finland, Austria, the Nethertands and Egypt
producing circa 850Kk1es per annum.

Performance Flastomers is focused on markets where
scake is important and manufacturing operations
differentiated by the ability to handle high hazard raw
materials and compiex processes, Assets Wilise advanced
proprietary technelogy and innovation chemistry.

£623.7m

The world's leading medical glove and healthcare
preducers. Glopal and regional paper, packaging and
board companies, and leading bedding and footwear
producers, Carpet and artificial turf producers.

High growth in end user demand for Nitrile latex gloves,
supported by investment in capacity expansion and next-
generation patented new product development. Foam,
carpets and compounds growing, graphic paper declining,
partly offset by speciality paper and packaging.

= Successfully integrate OMNOVA and deliver the 2020
synergy plan.

— Progress JOB6 project for the next phase of Nitrile iatex
expansion (B0ktes} at the Pasir Gudang site {Malaysia).

- Open the new expanded Asian Innovaticn Centre in
Johor Bahry (Malaysia).

= Progress fransformation programme at Kluang
{Malaysia) and complete the SBR network review.

« Drive performance through commercial excelience and
manufactuting excellence programmes.



Mega trends

= Pepulation growth
- Urbanisation
= Increasing wealth

Cur high performance water-based
products provide differentiated, innovative
solutions to a wide range of mega trends
markets including construction, coatings,
carpets and adhesives.

— Environmental factors
= Climate
- Regulation standards

As a global leader in water-based
polymers, our products remove the
need for volatile organic compounds
(VQC) containing solvents and provide
lower carbon, higher performing
alternatives which meet the regulations
demanded by society.

— Ageing population

—Health and wellness

Qur Health and Protection products
support increasing levels of hygiene in
developed and developing markets,

Functional Solutions

Industrial Specialities

Leadership positions in dispersions in Europe, Middle East
and Asia.

Top five giobal water-based polymer producer.

Leading positions in selected niche speciality
chemical markets globally.

Construction, ¢oatings, adhesives, tachnical textiles
and cilfiefd.

Specialist markets including PVC manufacture,
construction, catalyst, automotive and
polymer manufacture.

Fourtean manufacturing plants located in Germany, the

UK, Spain, Italy, France, Czech Republic, Saudi Arabia,
Malaysia, Vietnam, Thailand and the USA producing circa
500k1tes per annum.

Functional Bolutions is focused on speciality markets

with mid-scale complex manufacturing operations to
supply differentiated water-based dispersions to localised
markets, Manufacturing assets utilise advanced proprietary
technalogy and innovative chemiztry. R&D, technical
service and deep application knowledge are key 1o growth.

Six manufacturing plants locatad in the UK, Italy, Gzech

Republic and Beigium producing circa 130ktes per annurm.

Industrial Specialities has a range of manufacturing
operations focused mainly on specialist niche
rmanufaciuring in non water-based specality
chemical manufacture.

£612.8m

£222.6m

The world’s leading ¢oating, ¢onstruction,

adhesives, technical textiles and oilfield companies.
Specialist producers of cement modifiers, primers, flooring
adhesives, specialist tapes, flexible roof coatings, emulsion
and specialist paints and coatings, and oilfield chemicals.

Leading global PVC and polysster polymer producers.
Manufacturers of specialist sealant and adhesives
producers. Specialist powder coating manufacturers.
Gas processing companies.

Markets are seeing good growth as environmental
regulations move to water-based products,

— Successfully integrate OMNOVA and deliver the 2020
synergy plan.

- Optimise the innovation pipeiine to support the further
specialisation of the product range.

= Use expanded platform and strengthened market
position to drive global and regional growth.

= Deliver business plan for major capital investments in
Waorms (Germany) and Roebuck {USA).

— Dvive performance through commercial excellence and
manufacturing excellence programmes.

Positive outlcok due to broad base of specialist
applicatons and differentiated market positions.

= Successfully integrate OMNOVA and deliver the 2020
synergy plan.

— Drive efficiency and reliakility across the operational
netwaork to further increase volumes and margin.

— Utilise innovation pipeiine to strengthen differentiation
of product range.

- Market penetration following capacity expansion of
Italian powder coatings and PYOH assets.

— Complete transtormation programme at Sokolov
(Czech Republic}.

Synthomer ple Annuai Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Strateqy at a glance

Qur strategy is focused on driving long-term growth organically
and through acquisition. The key elements of our strategy and
our plans and performance are explained below.

Strategic priority

2019 achievements

Research and development
and technical expertise to
expioit new markets

We anticipate market trends and
customer requirements to deliver
improved products with improved
margin and product differentiation.

— Sales volumes of new products launched in the past five
years was at 22% — a record performance for Synthomer.

= Introduction of 16 new products across six application areas.

= Further comrnercialisation of patented SyNovus® next-
generation Nitrile latex product.

- Construction of a new state-of-the-art Asian Innovation
Centre commenced in Malaysia.

N

Driving efficiency and excellence
through operations

We operate continuous improvement
acress our operations to optimise
production efficiency, sales effectiveness
and functional excellence. We seek to
identify good practice in all areas of

our business and ensure that relevant
learnings are disseminated throughout
the Group.

~ Completed strategic procurement initiatives, securing
additional tankage to enhance our supply chain resilience,
mitigate risk and further leverage procurement of
raw materials.

= Introduced non-manpower fixed cost reduction programime
te reduce costs and build accountability via improved
management information,

1O

Capacity utilisation

G aim is to drive profitability through
maximum utilisation of our assets.

This involves identifying the root causes
of production bottienecks and finding
innovative solutions.

= Utilised value gap analysis to embed Operational Excellence
tools and drive improved performance, asset utilisation
and site restructuring oppoertunities.

— Completed debottienecking of our site in Mar! (Germany}
to increase production of foam latex.

= QOperated 90ktes Nitrile latex capacity at Pasir Gudang
(Malaysia) to maximurn output rate in 2019.

RES

investment in capacity

We seek 1o add capacity in
growth markets where investment
opportunities meet our stringent
capital management policies,

= Delivered capacity expansion of Functional Solutions’ 36ktes
speciality acrylic dispersions facility in Worms (Germany).

— Delivered capacity expansion of Functional Solutions’ 12ktes
speciality acrylic dispersions facility in Roebuck (USA).

|O1

14

Business growth through acquisition
We actively seek opportunistic

bolt-on acquisitions in similaz
chemistries or transformational

step change transactions not

limited by geography or chemistry,

Synthomer plc Arnual Report 2018

— We announced the acguisition of OMNQOVA Scolutions Inc
on 3 July 2019, a highly synergistic complementary
speciality chemicals business which will extend the
Group's geographic presence in North America and Asia;

—geography
—R&D

- new markets
- synergies



2020 priorities

Non-financial key
performance indicators*

Link to principal risks
Read more Pages 32 to 36

— Introduce the new Asian Innovation
Centre to focus accelerated {ow-cost
product development plan.

= OMNOVA integration and optimisation
of organisation.

= Deliver new product pipeline pian
for 2020 across Synthomer and
OMNOVA organisation.

= Accelerate product transfer activities
across wider geogranhic network to
support business growth strategies.

22%

Sales volumes from new products
launched in the

past five years

— People

= Protection of intelleciual property

= Competition and failure to innovate

= Volatility in chemicals and polymers market

= Continued use of our Manufacturing
Excellence process to drive
improved performance.

== Delivery of network rationalisation and
asset utilisation review in SBR,

— Progress core system and process
standardisation programme.

3.63

Energy consumption

{GJ/tonneg)

0.20

Recordable accident frequency rate

- People

- Volatility in chemicals and polymers market
= Pathway

- SHE

= Less or failure of a Synthomer site

= Financial risks

— Brexit

— Integrate CMNOVA assets and use
value gap methodology to identity and
unlock 'hidden capacity” in our assets.

= Deliver SBR asset utilisation plan to
optimise manufacturing network and
extract value.

1,465.7
Volume (wet kies)

-~ People

- Competition and failure to innovate

— Volatility in chemicals and polymers market
~ Pathway

= Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

~ Brexit

= Invest in capacity expansion of
Performance Elastomers 60ktes Nitrile
latex in Pasir Gudang {Malaysia).

1,465.7
Volume (wet kies)

= People

= Manufacturing capacity expansion projects
= Volatility in chemicals and polymers market
- Brexit

— Completion, integration and delivery
of acquisition case business plan.

— Accelerated deleverage of
business towards 1-2x Synthomer
leverage target.

= People
= Failure of acquisition to deliver benefits
— Valuation and financial market volatility

— Brexit

* Al financial KPls are relevant for each at the strategic pnorities and these are defined and discussed further, along with

the non-financial KPIs on pages 16 and 17

Synthomer pic Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

We have eight key performance indicators (KPls) which we use
to measure our financial and non-financial performance.

Our KPls measure progress against our strategy.

Our performance against our KPIs is explained below.

Financiai

-1 EBITDA ¢m)

——

2013 177.9 Strategy
2018 181.0
Remuneration
2017 176.2 Page 83
Risks
2016 1601 Page 32
Stakeholders
2018 125.0 Page 44
Definition

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation
and Special ltems.

Comment
= EBITDA held firrn at £177.9 down 1.7% on the
record EBITDA delivered in 2018,

= In a challenging macro-economic environment,
improvements in Functional Solutions, Industrial
Specialties and Performance Elastomers
NER markets targely offset the disappointing
performance in Performance Elastomers SBR
markets, principally attributable to a challenging
European paper business.

— The benefit of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases
was £7.9m.

2 Underlying profit hefore tax

£m)
2019 116.2 Stratagy
2018 1351
Remuneration
2017 130.0 Page 83
Risks
2016 1925 Page 32
Stakeholdors
2015 95.3 Page 44
Definition

Underlying profit before tax comprising IFRS profit
before tax excluding Special ltems,

Comment

= Underlying profit before tax decreased by 14%
with depreciation up £13.2m (34%) as aresult of a
recent investment in growth capacity and interest
costs up £2.6m as a result of our fixed interest
rate swap.

= In a challenging macre-economic environment,
improvements in Functional Solutions, Industrial
Specialties and Performance Elastomers
NBR markets largely offset the disappointing
performance in Performance Elastomers SBR
markets, principally attributable to a challenging
European papser business,

= The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases
was £0.6m.

3 Underlying earnings per share

{pence}
2018 253 Strategy
2018 32.8
Remuneration
2017 3oy  Feeess
Risks
2016 28.3 Page 32
Stakeholders
2018 215 Page 44
Definition

Basic Underlying earnings per share before
Special ltems.

Comment

— 17.6% reduction in Underlying EPS in the vear
reflecting the change in profit after tax and the
dilutive effect of the rights issue ahead of the
completion of the OMNOVA acquisition.

— EPS figures for the years ended 31 December
2018 and prior have been restated by an
adjustment factor of 1.0713 to reflect the bonus
elemeant of the rights issue which completed on
29 July 2019.

16 Synthomer ple Annuai Report 2019

4 Free Cash Flow ¢m)

2018 arze Strategy
2018 27.8
Remuneration
2017 81.5 Fage 83
Risks
2016 80.5 Page 32
Stakeholders
2015 83.0 Page 44
Definition

Movement in net debt before financing activities,
foreign exchange and the cash impact of Special
ltems, asset disposals and business combinations.

Comment
— Strong Free Cash Flow reflecting tight working
capital control and a reduction in tax paid.

— Capital spend in line with expectations.



Non-financial

5 Volume (wet ktes)

2019 1.465.7  strategy
2018 15176
Remuneration
27 1443.8 Page 82
Risks
2016 1,324.9 Fage 52
Stakeholders
2015 1251.9 Page 4t
Definition

Volume of our products sold in thousands of tonnes
{(ktes). The volume is based on wet volumes —
i.e. the volumes including water content.

Comment

— Growth in NBR resulting from our new capacity
expansion was offset by the impact of lower
industrial activity which reduced our Eurcpean
SBR and functional solutions sales volurmes.
The closure of our polyester resins, natural rubber
{Mataysia) businesses at the end of 2018 and
the sale of 51% of our joint venture in Dubai in
mid-2018 was a contributing factor to our lower
2019 volumes.

6 Sales volume from new
X7 products (%)

2019 22 Strategy
2018 21
Ratnuneration
2047 o0 Page 83
Risks
2016 20 Page 32
Stakeholders
2015 18 Page 44
Definition

Percentage of sales volume in the year that can be
attributed to new products launched in the past
five years.

Comment

— Continued success in our strategy to innovate
and create products to meet market and
customer needs.

Recordable accident
J_ frequency rate

208 020 Strategy
208 0.23
Remuneration
017 013 Page 63
Rizks
2016 0.30 Page 32
Stakehoiders
2015 0.55 Page 44
Definition

Recordable injury rate for accidents involving more
than first-aid freatment, expressed as accidents
per 100,000 hours worked by employees and

all contractors.

Comment

— A further reduction in the recordable accident
rate by 15% from 0.23 to 0.20. There were
13 recordable injuries compared with 16 in 2018
and cur record year in 2017 of nine.

— 2nd best recordable accident frequency rate
in the history of the Group.

8 Energy consumption
~  per tonne GJYonne)

2018 3.63  strategy
2018 3.50
Remuneration
2017 254 Page 83
Risks
2016 345 Page 32
Stakeholders
5015 062 Page 44
Definition

Energy {GJ) {including gas, electricity, steam and
fuel oil} used at each of our plants divided by the
number of tonnes of product made. The energy
excludes transport of geods to and from site and
the mavemenit of the associated vehicles on site,
but interna! fransport on site is included.

GComment

= Specific energy consumption increased by 3.7%
due to the lower utilisation of selected assets and
the change in the production mix to higher energy
demand products.

— Realisation of high energy site improvement
programmes was lower than planned.

= Commitment to 2021 greenhouse gas targets
via acceleration of purchase of green electricity.

Link to strategy

Ressarch and developrmant
and technical expartise to
exploit new markets

Driving efficiency and excelience

through operations
Capacity

utilisation
Investment i
capacity

Business growth
through acquisitions

Read more Page 14

Synthomer pic Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Strategy in action

Business growth
through acquisitions

OMNOVA is a US-based speciality chemical
company which develops, manufactures
and markets emulsion polymers, speciality
chemicals and decorative products, and
provides engineered surfaces for various

commercial, industrial and residential end

uses. OMNOVA had 2019 revenues of
$736.2m with an EBITDA of $70.0m.

OU

Strong strategic fit

On completion of the acquisition of
OMNOVA, Synthomer will strengthen further
its position as a major global player in water-
based polymer solutions with best in class
process technology, a stronger innovation
platform with enhanced geographic
coverage and increased customer proximity.

The enlarged Synthomer Group will
be a stronger enterprise with:

— Expanded global platform and portfolio to
serve customers

— Strengthened presence in North America,
our first manufacturing base in China and
expanded footprint in Asia and Eurcpe

— Greater scale for more efficient production
and distribution

— Increased innovation pipeline to accelerate
future growth

= Greater proportion of speciality chemicals
across the Group

18 Synthomer ple Annual Report 2018

SINESS

Synthomer key activities

Performanceé Elastomers

— Watar-based NER latex
SBR Jatex

— High Solids SB rubber

-

— Additives for gloves
~— Coatings for speciality
paper and packaging

— Compounds and carpet

SALISING

OMNOVA key activities

Performance Additves
Paper and Carpet

Functional Solutions
— Water-based (acrylic and
winylic based) dispersions

Industrial Specialtios
- Speciality chemical adgitives
Nori-water-based chemistry

—_

->

= Speciality coatings
— Construction

— Adhesives & sealants
— Textiles

— Qilfield

= Additives

— Attractive position
in niche segments of
construction, transport
and other sectors

Coatings, Adhesives

and Sealants and Surface
Treaimem {C.AST

Qil and Gas

Elastomers

Laminates & Fiims
Coated Fabrics




Enlarged Group pro-forma

2019 revenue by end-sector
{inchides OMNOVA}

£21bn

Construction & Coatings 31%
Specialities 19%

Health & Protection 18%
Textiles 8 Adhasives 11%
Paper 8%

Carpet & Foam 6%

Othar 6%

At a glance

The enlarged Synthomer Group

Yechnical
centres globally

O

Global plant network
cantres globally

38

6.000

Manutacturing
countriss

24

Emplcyees worldwide

4,750

Expanded international
presence in North America
and Asia

North America

9

Synthomer: 1
+ OMNOVA: 8

EMEA

20
Synthomer.18
+ OMNOVA' 2

Asia
9

Synthomer: &
+ OMNOVA: 3

Synthomer
OMNOVA
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Strategic Repart

Strategy in action

Driving efficiency and
excellence through operations

Synthorner continues to strengthen its global business and manufacturing network
via a proven toolkit — ‘The Synthomer Way’. This toolkit has been successfully
deployed to drive performance and provides a proven methodology to integrate
OMNGVA, the largest acquisition in the history of the Group.

CONTINUALLY
IMPROVING
UR BUSINESS

z0 Synthomer plc Annual Repeort 2019




*Synthomer has a range of best in class techniques to
drive performance across its business. From ‘Project
Exceilence’ to ‘*Hidden Plant’ value extraction, the Group
is well-equipped to continually improve and build a
foundation for long-term growth.”

John Hamnett
VP Operations, Industrial Spacialties

Driving efficiency
and excellence
across our network

Underpinned through our Project
Excellence standards and driven by
best in class practices, Synthomer
is undertaking projects to drive
improvements and provide strong
foundations across its global
network in the following areas:

= Business and site transformations
— Network rationalisation
= Plant debottienecking

= Core systems and business
process standardisation

— Non-manpower fixed cost
reduction programmes

= Integration and synergy defivery

Manufacturing excellence
We focus on maximising the utilisation

of our assets, identifying and delivering
value enhancing debottlenacks and
adding further capacity to improve our
economies of scale. This has allowed

us to introduce approximately 150ktes

of additional low cost capacity into our
network in 2018/2019, supporting our
long-term business development strategy,
addressing our cost base and minimising
our environmental intensity.

Core system and process

standardisation

In order to provide a standardised giobal
platform for future growth and scalability,
and to drive efficiency and effectiveness,
Synthomer has embarked on its glcbal
‘Pathway’ programme fo introduce
consistent core systems and business
processes. The prograrnme, which will
run through 2020 and 2021, with planning
underway to assess the most effective way
to integrate OMNQOVA, will drive long-term
organisation, business process and core
system benefits.

Non-manpower fixed cost
reductions

In order to offset the impact of inflation in
our business, Synthomer has embarked
on its non-manpower fixed cost
reduction programme.

Network rationalisation

In October 2019 we reported that our SBR
asset base had seen a raduction of 10% of
its 2018 sales volumes due to challenging
conditions in its European SBR markets,
mast notably in its paper end market,
Synthomer has depioyed a cross-functional
team to address the options tc review
netwerk utilisation, changes in market
demand and supply and demand balance to
best serve the future needs of the market,

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Divisional review

Performance Elastomers

PERFORMANCE

ELASTOMERS

Safety is at the heart of our business and we are pleased
o report that the division set a new record in 2019

with zero recordable cases in the year. This is a major
achievement for both the division and the Group.

Dearick Whyte
President, Performance Elastomers

Highlights

= Record NBR latex volume growth
underpinned by 8Cktes capacity
expansion in Pasir Gudang

— Investment in new 60ktes NBR latex
facility approved, with capacity online
Q4 2021

— State-of-the-art Asian Innovation Centre
investment underway with completion due
in Q3 2020

— Chailenging vear in SBR latex with lower
volumes and margins mainly driven by
weakness of European paper market

- SBR iatex network review largely
complete with clear plan to deliver
required efficiencies to be communicated
in Q2 2020

- Cost reduction pregrammaes implemented

22 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019

Divisional performance
Constant
currency”
2019 2018 % %

Volumes (ktes) 8491 8595 (1.2)
Revenue {£m) 623.7 7045 (11.5) (11.5)
EBITDA? 96.3 1079 (10.8) (11.3}
Cperating profit

- Underlying

performance (Em} 71.5 87.2 {18.0) {(18.6)
Cperating profit —

IFRS {£m) 71.2 847 (159

Naotes:

1. Constant currency revenue and profit, these reflect current year
results translated at the pnor year's average exchange rates.

2. 2019 includes the impact of the adoption of IFRS 1€ Leases
of £2.0m

Performance Eiastomers' EBITDA? was 10.8% lower
in 2019 at £96.3m (2018: £107.9m) with Undertying
operating profit 18.0% lower at £71.5m. Our SBR
performance was impacted by weaker market
conditions mainly in our European paper business,
which offset another strong year of growth in our
NBR business.

Market performance — NBR

Following the successful commissioning of the JOBS
reactor in late 2018, NBR has delivered another year
of profitable growth,

After two very strong years of double-digit demand
growth from glove custormers, 2019 has shown
single-digh growth as the additional glove capacity
installed in 2017/18 was consumed in the marke?.
However, the addition of JOBS capacity in Malaysia
in conjunction with increased production of NBR

in ltaly, was reflected in strong volume growth for
Synthomer, up 12% over the prior year. Unit margins
were in line with expectations throughout the first
half of the year, however, the second half saw
amodest impact as competitors’ new capacity
came into the market. This factor, and the ongoing
sluggishness in the global econemy, meant the
second half of the year was more challenging.
Nonetheless, overall margin was ahead of prior
year on the higher volumes sold, while average unit
marging were a little lower than 2018 as a result of
the new competitor capacity.

2019 saw the closure of the natural rubber
production line. While it is disappointing to have



£6.5m

Invastment for the
creation of the new
Asian Innovation
Gentre (AIC)

to exit any market, the need for change was
indisputable and the closure has had fittle effect

on the overall growth experienced in NBR. it has
also aliowed for a transformation programme 1o be
launched at the Kluang site to address some of the
infrastructure costs that remained as a result of the
closure. This initiative was launched during the final
months of the year 10 ensure a more streamiined
operation in Kluang in 2020 when the initiative is
fully delivered.

While 2019 has been a year of consolidation, mainly
as a result of the significant increases in glove
capacity installed since 2017, it has been another
year of progress. Investments in new glove capacity
continue o be announced, and given the increasing
demand for healthcare provision in the developing
world, the market iooks set for further growth.

During 2019 we continued to invest capital in NBR
sites. With JOB5 complete and running successfully
the next phase of investment focused on JCBB
where the Front End Engineering Design (FEED)
Study was successiully complsted at midyear with
the full capital approval by the Board following in
August. The fong lead-time iterns were ordered

in Q3 and the EPCM coniractor appointed in Q4.
The project is now formally underway with beneficial
production anticipated in Q4 2021.

Innovation has been a key cornerstone of NBR
growth and 2019 was ancther strong year of
development. Sales of NBR products launched in
the prior five years continue to exceed 20% reflecting
positively on the R&D investments made in both
human capital and equipment. During the year we
continued to strengthen NBR's position, filing four
patents, doubling the number from the previous

W0 years.

As part of our commitment to sustainability,
Synthorner has conducted the very first full cradie-
to-grave life cycle analysis for NBR latex, which was
carried out by the independent LCIE Bureau Veritas
in France, in accordance with 1S014071. The study
showed that Synthomer's latest patented SyNovus®
technology allows the glove manufacturing industry
to create a significantly more sustainable Mitrile
medical examination glove. This step-change
delivers a lower impact en both users and the
environrent in comparison to earlier gensrations

of Nitrile latex as well as natural rubber latex and
PYC. Our patented Synovus® product continues 1o
be evaluated by a range of customers to verify the in-
use benefits of accelerator free technoiogy and lower
energy costs in glove production, and we anticipate
continued uptake for this product in 2020.

As we continue to expand NBR's innovation activity
the need for additional space in the laboratories

has become a more pressing issue. To support the
innovation momentumn which has been created, the
Board approved an investrnent of £6.5m to create

a new Asian Innovation Centre (AIC) in Malaysia,
equidistant from operations in Kluang and Pasir
Gudang. The new facility has been built with future
expansion in mind and at 6,000 sgm this is over four
times larger than the existing R&D Centre in Kluang.
Ground was broken in April 2019 and construction is
well advanced and on target fer the planned opening
in 3 2020.

Market performance - SBR

2019 has been a very challenging year for SBR,
which serves the paper, carpet, compounds and
foam markets. A combination of slower economic
activity in Europe and Asia aiong with the continuing
reduction in demand for coated paper has
substantially depressed demand in the major end-
user segments during the year, particularly paper.

Volumes declined across SBR driven by weaker
performance in paper, carpet, and compounds
with a degree of mitigation in foam, where sales of
HSSBR increased during the year, Paper suffered
throughout the year on the back of falling raw
material price and pressure on margins driven by
overcapacity in European SBR production resulting
in a doubie-digit decline in both volume and margin.
This very disappointing performance, although
supported by some good cost management, flowed
through with SBR results being substantially below
prior year and our expectations.

The very difficult paper market has seen several
paper producers cease 10 trade, and the weaker
financial positicn of the sector has led to credit
insurance cover being reduced or removed.

With several bad debts incurred during 2018, we
have taker: a more proactive positicn on credit
risk which has constrained sales in this sector.
Mill closure or capacity reductions and conversions
have been another recurring feature of the coated
paper market in recent years. 2079 saw an
announcement from Stora Enso concerning the
future of its mill in Oulu which will have a direct
impact on the capacity utilisation of Synthomer's
Qulu site during the second half of 2020,

The foam market has offered steady growth in recent
years and we again experienced vclume growth in
2019 with growth in China offsetting weaker demand
in Europe. However, lower raw material prices and
strong competition in Asia saw margins fail to keep
pace with volume growth. Wa continue to explore
new areas for the development of this product range
both geographically and in terms of new areas of
application to meet the anticipated capacity growth.

In the absence of sales growth, several of the SBR
plants ran at lower than anticipated utilisation rates
during the year, and in particular those plants with
an expostre to the paper market, A review of the
supply/demand balance for SBR latex in Eurcpe
points 1o significant over capacity amongst the major
producers. An extensive review of our European
8BR network is now largely complete with the
objective of optimising the network to operate in the
most efficient and effective way. Al of our SBR sites
remain profitable and we have a range of value-
enhancing options available to us. A further update
will be provided once the review is compiete and the
appropriate course of action has been determined.

Against a background of a slowdown in the
European business, several initiatives were taken
during the year to ensure costs were effactively
managed. All sites focused on optimising their

fixed cost base and made good progress during
the year. In the farger sites Project Mindset was
launched aimed at delivering a sustaired reduction
in non-manpower fixed costs which will be reflected
in the 2020 performance. Other cost initiatives were
deployed across the business o ensure effective
cost control in the challenging environment.
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Strategic Report

Divisional review continued

Functional Solutions

FUNCTIONAL

SOLUTIONS

Strong safety performance with a recordable case
rate of 0.2 per 100,000hrs and lowest ever process

safety event rate.

Rob Tupker
Prasident, Functional Solutwons

Highlights
= Market-leading position in water-based
potyrers in Europe

— Rasilient performance in challenging
market conditicns

— Growth in unit margins offsets impact
of lower volumes with EBITDA? 9.0%
ahead

— Benefits realised from reorganisation
into global business seen in product
innovation and global collaboration
with customers

= Successful commissioning of 36ktes
Worms (Germany} and 12ktes
Roebuck (USA} differentiated acrylic
dispersion investments in Q3 2019 to
drive future growth

24 Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019

Divisional performance
Constant
currency’
2019 2018 % %

Volumes (ktes) 4874 5260 (7.3)
Revenue (Em) 612.8 6801 (9.9) 9.7
EBITDA? 69.9 64.1 9.0 9.5

Operating profit

- Underlying

performance {Tm)  52.3 530 R {1.3) {0.8)
Qperating profit —

IFRS {€m) 48.0 50.4 {4.8)

Nates:

1. Constant currency revenue and profit: these refiect current year
resuits translatad at the prior year's average exchange rates.

2. 2019 includes the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases
ot £4.4m

Business performance was resllient in 2019 despite
a challenging macro erwircnment. EBITDA? was
9.0% higher at £69.9m with Underlying operating
profit flat as improved margins offset the impact of
lower volumes. Volumes were down by 7.3% (5.0%
for ongoing businesses) but margins were higher
due to good cost management, favourable raw
material prices and purchasing initiatives combined
with a clear focus on portfolio management,
including the introduction of a number of innovative
speciality products.

The main macro drivers that impacted volumes
were the general economic siowdown in Europe
and a broad-based weakness in construction
and the automotive markets. Specific initiatives
were undertaken to offset the softer market
conditions, including in the redispersible powders
(RDP) business where volumes recovered from a
weak second half of 2018 with share gains in both
existing and new geographic markets driven by
focused sales efforts based around a streamlined
product portfolic.

Global business structure, local delivery
Functional Solutions was reorganised into a global
business In January 2019 and in the course of

the year has started tc see the benefit from a
global approach to customers, product portfolio,
new product development and plant operations.
Collaboration has been intensified with customers
who have a global presence and with regional



Entry into
adjacent markets:
Batteries

In addition to serving existing markets, the business
continues to develop new applications for adjacent
markets where its technologies and products
provide solutions for customers. One such area is
the emerging field of batteries for electric vehicles
{EVs), where Functional Solutions products function
as binders for electrode active materials. The market
is largely based in China today, with cther markets
including Europe becoming established. The focus
lies both on supplying the existing generation of
Lithium ion batteries as well as on developing
solutions for new batiery generations.

customers who now have access to the full
breadth of the giobal Functional Solutions product
portfolia. A platform-based approach for new
product deveiopment has been introduced,
balancing the need for global solutions with the
need for regional and local customisation to meet
specific market and custorner requirements,
Global teams have worked successfully on
improving product transfer methodology

across regions and an initiative was faunched

to benchmark plant performance and ensure
best practice is applied across the all sites
producing dispersions.

Capacity and capability expansion

To position the business for future growth, a
number of key capital expenditure programmes
have been launched during the past years, with
same key milestones reached in 2019, In Worms,
the most important site for the Functional Solutions
business globally, a major expansion programme
was completed and new lines commissioned,
adding 36ktes per annum of new capacity to
support the manufacture of bespoke differentiated
products 1o serve key speciality markets in the
DACH (Germany, Austria and Switzertand) and
broadger Central European regions. Alse in Europe,
as part of a wider transformation programme,
major upgrades were realised at our Ribecourt
facility in France, including néw product silos

and an automated packaging line. In the USA, a
12ktes replacement and expansion project was
commissioned at our Roebuck facility, allowing the
business to expand its speciality range of products
to serve the North American market,

Capacity expansion in

Innovation pipeline and new product
introductions

2019 saw the launch of a number of new products
including a high performance water-based
Pressure Sensitive Adhesive (PSA) product (Plextol
Prime™}) to replace solvent-based versions for
speciality tapes, a PSA for wash-off bottle labels
that improves recyclability and contributes to
improved sustainability, and a new technical textie
product range that allows for improved prodiuictivity
and higher energy efficiency at the customaers’
plants {Litex QuickShield™, Revacryl Design™,
Litex SkyShield™). The business also launched

Worms (Germany)

Quir first generation of polymers has been
launched and is ramping up, with a second
generation of polymers under development.
Synthomer is working together with value chain
partners under the UK government’s Faraday
Battery Challenge ¢n projects that focus on
developing more extensive iknow-how for system
formulation and the development of binders

for the nexi generation of anode and cathode
active materials.

a low VOC binder for high pH biocide-free premium
interior wall paints {Revacryl UltraGreen™), a major
driver in the coatings industry due te regulatory
changes and end-user expectations. Structurally,
the Functional Solutions business has defined

a number of strategic product platforms that tie

in with medium- and long-term macro trends

as well as with core Synthomer competencies.
These platforms wilt bring clear focus and guide
future development priorities.

Functionai Solutions remains focused on its four
strategic pillars; growth, mix, productivity and
enablers, with a strong SHE performance as the
overriding priority. In terms of growth, maximising
the cutput from the new plant capabilities in Worms
(Germany) and Roebuck (USA) is a priority, combined
with a clear focus on growing the speciality range of
products to drive a favourable mix and associated
margins in 2020. Ambitious targets have been

set in terms of launching new preducts based on
the giobal product platforms. Growth momentum

in RDP is to be maintained, as is the growth in
Qilfield in target regions with new customers, and

in binders for batienes. Productivity gains are 1o
come through Operational Excellence initiatives in
plants and through Commercial Excellence and cost
improvement initiatives. Growth, mix improvement
and productivity gains are underpinned by
sustained efforts in our enablers to deliver systemic
improvements in our people, processes and tools.

In addition to driving organic growth in the business,
the OMNCONVA acquisition will have a transicrmative
impact on the Functional Sclutions business in terms
of global reach and breadth of portfolio. A smooth
integration and delivery of both commercial and cost
synergies will be a key priority for 2020.
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Strategic Report

Divisional review continued

Industrial Specialities

INDUSTRIAL

SPECIALITIES

Safety continues to be a significant focus area and
we are pleased to report that the division recorded its
lowest-ever all injury frequency rate in 2019,

This is a significant achievement for the division.

26

Noil Whitley
President, Industrial Specialities

Highlights
-~ Leading positions in selected niche
speciality chemical markets globally

~ Growth in unit margin across a
number of speciality products offsets
ihe impact of lower volurne, with
EBITDAZ? 5.5% stronger

~ Benefits starting to be realised from
expansion in Sant'Albanoe {italy) and
reliability investment in Harlow {UK)

- Strong production performance with
further operational efficiencies realised

- Successful development and launch
of new absorbent product for the gas
processing industry

-= Cost saving opperiunities identified
and reatised

Synthomes ple Annual Report 2019

Divisional performance

Constant
currency’
2019 2018 %
Volumes (ktes) 120.2 1321 (2.2)
Revenue {£m) 2226 2343 (6.0 (4.3)
EBITDA? 248 23.5 5.5 5.5
Cperating profit
- Underiying

performance {Em)  16.0 16.7 4.2) 4.2)

Operating profit -
IFRS (£m) "3 124 {8.6)

Notes'

1. Gonstant currency revenue and profit; these refiect current year
resuits transfated at the prior year’s average exchange rates.

2. 2019 ncludes the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases
of £0.8m.

The Industrial Specialities division delivered a robust
performance in markets generally impacted by
difficult economic conditions. EBITDAZ in Industriat
Specialities at £24.8m was 5.5% higher than 2018.
Sales volumes were 2.2% lower compared to 2018,
impacted by some of the more challenging end
markets of automotive and coatings, and a weaker
demand in our monomer business, as well as sales
into the China region where the threat of a trade
war impacted demand. Most businesses within the
division recorged stable or increased unit marging
during the year, in part due 10 the performance
properties of the spaciality products supplied by
the businesses.

Strong year-on-year growth was achieved in the Vinyl
Polymers business foliowing targeted investment

to enhance plant reliability and thereby deliver
additional volumes to meet increasing customer
demand, enhanced customer service and driven

by the growing PVC market.



20%

Expansion of the
Powder Coating
ditferentiated
specialist polyester
expansion at
Sant’Albano (italy)
during 2019,

“Strong year-on-year growth was achieved in the Vinyl
Polymers business following targeted investment to
enhance plant reliability and thereby the volumes to
deliver the increased customer demand being driven

by the growing PVC market.”

David Downie
Business Director, Vinyl Poiymers

The work to sustain operational improvements will
deliver further growth in 2020.

Despite our polybutadiene Lithene business
having some exposure to the automotive market,
the business recorded modest growth in volumes
and stable unit margins to deliver steady year-on-
year growth.

Our Speciality Additives business, which supplies
coatings ingredients, had a very challenging year.
While unit margins were stable, volumes were
impacted by end market demand and increased
competition in some of our markets. One of our
products, which is used in cold weather applications,
was significantly down year-on-year due to the mild
Eurcpean winter at the end of 2018. While markets
remain challenging, we have targeted a number of
growth opportunities from new applications which
are starting to be reafised and we anticipate a retumn
to growth in 2020,

The division also benefitted from the Powder
Coating business' differentiated specialist polyester
expansion at Sant'Albano {italy) during 2018.

This capacity expansion increased total site capacity
by 20% and this forms a sclid platform for further
growth in sales volumes of our differentiated
products during 2020.

While William Blythe (UK} delivered a flat
performance year-on-year, a major milestone was
reached in 2019 with the successful development
and launch of a new absorbent product for the
gas processing industry which wili form a strong
growth platform for coming years. William Blythe's
excellence in inncvation was recognised when
they were announced as winners in the Innovation
category at the Chemicals Northwest Awards {UK)
in March 2019.

Qur Monomers business in Sokolov (Czech
Republic), which supplies our Functional Solutions
business and externat European markets with
acrylate monomaers, saw weaker market conditions
in H2 2019. Whilst our volumes were maintained,
oversupply in Europe and unfavourable feedstock
prices led to weaker unit margins during Q4.

Value-gap contribution

Qur operations team at all sites across the division
continues to focus on process engineering
reliakitity and Manufacturing Excellence to identify
opportunities to maximise production volumes.

A number of our plants delivered a very strong
production performance during 2019 and whilst this
was not fully utilised during the year, the business
is well-placed to capitalise on the growth capacity
and opportunities for further debettlenecking and
reliability for the division in future years.

Targeted innovation

Innovation continues to be a key driver of growth
across the division. An example is the highly
innovative inorganics business, William Blythe.
This business continues to develop a number of
new products with strong patent and know-how
protection, typically sold to bespoke applications in
niche markets. Recent successes have included high
purity Graphene Oxide and doped Tungsten Oxide
products, with other new product families using
differentiated inorganic chemistry in the pipeline.

Self-help initiatives

Given the challenging market conditions, there
has been a significant focus on costs during the
year. ‘Project Mindset’, our non-manpower fixed
cost reduction initiative, was launched across a
number of locations with the aim of delivering cost
savings, with the full year benefit to be realised in
2020. We have also invested in capital projects to
reduce the costs of production at our Lithene plant
in Stallingborough (UK) and have further focused
value-gap opportunities across most assets.

Whiist there is uncertainty in a number of our end
markets and businesses, we remain confident in
delivering growth in the future. Spare capacity
created across a number of our plants has enabled
the opportunity to target a number of initiatives
across our end markets. The division continues

to invest in R&D with a number of patents and
industry-leading properties in chosen applications.
In addition, with the full year benefits of Project
Mindset and other cost saving projects, further
operational efficiency and cost savings should

be realised.
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Strategic Report

QOur business model

As a global leader in water-based polymer chemistry our purpose
is to continually innovate to mest the needs of our customers and

society in a sustainable way.

Qur strategy is o create
shareholder value by creating
a sustainable global speciality
chemical business focused
on providing customers

with inngvative and high
performance solutions that
enable them to efficiently
produce their own high guality
products.

Enabling the delivery of our
five strategic objectives
Ressarch and development and ischnical
expertise to explolt new markets
Driving efficiency and excellence
through opéerations
Capacity
utiligation
investment in
capacity

Business growih
through acquisitions

Underpinned by our vaiues

Our values have been reviewed and
relaunched in 2020 and focus on SHE,
accountability, innovation, teamwaork
and integrity

Read more Page 54
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Our key strengthsand ——m—

resources

R&D and technical expertise to
exploit new markets

Strong track record of anticipating markst
trends and customer requirements

to deliver improved and increasingly
differentiated products.

Innovative products

R&D delivering sustainable growth, new
products represent 22% of sales volume
in 2019.

Strong customer

relationships

Blue chip customer base of over 4,600
customers with iong-established
relationships and high barriers to entry.

Efficiency through operations

We operate continuous improverment
across our operations to improve
production efficiency, sales effectiveness
and functional excellence. We seek to
identify good pragctice in all areas of

our business and ensure that relevant
learnings are disseminated throughout
the business.

Investment in capacity

We seek {o add capacity in growth
markets where investment opportunities
meet our capital management policies,
Qur recent growth capex programme
provides a catalyst for expansion aver the
next three years.

Global reach in growth markets

We have leadership positions in attractive
GDP plus end markets and wil! further
strengthen our giobal platform through
the acquisition of OMNOVA.

Industry-leading talent

Our strengthened employer brand,
coupled with our graduate and leadership
programmes, have allowed us to access
talent capable of delivering the growth
strategy for the Group.

Strong acquisition expertise
Deep experience of the delivery of
successful inorganic growth and the
extraction of synergy value.

Strong financial position

Resilient EBITDA and gross margin per
torne across the Group, strong cash flow
and strong balance sheet.

How we create value

Research and development
Under central leadership, our four research
and development ‘centres of excellence’
work to both develop products that meet
our customers’ needs and to improve the
efficiency of their manufacture.

Customers

Through intimate relationships with
customers, we moniter mega trends

and market developments to ensure our
formulations meet the requirements not
only of our customers but also of the end
users of their products.

Technical services

Our global technical service teams work
closely with our customers to ensure we
provide the right formutation for their needs.

Formulations
QOur formulations are designed for use in
customer-specific products.

Sourcing raw materials
We work closely with our suppliers
to obtain competitive prices, correct
specification and to optimise supply
chain resilience.

Production

Experienced operations tearns continue

to optimisé the production process fo be
most efficient by using complex production
techniques and removing bottlenecks.

Quality control

Qur guality control procedures and
{aboratories ensure that we manufacture
and store finished products in a marner
that assures quality.

Logistics

Our gpecialist logistics teams work
on ensuring safe and timely deliveries
of excellent products in more than
140 countries.

Continuous improvement

Cur continuous improvement culiure aliows
us to target world class performance
standards, iearn from others and from our
experiences and share efficiently across
our organisation,



—— How we structure our business —————

Performance Elastomers

Performance Eiastomers is focused

on healthcare, carpet and paper
markets through our water-based Nitrile
Butadiene Rubber latex {NBR) and
Styrene Butadiene Rubber latex (SBR)
products. Tweive manufacturing plants
located in Malaysia, ltaly, Germany,
Finland, Austria, the Netherlands and
Egypt produce in excess of B50kies
per annurm.

Read more Page 22

Functional Selutions

Functional Solutions is focused on
ceatings, construction, adhesives and
technica! textiles markets through

our acrylic and vinylic water-based
digpersions. Fourteen manufacturing
plants located in Germany, the UK, Spain,
Italy, France, Czech Republic, Saudi
Arabia, Malaysia, Vietnarn, Thailand and
the USA produce in excess of 500ktes
per annum.

Read more Page 24

Industrial Specialities

Industrial Specialities is focused on our
speciality chemical additives and non-
water-based chemistry for a broad range
of applications from polymer additives
and potymer manufacture tc emerging
materials. Six manufacturing plants
located in the UK, italy, Czech Republic
and Belgium produce in excess of
130ktes per annum,

Read more Page 26

The value we create

22%

sales volume from new products

£16.6m

spand on R&D

The value we share

Customers

Qur customers axpect us to provide
them with innavative, high quality,
competitive products. We seek to work
in partnerships with customers, using
our skilled R&D and technical services
teams, o develop products that
support their goals.

£1156.5m

our payroll to employess

£23.6m

cash payments to pension plans

Employees

Cur ermployees are a crilical part of
our success. Empioyees contribute {0
all aspects of our value chain and all
ampioyaes benefit from the success
of our business. We are committed

o praviding a safe and rewarding
anvironment ir which 10 work.

‘We Care’

our global employee
community engagement
programme

Communities

We ook to be a valued part of
communities in which we operate,
providing highly skilled employment
opportunities, being aware of how our
plans may impact on & community and
gemonstrating that we respect the
community and its environment.

£1.2bn

spend with suppliers

1,465, 7ktes

volumes sold

Suppliers

QOur suppliers are an important part

of our business and we look to work
closaly with them using the skills of our
strateglc sourcing feams 1o ensure we
gat the right specification of products
for our needs at compsetitive prices.

£47.9m

returned to shareholders in FY19

Shareholders

Cur shareholders, as the owners of
our business, should see the benefils
of our focus on long-term sustainable
growth, regulatory convphance and
strong governance.

14%

effective tax rate

£31.6m

corporate tax and social security
cost paid

Governments

We see local safety and environment
leglslative compliance as the minimum
level at which we should operate and
sirive for higher standards. We look
to ensure that we ollow the letter

and spirit of tax regulations within
each of the jurisdictions in which we
operate and contribute fairly te public
policy goals.

Synthomer ple Annual Report 2013

29

uodey siBaeng

BIURLIBACK)

SIUBLLSIRIS (ElURUY ANOIty

sewses [eisueuy AUEUUJDD

UONIBULOJUI JBYIC)



Strategic Report
Managing risk
Synthomer’s strategic objectives can only be achieved

by taking an appropriate level of risk in accordance
with our risk appetite and risk tolerance. We use
leading risk management techniques which facilitate
good decision making and the pursuit of opportunities
whilst protecting our sites, systems, staff and other

Executive management

Executive management is responsible for the
identification and management of our strategic,
operational, compliance and financial risks using
the Risk Management framework.

Identification and assessment of risk

We have a structured risk management frarework
operated at business unit, functional and Group
level. The Business Risk Assessment Methodology
defines a standard set of risk categories with generic

stakeholders. risk descriptions to assist management in identifying
areas of risk, There is also a standard methodology
to quantify risk. We rank risks, taking into account
H OW SY NTH O M ER the mitigating controls in place, by combining their
econocmic, operational or reputational impact and
the likelihood that they may occur.
MANAG ES R I S K We use a barrier-based '‘bow-tie’ method to help
management define and assess the most critical
risk events. The method brings structure to the
identification of hazards or risk events, potential
causes of those hazards and the consequences
of the hazard occurring. The bow tie method also
identifies barriers or controls in place or needing to
RlSk Oversight be de\{elope(.j to mitigate the likelihood of‘ the threats
occurring or impact of the effects of the risk event.
Synthomer plc Board The risk management process includes input from our
The Board is responsible for creating the framework  professional advisers and the World Economic Forum
for the Group's risk management to operate Global Risks report in order to identify emerging risks
effectively. The Board continues to set the risk and good practice in managing our risks.
appstite it is prepared to accept to achieve the Our acquisition of OMNOVA will be integrated into
G_rogp s o_bjef:tlves and the wider risk toleraljce Synthomer's risk management programme in 2020.
within which it empowers the Group Executive to
manage the business based on advice from the Risk output
Executive and external advisers, Divisions and functional departments conduct their
. . own bottom-up assessment of the principal risks
Audit Committes ) i and record them in a Hsk register using the Business
The Audit Committee is re_spgns@le for overseeing Risk Assessment Methodology. Group functions
the management of the principal risks, comrols_ and the Board conduet a top-down review of
and th'_e assuranpe prqcesses. I,n 2619, the Audit strategic risks, taking into account the input from the
Commlﬂee FO”"”“E’F’ its established programme of divisions, and prepare a Group risk register using the
de(_ep dives into our .”?k. mana_gemer_'rt process and . same methodology.
reviewed our new Divisional risk registers and certain
specialist functional risk registers, incfuding cyber- The Board reviews and approves the Group
security and regulatory affairs, where managerment risk register.
has the opportunity to explain directly to the Audit , .
Committee the assessed risks and associated Rlsk managem en‘t review
controts in place and in development, d
The risk management system, Audit Committee deep and assurance
dives and associated assurance work are designedto  Group risk function
ensure that risk is managed to within the risk appetite The Group risk function, which is an integral part
rather than to eliminate risk completely, and the Audit of our Group operations function, challenges the
Committee and other assurance reviews provide assumptions, risks identified, prioritisation and
reasonable assurance in line with good practice. response actions in place or proposed.
Bow-tie methodology
A barrier-based bow-tie methodology is used to clearly show the relationship between the potential causes
{threats), conseguences and controls (barriers) associated with undesired hazardous events.
Hazard
I
Threat 1 Proactive Proactive \ I/ R ¥ R ¥ G
parrier barrier bharrier barrier
Top
Threat 2 Proactive Proactive event R v R ¥ [ q
barrier barrier bamier barrier
A Se
factor factor batrier factor barmrier factor
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Assessment of principal risks

Assurance providers

Synthomer operates a ‘three lines of defence’ model.
A number of different internal assurance providers
{for example Group SHE, Programme Management
Office, 1ISO audits and internal Audit) review the
effectiveness of the mitigating actions and contro!s.
External assurance is provided by our statutory
auditors, in respect of the financial statements, and
also by an externai specialist in ISO standards.

Our key risks

Rigks affect us in many ways. ACross our business,
we identify the likelthood and potential impact of risks
through our format twice-yearly risk assessment
submissions encompassing the divisions and Group
functions, and also management is empowered and
encouraged to actively manage and react to risks

as part of its normal day-to-day decision making
process. We are also using the risk methodology to
assess the risks in all significant projects, including
those associated with our Pathway Programme

and the integration of our OMNOVA acquisition.
These reviews, tegether with our three lines of
defence model, enable us to establish effective
controls to manage these uncertainties.

We categorise our risks, taking into account the
effectiveness of mitigating actions and controls, in
the following areas:

— Strategic risks that could prevent us from
achieving our strategic objectives.

= Operational risks which, if not successfully
managed, would threaten our viability.
These relate to our ability to operate a susiainable
and safe business.

— Compliance risks where a breach of regulations
or laws could lead to fines from regulators, and
reputational risk that may affect our standing
in the investor and wider community in a
disproportionate manner to the size of the event
leading to such damage.

— Financial risks relating to the funding and fiscal
security of the Group.

The three lines of defence

Senior management

/]\

1st line

2nd line

The table on pages 32 to 36 shows more detail on
the key risks identified at the end of 2019. Our Board
and management consider that these pose the
greatest threats to our business and they score
highest on our risk table. They fall into categories
that relate closely to our business model, Not all risks
facing Synthomer are listed and the risks are not
listed in any order of priority.

The nature of risk changes over time with new
risks emerging and the impact of others changing.
Our risk management and assurance programme
can only provide reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that key risks are managed to an
acceptable level.

Synthomer Risk Trends

Board/Audit Committee

¢ | [

3rd line

Functions that own and
manage risks

— Palicies
— Procedures
-~ Management controls

= Quality

Functions that oversee risks
— Risk management

— CGroup finance

= Group SHE

— 150 audits

— Regulatory affairs

-~ Legat department

Functions that provide
independsnt assurance

= Internal aucit
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group's strategic objectives can only be achieved if certain

risks are taken and managed effectively.

We have iisted below the most significant risks that affect our
business, although there are cther lower level risks that occur
and impact the Group’s performance which are also actively
managed through our risk management framework,

Strategic risks

Risk

Response

2020 plans

Volatility in chemicals and poiymers market

The markets in which we operate are inherently
volatile, including in raw material input process,
and we expect this volatiiity to continue in 2020
due to ihe global macroeconomic and political
uncertainty, affecting velumes and margins
and potentially adversely affecting the results of
the Group.

— The Group continues to maintain
a baianced portfolio of products
serving a wide range of end markets
around the giobe, Post year end,
we completed the acquisition
of CMINQVA, which significantly
increased our presence in the
key North American markets.
Segment performance at business
unit level is closely monitored and
corrective actions are taken as
necessary to mitigate the risk as far as
reasonably practicable.

= New product development and our
acquisition strategy will continue to
further diversify the Group's risk.

Competition and failure to innovate

We operate in highly competitive markets and the
Group could lose market share to other producers
of speciality chemicals if we fail to remain

competitive or innovate 1o produce new products.

— The Group continues to invest in
enhancing existing products and
developing new products through
our R&D programme and also
our acquisition strategy inciudes
technologies that are new to
the Group.

= Qur technical services teamns work
with customers to help them to use
our products in the best way for their
businesses and also to anticipate their
future needs, which we feed back into
our R&D programme.

— We undertook a significant review of
CcOsts in our key sites and improved
our sales teams 1o ensure we can
price our products competitively.

Intellectual property

— Qur integrated business planning
process and also our Pathway
Programme wil! allow us to operate
morg efficiently.

The value of the Group is dependent on our
ability to identify and protect our own intellectual
property and ensure we do not breach third
parties' intellectual property rights, which could
lead to reputational damage and additional costs.
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- The Group maintained its patent
programme and sought to protect
other intellectual property rights.

= Where appropriate, and where we
are legally able to, we will patent or
otherwise protect more intellectual
property in products, processes
and technologies.

= We will continue to improve IT
security in our networks, ERPs, recipe
change control system and industrial
centrols systems.




Link to strategy
Ressarch and development and technical
expartise 10 exploit new markets

Drving efficiency and excellence
through operations

Capacity
utilisation

Investmant in
capacity

Busingss growth
through acguisitions

Read more Page 14

Strategic risks

Ne change

Increase

Decrease

Change inrisk

Sensitivity for risk made in
assessing viability

Emerging risk

Risk

Response

2020 plans

Manufacturing capacity expansion projects

Enhancements to our plants 1o increase
manufacturing capacity 10 take advamage of
growth markets are dependent on good project
management, Poor execution of our various
projects could impact on our ability to deliver the
capacity enhancements.

- We have a robust capital appraisal

process in place to assess proposed
projects to ensure they deliver value,
which includes regular reporting

to the Board. Project Excellence
methodolegy is in place for all
significant CAPEX projects.

The outcome of completed projects
with costs in excess of E1m are
reviewed by the Audit Committee and
subject to Internal Audit’s review.

= We will deliver further significant

capacity enhancement in our NBR
plant in Malaysia.

= Our Project Excellence methodology

will be reviewed to ensure any lessons
learned are addressed and further
training given as required.

Pathway Programme

In line with our aspirations to grow through
acquisition and organic growth, we obtained
Board approval to start a Pathway Programme in
2019 to deliver streamiined and efficient common
processes across our production, commercial,
procurement and finance functions as well as
replacing a number of our key legacy IT systems,
These common processes will help to smooth the
integration of newly acquired businesses to more
easily deliver business benefits, There is a risk that
we fail to drive the changés required and deliver
the anticipated benefits, or fail to deliver quickly
enough and distract the business from its day-to-
day operations.

The Programme is following
Synthomer's standard Project
Excellence methodoiogy, including
engaging external assurance
throughout the life cycle. There is a
balance of internal business experts
and external transformation experts
with an appropriate steering
committee chaired by a rnember of
Synthemer's Executive team.

— We will step up the assurance

activity and any remedial actions
required prior to delivering the new
process and associated systems to
our first wave of Synthomer sites.
Change management activities will be
stepped up as the deployment phase
begins in 2020,
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic risks

Risk

Response

2020 plans

Mergers and acquisitions (M&A)

in March 2020 we expect {o complete the
acquisition of OMNOVA, There is a risk that the
integration approach is not successful and that we
tail to detiver the business benefits. The Group's
strategic plan continues to include significant
ME&A to further grow our business. There is a

risk that we fail to identify and secure any targets
or identify the wrong targets, paying too high a
price, failing to integrate acquired assets and drive
planned synergies, or we encounter performance,
funding and cashflow issues and potentially
unknown liabilities.

- Executive management has extensive
experience of successfil M&A
transactions, including integration
of the acquired businesses. We are
actively planning for a number of our
most experienced management to
relocate during the integration phase
to ensure the acquired business is
integrated into ‘the Synthomer Way’
covering processes and culture.

= External advice is used to help identify
targets, prepare bids and conduct
due diligence.

= Whilst no significant M&A is
anticipated in 2020 pending
deleveraging, the Group M&A activity
will continue to be closely scrutinised
and challenged by the Board.

- Successful integration of OMNCVA 1o
ensure strong synergy delivery and
deleveraging profile.

People and talent retention

People are a key asset for Synthomer in driving
our Company strategy to grow and enabling us to
operate in our diverse markets whilst complying
with regulations and corporate responsibility.

We can only build cur people resources if we are
able to recruit and retain the right people across
our business.

= Qur employees have clear objectives
which are aligned to our company
strategy, as well as individual personal
development to support their
progression. We have succession
plans in place for key roles and
develop our future leaders, inciuding
through a graduate programme,
enabling us to promote internally as
well as bring in new talent. We also ran
an employee opinion survey towards
the end of 2019 which showed strong
employee engagement, and we are
analysing the results further.

- As we bring OMNOVA's 1,850
employees onboard, we expect
to widen our talent field further
and be abie to offer employees of
the combined Group enhanced
development opportunities and
increase retention of our best assets.

Operational risks

Risk

Response

2020 plans

Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

A manufacturing site or a raw material storage site
might be unable to operate, whether temporarily
or longer term, due tc a risk event, including
natural disaster (inciuding climate, environmenta!
and health), safety incident, failure of a key
supplier or the supply chain, sabotage and cyber-
attack, and this woufd have an adverse impact on
operations and business unit profitability. There is
a risk that our response does not ensure the site
is ahle to return to its operational capacity in the
planned time frame and that we suffer losses and
damage to custorner reputation.

= Crisis management procedures
are in place for all sites to respond
to risk events, which are reviewed
and tested regularly.

= Sourcing strategies are in place
Group-wide to ensure there are
multiple sources for key raw
materials and the Group works
closely with key suppliers to
ensure availability. Single sourced
materials are identified and
inventory retained, where
appropriate, to mitigate risk of
supply chain failure,

— We wil continue to improve existing

preventative measures to reduce the

risks and will roll out our newly refreshed
approach to business continuity, inciuding
crisis managerment response, disaster
recovery for key systems and data as well
as longer-term recovery of operations,
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Link to strategy
Research and development and technical
expartise to exploit new markets

Driving efficiency and excelience
through operations

Capacity
utilisation

Investmant in
capacity

Businegss growth
through acquisiions

Read more Page 14

Operational risks

No change

Increase

Decrease

Change in risk

Sensitivity for risk made in
assessing viability

Emerging risk

Risk

Response

2020 plans

IT security

The inherent risk from cyber attacks continues to
grow, and although rmitigatec by our sophisticated
defences, all of our systems, including our
industrial control systemns, Enterprise Resource
Planning (ERP) and coemmunications, could be
compromised. We could lose intellectual property
and customer gata, which might undermine our
competitive position and iead to regulatory fines,
or a cyber-attack could leave one of our plants out
of action or subject to blackmall.

—

Our [T security team received
additional resources, and training
was given to key empioyees to
enhance their awareness of the
risks from phishing and social
engineering. We also invested in
anti-phishing software defences
and worked to improve our backup
procedures to ensure consistency
with good standards.

= Further improvements are planned,
inciuding cornpleting the delivery of next

generation firewalls at all our sites.

= Wae will test IT resilience through our
programme of disaster recovery testing.

Safety, Health and Environment (SHE})

Cur industry is inherently dangerous, involving the
fransport, storage and manufacture of hazardous
chemicals. There is & risk that a significant
accident or envirenmental incident leads to

injury to staff or local communities, reputational
damage, fines and ioss of permissions to operate.

Synthomer operates a central
safety audit function dedicated o
SHE issues and it provides advice
to, and monitors, our sites {o
enable continuous improvement
across all major SHE areas.
Increasingly, the focus is on
process safety risk to mitigate the
risk of major incidents.

Maintenance programmes are
undertaken to mitigate the risks.

= Qur Group SHE audits will continue 1o

focus on higher risk areas, including
process safety. We will make further
progress on our long-term ambition

to implement a proactive approach to
maintenance as a preventative measure.

= We will focus specifically on completing

the actions from our Process
Hazard Assessments.

Brexit

There is a continuing risk, nctwithstanding the
UK/EU withdrawal agreement, that the parties

fail to reach a continuing trade agreement in
2020, which might impact the ability of UK
manufacturing plants to impaort raw matetials and
export products on a fimely basis and also impact
REACH regulaticn compliance costs.

As far as is possible, our Brexit
task force continued to monitor
and mitigate the potential for
disorderly Brexit.

— We will continue to monitor the impact

of not concluding a future trade deal.
We will continue to review our trading

arrangements, processes and systems

ta engure that we take any mitigating
actions necessary.
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Strategic Report
Principal risks and uncertainties
continued

Link to strategy
Research and development and technical
expertise to exploit new markets

Driving efficiency and excellence
through operations

Capacity
utlisation

Invesimant in
capacity

Business growth

Change in risk
No change
Increase

Decrease

Sensitivily for risk made in
assessing viability

through acquisitions Emerging rsk
Read more Fage 14
Compliance risks
Risk Response 2020 plans
Ethics

A failure to prevent anti-competitive practices,
data breaches, bribery or other unethical
behaviour could lead to substantial penalties,
withdrawal of operating licences and reputational
damage that could impact the Group’s ability to
pursue its strategy.

— In 2019 Synthomer delivered face-
to-face training to nearly all of our
empioyees worldwide on the refreshed
Code of Conduct, which includes
key compliance areas and other
ethical challenges. The new Code
includes real exarmples and scenarios
to aid employee understanding
and the training was well-received,
with good employee engagement.
Malpractice reporting and protection
for reporters are similarly covered
in the new Code and an external
confidential reporting neipline was
brought into use. Group Legal and
local management provide regular
additional training to targeted groups
of employees.

— We will ensure that senior
management and local business
units continue to emphasise the
provisions in the Code of Conduct and
that Group Legal and other relevant
functions continue to provide training
and advice on its applicability.

= We will continue to review our
approach to legal compliance,
incluging the new GDPR law.

Financial risks

Risk

Response

2020 plans

Financial risks

As a UK-registered Group with a diverse
presence across the world, we are exposed

to foreign currency risks from our transactions
and translation of our legal entities, which could
significantly impact the results of the Group.

The Group continues 1o have funding risks relating
to defined benefit pension scheme obligations,
the value of which are highly dependent on volatile
financial markets.

We continue to plan te finance our acquisition
strategy and continuing operations, There is a risk
that the financing strategy fails.

= The Group has a policy of hedging

all significant foreign exchange
transactional exposure at operating
company level. The Group borrows a
proportion of its funding in overseas
currencies to hedge the net assets
held in those currencies.

— The UK scheme was closed

to future accrual in 2009 and
additional contributions and careful
asset management have reduced
the deficit over the longer term.
Qverseas schemes are reviewed
annually by actuaries to ensure
appropriate contributions are
made and liabilities are recognised
appropriately. The overall risk from
pensions has reduced over time
due to active management and the
additional centributions that have been
made in recent years.

= We will continue to hedge
CLITency risks,

= Pension deficits are expected
to further reduce as the Group
continues the additional contributions
agreed with the trustees in 2016,
The timescale wili be affected by
movernents in the financial markets
and the discount rate.
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Viability statement

In accordance with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the viability

of the Group over a five-year pericd to Decemnber 2024, being the period covered by the Group's approved strategic
plan. This pian is updated annually, in a process led by the executive management team with input from the respective
businesses and functions. It Includes analysis of product and profit performance, cash flow, investment programmes and
returns to shareholders. The plan is presented to the Board each year as a part of its strategic review.

The Directors consider five years to be an appropriate time horizon for the strategic plan, being the period over which the
Group actively focuses on its long term product development and capital expenditure investments. A period above five
years is gonsidered by the Directors to be {oo long, given the uncertainties that exist beyond this time frame.,

In making their assessment, the Directors have considered the diverse activities and product offering of the Group in
terms of geographies, chemistry and end markets. The Directors have also considered the Group's current strong financial

position, including the existing and future committed bank facilities, which have been assumed 1o be refinanced at maturity.,

Furthermore, a sensitivity analysis has been undertaken, focusing on the impact of the principal risks (detailed above

on pages 32 10 36) over the five-year period and the availability and iikely effectiveness of mitigating actions. The risks
have been assessed for their potential impact on the Group's business modei, future trading and funding structure.

The sensitivity analysis has considered a number of severe but plausible scenarios, linked to the risks considered 1o have
the most significant financial impact. In all cases, the impact was considered on both liguidity and borrowing covenant.

The scenarios included trading volatility, increased competition, disruption as a result of Brexit, delays in project delivery,
failure of new products, the temporary loss of a manufacturing site, a fine by a regulating body and a situation where the
OMNOVA acquisition does not complete. They also fecused on risks such as significant foreign exchange rate movements,
which are deemed to be outside the control of the Group. None of these scenarios individually threaten the Group, and the
combined impact of these scenarios has been evaluated as the most severe stress scenario.

While this sensitivity analysis did not consider all of the risks that the Group may face, the Direclors consider that it is
reasonable in the circumstances of the inherent uncertainty involved.

Based on the analysis, the Directors have a reasonable expeciation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fali due over the five-year period of their assessment.
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Strategic Report
Chief Financial Officer’s review

The proposed acquisition of OMNOVA
and resultant canservative capital
structure demonstrates our commitment
to a disciplined capital allocation policy

EBITDA Free Cash Flow

(Em}) (Em)

2019 177.9 2019 928
2018 181.0 2018 27.8

2007 176.2 2017 81.5

2018 1601 2018 89.5

2015 1250 2015 83.0
EBITDA Volume

(Em) (ktes)

1. Performance Blastomers £98.3m 1. Parformance Elastomers 848 1 ktes
2. Functional Solutions. £68.9m 2. Functicnal Solutions 487.4 ktes
3. Industrial Specialiies £24.8m 3. Industrial Specialities 129.2 ktes
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Stephen Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

Highlights
- Resilient EBITDA performance in challenging
economic environment

— Strong Free Cash Flow generation in 2019

- Conservative capital structure implemented,
including hard underwrite of acquisition
rights issue

— Committed unsecured long-term and bridge
facifities ahead of OMNOVA acguisition

= Disciplined application of capital allocation palicy
and dividend policy unchanged

ARternative performance measures

The Group has consistently used two significant
Alternative Performance Measures {APMs') since
its adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) in 2005:

= Underlying performance, which excludes Special
ftems from iIFRS profit measures; and

= EBITDA, which exciudes Special items,
amortisation and depreciation from IFRS
operating profit,

The Board's view is that Underlying performance
provides additional clarity for the Group's investors
and so it is the primary focus of the Group’s narrative
reporting. Further information and the reconciliation
to the IFRS measures are included in note 5.

Coinciding with the first annual reporting of results
under the new divisicnal structure, the Group has
placed more emphasis on EBITDA reporting, whilst
continuwing to provide full disciosure of Underlying
and IFRS operating profit and profit before tax.

The greater emphasis on divisional EBITDA reporting
is consistent with internal reporting metrics, is a
commonly used metric by other European chemical
businesses, and is a key metric which the market
uses te value companies in the chemicals sector.



Overview Special items
2019 2018 Movernent 2019 2018
£m £m £m % £m £m
Performance Elastomers 96.3 107.9 {11.6) (10.8%) Acquisition costs {9.2) 0.5)
Functional Solutions 69.9 64.1 5.8 9.0% Restructuring and site closure (0.8) (12.2)
Industrial Speciatities 248 23.5 1.3 5.5%  Foreign exchange gain on rights issue 3.5 -
Corporate (13.1) (14.5) i4 (9.7%) Amortisation of acquired intangibles (8.7) (16.4)
EBITDA’ 177.9 181.0 (3.1)  (1.7%) Sale of business - 3.8
Depreciation (52.1) (38.9) (13.2) 33.8%  Sale of land - 16.4
Underlying operating profit' 125.8 1421 (16.3) {11.5%} Aborted bond costs - (1.7}
Note: yK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation - 2.8)
1. 2019 includes the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases of £7.9m on EBITDA and {15.2) 13.4)

£0.6m on Underlying operating profit.

'n a challenging environment, the Group has delivered a resilient
performance, benefiting from geographic, product and end market
diversity, with EBITDA down 1.7% at £177.9m relative tc £181.0m

in 2018. Whilst cverall volumes are a little softer, largely reflecting a
difficult SBR market and in particular the paper market, the Group's
overall margin per tonne has again remained stable. The reported
EBITDA perfermance of £177.9m has benefitted from the adoption
of IFRS 16 Leases, improving EBITDA by £7.9m while increasing
depreciation by £7.3m and interest by £1.1m respectively.

Notwithstanding the econemic backdrop, Functiona) Solutions and
Industrial Specialities EBITDA performance was ahead of 2018, with
Performance Elastomers EBITDA iower. In this context we were
pleased with the impreovements in our Functional Solutions, Industrial
Specialities and Performance Elastomers NBR markets largely
offsetting the disappointing performance in Performance Elastomers
SBR markets principally attributable to a challenging European
paper busingss.

The Underlying operating profit of the Group was £125.8m, 11.5%
lower than 2018 (£142,1m), with the significant rise in depreciation
of £13.2m (33.9%) attributabie to the significant capacity expansion
programme 2017 to 2019 (£5.9m) and the accounting changes
relating 1o the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases (£7.3m}. The [FRS
operating profit was £110.6m (2018: £128.7m).

The Group continued to generate strong Free Cash Flow in the year
at £92.8m, back 1o similar levels reported in 2016 and 2017 with the
marked improvement over the prior year mainly reflecting a working
capital outflow in 2018 and an inflow in 2019, largely following the

trend in raw material prices, and tight working capital management.

We refinanced the Group in July in anticipation of the OMNGVA
acquisition. The post-completion capital structure is consistent with
our capital allocation policy, raising eguity and targeting a more
conservative level of leverage at completion {2.5x) than ailowed for in
the policy (3.0x), and only this on the basis that we expect leverage to
return to less than 2.0x within two years post completion.

Our major capital investment in capacity expansion is largely
complete and accordingly our attention will now focus on the
integration of OMNOVA, driving synergy benefits and cash flows to
ensure the deleveraging profile is delivered in accordance with our
capital allocation policy.

The following items of income and expense have been reported as
Speciat tems:

— Agcquisition costs relate to the proposed acquisition of OMNOVA
partly offset by a gain of £4.0m on & foreigh exchange derivative
entered into in July 2019 to hedge the acquisition price. The 2018
costs related to the BASF Pischelsdarf acquisition.

= Restructuring and site closure costs largely comprise a charge
of £1.9m in relation to the reorganisation of the Group into global
business segments. This is partly offset by a partial reversal of the
provisicn recognised in 2018 for the closure of the natural rubber
and polyester resins production lines as certain elements have
been less expensive than originally estimated.

= Foreign exchange gain on rights issue represents a gain made on
a forward contract which was entered into to swap the proceeds of
the Sterling rights issue into Eurc in order to pay down part of the
Group's Euro borrowings.

= Amortisation of acquired intangibles decreased during the year as
the customer-related intangibies relating to the 2011 PolymerLatex
acquisition reached the end of their amoriisation period in
H1 2018.

— Sale of businesses in 2018 related to the disposal of the
Leuna (Germany) site and the disposal of 51% of the Group's
Dubai operations.

— Sale of land in 2018 related to the disposal of the final tranche of
Malaysian land at Kluang.

— Ahead of the Group's 2018 refinancing, a process was undertaken
to issue unsecured fixed rate senior notes. Despite a strong
response from investors, the Group decided not to complete the
transaction due to unfavourable market conditions.

- A £2.8m adjustment to pension liabilities was booked in H2 2018
following the UK High Court's ruling on equalisation of male
and female Guaranteed Minimum Pensicns. This was treated
as a pension plan amendment, unrelated tc the Underlying
performance of the Group.
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Strategic Report

Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

Finance costs

2019 2018
Underlying Spsecial Underlying Special
performance Hems IFRS  perfarmance items IFRS
£m £m £m Em £m £m

Operating profit {including share of joint ventures) 125.8 ‘ {15.2) 1106 1421 (13.4) 1287
Net interest payable {5.8) 0.0 (5.8) {3.8) 0.0 3.8
Fair value loss on unhedged interest derivatives 0.0 {0.5) {0.5) 0.0 {1.4) {1.4)
Net interest expense on defined benefit obfigations (2.7) 0.0 2.7 3.2) 0.0 (3.2
Interest element of léase payments {1.1) 0.0 {1.1) 0.0 0.0 c.0
Finance costs {9.6) {0.5) {10.1) (7.0} (1.4) (8.4)
Profit before tax 116.2 {15.7) 100.5 135.1 {14.8) 120.3

Underlying finance costs increased by £2.68m to £9.6m. The drivers
were the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases with a charge of £1.1m

(2018 £nil} and the full year impact of the Eurc interest rate fix
transacted in Juiy 2018 of £3.6m (2018: £1.2m). This was partly offset
by £0.4m of lower net interest as the RCF amounts drawn have been
reduced with the rights issue in July 2019, and a reduction in net

as a result of lower drawn amounts under the RCF, and the changes
in the fair value between 31 Decemnber 2018 and 2019.

Exchange
The impact of movements in exchange rates on reported numbers is
based on the following exchange rates:

interast expense on defined benefit obligations as a result of a higher 2019 2018
return on assets in the year. Closing rate £1 = $1.33 $1.27
In July 2018 the Group entered into swap arrangements to fix Euro Closing rate £1 = €1.18 €111
interest rates on the full value of the €446m committed unsecured Closing rate £1 = MYR 5.38 MYRG5.27
revqlvin credit facility. The falr value loss on unhedged interest rate Average rate £1 = $1.28 $1.33
derivatives relates to the movement in mark-to-market value of the Aver. te £1 = €114 €113
swap in respect of the proportion of the derivatives in excess of the orage rate L1 = ) ’
Group's borrowings. The charge has reduced to £0.5m (2018: £1.4m)  Averagerate £1 = MYR 5.29 MYR5.37
Taxation
2019 2018
Underlying Special Underlying Spacial
performance Items IFRS performance Rems IFRS
£m £m £m ) £m £m £m

Taxation {16.3) 14 (14.9) 23.0) 6.0 {17.0)
Effective tax rate 14.0% B.9% 14.8% 17.0% 40.5% 14.1%
Profit for the year 29.9 {14.3} 85.6 1241 (8.8) 7 103.3
Profit attributable to non-controling interesis 0.4 0.6 1.0 G5 3.0 35
Profit attributable to aquity holders 99.5 {14.9) B84.6 111.6 (11.8) 99.8

The IFRS effective tax rate is impacted by the tax credit on the
Special itemns. 1t is therefore helpiul to consider the Underlying and
Special ltems affecting tax rates separately:

— The effective tax rate on Underlying performance for the year
reduced to 14.0% {2018: 17.0%) in the year primarily as a result of
changes in geographical split of profits, with increased profitability
of the business in Malaysia, which benefited from the Pioneer
Status tax exemption, relative to the European businesses.
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= The effective tax rate for Special ltems is driven by deferred and
current tax credits on ihe amortisation of acguired intangibles
along with current tax credits on restructuring costs.



Non-controlling interests

The Group continues to hold 70% of Revertex {Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
and its subsidiaries. These entities form a relatively minor part of
the Group and hence the impact on Underlying performance from
non-controlling interests is not significant.

Earnings per share

Special tems arose from the partial reversal of the 2018 restructuring
provision for the closure of the natural rubber and polyester resing
production lines at the Kluang site as certain elements have been less
expensive than originally estimated. 2018 Special ltems included the
non-controlling interest share of 2018 restructuring provision as well
as profits from the sale of a parcel of iand, owned by Kind Action Sdn
Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd.

2019 2018
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Hems IFAS  parformance Iterns IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m &m

Earnings
Profit attributable to equity holders (£m) 89.5 {14.9) 84.6 111.6 {11.8) 99.8
Number of shares
Weighted average number of shares ('000) 393,349 363,977
Earnings per share
Basic EPS (p) 25.3p {3.8)p 21.5p 30.7p (3.3p 27.4p
Diluted EPS {p) 25.2p {3.8)p 21.4p 30.5p (3.2p 27.3p

Earnings per share is calculated based on the average number ot
shares in issue during the year. Foliowing the rights issue in July 2019,
the Company issued a further 84,970,192 ordinary shares, bringing
the total issued shares of the Company to 424,850,861 and the
weighted average number of the shares for 2019 to 393,348,792.

Underlying eamings per share for the year is 25.3p, a reduction of
17.6% relative for 2018, and the IFRS earnings per share is 21.5p,

a reduction of 21.5% relative to 2018. The reduction in the earnings
per share reflects the change in profit after tax referred to above, and
the dilutive effect of the rights issue ahead of the compigtion of the
acquisition of OMNOVA.

Foliowing the rights issue, the prior year earnings per share figures
have been restated by an adjustment factor of 1.0713 to reflect the
bonus element of the rights issue.
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Strategic Report

Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

Cash performance

The Group’s primary focus is on managing net debt rather than on
cash. The following table surmmarises the movement in net debt and
is in the format used by management;

2019 2018
£m £m

Underlying operating profit (excluding joint
ventures) 124.9 1417
Movement in working capital 18.5 35.2)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 43.4 3r.8
Depreciation of right of use assets 73 -
Amoriisation of other intangible assets 1.4 14
Share-based payments charge 0.6 1.5
Capital expenditure {69.1) (75.7}
Business cash flow 127.0 7.2
Net interest paid {7.2) 4.5)
Tax paid (11 (230
Pension funding (17.5} (17.0)
Dividends received from non-controlling interests 1.6 11
Free Cash Flow 92.8 278
Cash impact of restructuring and site
closure costs 4.4) (3.3)
Cash impact of foreign exchange gain
on rights issue 3.5 -
Cash impact of aborted bond costs - 1.2
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 17.5
Acquisition costs and purchase of business ({7.5) {26.3)
Sale of business - 37
Rights issue proceeds 189.1 -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (6.8) -
Dividends paid 47.9) 42.5)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {0.6) (1.5)
Settiernert of share-based paymerts {2.5) B5.4)
Foreign exchange and other movements 8.7 {2.3)
Movement in net debt 234.7 (33.5)
Opening net [debt) {214.0) (180.5)
Closing net cash/{debt) 207 (2140

At 31 Decernber 2019, the Group had net cash of £20.7m compared
1o net debt of £214.0m at 31 December 2018. The £234.7m
movement in net debt primarily reflects:

= A reduction in working capital investment leading to an inflow of
£18.6m (2018: outflow of £35.2m) reflecting lower raw material
prices and measures taken to structurally manage working capital.
working capital remains at circa 10% of sales on a twelve month
rolling basis.

- Depreciation of right of use assets reiates to depreciation of assets
arising on the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases in 2019. Simitarly the
repayment of principal partion of lease liabilities relates to cash
payments on liabilittes recognised on adoption of IFRS 16.
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= Capital expenditure is lower relative to the prior year, reflecting the
substantial completion of our major capacity expansion projects
in Pasir Gudang (Malaysia}, Worms {Germany) and Roebuck (USA}
in 2018 and 2019. The Group commenced investment in a new
Innovation Centre and a new 60ktes NBR capacity expansion
in Malaysia and began a three-year business transformation
programme, Recurring expenditure on SHE and sustenance in the
year is £21m (2C18: £24m).

~ Cash tax paid is lower at £11.1m {2018: £23.0m). The decrease
is due to cash tax refunds received from Tax Authorities in 2019
retating 1o prior years and lower profitability in 2019.

~ Pensian funding relates mainly to the LK defined benefit deficit
recovery funding of £16.2m {2018: £15.5m). The rise in the deficit
recovery payment in 2019 reflects the schedule of contributions
agreed with the trustees in 2019 as a part of the 2018 triennial
pension scheme valuation. The cutcome of the 2018 triennial
valuation is discussed below in retirernent benefit plans.

- Acquisition costs and purchase of business of £7.5m relate 1o
the OMNOVA acquisition. In 2018, the £26.3m outflow principally
related to the purchase of BASF Pischelsdorf.

— The sale of property, ptant and equipment in 2018 related 1o the
sale of the final parce! of Malaysian land.

= Rights issue net proceeds relates to the share issue in July 2019,
raising £199.1m in anticipation of settling the CMNCOVA acquisition
purchase consideration,

— Foreign exchange and other movements reflect the impact of
the significant strengthening of Sterling during the year where
the Group has benefitted from a gain on translation of its
Euro borrewings.

Financing and liquidity

The Group continues ic make use of a €440m four-year multicurrency
revolving credit facility (RCF) expiring in July 2022, with an option to
request an extension 1o July 2023. The financial covenant for the RCE
is for net debt to be less than 3.25 times EBITDA.

I July 2018 the Group repaid its €55m committed unsecured short-
term loan facility upon expiry.

As part of the OMNOVA acquisition financing, the Group put in
place new facilities conditional on compietion of the acquisition.
These congist of a $260m term loan and €460m RCF with five-year
terms ending on 3 July 2024, and a €520m acguisition financing
bridging facility, The bridging facility is availabte for 15 months from
July 2019 and may be extended for two pericds of six months.

In 2018 the Group entered into swap derivative contracts 1o fix the
Euribor interest rate on the full value of the €440m RCF until 2025.
The full interest cost of these swaps is booked to finance costs as
incurred. Fair value movement on the portion of the swap contracts
that forms an effective hedging relationship with the Group's

floating rate borrowings is taken to other comprehensive income.
Fair value movement on the swap contracts in excess of the Group's
borrowings is taken ta profit and loss. it is treated as a Special ltem,
as it is not reflective of Underlying performance.



iFRS 16

On 1 January 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases using the
maodified retrospective approach. The adoption of the new standard
had the foliowing impact on the Group's results:

Property, plant and equipment Increase £38.9m
Lease liability Increase £41.9m
Depreciation charge Increase £7.3m
EBITDA Increase £7.9m
Finance cost Increase £1.1m
Profit before tax Decrease £0.5m
Net debt to EBITDA No impact

Basic EPS Decrease 0.1p

Note 3 of the financial staterments provides more detailed information
on the adoption of IFRS 16,

Other intangible assets

The Group has commenced a business transformation ‘Pathway’
programme which is designed to deliver a consistent set of global
business processes across a unified target operating model,
transform our technolegy architecture inte a single set of proven
integrated systermns and to build additional efficiency and effectiveness
globally. The programme will begin to deliver benefits in early 2021,
is expected to be completed for the existing group in 2022 and
meets the capital expenditure hurdie rates for Synthomer providing
an attractive payback for the Group and a sound platform for future
growth. The investment is shown as an intangible asset under
construction until the deployment phase begins.

Retirement benefit plans

The Group's principat funded defined benefit pension schame is in
the UK and is closed to future accrual. The Group also operates an
unfunded scheme in Germany and various other overseas retirement
benefit arrangements.

The Group's net defined benefit coligation increased by 5.7% 1o
£140.0m at 31 December 2019, The increase is principally attributable
to a decrease in discount rates only partially offset by our deficit
recovery funding of £16.5m, a decrease in inflation assumptions and
strong return on plan assets.

The triennial valuation of the UK scheme was undertaken in 2018
and completed in 2019. The trustees of the scheme have agreed that
the Group will continue to fund the deficit recovery plan in line with
the previously agreed recovery pian, currently expected to end in
Agpril 2023,

Stephen Bennett
Chief Financial Officer
& March 2020
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

We actively engage and listen 1o our stakeholders to understand their
views, seek opportunities to learn and continually improve. The views of
our stakeholders help to shape and inform our strategy and are a key
input to cur decision making.

Further infermation, which forms part of this statement, is included on page 69 where we provide
examples of haw the Directors fulfil their duties in accordance with section 172.

Customers Link o sieateay

Through close and leng Why we engage Our impact

working relationships with Through close technical partrerships To provide best in class sustainable

over 4,000 customers we aim  we can better understand customer and  solutions 1o allow customers to meet the

to provide solutions to meet society needs and deploy our extensive  needs of society.

their needs through customer  skills, Lroad product and technology

and technical service. portiolo 1o provide innovative solutions.

People Link to strategy

Our pecple drive our business. Why we engage Our impact

We have a culture that values  Successful performance can be We continue to drive improvements

meritocracy, openness, delivered only through a high level of through our people agenda. Our first

fairness and transparency and  engagement where our people share global employee engagement survey and

we seek to inspire our people  the Synthomer vision and values and Employee Voice initiatives are helping

to deliver their best. feel supporied by our culture and code us to address areas for improvement to
of conduct. make Synthomer a better place to work.

Communlties Link to strategy

Our global operations are Why we engage Our impact

an important part of the We want to be a good citizen in our Cur engagemert, charity and education

communities in which they communities to make a positive impact,  programmes make an increasing

are located. We seek o be overcorme concerns, be seen as an difference to the cemmunities in which

a good corporate citizen employer of cheice and to inspire our we operate,

in all cur communities and employees who are passionate about

have launched our ‘We making a difference to the communities

Care’ initiative to support in which they work.

this approach.

Link to strategy

Suppliers

We wark closely with our Why we engage Our impact

suppliers to ensure we Dialogue with suppliers is important to Cur code of conduct sets out clear

can meet our business mitigate supply chain risk, ensure we standards regarding our ways of working
requirernents in a cost have access 1o the most cost-effective with suppliers. Building trust ana
effective and sustainabie way.  products and services and to be aware  long term relationships is beneficial o
We are enthusiastic to work in  of new products and services which both parties.

partnership with suppliers and  may be available and could provide the

to allow additional value to Company with advantage.

be unlocked.
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Link to strategy

Research and davelopment and technical
expertise 1o exploit new markets

Dnving efficiency and excelience

through aperations

Capacity

utilisation

Investment in

capacity

Business growth

through acguisitions

Section 172 criteria:

a) the likely consegquences of any decision in the
long term;

b} the interests af the Company's amployees;

c} the needto foster the Gompany's business
relationships with suppliers, customers and cthers;

d) the impact of the Company's operations on the
community and the environment;

€) the desirability of the Company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct;
and

) the need to act fairly between members of
the Company

Shareholders

We are a public company

listed on the FTSE 250 index.
We provide fair, balanced and
understandable inforrmation on
the prospects and performance

of the Company.

Why we engage

To ensure that we provide sufficient
meaningful relevant information on
which investors can make informed
investment decisions.

Link to strategy

Our impact

Our Board and Management have
regular interaction with shareholders
which feed into strategic discussions
and opportunities, ensuring clarity
and alighment over strategy and
future expectations of the shareholder
and the Company, as the Company
moves forward.

Governments and authorities

In science and technology

areas we cooperate and

engage constructively so that
the purpose and strategy of the
business can be best delivered.

Qur values
Case Study

Why we engage

Policy and regulatory change have a
direct impact on our business. We need
¢ understand and influence where
appropriate 10 ensure we can anticipate
the consequences of this change.

Growth Capex Investment in fast growing
NBR market at the Pasir Gudang site

in Malaysia

We consider the impact on major stakeholders in
all of our strategic capital investment proposais.
These proposals are brought to the Board for
approval and discussion and follow our best
practice 'Project Excellence’ methodology for
managing projects. JOBS is a 60ktes expansion

Link to strategy

Our impact

We actively participate in the Chemical
industry Association our iIndustry trade
body, and have contributed to the debate
on a broad range of issues including
Brexit, sustainability and decarbonisation,
growth and innovation.

of the Pasir Gudang (Malaysia} site to expand our
capacity t0 maet the fast growing market for NBR
latex. These products are used by our customers
to manufacture gloves for health and protection
applications. Gloves meet the growing needs of
society for increased hygiene requirements and
our state-of-the-art products provide differentiated
polymers to meet and improve quality and
performance requirements.

Our investment plans for JOB6 received approva!
from government and authorities with whom we
consult on a regular basls. We engage closely
with customers to ensure our product plans meet
their needs and with suppliers to ensure that

we can obtain cost effective supply in sufficient

quantities. We communicated with employees to
ensure they were prepared for the project and had
detailed plans to deliver the outcome - as well as
preparing to recruit new colleagues who would
meet the values that exist within Synthomer. In the
cormmunities around Pasir Gudang we ensured

that we communicated our plans publicly and

work to overcome concerns, manage the impact

of the activity and be a supplier of choice. With our
shareholders we discuss our capital policy, plans for
future investment and communicate these openly to
seek their feedback and support.

The project is now underway with a completion date
in the second half of 2021,
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Strategic Report
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
ESG is an increasing priority for our stakeholders
and the Group. | am pleased to say that Synthomer
continues to make progress in this important area.

2019 ESG highlights

46

58% improvement in
recordable injury rate on
three-year rolling basis,
now 0.20 per 100,000
hours worked

Best ever process safety
event rate, 0.11 per
100,000 hours

Policies and practices
implemented to compiy
in full with 2018 UK
Governance Code

improved CDP rating of
'B-' classification — ‘taking
coordinated action on
climate issues’ (2018: D)

SUSTAINA

= Funther strengthening of
our employer brand

- Launch of Your Voice’
initiative —~ employees
engagement survey

= Rastated our commitment

to our 2021 target to
reduce greenhouse
gas emissions

— Aligned our reporting to
GRI Standards

— Intreduced a carbon
footprint measure to PSP
scheme 2020

SUIL

DING

Tim Hughes

President - Corporate Developrnent

Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019
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The focus on sustainability and the way in
which companies improve their performance in
Environmental, Social and Governance {ESG)
aspects of corporate behaviour continues

to increase.

Synthomer has responded 10 this challenge by
integrating cur ESG activities into the way we run our
business and the broader reporting of our targets
and achievements, as well as ensuring we have
access to the data we require to direct our activity
and maximise the impact of our work.

Synthomer is a specialised chemicals company. As a
global leader in water-based polymer chemistry, our
purpose is to continually innovate to meet the needs
of customers and society in a sustainable way.

Synthomer is built on its reputation and the trust
and confidence of each of its stakeholders ~ not
only our shareholders and empioyees, but alse our
customers, suppliers and the wider community and
environment in which we operate. At Synthcmer,
we hold the highast standards and work together
to build an ethical and sustainable business, ‘The
Synthomer Way',



We focus cur sustainability work, through our
Group Sustainability Committee, based arcund
six pillars — strategy, governance and compliance,
people, sustainable value chain, health and
safety, and environment. In 2018 we broadened
our sustainakility activities to reach more widely
across the Group and for the first time published
our Sustainability Report to Global Reporting
initiative {GRI) standards. This approach is built
on selid foundations, including the gathering

of stakeholder expectations and assessing
materiality, building key performance indicators
against which we can be judged, engaging our
employees through our first global engagement
survey and our community-based ‘We Care'
initiative and finally communicating our progress
through our annuai Sustainability Report.

We strongly believe our sustainability activities
build shareholder value and will drive a positive
contribution to our business performance and
allow us to deliver on owr purpose: Delivering
‘The Synthomer Way',

Tim Hughes
President — Gorporate Development

Some of the ways in
which we deliver on ESG

- We put safety, heath and environmental
performance as a core value of our
business, delivering global top gquartile
performance in pricrity areas and becoming
better through our commitment to
continuous improvement.

- We are a world leading supplier of
sustainapte water-based polymers, our
products and processes avoid the need to
use an estimated 500ktes of solvents and
volatile organic compounds (VOCs).

= Our streng giobal innovation drives the
use of water-based technology — 22% of
sales volume in 2018 came from products
less than five years old delivering best in
class, better performing products te glebal
customers, Projects increasingly focus on
sustainability compliance, alternative raw
materials, lower enargy intensive products
and products with superior life cycie impact.

— We have a strategic focus on driving
efficiency and excellence through cur global
operations to minimise the use of resources
and maximise efficiency - debottlenecking
our plants and driving better cycle times.

— We focus on the sustainability of our value
chain in line with the reguirements of our
key stakeholders.

— We remain resclutely committed to our
2021 carbon target despite challenges in
2019 due to the weaker macroeconomic
impact on volume and the unfavourable mix
in our sales volumes.

— We remain committed to reporting to Global
Reporting initiative (GRI) standards.

= Qur 2019 Carbon Disclosure Project
(CDP) assessment report rates us at ‘B-
classification — ‘management level — taking
coordinated acticn on climate issues’.

= Qur policies and practices fuily comply with
the 2018 UK Governance Code.

— We have strengthened our employer brand
1o attract and retain the best talent in
the markel.

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019
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Strategic Report

Environmental, social and governance continued

Highlights and achievements

Strategy — see page 50

= [ntroduced our purpose — As a global leader in
water-based polymer chemistry, our purpose is to
continually improve our products and technology to
meet the needs of our customers and society in a
sustainable way.

= Published first Synthomer Sustainability Report
aligned to GRI standards following extensive
stakeholder assessment and matched to our six
key pillars identified by the materiality assessment.

— Sustainability Committee expanded to coordinate

global ESG sustainability activities, reporting to the
Executive Committee.

— Increased focus on innovation of products with lower

energy intensity, the completion of life cycle analysis,

alternative raw material development and full understanding

of our sustainable value chain to guide future activity.

— Improved Ecovadis and CDP scores, maintaining Silver level

in Ecovadis and achieving B- Jevel in CDP.

Governance and compliance — see page 52

= Completing face-to-face interactive and scenario-
based training sessions to support the launch of the
Group's new Code of Conduct, with very positive
feedback and results.

= Significant progress made in rolling out the

- Introducticn of a new third-party coniracted software

solution from AEB and Dow Jones which automatically
undertakes weekly sanctions-checks of third-party data
contained in our system {e.g. customer and supplier
data) supporting the existing Group policy on conducting

Group's GDPR compliance programme, including business in sanctioned countries.

delivering face-to-face awareness sessions to
relevant employees.

= Creating a new Investigations Protocol to support the
proper conduct of investigations, whether into matters
arising through the new whistleblowing helpline or
otherwise. The Investigations Protocol is designed
to reinforce the Group’s commitment to encouraging
employees to speak up about any concerns they may
have about unethical and/or untawful behaviour, through
giving reassurance around the integrity of any investigation
that ensues.

= Launching an enhanced competition law
compliance programme, inveiving making
available online an improved guidance toolkit
for employees, and rolling out face-to-face
interactive and scenario-based training sessions to
relevant employees.

People — see page 53

— Synthomer Talent Development Programme
extended and second annual cohort selected

and enrolied. = Multilingual Giokal Employee Engagement Survey with
= Further investment in Eurgpean Graduate active participation from over 1,600 (62%) of Synthormer

Development Prograrnme. employees across seven largest countries where
Synthomer employees are based.

= Synthomer leadership attributes updated and
launched globally.

= Strengthened Asia and Europe
Graduate Programme.

Sustainable value chain — see page 57

- |nitial assessment of active R&D projects against
sustainability criteria,

— Strengthened sustainability assessment within
procurement processes, and implemented revised

supplier audit methodology. = Extended supplier performance assessment criteria for

supplier audits to cover wider aspects of sustainability.

Health and safety (occupational and process safety) — see page 59

— ICCA process safety event rate reduced to 0.11 per
100,000 hours.

= Completion of Group's Safety, Health and
Environment Management System (SHEMS)

review. = 19% reduction of number of recordable Injuries coempared

= Fullroll-out of internal process safety training. with previous year.

Environment — see page 60
— Total waste generated reduced 1.6%. — Commitment to Scope 3 emissions evaluation in 2020,
= Waste to landfill decreased 23%.

— Water withdrawal reduced by 1.03%.

— Total Scope 1 and 2 CQ; equivalent emissions
312,235 tonnes.

= VOC emissions reduced by 39.7% to 183 tonnes.

48  Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019



Progress against 2019 targets and objectives

Target year

Progress

Strategy
Review approach to energy and GHG emissions reporting, targeting and data validation
Align sustainability reporting against GRI ‘Core’ Standards

Achieve and sustain 'Goid’ rating from Ecovadis

2019
2018
2020

oo
__|m].
] _|m

Governance and compliance

Comply with refevant sections of 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code
Complete Code of Conduct training globally

Introduce Gode of Conduct, Anti-Bribery & Corruption, Cormpetition Law, Criminal Finances Act
and GDPR e-iearning modules

GDPR - compilete initial data security audit and begin implementing resulting improvements

2019
2019
2020

2020

||
_|H|
] |

m] =

People — employment conditions/
diversity and development

Implement the Employee Voice programme in accordance with the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code

Embed the Synthomer Leadership Development Programme
Impiement the Synthomer diversity and inclusion plans
Implement the Executive Giobal Leadership Report

Launch globally the market-aligned role and compensation framework

2019

2019
2019
2018
2019

||

=i
[1E0]
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m] |

Sustainable value chain

Assessment of the consumer packaging value chain to identfy opportunities for more
sustainable systems

Cormpiete the EPDLA life cycle assessment for major product lines

Undertake initial assessment of active R&D projects against sustainability criteria

Build upon the good performance achieved on customer complaints in 2018

Complete five key supplier audits for each procurement function (at least one per region)

Complete desktop sustainability assessment of top ten key suppliers (in each region)

2019

2019
2019
2019
2021
2022

mOd

LI
W[
OO
|
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Health and safety

Recordable case rate of 0,21 incidents per 100,000 working hours

Process safety event rate of 0.16 incidents per 100,000 working hours

2019
2019

BOC
N

Environment

Targets carried forward, based on 2017 revised baseline

>50% site emissions calcu!lated using Jocation-based emissions factors (carried forward)
6% reduction in specific energy consumption (GJ/t production)

9% reduction in GHG emissions {tCO=e/t production)

6% reduction in water consumpticn (M4 production)

7.5% reduction in waste to landfill {metric tonne/metric tonne production)

2019

end 2021
end 2021
end 2021
end 2021
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Strategic Reporl

Environmental, social and governance continued

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
ACTIVITIES

Strategy

As a giobal leader in water-based polymer chemistry,
our purpose is to continually improve our products
and technology to meet the needs of cur customers
and society in a sustainable way. Today, cur
water-based products avoid the use of hundreds of
thousands of tonnes of VOC-containing solvents.
We are rapidly introducing state-of-the-art products
with regulatory and environmental compliance,

and are focusing on projects around alternative

raw materials and lower energy intensive products
and technologies. Cur continuous improvement
pregrammes in all cur operations focus on driving
efficiency and excellence to minimise the use of
resources. And all of this is done to internationalty
recognised standards through our GRI reporting
with our focus on continuous ESG improvements.
Despite the progress that has been made, we
recognise there is still much which remains to

be done,

With sustainability and ESG interest accelerating,
Synthomer is responding to this by reporting widely
on its performance — from our “‘We Care’ community
engagement programme to our strengthening

50  Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019

employer brand, our SHE progress to our Code of
Conduct and external ESG reporting improvermnents.
Synthomer recognises the significance and
importance of being a responsible company, taking
inta congideration the complete life cycle of cur
products and the impact our operations have on
people and the environment. We also consider

the issues that are materiai {o our business and
seek to respond to them in a manner appropriate

to the interests of all its stakeholders, and we are
committed to approaching our business in an ethical
and environmentalty sound manner.

Qur work in this area has been recognised through
the Group’s inclusion in the FTSE4Good Index since
2004. The FTSE4Good Index is operated by FTSE
and highlights the performance of stock market
listed companies against a range of ESG criteria.

To be eligible for inclusion in the index, companies
must demonstrate a high level of commitment

in areas such as climate change, environmental
management and human rights.

Qur work on sustainability is also reported through
Ecovadis, CDP, ISS, Sustainalytics and MSCI
amongst others, Through our extensive reporting
and granular data, we continue to support open
reporting. To ensure the safe management and use
of its products, Synthomer is committed to sharing
relevant health and safety information throughout
the value chain. To achieve this, we work closely
with our suppliers and customers fo fully understand
the environmental impact of our raw materials,
processes and products on the overall product

life cycte. We innovate with a focus on energy
intensity, alternative raw materials and sustainable
technelogies which we believe will grow more rapidly
in the future. We identify potential improvement
areas and focus efforts on delivering those
improvements. Growing sustainably is a challenge,
but it is one that we are commitied to taking on.

The Group’s risk management processes described
earlier in the Strategic report include consideration
of the potential impact of corporate responsibility
issues on Synthomer's perfarmance. The Greup’s
investment decisions take imo account appropriate
evaluationg of the potential consequences for its
employees, customers and suppliers as well as all
stakeholders and the envircnment.

Whilst there were no acquisitions completed in

2019, we announced the significant acquisition of
OMNOVA — a highly synergistic US-based business
in cornplementary chemistry. The Group recognises
the impact that M&A, activities can have on its overall
sustainabtlity profile and performance, and 1o reflect
the acquisition of OMNOVA we will update future
reporting to include the larger Group and strengthen
our processes for evaluating these potential impacts,
risk and opportunities.

The Group’s international operations tulfil their
responsibiity to record, monitor and make pubticly
avaiiable the potential impact of their activities,

In pursuing its corporate strategy, Synthomer's aim
ts to adopt business practices that are economically,
socially and environmentally sustainable, and

to pramote these to its stakeholders in order to
strengthen refationships, share knowledge and
encourage best practice,



Plan for 2020
and beyond

During 2020 the Group

will review the materiality
assessment, including
seeking additional feed-

back from stakeholders.

The OMNCWVA business will be
incorporated inte the reporting
of the enlarged Group.

in 2G20 the Company will
accelerate investment

in the sourcing of green
electricity, increasing the
number of countries in which
it purchases renewable
electricity. initial focus will be
Europe but other countries
will be also taken imo
consideration. This move
towards green electricity will
significantly decrease the
Group's Scope 2 emissions
and form an important step in
meeting our proposed 2021
GHG emissions target.

The Group will consider the
alignment of the sustainability
aspects, pillars and targets
and objectives with the LN
Sustainable Development
Goals and commence the
gathering cof Scope 3 related
emissions dala.

The Sustainability Committee was established

in 2018 to coordinate activities and was expanded

in 2019 1o reflect the wider involvement across our
business. Membership includes representatives from
the divisioral businesses together with functional
department heads of HR, R&D, Procurement and
Corporate Governance, as well as seniaf members
of the corporate SHE Network. The Committee is led
by the President - Corporate Development who sits
on and reports back to the Executive Committee.

The Group also remains committed to both the
global chemical industries’ Responsible Care®
initiative and to the principles of sustainable
development as set out in the UK Chemical
Industries Assaciation (ClA} "Vision of Sustainability’,
published in August 2018.

This commitment was re-asserted in 2017 when the
Chiet Executive Officer endorsed the updated UK
ClA Responsible Care® Guiding Principles.

Materiality assessment chart

A key achievernent in 2019 was the alignment of
our sustainability reporting to the internationally
recognised GRI standards. Our 2018 Sustainability
Report (previgusly CSR Report) was published

in July 2019 and meets GRI ‘Core’ reporting level
reguirements. Included in this report is an overview
of the work undertaken across the six identified
pitlars, with more comprehensive data provided in
the Sustainability Report.

During 2019 the Sustainability Committee reviewed
the aaditional concerns and suggestions from the
stakeholder survey to identify potential new focus
areas for targeted action. These include increasing
communities support, performing life cycle analysis,
review of the UN Sustainable Development Goals
and Scope 3 carbon data reperting. The 22 aspects
previcusly identified and the six pillars they are
grauped in have remained unchanged.

In addition, we have continued to look at
opportunities for improving the systems used for
reporting and data gathering/analysis to provide
greater confidence and provide more transparency
and clarity around the identified key material

risk areas.

Materiality assesment (GRI 102-44, GRI 102-46, GRI 102-47)
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Strategic Report

Environmental, social and governance continued

Non-financial information statement

The table below summarises where key slements
of our governance reporting {including non-financial
matters as required by the Non-Financial Reporting
Directive) can be found, some of which are
integrated into other sections of our Annuai Report.

Page
Topic number
= Environmental matters 60
— Employees and employee engagemant 53
= Sociai matters 55
= Respect for human rights 52
- - — The updated Code of
— Anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters 52 Conduct is available
— Our business model 28 here: www.synthomer.
com/company/
= Principal risks and uncertainties 32 corporate-
— Non-financial key performance indicators 17 respansibility/

Governance and compliance

Ensuring and demonstrating a high
standard of effective and compliant
carporate governance is a key priority
of the Group and expectation of

our stakeholders. Our governance
structures are covered in more detail
in later sections of this Annual Repart.

Code of Conduct

Our updated Code of Conduct was published in
2018 in thirteen languages in interactive online and
hard copy formats and was delivered to all of the
Group's employees by e-mail and/or hard copy.

In order to support the values contained in the Code
of Conduct and promote the Group's open culture,
an externally hosted whistleblowing helpline, which
can be accessed by telephone and oniing, was put
in place in conjunction with the launch of the Code
of Conduct. The whistleblowing helpline offers all
Group employees and stakeholders an anonymous
platform {where legaily able to do so) available at

all times to report unlawiul or unethical behaviour,
waorkplace incidents er concerns and to raise any
queries regarding the application of the Code

of Conduct.
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group-policies/

During 2019, scenario-based workshops were held
across the Group to reinforce the importance of
applying the highest ethical standards as set out
in the Code of Conduct. The workshops delivered
very positive results, as evidenced by the outcome
of the recent "Your Voice' employee survey which
demonstrated, amongst other things, that most
employees understand the Code of Conduct

and how it appties to their role, and that they

know how to report suspected unethical and/or
unlawful behaviour.

In 2019, a new Investigations Protocol was

also created to support the proper conduct

of investigations, whether into matters arising
through the whistleblowing helpline or otherwise.
The Investigations Protocol is designed {o reinforce
the Group's commitment to encouraging employees
to speak up about any concerns they may have
about unethica! and/or unlawful behaviour, through
giving reassurance around the integrity of any
investigation that ensues.

Bribery, corruption and anti-competitive
behaviour

The Group's anti-bribery, corruption and competition
law policies are key aspects of the Group’s new
Code of Conduct. As such, these topics have
featured heavily in the scenario-based workshops
held across the Group in 2019 to support the launch
of the updated Code of Conduct.

In addition, during 2019, enhanced competition
law training was given to employees more highly
exposed to competition law risk, in addition to a
new competition law toolkit being launched on the
Group's intranet. This supplemented the existing
e-learning training that had been provided.

In 2019, significant work was also put into providing
new e-learning content, with a view 1o re-launching
improved and more engaging content covering key
compliance topics during the course of 2020.

In 2020, a new project will also be launched that
takes a holistic look at the Group's Compliance
Programme, and benchmarking this against best
practice. This will include looking not only at the
rules, procedures and training that the Group has
in place, but alsc what else the Group can do to
further embed a culture that promotes compliance
with the highest ethical standards set out in the
Code of Conduct. The aim is to produce a plan for
improvement over the coming months and years.

Human rights

The Group is committed to promoting a cuiture that
values diversity, meritocracy, ocpenness, fairness
and transparency, and which encourages a safe and
trusting working environment.

These are reinforced through the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and through the work underiaken in 2019
and being undertaken in 2020 in the context of
diversity and inclusion.

The Group is committed to ensuring that slavery
and human trafficking is not taking place in

any of its supply chains, as set out in our most
recent Modern Slavery Statement available
here: www.synthomer.com/company/corporate-
responsibility/group-policies/.

In 2020, the Group will also be publishing a Cenflict
Minerals Policy in relation to its use of tin within the
business operated by William Blythe Limited.



People

Qur commitment to science and education
Raobin Harrison, Global Innovation Director, continues
to be a member of the Board of trustees as part of
our extensive engoing support for the Society of
Chemical Industry (SCI).

Amongst various ways in which we support the

SCl and its members, we were proud 1o continue
our sponsorship of the Bright SCldeas Challenge in
2019, In March the SCI hosted the second annual
final of the Challenge, bringing together some of
the brightest business minds of the future to pitch
their science-based innovation to a panel of expert
judges and an invited audience. This initiative allows
us to support UK and ROI students interested

in commercialising their ideas and develoging

their business skills. The final included talks and
training from judges and networking with industry
professionals. The winning team and the runners-up
were invited to cur laboratories in Harlow, We will
continue cur sponsorship of this event in 2020.

We also continued 1o actively support the SCI ‘mid
careers workstream'. Senior leaders from both our
Global Inngvation and HR teams have supported
committee meetings and development events

in 2019,

Qur CEQ, Calum Maciean, continues to be an
active member of Chemistry Council, a group
comprising some of the most senior leaders in the
UK chemical sector with a focus on understanding
and advancing the strategic needs of the industry

in the UK. Additionally, we support the Chernistry
Council Innovation Commitiee and have contributed
significantly to work putting together the Innovation
Strategy and Sector Deal proposal. This group has
developed four innovation themes:

=~ Advanced Materials and Molecules
- Green Supply Chains

=~ Energy Storage and Distribution

= Digitisation and Big Data

Within these themes the Innovation Working Group
has focused on identifying programmes for which
there is a clear market opportunity and societal
benefit, and where the chemical sector can have
direct impact on delivering economic value tc

the UK.

We continue to work closely with a number of
academic institutions and support academic study
in the form of sponsorshig of PhD and master's
degree students in the UK and Malaysia. We have
also supported one large European Union project,
involving the Universities of Montpeliier and Torine,
looking at sustainable raw materials, that enabled
students to spend time working in our labs.

Synthomer spensored the ‘Student of the Year
Award’ of the British Coatings Federation in
2019. This sponsorship continued for the third
successive year.

In Malaysia we hosted more than 100
undergraduates from various universities for an
industrial visit, enabling participants to gain valuable
learning from visiting a chemical planit.

Several of cur managers have been appointed

as industry academic advisers for universities in
Malaysia including UnikKL-MICET for Bacheior of
Chemical Engineering Technology (Hons} in Polyrmer,
University of Malaya for Bachelor of Science {Hons)
Chemistry, University of Technology, Malaysia for
Bachelor of Science (Hons) Industrial Chemistry and
University of Malaysia, Perlis for Material Engineering
(Hons). Academic advisers evaluate and review the
syllabus of the degree programme and contribute

to the process of accreditation by the Malaysian
Quallification Agency.

Product denations also continue 1o be a way of
supporling science and education. During 2019

we donated disposable gloves to 13 different
university laboratories and three Secondary Schools
in Malaysia. We also donated to a university

in Thailand.

Employees from our site in Roebuck {USA) had the
opportunity to support local elementary students in
2019. Site representatives attended careers fairs and
also were judges at school science fairs. This was
linked to specifically supporting schools which focus
on science, technology. engineering and maths.
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Strategic Report

Environmental, social and governance ccntinued

Key highlights - Your Voice

63%

Response rata

92%

“Synthomer is committed
to employee safety”

90%

“l understand Synthomer's
Cods of Canduct and how

80%

“Safety risks are quickly
corrected at Synthemer™

(%

“I'm treated with respact
at work™

/6%

*From what | sea, Synthomer

employees follow Synthomar's
Code of Conduct in carrying
out their work"”

it applies to my role”

“| can describe the main

priorities for my team “I have tha rescurces

I need to do my job”™

84%  68%

“1 have the authority
i need to do my job”

81%

"I know how to report
suspacted unlaewful or
unethical behaviour”

“l am proud to work
for Synthomer”

“We are delighted with the high response rate in this, our

first multilingual global engagement survey. The Executive
Committee is committed to understanding and taking actions
to drive improvement and to continuing to use different ways
to give our employees opportunity to share their feedback with
us. We're pleased particularly with some of our higher scoring
areas arcund Safety, Health and Environment (SHE} and Code
of Conduct as these areas are, we believe, fundamental to our
future success and closely aligned to our core values.”

Matt Freeland
Group HR Director
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Our commitment to our people

Attraction and retention

In 2019 we were able to almost double our followers
on Linkedin from approximately 7,000 1o over
13,000. A series of testimonial videos recorded with
members of our talent programmes were part of our
initiative to provide insights to what it's like to work
at Synthomer.

We drew more applications for our Synthomer
Graduate Programmes in Europe and Asia.

Our Asian Programme saw a 93% increase in
applications compared with 2018, with over 3,000
applications received.

Listening 10 our employees

in 2019 we ran our first multilingual global
engagement survey. Through participation in the
Your Voice' survey, over 1,500 of our employees
from all levels of our organisation across the
globe were able to share their views on waorking
for Synthomer.

To increase the connection between our Board
and our employees and to comply with the UK's
Financial Reporting Council's updated Cerporate
Governance Code, Alex Catto was appointed as
the Non-Executive Director with responsibility

for 'Employee Voice'. In addition to being closely
involved in the "Your Voice' survey, Alex met with
groups of employees at our sites in Marl (Germany)
and Harlow (UK} fo listen to their views on working
for Synthomer. During 2019 our Board also met
with members of our Graduate and European Talent
Development Programmes.

We updated our values in 2019. As pant of this
exercise we held a number of focus groups across
the business and also obtaired input via a survey
from over 200 of our employees. Cur new values will
underpin the way we work for the coming years.



“It is our aim to build our human capital to prepare for and meset the ever-
increasing challenges presented by the ever-changing business landscape
of today’s world. Deveioping cur human capital capability is crucial to our
Company growth. We are constantly on the iook-out for ways to enhance
our learning offering to contribute to the development of a sustainable talent
pipetine, enhancing leadership effectiveness and achieving organisational

effectiveness.”

Norashikin lsmail
Human Resource Director, Performance Elastomers & Asia

Leadership development

The new Synthomer Leadership Atiributes were
launched in January 2019, harmonising several
different regional sets of attributes and competency
models into one global framework; these leadership
attributes have been incorporated into people
processes like performance management,

interview guidelines and 360 degree processes.
Various engagement sessions have been held on the
new leadership attributes framework.

We continued to recruit graduates onto our
structured development programme in Europe
and Asia, recruiting a further cohort in both
regions. We currently have graduates working in
our Manufacturing, Engineering, Finance, R&D,
HR, Procurement and Comrnercial functions

in locations across Asia, Europe and the USA.

We have continued to invest time and resources in
our graduate programmes and all of our executive
leadership have had personal involvement in

Qur programmes.

In Europe we have extended the Synthomer Talent
Development Programme and run a second
programme: this scheme provides a 12-month
structured development programme aimed at
providing existing employees at an early stage

of their management career with an accelerated
develepment experience that includes workshops,
virtual learning events, 360 degree feedback and
an opportunity to work with a mentor drawn from
our senior leadership team. A further 15 employees
participated in this programme in 2019.

In Asia we ran our Leaders in Transition programme;
this is a 12-month structured development initiative
targeted at employees who have been identified as
having potential to develop into management roles.
Participants are supperted with training modules,
continuous improvement projects and mentoring.

Diversity and inclusion

Whilst in many respects Synthomer is very diverse
we recognise that gender diversity, in particular, in
senior roles in our organisation is behind where we
would like it to be. We are addressing this and are

guided by publications such as the UK's Hampton
Alexander FTSE Women Leaders Report.

Male Female Totat
Board 7 2 g
Senior management 41 4 a5
Other smpioyees 2,241 611 2,852

Qur commitment to our corporate
responsibility

‘We Care’

Synthomer engages with its employees and
communities in varicus ways on sites around the
world. In order to heighten awareness, visibility and
promotion of these activities, the Group launched
its “We Care” initiative. CSR and sustainability
ambassadors rolled out the campaign on a number
of our sites, aimed at creating engagement,
inspiring opportunities and empowering Synthomer
employess who are passicnate about making a
ditference to those around them to reach out and
champion work in this area with Group support.

In 2019 we published our first We Care newsletter,
which going forwards will be issued twice a year 1o
highlight activitias across the Group.

In 2020 'We Care' will be expanded to cover
more of our wider global network to drive our
community engagement as a core part of our
sustainability activity.
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Stratege Report

Environmental, social and governance continued

Corporate responsibility policies

QOur global Code of Conduct is governed by a

wide range of palicies which we adopt to ensure
our dally business is conducted in a professional
and responsible manner. These policies play a

key role in maintaining our reputation with our
internal and external stakeholders. They also set
out the standards to which we hold ourselves, our
employees and our business partners accountable.

Synthomer employees across
the globe continue to engage
In a variety of events and
projects in support of local
communities, for example:

F Emplayess from tha Marl office
{Germany) participated in a 'Broom
) _| Day' inMarlon 5 Aprlt 2018.
Paogple from the Ribécourt (France] T Thig is an annual event in the city
she joined a national t&énon i he of Mar with the goal to tlean up
strests of Compiegne in Decamber |t peignbourhood. The initiative is
Io raise maney for natloral research | oan of the ‘Let’s Glean Up Europe’
onrare genaticilnesses. | campaign, an inltiative active
throughout all European countrigs,

In June, employsss fram Harlow ™
{UK) took part in the annual St
Clare Hospice Businass Football |

Tournament in their hometown.
in the charity evert, six local
businesses went head to head at
Harlow Town FC Arana to raise
money for the hospice.

During the Christmas season, several 7
of Synthomer's European sites dacided
o support charity arganisations and
underprivileged members of society.
The charlty projects were only made
possibla through the waork of the
many motivated employees who
valunteerad to astablish contacts with
local organisations, Ultimately, 11 sites
across tha Czech Republic, France,
Germany, ltaly and UK participated in
these coordinated sfforts.

in Marl {Germany), volunteers from
Synthomer dedicated their time

and skills to help install new ficoring
for the Children and Youth Centre
Hilerneide In Reckiinghausen in
July. The floor laminates used wera
matarials from the Synthomer booth
at the Eyropean Coatings Show.

I~ Following closure of the dispensary

al the Kluang site n Malaysia,
Synthomer donated a surplus of
medical supphes and equipment to
the Mint Hope Care Society.
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Diversity and human rights

Qur equal opportunities, diversity and human
rights policy includes our respensibility 10 follow
all applicable laws and regulations as well as a
complete prohibition of forced, compulsery and
child labour.

In 2020 we will take the following actions:

= We will launch a new Diversity and Inclusion
Steering Group to give Executive Committee
sponsorship, senior leader focus and structure
to our etforts to improve our diversity and
inclusion delivery.

— We will create a network for wormen in Synthomer
- using the best practices that have been
established by organisations across many
different industry sectors.

= We will relaunch and improve our family friendly
palicies in the UK — increasing our support for
new fathers via our paternity leave poticy and for
empioyees who are adopting a child by bringing
the financial support provided via our adoption
palicy to the same level of the enhanced support
we already offer via our maternity leave paolicy.

- We will conduct a full global review of parental
leave policies.

= We will continue to deploy our new manager
recruitment skills programme globally, with
all workshops including specific sections on
unconscious bias in recruitment.

Reflecting on 2019, positive elements of our diversity
journey inciude the following:

- The rate at which women are joining our
organisation continues 10 increase.

— The current participants on our European Talent
Development Programme and European and
Asian Graduate Programmes are approximately
50% male and 50% female and in addition
represent more than ten different European,
African and Aslan nationalities.

= Malaysia saw particular progress in 2019
in gender diversity, with female employees
constituting 22% of our Malaysian workforce
and 31% of managerial level roles. 52% of high-
potentials between junior executive and senior
manager level are female, up from 45% in the
prior year. There was an equal representation of
hiring of fernale and male employees in Malaysia
in 2019,

- We have two female Non-Executive Birectors in
Holly Van Deursen and Caroline Johnstone.

= Qur Boarg and Executive Committee participated
in a diversity and inclusion workshop in 2018
and our new Global Recruitment skifs training
programrne, including training on recruitment
bias, was piloted in the UK and attended by over
50 managers.

Read more Details of this policy, along with our
Modern Siavery Act Statement are available on our
website: www.synthomer.com



Sustainable value chain

Synthomer requires any individual or entity acting on
its behzalf, whether as a consultant, representative,
agent or distributor, to know, understand and

abide by the laws and regulations applicable in the
country or countries in which they act for Synthomer.
The requirements are covered in detail within the
business policies in cur Code of Conduct.

Before a vendor is on-boarded and approved as a
trading partner, Synthomer employs standardised
assessment processes. A periodic review of key
suppliers is carried out to assess performance of the
supplier against criteria covering technical support,
commercial performance, reputation including
REACH and local regulatory compliance. We also
carry out periodic supply chain risk reviews and
develop programmes o understand and manage
business and supply chain risk in order to drive
sustainable business performance.

In 2019 the new audit process and questionnaires
waere fully rolled out, extending the criteria focused
on sustainability. Seven full critical supplier audits
and five sustainability audits were completed with no
issues reported.

In 2020 we continue to target the audit efforts on
critical suppliers across all expenditure streams.

Implementation of an advanced sourcing tool is
being rolled out globally as part of our Pathway
Programme. The tool will enable better supplier
relationship management, increasing visibility and
compliance to Synthomer standards, including code
of conduct and sustainability requirements.

R&D and new product development
Synthomer prides itself on its innovative product
development. Sustainability is a core part of our
innovation mindset, with a multistrand approach
to reducing environmental impact and improving
human heaith. During 2019, an initial assessment
of active R&D projects against sustainability
criteria was undertaken: 30 projects relating to
improved sustainability were ongoing in 2019,
with the three biggest drivers clear in the chart
below. These projects are spread across all of our
technology platforms.

Projacts by sustalnabllity criterla

1. Alr quality 50%
2. Energy o material efficiency 23%
3. Less harmtul materials 17%
4. Recyclabiity 7%

5. Renewable or lower impact RM 3%

Synthomer's Synovus® technology for medical
gloves has been commercialised to provide a
patent pending sulphur-free curing system to
produce gleves on state-of-the-art dipping lines that
meet all stringent European and North American
performance and reguiatory requirements.

The novel curing system leads to the elimination

of chemical accelerators known to cause type [V
allergic reactions. The technology also allows glove
preducers to significantly reduce the line curing
temperature, decreasing overali energy usage by up
to 20%.

To validate these environmental credentials of
Synovus®, Synthomer has worked with a leading
global glove producer and a third-party specialist
prepare a full life-cycle analysis in accordance with
1SC14040 and IS0O14044 standards. This study
assumed incineration at end-of-life, which is
stangard for medical gloves. This data indicated
that Synovus® has a 15 - 20% lower CO: impact
than conventional NBR glove technclogy and has
an impact up to 30% lower compared to other
latex technologies.

In 2019 we successfully launched Revacryt
UltraGreen™ a low VOC binder that does not require
the use of biocide for high pH biocide-free premium
interior wall paints.

Synthomer has committed to participate with the
European Polymer Dispersion and Latex Association
{EPDLA)} to create high quality, cradle-to-grave
life-cycle inventoriés of our key emulsion polymer
families. Preliminary evaluation has started, and the
study will be completed in mid-2020.

Product safety

The majerity of Group products are water-
based emulsions that are not deemed to be
hazardous chemicals.

However, for those that are hazardous, Synthomer
is committed to providing its customers with
comprehensive and legally compliant safety data
sheets in all the markets we serve.

Our central Regulatory Affairs Department also
manages our ongoing REACH compliance activities
through our supply chain and has been active

in preparing for the potential impact of Brexit on
chemicals registered within and transported to the
UK, as well as managing REACH-like schemes being
introduced globally.
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Strategic Report
Environmental, social and governance continued

HEALTH AND |
SAFETY o oot
PERFORMANCE

Safety checks at
Pasir Gudang

Key practices and programmes
The table below highlights some of the health and safety management practices and activities
undertaken in 2019 and planned for 2020.

Key measures, SHE performance indicators and SHE audit results are reported tc the Board,
the Executive Committee and to the regional management meetings on a monthly basis.

Key SHE 2019 SHE 2020 SHE

programmes key actions key focus

Group's Safety, Completion of Group’s SHEMS review inciuding the Suppaorting sites in reviewing
Health and generation of ‘Statements of Essential Requirements’ the Group's SHEMS standards
Environment - setting out in more detail what good compliance and policies to align with the
Management looks like new reguiremeants

System (SHEMS)

standards

and policies

Group SHE audits New cycle of auditing completed with continued focus
in Process Safety, Permit to Work and Management
of Change
Development of additional auditing materiais: Self-
Assessment Questionnaires (SAQs) to support
in understanding requirements
Started networking and cross-site auditing to share
best practices

Continuing audit activities

Continuing and extending our networking
and cross-site auditing

Accident Effective use of lessons learnt and increased focus
and incident on high potential incidents

management ‘Black Book’ Lessons Learn! reviews undertaken
and sharing on anniversaries of most significant internal process

safety incidents from the past two decades

Introducing a "Yellow Book” collection of
lessens learnt for the most frequent types
of occupational injury across the Group

SHE training, Full roll-out of internal Process Safety Training, tinked Cascading of training through
communication to bow-tie and barrier analysis of sites’ own identified organisational levels
and support significant hazards

Process Hazard Completion of High Priority PHA actions
Assessment (PHA}

Prioritisation of medium priority PHA
actions, extension of PHA review process
to other sites

Continuing building and sharing
the good practices tibrary

Sharing Initiated process of compiling, classifying and creating
good practice a library for sharing good practices
SHE routines Following implementation of cur Permit to Wori (PTW)

and Management of Change (MOC) improverment

programme, 2019 continued the focus on tracking
and learning from 'Fundamental {ssues’ identified

during PTW monitoring

New indicators were defined 1o increase focus

in PTW High Hazard activities
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Developing and rolling out of Process
Confirmation routines to improve
monitaring and raviewing of other critical
activities such as monomer offioading,
shift handover and batch monitoring



Synthomer continues to make strong progress on
health & safety performance. Our best ever process
safety event rate and a 58% improvement in recordable
injury rate over three years were highlights in 2019.

Health and safety

Management of Safety, Health and Environment
(SHE) is the most mature aspect of the Group’s
sustainability activities and remains a critical
aspect for both internal and external stakeholders.
Having safe plants is a basic expectation of sites’
licence to operate, in line with the Synmhomer
philosophy: we always have time to work safely.

In line with our SHE policy, the Board, Chief
Executive and Executive Cormmittee are fully
committed to improving SHE performance and
engaging and involving employees at all levels in all
locations in our SHE programmes. Effective SHE
leadership to deliver SHE performance is a primary
duty and expectation of management at all levels in
the Group, aligned to our three long-term goals:

1. To have no accidents or incidents;

2. To have no adverse impact on the heatth of those
who work in, or live near our operations, nor on
the heaith of those who usé our products; and

3. To minimise any environmental burden created by
our activities.

Occupational safety
—~ Recordable injury case rate (RCR) of 0.20 per
100,000 hours worked

= No accidents resulting in fatality or permanent
disabling, limited number with potential for
disabling injury

The Group's main lagging indicator of SHE injury
performance is the recardable injury rate for injuries
involving mare than first-aid treatment. 2019 saw a
reduction in the number of recordable injuries, down
to 13, three fewer than in 2018 but above the record
low of nine in 2017 The associated frequency rate
of 0.20 per 100,000 hours worked was the second
best rate in the Group's history.

Qur objective is to have no accidents or injuries
on our sites, and analysis of the injuries reported
found a significant number related to 'line of

fire’ incidents involving contractors. In 2020 we
will continue looking to improve our contractor
management, including our line of fire and high
hazard work guidance.

There ware no reported cases of disease attributed
to occupational factors during the year.

Process safety
— Best ICCA Process Safety Event rate singe
tracking started of 0.11 per 100,000 hours

= No incidents resulting in serious injury or damage

Ensuring the safety of cur operations is of paramount
importance to the Group. Since 2015 we have
recorded, rated and tracked process safety events
{PSE) using a four-tier scoring systermn where tier

1 and 2 incidents {tier 1 being more severe) meet

the definition for a ‘Reportable PSE’ from the
International Council of Chemical Associations
(ICCA).

There was a 30% improvement in the PSE rate,
with seven incidents reported compared with ten in
2018. Ongoing focus on improving engineering and
maintenance standards and addressing human-
factor issues will help us continue to drive this rate
lower. More information will be provided in our
Sustainability Report.

Frequency rate — all
recordable accidents
Inuries per 100,000 hours

2019 020
2018 0.23

2017 .13

2016 0.30

2015 0.55

Hecordable process safety
event rate
Events per 100,000 hours

2019 0.11

2018 0.14

2077 0.19

2016 Q.17

2015 0.26
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Strategic Raport

Environmental, social and governance continued
Environmental work programmes are focused on ensuring
both legal compliance and driving continual improvement as
part of our commitment to our matrix ISC 140071 certification
(all operating sites now certified) and ISO 50001 certification
in the UK, Germany and the Czech Republic.

Performance in 2019

= Total CO, equivalent
emissions increased 0.5%
t0 312,235 tonnes.

~ Emissions per production
tonne increased 2.7% 10
0.202 tonnes per tonne.

= VOC emissions dropped
39.7% to 183 tonnes after a
correction 1o 2018 data.

= Reduction of 18.7% in
reported refrigerant iosses
to 1,916 tonnes / equivalent
CO; associated losses
reduced to 7,320 tonnes.

ENVIRONMENTAL

PERFORMANCE

Total primary energy use
GJ per production tonne

2019 3.63
2018 2.50
2017 3.54
2016 3.45
2015 2.62
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2019 was a challenging year with regard to meating
our environmental performance targets. The figures
reporied below reflect the full year impact {compared
with 11 months in 2018) of the ex-BASF latex site

in Austria.

Achieving the 2021 targets set last year rernams our
objective, with continued focus on the ‘Tier 1’ sites
contributing most to the overall figures.

2017 Energy and CO; emissions baselines

have been slfightly modified since last year.

Some corrections have also been magde to 2018
electricity and gas consumption and CO; emission
values. All changes are noted in the following
sections. These changes have a limited impact in
total energy consumption or emissions.

Energy
— Qverall primary energy consumption increased
1.5% to 5,601,840 GJ

— Specific energy consumption increased 3.7%
to 3.63 GJ per production tonne

2018 gas consumption values were corrected
(leading to a 2.6% reduction) due to some mistakes
detected in data collection.

2018 electricity consumption was corrected also due
tc some mistakes detected in data collection. In this
case tha change was lower than 0.1% and is not
regarded as material.

The increase in both absolute and specific energy
consumption is related mainly tc the changes in

the production mix coming from an increased
production of high energy demand products.,

More stringent cleaning requirements also lead to an
increase in associated energy consumption.

Several projects that have both energy and
emissicns improvement benefits are in the pipeline
and will improve performance, targeted aroungd
the six sites with the largest energy and carbon
footprint, but realisation in 2019 was behind target.
More information ¢n current and planned activities
will be in the Sustainability Report.



Waste disposal to landfill
Kg waste per production tonne

209 3.99
201e

A 3.57
2018 3.67
2015 3.67

Total water withdrawal
m’ per production torne

5.08

2019 3.05
2018 3.90
2017 3.79

2016 3.96
2015 3.3%

Waste

— Total waste generated fell 1.6% to 33,648
tonnes and waste to landfill decreased 23% to
6,166 tonnes

- Specific waste generation was unchanged at
0.022 tonnes per production tonne

= Specific waste to landfll decreased 21% o 0.004
tonnes per tonne

2019 waste included signifcant one-off waste
quantifies, in particuiar associated with a major
capital project in France that required the removal of
legacy contaminated soil.

The reduction in total waste was influenced by lower
production levels at some sites whose processes
typically yvield more waste, but was mainly driven by
the implementation of several improvement projects,
including some that led to a reduction in sludge
levels produced in waste water treatment plants.

Water withdrawal and water consumption
- Water withdrawal reduced 1.03% tc
6.10 million m?

— Specific water withdrawal rose 1.1% to 3.95m?
per tonne

During 2018 we began collecting information to
enabie more accurate reporting of Group "Water

t Consumption’ aligned with the GRI definitions.

2019 water consumption values will be used as a
new reference for future improvement targets.

= Water consumption in 2019 was 1.73 million m®

= Specific water consumption was 1,025m?
per tonne

The absolute reduction in 2018 water withdrawat was
driven by production reduction in some sites and by
plant improvements and repairs that reduced losses
associated with leaks.

Variance is expected year-on-year since the majority
of our products are water-based dispersions with
some changes down to product mix and volumes.
As with energy, opportunities tc improve water
efficiency will be built in to sites’ manufacturing
strategies and environmental targets on a prioritised
basis in order to bring us back on frack with the
fonger-term targets.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Group reports ervironmentat KPIs in the format
recommended by the Department for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs {DEFRA), with Annual Reports
containing data for each year since 2005 on a three-
year rolling basis.

Reporting parameters

The 2018 financial year reporting includes all
manufacturing operations, all office locations
co-jocated with manufacturing and those listed
as gontact locations in the Annual Report or

on the Company’s website. it does not include
some very small locations such as home offices.
These locations will have no material effect on the

" Group’'s overall GHG emissions, being estirnated at

considerably less than the 0.1% of the Group total.

23%

Reduction in waste
to landfill

All known emissions from the manufacturing
process have been included. Specifically, this covers
direct energy usage and the indirect energy costs

of heating, cooling and other site services where
these are provided by a third party. They include
estimates for the effects of the release of VOCs and
refrigerant gases. The only known emissions which
have no! been inchided are direct emissions of CO:
from on-site waste treatment facilities that have not
currently been guantified, but which are not believed
to have significant material impact on the overall
figures reported.

The Group has no known uses or releases of
perflucrocarbons or sulphur hexafluoride. All releases
of nitrous oxide or methane are associated with
energy production and are not separately quantified,
The Group continues to report Scope 1 and 2
emissions. No estimate has yet been made of Scope
3 emissions owing to the complexity of the Group'’s
supply chain, but # is our intention to develop some
estimation of Scope 3 emissions in 2020 with the
assistance of specialist consultants. The Group
centinues to use emissions per production tonne as
its intensity ratio.

Galculation methods

All direct energy production from fossil fuels

has been aggregated on a Group-wide basis

and converted to COze by using the appropriate
emissions factors. No allowance has been made
for possible country to country variation in calorific
value or CO, emission factors for primary fuels.

Electricity has been converted to COze on a country
by country basis. Scope 2 emissions have been
calculated using three different approaches:

= Market-Based: using market-pased emissions
factors for electricity from suppliers of standard
grid fuel mix tariffs. Where suppliers emissions
factors were not available, the residual mix
was used for the EU sites and Location-Based
approach for non EU sites.

— Location-Based: emissions factors from DEFRA
{dataset published in June 2018} ware used for
UK grid electricity, and for overseas grid electricity
factors from the relevant IEA {International Energy
Authority) ‘World CO; Emissicns from Fuel
Combustion’ databases. In accordance with UK
Government guidance, factors used for 2019
reporting are based on 2017 validated data.

- Hybrid Approach: using Location-Based info
except for sites within the Group that purchase
certified 'green’ electricity. Electricity for these
locations has been given a CO.e emissions factor
of zero in calculating energy related emissicns
totals. These include the sites in the Netherlands,
Spain, Marl (Germany) and all sites in the UK.

The Hybrid Approach is the approach used in
previcus years 1o estabiish the baseline and the
targets. In order to be able to compare historical
performance year-on-year, the Total Emissions
{Scope 1 and 2) have been calculated using the
Hybrid Approach.

Synthomer's site in Stallingborough, UK takes most
of its electricity from an exclusive contract with an
adjacent waste incinerator operated by Newlincs.
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Strategic Repaort

Environmental, social and governance continued

Marl is one of our sites
that is certified ‘green’

Global warming burden

Tonnes CO- equivalent releasad per
production tanne Includes CO- from
energy generation/use

2018 0.202
28 0.197
2017 0.201
2016 0.199
2015 0.157

This electricity is certified as ‘Green’ by the UK
Government. However, as a mixture of waste it is
deemed both renewable and non-renewable, so
it does not have a zero emission factor, For 2018
the applied emission factor for electncity from
Newlincs is based around that determined for the
site’s Climate Change Agreement (CCA) reporting
of around 0.417 kg CO.e per kWh. The site is also
provided with indirect heating in the form of hot
water from Newlincs.,

VOCs have been aggregated on a Group basis and
converted to CO.e using a factor of 11, This figure
has been used by UK ClA member companies since
2005 and is at the upper end of the range for VOCs.
Information on the release of refrigerant gases has
been collected for the past seven years. Releases of
each individual gas have been aggregated each year
to give a Group release total and then converted to
CGqe using the equivalence factors given by DEFRA
for each gas. The emissions factors applicable to
refrigerant release in 2019 are as per those in the
previous two years, as no changes were reported
by DEFRA-Global Warming Potential (GWP) factors
from the IPCC 4th assessment report.

2017 ang 2018 Scope 2 emissions were modified
taking into consideration the mentioned changes
in 2018 energy consumption and the use of more
accurate emission factors for 2017 and 2018
Newlincs electricity.

The absclute increase in emissions was largely due
to increased production of higher energy demand
products and additional cleaning requirements

as noted earlier. This higher absolute total also
meant that the intensity of our emissions in terms
of releases per tonne increased due to lower

overal! group production sales volume. The highest
absolute increases are related to emissions from
two sites: the plant in the Czech Republic that uses
brown coal, and one plant in Malaysia where we
had full year impact of a capacity expansion project
realised during 2018. The Group Is reviewing options
relating to the fuel balance in the Czech Republic.

The reduction in reported VOC emissions related

to completion of several small projects in 2019.

The purchase of 'green’ grid electricity for some
additional countries afso limited the overall emissions
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increase. Year-on-year we are currently behind target
and are reviewing the planned projects required to
help achieve the 2021 goals.

These include the Company accelerating investment
in sourcing green electricity, increasing the nurmber
of countries purchasing renewabie electricity.

Initial focus will be within Europe, but other countries
will also be taken into consideration. This move
towards green electricity will significantly decrease
the Group’s Scope 2 emissions and be an important
factor in meeting our proposed 2021 Greenhouse
Gas ({GHG) targets.

The Group has no control over changes in the
emissions factors in different countries, which can
have a significant impact on emissions. For 2019
reporting the emissions factors for some countries
showed an improvement, reflecting work done at
national level to improve the renewables proportion
of the grid supplies.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions are being validated
by a third party; the resutts of the validation

are not available at the time of preparing this
Annual Report but will be published in the 2019
Sustainability Report.



Energy and GHG KPIs

This table presents environmental KPIs for 2017 to 2019, with a coverage and format in line with DEFRA's 2013 guidance, 1o comply with the
reparting required under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Report of the Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Data from 2018
and 2017 has been modified as discussed in the environment section of this report.

Note that from next year we will amend the information included to align with The Companies {Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability

Partnerships {Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018, which will apply to our financial reporting year commencing 1 January 2020,

% change % change
Units 2018 2018 2017 2017 -2018 20182018
Energy consumption’
Gas GJ 1,525,851 1,519,649 1459411 4.6% 0.4%
Light oil GJ 21,599 22,625 24,990 (13.6%) {4.5%)
Heawvy oil GJ 6,657 5,533 4,651 43.1% 20.3%
Steam {metered) GJ 763,100 751,545 756,880 0.8% 1.5%
Electricity (primary basis) GJ 2,663,373 2,634,611 2523661 55% 11%
Total energy consumption GJ 5,601,840 5520570 5,352,562 4.7% 1.5%
Greenhouse gas emissions?
Energy consumption
Energy consumption {CO; equivalent)® tCC.e 302,906 299,693 297,804 1.7% 1.1%
Voiatile Organic Compounds {VOC)
VOC emissions tonnes 183 303 164 1,1% {39.7%)
YOG emissions (CO; equivalent)® tCC2e 2,008 3,330 1,807 11.1% {39.7%)
Refrigerants {HCFC and others)
Refrigerant emissions Kg 1,916 2,355 1,773 8.1% (18.7%)
Refrigerant emissions (CO: equivalent) tCOze 7,320 7,627 4,485 63.2% {4.0%)
Total greenhouse gas emissions {Hybrid Approach)® tCO.e 312,235 310,649 304,096 2.7% 0.5%7
Comprising:
Total Scope 1 emissions tCCe 151,386 147,192 139,285 B8.7% 2.8%
Total Scope 2 emissions (Hybrid Approach)® 1COe 160,849 163,457 164,811 (2.4%) (1.6%)
1CO6 312,235 310,649 304,096 2.7% 0.5%
Total Scope 2 emissions {Market-Based) tCQOe 176,971
Total Scope 2 emissions {Location-Based) tCO.e 173,132
Other emissions to air
Sulphur dioxide (SOz} tonnes 100.7 1425 158.3 (36.4%) (29.4%}
Nitrogen oxides (NO,)* tonnes 150.8 130.0 121.3 24.3% 16.0%
Emissions per production tonne
Total production tonnes ktes 1,544.5 1,677.8 1,517 2.2% {2.1%)
Energy consumption Gt 3.63 3.50 3.54 2.4% 37%
Emissions to air
Energy consumption? tCOze/t 0.196 0190 0,197 {0.4%) 3.3%
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOO) 1COe 0.001 0.002 0.001 8.8% (38.4%)
Refrigerant Releases (HCFC and others) 10O/t 0.005 0.005 0.003 59.8% {2.0%)
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCOse/t 0.202 0.197 0.201 0.5% 2.7%
Sulphur dioxide (SO2) Kg/t 0.065 £.090 0105 {37.8%) (27.8%)
Nitrogen cxides (NO.) Kag/t 0.098 0.082 0.080 21.6% 18.5%

Notes

1. This comprises all site fuel usage and internal site transport It excludes transpoert of goods to and from site and the movement of these vehicles on site
2. Greenhouse gas emissions have been calculated from the usage of all fuels except transport fuel. Therefore they include both direct and indirect scope 1 and 2 emissions related to

bought-in electrcity, steam, compressed aw, cooiing water etc,

3. CO, equivalent emissions include contributions from CH. and N;O associated with combustion.
4. NO, emissions arise predominantly from combustien processas The CO, equivalent Global Warming Potential contribution from these releases is already included in the CQ, from

enargy figure above.

5 VOC contributions are converted using an average factor of 11 kg CO,e per kg VOC

B The Hybrid Approach takes into consideration location base emissions for all sites except for those consurning green energy (which are accountad as market base).

The Strategic Report was approved by order of the Beard.

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
5 March 2020

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019 63

yodey siBejeng

BJUBUIBACY)

SIUSWIRIELS [B1DURUY ANGC) '

S|USLSIEIS [BI2UBLY AURIIDN

UORBULIOJ SIS0



Governance

Board of Directors

INTRODUCING
YOUR BOARD

N A Johnson
Chairman

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment: Chalrman
of the Board and the Nomination and Disclosure
Gommittees. Neil joined the Board in 2011 and
was appointed Chairman in May 2012,

Koy appointments: Neil is Chairman of
QinetiQ Group plc and Electra Private Equity

ple and the senior independent Non-Executive
Director of the Business Growth Fund.

Skills and experience: Neil held senior
executive positions at British Aerospace and

in the UK motor manufacturing industry before
becorning Chief Executive of RAC Holdings from
1995-1999. Neil has considerable experience

as an independent Non-Executive Director and
public company chairman gained in multiple
sectors and geographies.
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S G Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment:
Chiet Financial Officer since May 2015;
member of the Disclosure Committee,

Key appointmants: No external appointments.

SkHis and experience: Stephen was
previously at INEOS where he had been Chief
Financial Officer at Petroineos Refining since
2006. In addition to this rote, Stephen had acted
as Chief Financial Officer of INEOS Upstrearn
Limited, a start-up oil and gas exploration
business, and of INEQS Olefins and Polymers
South and INEQS Phencl. He joined Coopers
& Lybrand in 1986 and is a qualified chartered
accountant. He was at Full Circle Industries plc
as company secretary and group controller
before moving to PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP (PwC) in 1997 as a Director in transaction
services, At Pw(, he specialised in public and
private equity transactions across a variety of
sectors including chemicals.
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C G MacLean
Chief Executive Officer

Nationality: British

Pasition and date of appointment; Chief
Executive Officer since January 2015; membey
of the Disclesure Committes.

Key appointments: Calum was appointed
as a Non-Executive Director of Saudi Basic
Industries (SABIC) headguartersd in Riyadh
in October 2017 and of Clariant Limited, an
associated company of SABIC, in October 2018,

Skills and experience: Calum was previously
a senior board executive of INEOS and was

a founder member of the business in 1988,

At INEOS he was executive chairman of INEOS
Olefins and Polymers Europe and chairman

of Styrolution, INEOS's joint venture with

BASF, and Petroineos Refining, INEQS's joint
venture with PetroChina. Calum had been
Chief Executive of a number of its principal
business units and actively involved in merger
and acquisitions strategy and implementation.
Prior to INECS, he spent six years at Inspec
{International Speciality Chemicals), a

publicly listed company on the London Stock
Exchange that was originally formed through a
management buyout of BP Chemicals.

The Hon. A G Catto
Non-Executive Director

Nationality: British

Pasition and date of appointment:
Non-executive director since 1981,
Designated Non-Executive Director to lead
workforce engagerment.

Key appointments: Alex is managing director
of CaimBea Investments Limited, a private
investment cornpany, and a Non-Executive
Director of several eariy stage companies that
have been backed by CairnSea

Skills and experience: Prior o the
establishment of CairnSea, Alex was & Director
of Morgan Grenfell & Co and then [ azard
Brothers & Co Ltd.



B W D Connolly
Senior Independent Director

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment:
Independent Non-Executive Director since
January 2014; Chair of the Remuneration
Cormmittee; member of the Audit,

Disclosure and Nomination Committees.
Senior independent Director since April 2015.

Key appointments: Brendanis a
non-execltive director of Victrex PLC and two
private equity backed companies, one of which
he chairs.

Skills and experlence: Brendan has over

30 years' experience in the oil and gas industry.
Untit June 2013 Brendan was a senior executive
at Intertek Group plc and had previously been
chief executive officer of Moody International
{which was acquired by intertek in 2011}, Prior to
Moody, he was managing director of Atos Origin
UK, and spent more than 25 years of his career
with Schlumberger in senior international roles
over three continents. Brendan has previous
experience as chairman of the remunaration
committee of a UK listed company.

DrJJ C Jansz
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality: Dutch

Paosition and date of appointment:
Independent Non-Executive Director
since April 2012; member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees.

Koy appointments: Just is founder and
Managing Director of Expertise Beyond Borders
BV, an independent business and technology
management consultancy providing services

1o the global chemical industry. He is Chairman
of Econic Technolegies Limited and a senior
advisor at Natrium Capital Limited.

Skilis and experience: Just has over 30 years
chemical industry experience at Shell, Basel

and LyondeliBasell. Until Juty 2010 Just was
president, Technology Business, and a member
of the managemant team of LyondeliBasell,
oversesing process technology licensing,
polyolefin catalysts and new ventures. Just has
extensive experience in the polyolefin industry
and related value chaing, in commercialising
innovation and in monetising IP. Just has previous
experience as a Non-Executive Director in the
USA and as an advisor in Saudi Arabia.

C A Johnstone
Independent Non-Executive Director

MNationality: British

Position and date of appointment:
Independent Non-Executive Director

since March 2015; Chair of the Audit
GCommitiee; member of the Normination and
Remuneration Committees.,

Key appointments: Caroline is a Non-
Executive Director and Chair of the Employee
Engagement Committee of Spirax-8arco
Engineering ple, Chair of Reece Group Limited
and is a Non-Exacutive Director and Chair of
the Audit Committeg of Shepherd Building
Group Limited, a private company which owns
Porakabin Limited.

Skills and experience: Caroline has nearly
40 years’ experience of working with large
global organisations on turnaround, cutiure
change, delivering value from mergers and
acquisitions and cost optimisation programmes.
She sat on the board of the Assurance
practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC)
as people partner. Caroline is a chartered
accountant and a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Scotland. She also
provides consulting services to a range of
intemnational clients.

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian
Non-Executive Director

Nationality: Malaysian

Position and date of appointment:
Non-Exgcutive Director since 2002; first joined
the Board m 1993 and stood down in 2000 to
becorme an Alternate Director.

Key appointiments: Hau Han is a Director of
Kuala Lumpur Kepeng Bhd and is the president
of the Perak Chinese Maternity Association,
He aiso serves as a Director of Yayasan De
La Salle.

Skills and experience: Hau Hian is the
Managing Director of Batu Kawan Bhd,

a listed Malaysian investrments holding
company, with interests in plantations and
chemicals manufacturing. He has experience
in organisational transformations, acquisitions,
chemical and manufacturing operations.

H A Van Deursen
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality: American

Position and date of appointment:
Independent Non-Executive Diractor since
Septernber 2018; member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees since 1 March 2019,

Key appointments: Holly is a Non-Executive
Diractor o* Kimball Electronics Inc and
Albermarle Corporation and Chair of Gapstone
Turbine Corporation.

Skills and experience: Until 2005, Holly was
Group Vice President, Petrochernicals, at BP.
She has worked in the glebal chemical industry
for over 25 years and held senior positions
across North America, Europe and Asia.

In addition, Holly has 13 years’ experience as a
Non-Executive Director in the USA.

R Atkinson
Chief Counsel & Company Secretary
Nationality: British

Posltion and date of appointment: Company
Secretary since 1998; Group Chief Counsel,

Key appointments: No external appointments

Skills and experience: Richard qualified as a
solicitor in 1988 practising as a corporate lawyer
before moving inte industry.
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Governance

Introduction to corporate governance

Highlights

— Commitment to achieve
cne third female
Board membership

"

= Active “employee voice
programime

- Policies and practices
implemented to comply
in fufl with the 2018
Governance Code

Neil Johnson
Chawman

STRENGTHENING

GOVERNANCE

Dear Shareholders,

Qur proactive focus on the corporate governance
agenda has enabled me to report that we were in full
compliance with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code throughout 2019, being the first year that it
applied to the Company.

Thanks to the practices and pclicies we had in

place from the start of 2019 your Board was able to
benefit from new governance mechanisms and gain
a deeper insight into the Company. In turn we have
taken the opportunity to use the new governance
reporting requirements to take what | hope is a more
informative approach to reporting how governance
supports our strategy and {o be more transparent in
explaining our decision making during the year.

Consultations with our sharehciders were a

major feature of the activities of the Board and its
Committees during 2019. As we prepared a new
Directors’ remuneration policy to be brought to

the 2020 AGM for approval, the Remuneration
Committee Chair led an extensive consultation
exercise. The feedback and guidance this provided
has helped to shape and develop the proposed new
policy that will be put forward.

The engagement exercise with a number of our
major shareholders ied by our Senior Independent
Director following the significant minority vote against
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my own re-slection at the 2019 AGM resulted in

our update statement issued in October 2019.

The Board's conclusion that it does not have any
concerns over my availability to devote sufficient time
to my role at the Company is explained on page 71
of this Governance report. With regard to attaining
one third female representation on our Board, the
Nomination Committee now has a search process
underway for an additional female Non-Executive
Director to be appointed during 2020.

The internal performance evaluation of the Board
and its Committees carried out at the end of 2019
highlighted further areas of improvement to be made
to our processes and procedures, and otherwise
showed the Board 1o be functicning well with
effective Committees. We are committed to carrying
out an externally facilitated evaluation in 2020,

Looking forward, the Board will continue to support
the Company’s diversity strategies in 2020 and

the work of Alex Catto as he undertakes a second
year as the Non-Executive Director responsible

for representing the ‘employee voice’. We will

also review our ‘Purpose’ staterment and ensure
alignmenrt with our culture, values and strategy.

| do hope the infermation provided in the following
pages of this Governance report will enable you to
support all the reselutions to be proposed at our
2020 AGM.

Neil Johnson
Chairman
5 March 2020



“We were in full compliance with 2018 Corporate
Governance Code throughout 2019."

Neil Johnson
Chawman

Compliance with the UK Corporate

Governance Code Governance
The Beard considers that it has complied throughout
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 with snapshot

the provisions set out in the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code {the Code)",

Application of the Code Board diversity — nationality
The main principies of the Code were applied

as follows:

Board leadership and
Company purpose

An effective board

The activities of the Company are controlled by
the Board which, during 2018, comprised two

Executive Directors and seven Non-Executive Brish 5
Directors. The roles of Chairman and Chief Ducr 1
Executive Officer are clearly divided between Neil Malay sian 7

Armerican 1

Johnson, who heads the Board in his capacity as
non-executive Chairman and Calum MaclLean,
whao has responsibitity for the running of the fveret
Company's business as Chief Executive Officer. Board B

The Non-Executive Directors all have wide business

and boardroom experience gained in a broad range

of business sectors, details of which are given

on pages 64 and 65.

The Board has reserved to itself a schedule of
matters which includes setting long-terrm objectives
for the Group and the strategies to be emploved
in achieving them. Male 7
I
Note: Femala 2
* Ayl version of the Code can be found on the Financial Regorting
Council's website: www.fre org Uk

EBoard tenure
0-5 years 4
5-10 years 3
=10 years 2
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Board activity in 2019 —
Framework focused on
strategy

Board activity in 2019

Safety, health and environment

¢
Investing in organic growth
+
Growth through acquisition
¢
Financial performance
¢
Leadership and people
¢

Governance and stakeholder relations

t

Internal control and risk management

¢

Innovation

Safety, health and environment (SHE)

SHE performance and initiatives are reviewed at
every meeting supported by a written report and
presentation by the President for Operations.

Investing in organic growth

Material capital expenditure projects are subject

to Board review and approval. During the year,
investment in further NBR capacity expansion

at Pasir Gudang (Malaysta} and projects at two

sites in the UK, were approved. Investment in
digitalisation and process standardisation under the
Pathway Programme was approved and monitored
througheut the year. Progress on the major capacity
expansion projects approved in 2017 and 2018

at sites in Germany and the USA respectively

were monitored throughout the year until they

came online.

Growth through acquisition

The proposed acquisition of OMNOVA and its
associated financing was the deminant Board

topic in 2019 during which the investrnent case,
strategic logic, synergy benefits, due diligence
findings and funding were subject to detailed review
and approval and progress of the transaction was
closely monitored.,

Financial and commercial performance

Financial and commercial performance and strategic
initiatives are reviewed at every meeting, supported
by reports and presentations from the Executive
Directors and Presidents. Detailed reviews of specific
business areas were provided by the responsible

Synthomer pic Annual Report 2019

president or functional head in conjunction with
budget and strategy discussions and capital
expenditure project reviews.

Leadership and peoaple

Succession planning processes and progress
were reviewed with support frem the Global HR
Director. The Nomination Committee commenced
a search process for an additional female
Non-Executive Director.

Governance and stakeholder relations

Routine reports on governance and investor
relations matters were given at each meeting.

The appointment of a new joint broker was approved
after a comprehensive tender process. The roll-out
of new policies and practices under the Code were
menitered. An internal evaluation of the Board and its
Committees was carried out.

Internal control and risk managernent

As well as receiving regular reports from the Audit
Committee on the Company's internal control and
risk management processes, particular attention
continued to be paid to Brexit contingency planning.

Strategy review
The Board dedicated a half day meeting 1o a
review of the five-year strategic plan and key
strategic infliatives.

Site visits

The Board visited the Group's acrylic dispersions
plant at Worms (Germany). A visit was also made
by Non-Executive Directors to the Group’s plant in
Harlow (UK).

Furpose, culture and values

The Board has endorsed the Company’s 'Purpose’
which is set out on the inside front cover. The Board
first approved a formal set of ‘Values' in 2014 with
a 'Core Values' programme being implemented
across the Group that year. A core values refresh
project was completed in 2019 which included a
survey of over one hundred employees, As a result,
a revised set of values was agreed by the Executive
Committee at the end of 2019 and received Board
approval in early 2020 and will be launched across
the Group in the first quarter of 2020. Details of the
Company's values are on page 54.

Our culture is described on the inside cover andg the
Board is conscious of its responsibiiity for setting the
cultural tone. The Board and its Committees monitor
and oversee the Group's culture by receiving regular
reports frorm managernent including on compliance
with the Code of Conduct, use of the ethics

hatline and attitudes to risk and risk assessments.
The Board alse engages with members of the wider
waorkforce both formally during Board presentations
and events and informally during site visits and most
recently has received the outcome of an employee
survey. The Board was satisfied that workforce
policy, practices and behaviour across the Group
were aligned with culture during 2019,

Stakeholder engagement

Our process to identify key stakeholder groups
was carried out at the end of 2017 followed by an
initial assessment of engagement mechanisms
and the topics that were materially significant to
those stakeholders. In 2018 representatives from
the stakeholder groups were surveyed to better
understand their priorities and ensure alignment
with cur approach to, and focus of, engagement.



This has allowed the development of six headline
piliars which form the basis of the Group’s approach
to engagement on sustainability in its widest

sense, which is set out on page 48. Further details
of the work carried out in 2017 and 2018 ¢an be
found in our Sustainability Report for those years

at www.synthomer.com/company/corporate-
respongibility/sustainability. The information below
supplements the details on stakeholder engagement
on pages 44 and 45,

Relations with shareholders

Dialogue with institutional investors is conducted

on a regular basis by the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and the President — Corporate
Development and meetings take place following the
announcement of half and full year results and at
other times according to circurnstances. In addition
to half and full year reporting, the Board has decided
to continue with the practice of providing interim
management statements notwithstanding that it is
no longer a regulatory requirernent to do so.

The Board has adopted a set of shareholder
cemmunication principles in order 1o ensure that
Board members develop an understanding of

the views of the Group's major shareholders.
These principles require the Chairman to be
present with the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer at sufficient shareholder
presentations and meetings that he fully understands
the issues and concerns of major sharehoiders.
Alternatively, the Chairman is also available for
meetings with major shareholders at their request.

The Chief Executive Officer reports on

shareholder relations at each Board mesting.
Communications with shareholders relating to
corporate governance matters are conducted by the
Chairman with the assistance of the Chairs of the
Audit and Remuneration Committees. Reports on

all meetings between Non-Executive Directors and
institutionai sharehoiders and their representative
bodies are given to the Board at the first opportunity
following such meetings, as is all correspondence
with them,

The Senior Independent Director is available to
shareholders if they have concerns and where
contact through the nermal channels of the
Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer has failed 1o
resclve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

The Senior independent Director led an engagement
exercise with a number of major shareholders
following the significant minority vote against the
Chairman’s re-election at the 2019 AGM. The impact
of that feedback on the decisions of the Board are
set out in the Chairman’s statement on page 7.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee
consulted extensively with major shareholders on the
proposed new Directors’ remuneration policy, which
will be submitted to the 2020 AGM for approval

by way of a binding vote. Further details of that
consultation exercise and its outcome are contained
in the Directors’ Remuneration report on page 83.

The Board seeks to encourage participation of all
shareholders, and in particular private investors, at
the Company's AGM and endeavours to ensure all
Board members are in attendance. In particular, the
Chairs of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees are available to answer quesiions.

The Company makes use of its website
www.synthomer.com to communicate with its
shareholders and also publishes half and full year
results, Company announcements, share price and
corporate governance and other invester information
can be found there.

Information on the Company's major sharehoidings
and share capital is included in the Directors’ Report
on pages 103 to 104,

Engagement with employees

The engagement with our employees is detailed
on page 54 and includes: the appointment of Alex
Catto as the designated Non-Executive Director for
gathering the views of the workforce; social media
and the Company intranet; the use of surveys;
town hall meetings at sites and with specific groups
such as members of the graduate deveiopment
programme hosted by the Chief Executive Officer
and other mernbers of the Executive Committee;
the externally hosted ethics hotline which

provides a way of raising concerns in confidence;
appraisal processes and structured career and
competency reviews.

In addition the Board ard its Committees routinely
invite members of management to attend meetings
to present on the matters being discussed.

Board members take the opportunity to engage
maore widely with employees during site visits and

in 2019 received informal presentations and had
discussions with members of the European graduate
development programme.

Stakeholders and our decision-making

Based on cur engagement with and feedback from
stakeholders, we factor their views into the decision
making of the Board. Our statement describing how
the Board has had regard to the matters set out in
section 172 (1} (@) to (f) of the Companies Act 2008
when performing its duty under section 172 is set
out on page 44 and how this works in practice is
shown in the case studies below:

1. Capital investment in the business
transformation ‘Pathway’ programme

The Board approved & capital investment proposal to
invest in core systems and process standardisation
across our global business. The Board took account
of @ number of stakeholder factors in reaching this
decision including the benefits to the efficiency and
effectiveness of our global employee workforce

and our relationships with customers and suppliers,
the ability of the investment to deliver compliance

in taxation and the benefit to the scalability of our
business to support our strategy of inorganic growth.
The Board aiso took account of the financial returns
in the project and considered it was in the best
interests of the Company to approve the investment.

2. OMNOVA acquisition

The Board approved the proposed acquisition

of CMNOVA Selutions Inc having considered a
broad range of stakeholder factors, These included
the benefits to shareholders from the financial
investrment case, the benefits to customers of
improving our global distribyution, innovation and
manufacturing network and the benefits to our
employees of strengthening our market position
and deploying their extensive experience to grow
through acquisition.
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3. Dividend policy and payments

The Board approved the consistent use of our
dividend policy through the year having considered a
broad range of stakeholder factors. The importance
of meeting the stated dividend policy and therefore
shareholder expectations; the need for transparency
amongst our shareholders and employees who own
shares in the Company; the need for the Company
to aeliver on its capital allocation and leverage

policy in order to build credibility and enhance

the reputation of the Company; together with the
Company’s commitment to reducing the UK pension
fund deficit, were all taken into account.

4. Introduction of updated Company values

The Board approved the proposal to update
Synthomer’s Values. Our Values support our
culture and our smployees who drive our business.
They also make a public statement and unify our
business, which supporis our reputation in the
communitias in which we work, the authorities we
interact with and the customers and suppliers we
daal with.

5. Approval of the annual budget and strategic
plan

This year's budget and rolling strategic plan were
approved following a comprehensive review of aur
strategic priorities and risks and cpportunities for our
business. The Board considered the long-term plans
for capital allocation, investment in our employees
and skKills required to successfully deliver the plan.

It also considered our product development plans,
expected market and regulatory changes, and

key changes impacting our customers and our
supply chain.

Division of responsibilities

The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer responsibiiity for the development and
preparation of the business plan and the annual
budget for recommendation to the Board. As the
Senior Executive Director, the Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for all aspects of day-to-day
operational control of the Group and executicn of
the Group sirategy. The Chief Executive Officer has
established and chairs an Executive Committee
(whose other members are the Chief Financial
Officer, the Chief Counsel and Company Secretary,
and the operational and functional presidents for the
Group) te assist him in the performance of his duties
and which meets once a month.

The Chairman has available to him the minutes of
the Executive Committee and all Directors receive a
monthly management report comprising business,
finangial and safety, health and environmental
reviews from the Chief Financial Officer.

The Board has established Audit, Nomination,
Remuneration and Disclosure Committees which are
discussed on page 72.
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Chairman

Chief Executive
Officer

- primarily responsible for the working and
effectiveness of the Board

— facilitating an effective contribution from the
Non-Executive Directiors and a constructive
relationship with the Executive Directors

= ensuring the balance of membership of the Board
is appropriate

= ansuring that the Board is in ful control of the
Group’s affairs and has an effective dialogue with
its sharehalders

~ |eading on all aspects of corporate governance

= senior executive responsible for operational
management of the Group

— development, preparation and implernentation of
the Group’s strategy as approved by the Board

- communication of the Group’s culture and values

= communicating the Group's financial performance
to investors in conjunction with the Chief
Financial Officer

— keeping the Board fully informed of all
material issues

Senior
Independent
Director

Non-Executive
Directors

= to bring an independent and objective judgerment

- 1o be available 1o shareholders when concerns
have not been resclved through normal channels

— 1o lead the annual appraisal of the Chairman

~— to develop a balanced understanding of the
issues and concerns of major sharehoiders

— to provide a sounding board for the Chairman

to bear on issues of strategy, performance and
resources of the Group

— to challenge constructively and scrutinise
management performance

Board reserved
matters

= setting of long-term objectives and strategies to
be employed in achieving them, including the
approval of annual budgets

= policy setting for safety, health and environmentat
matters, business conduct, diversity and
human rights, recruitrment and employment, risk
management and treasury

= material decisions on capital raising, financial
commitments, capital expenditure, acquisitions
and disposals and the prosecution, defence and
settlement of litigation

~ approval of information contained in
communications 10 sharehglders

— the review and monitoring of performance




Board structure

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Disclosure
Committee

Audit
Committee

Company Secretary

- provides advice and services to the Board and its Committees
- supports the Chairman in all governance matters

Lpoey oibajeng
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Chief Company President: President: President: President: President:
Financial Secretary & Parformarce Functional Industrial Corporate Operations
Officer Chief Counsel  Elastomers Solutions Specialities, M&A  Development

and Global HR

During 2019 the Board held 13 meetings with an
additional half day dedicated to a review of the
five-year strategic plan and key strategic initiatives.
The Directors raceive in advance full information

on all matters to be discussed at Board mestings

as well as a detailed review of performance.

The Non-Executive Directors met once without the
Chairman to appraise his performance. The Board
met once without the executive directors to appraise
their performance.

in addition, arrangements are made each year for the
Board to visit up to two of the Group's operational
sites and meet local management. Ad hoc site visits
are facilitated for individual Non-Executive Directors
on request. Details of sites visited in 2019 are set out
on page 68.

The table below sets out the number of meetings
of the Board, Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
and Disclosure Committees held during the year
and the number of meetings attended by each
Director. Where a Dirgctor is unable to attend a
Board or Committee meeting, his or her views on
agenda items are canvassed in advance of the
meeting and incorporated into the discussions.
The Non-Executive Directors disclose to the

Board their other significant cornmitments prios
to appointment and any proposed new significant
commitments require prior Board approval,

The Non-Executive Directors, led by the Senior
Independent Director, carefully considered the
‘over boarding’ concerns relating to the Chairman
which were understood to have led, in part, to the
significant minority vote against his re-eiection

as a Director at the 2019 AGM. In concluding

that there were no concerns over the Chairman's
availability to devote significant time to his role

at Synthomaer, the Non-Executive Directors took
account of the fact that whilst he had one other
significant role as Chairman of QinetiQ Group pic
his pesition as chairman of Electra Private Equity
plc should not count as an additional significant
commitment. In this connection, regard was had to
the size of Electra, and the fact that it is undergoing
a managed wind-down of its portfolio and
therefore the applicability of proxy voting advisory
body guidelines.

Holly A. Van Deursen received prior Board approval
before accepting board positions at Kimball
Electronics Inc and Albermarle Corporation during
the year.

Board Commirttees

Scheduled Audit  Remuneration Nomination Disclosure
Number of meetings held 3 5 5] 1 5
Number of meetings attended
Stephen Bennett 13 N/A N/A N/A 5
Alex Catte 13 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brendan Connally 13 5 6 1 5
Holly A. Van Deursen 12 3 4’ N/A N/A
Just Jansz 13 5 6 N/A N/A
Neil Johnson 13 N/A N/A 1 5
Carcline Johnstone 13 5 6 1 N/A
Lee Hau Hian 13 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Calym Maclean 13 N/A N/A N/A 5

Naote:

1 Holly A. Van Deursen was appointed to the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committes on 1 March 2019 and attended all mestings
far which she was eligible 10 attend as a mermber of those Committeas.
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Board composition, succession
and evaluation

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and Senior Independent Director
together with Chairs and members of the Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration and Disclosure
Committees are identified on pages 64 and 65.
The Board considers that Holly A. Van Deursen,
Caroline Johnstone, Just Jansz and Brendan
Cennally are independent in accordance with the
provisions of the Code. The Board composition
remained unchanged throughout 2019 and was
balanced between the number of independent and
non-independent Directors,

A balanced Board during 2019

independent Executive and
Non-Executive Non-Independent
Directors Non-Executive
Directors
Caroline Johnstone Calum MaclLean
Just Jansz Stephen Bennett
Holly A, Van Alex Catto
Deursen Lee Hau Hian

érendan Conholiy

Nen-Executive Directors are appointed for one-year
terms. All directors submit themselves for annual
election at each AGM.

Induction and training

Induction arrangements are in place in order to
ensure new Directors receive a full formal and
tailored induction on appointment. As no new
bDirectors were appeinted in 2018, no induction
arrangements were conducted during the year
other than completing the induction requirements
for Holly A, Van Deuwrsen, who was appointed in
September 2018 and details of which were set out
in the 2018 Annual Report. The Chairman reviews
and agrees the training and development needs of
the Directors and the skills and knowledge of the
Board as a whole are updated by briefings provided
by the Company’s internal resources and materials,
workshops and seminars offered by external
advisers. During 2019 briefings were delivered to the
Board on developments in corporate governance
reporting and to the Remuneration Committee on
governance and best practice in remuneration.

The Audit Committee was provided with updates on
governance and corporate reporting by PwC and

in addition considered a presentation on ongeing
reviews and potential reforms of the audit profession
and practices, and the future of internal audit.

Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019

Performance evaluation

Follewing the externally facilitated evaluation of the
performance of the Board, its Committees and
Directors carried out in 2017, the 2012 performance
evaluation involved the following internal processes:

= the performance of the Executive Directors
was reviewed against their personal cbhjectives
for 2019 by the Non-Executive Directors and
the Chairman;

— a mesting of the Non-Executive Directors {in the
absence of the Chairman) chaired by the Senior
Independent Director was held to evaluate the
performance of the Chairman, taking into account
the views of the Executive Directors;

= the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees
{Audit, Nomination, Remuneration} was
evaluated by way of an internal sel-assessment
questionnaire process; and

= an assessment of the performance of individual
Non-Exscutive Directors was carried out by
the Chairman through a programme of one-to-
cne discussions.

Board and Committee evaluation process

The effectiveness of the Board and its Committees
was assessed internally in 2019 using questionnaires
developed and produced by the Company Secretary
in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board

and the Chair of each of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees. The questionnaires
comprised open guestions on the workings and
effectiveness of the Board and its Committees.

All Directors were requested to complete
questionnaires relating to the Board and each of
the Committees. in addition regular attendees from
management at the Audit Committee meetings
were also requested to complete the questionnaire
relating to that Committee. A report was prepared
by the Company Secretary for the Chairman of the
Board and the Committee Chairs and the resulis
of the evaluations were reviewed and discussed

at the Committee and Board meetings held in
February 2020. The outcome of that process is
reviewed in the Chairman's letter on page 66.

An externaily facilitated evaluation of the Board and
its Committees will be carried out in 2020.

Beard Committess

The Board has formally established Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration and Disclosure
Committees, each with their own terrs of
reference which set out their respective roles and
the authority delegated to them by the Board.
Copies of the terms of reference are available upon
request from the Company Secretary and can

also be downloaded from the Company's website.
Al Non-Executive Directors have a standing
invitation to attend Committee meetings unless they
are notified otherwise.

The Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees' reports are set out at the end of this
Governance report,

Succession
All matters relating to succession are dealt with in
the Nomination Committee report on page 82.



Risk and internal control
Accountability

An explanation of the Directors’ responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements, their
repori that the business is a going concern, a
viability statement, a responsibility statement and
their statement as to disclosure of information

to the auditor are set out on pages 1083 to 105.
Statements by the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities are set out on pages 106 to 110,

A report on the approach ‘o internal control is set
out on page 73. The Directors endeavour to make
the Annual Report and financial statements as
informative and understandabie as possible,

Risk management and internal control

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility
far the Group's systerns of risk management and
internal control and for reviewing their effectiveness
and sets appropriate policies to ensure that the
Code requirements are met. The systems of risk
rmanagement and internal control deployed within
the Group are designed to reduce the risks of
failure to meet business objectives, but these risks
cannot be eliminated. The risk management and
internal control systems adopted can therefore
only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance
about meeting such business objectives or against
material misstaternent or loss. The Group risk
rmanagement framework is set out on pages 30

to 31. Risks associated with safety, health and

the environment are, by the nature of the Group’s
business, always of the utmost concern and the
ESG report on pages 46 to 63 reviews the Group's
performance in this regard in 2019. The Board
confirms that a rabust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks facing the Group has been carried
out and that it has monitcred and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems in 2019.

The Group's internal controls over the financial
reporting and consolidation processes are designed
under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financtal reporting and the preparation
and fair presentation of the Group’s published
financial statements for external reporting purposes
in accordance with IFRS.

The processes which are used by the Board either
directly or, where appropriate, through the Audit
Committee 1o review the effectiveness of the

internal control and risk management systermns in
relation to the financial reporting process and the
process for preparing consclidated accounts include
the following:

- areview of the external and internal audit
work plans;

- consideration of reports from management and
externai parties, including the internal and external
auditors, on the system of internal financial control
and any material control weaknesses; and

= discussion with management of the actions taken
on any possible problern areas for the business
that are identified.

in addition, the Board:

— recsives copies of minutes from all Audit
Committee meetings; and

= receives reguiar written and ora! reports
from management on all aspects of
production, operations, financial and risk
management matters.

Safety, health and environmental matters

The maintenance of high standards of environmental
(together with health and safety) protection is central
to the Group's business. A separate statement on
safety, health and environmental (SHE) matters has
been a feature of the Annual Report for a number

of years and is contained in the ESG section of the
Strategic Report on pages 46 to 63.
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Caroline Johnstone
Audit Committee Chair

Audit Committee membership
Since 1 January 2019
Number

of
Appointment maetings

Position date attended Attendance’
Caroling Chair Aprit 2015 5 100%
Johnstone
Dr Just Independent May 2012 5 100%
Jansz Nen-Executive
Director
Brandan Semior March 2014 5 100%
Connolly Independent
Non-Exacutive
Diractor
Holly A. Van Independent  March 2019 3 100%
Deursen Non-Executive
Cirector
Other
altendess:
Chlef Gompany Secratary (secretary to the Commitiea)
Executive
Officar
Chief Group Operational Review Manager
Financial
Officer
Director Bxtarnal Auditors
of Group
Finance
Note:

1. Based on number of mseetings shgible to attend

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019

This was another important year for Synthomer, with
a busy agenda for the Audit Committee, both in our
business as usual and in the Committee's areas of
focus. In addition, the OMNOWVA acquisition was a
significant event and focus for the Board, including
Audit Committee members, as we worked through
the acquisition and financing of the transaction.

The feedback from the self-assessment of the
Commitlee {undertaken in December 2019} confirms
my view that the Committee is working well and
we regularly have all members of the Board in
attendance. We welcomed Hoily, who joined the
Committee in March 2019 and tirings an additional
perspective 1o our discussions. We have extended
Audit Committee mestings in 2019 (we decided
this was more productive than having additional
meetings) and used that time primarily to have a
wider range of deep dive risk reviews across the
business, discussed on page 30.

Adongside our formal meetings, members of the
Committee visited our facility in Worms with the
rest of the Board, We also visited the Harlow site,
discussed their business plans, controls and
approach to risk management as well as business
opportunities and challenges. | visited Marl as
part of an ongoing prograrmme of engagement
with the business. Feedback on these visits is
discussed by the Committee and the Board and we
ask management to consider or address matters
raised during our visits. In 2019, topics raised
included optimising the number of alarms in site
control rooms.



Key areas of focus

We delivered our core remit as set out in the detail below and have no major issues to report to shareholders.
In last year's Annual Report, we set out our priorities for 2019 and this is how we addressed these:

gy area of focus Commities ackivity in 2018 ACkons
Internal controf and Since my appointment as Audit Committee Chair, we have Ongoing
risk management developed a programme of risk reviews, bringing peopie from
processes across the business to discuss their division or function, the
application of our approach to risk management and how they
are addressing the changing risk landscape. This year we had
ten sessions covering these topics - see page 77.
Recent acquisitions The Internal Audit function undertook a review of JOBS, the Ongoing
and capital £45m investment in adding 90ktes tonnes of productive
investrnents, capacity to our Pasir Gudang plant and of our £3m reactor
with a focus on development preject in Sant'Albanc.
s\i’;ﬁi‘;‘;:{gm these The Committee undertook a review of the delivery of synergies
for the Haexion PAC acquisition 10 ensure they were delivered
in line with the expectation set at acquisition.
Key accounting in April, we reviewed with management site-by-site reporting Will develop
controls across the and overall cost structure of the business. The Group across other
business and site commenced a programme of cost review called 'Project sites in 2020
reporting, particularly  Mindset’, undertaken by managers within the business and )
\ - . ) Implementation
around costs aimed at providing a better understanding and improved of changes
ownership. The Committee oversaw the process and i g
during 2020

reviewed the results,

We undertock a review of the effectiveness of the finance
function in July, with input from across the Group. This was
particularly opportune, as it coincided with the start of
planning for integration of the OMNOVA business.

In Novermber 2019 the Group was informed that
the Financiai Reporting Council {FRC) had reviewed
the 2018 Annual Report*. The FRC asked for
clarification regarding certain disclosures within
that Report and provided us with a list of disctosure
recommendations. Management worked with the
external auditors, PwC, under the supervision of the
Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Board
to provide responses to the clarification requests
and to give appropriate commitments to adopt the
disclosure recommendations. | am pleased to report
that in February 2020 the FRC wrote to us and
confirmed that it was satisfied with our responses.
We have prepared this Annual Report considering its
disclosure recommendations.
The FRC s review is based on the Annual Reports and Accounts
and does not benefit from detailed knowlsdge of the business
or an understanding of the underlying transaclions entered
into. 1t is, however, conducted by staff of the FRC whe have an
understanging of the relevant legal and accounting framework.
Correspondence received from the FRC provides no assurance
that the Annual Report and Accounts are correct in all material
respects: the FRC's role Is not to verify the information provided
but to consider compliance with reporting requirements,
The correspongence from the FRC is written on the basis that the
FRC {which inciudes the FRC's officers, employees and agents)
accepts no liability for refiance on them by the Company or any
third party, ncluding but not imited to investors and shareholders

In 2020, in addition t¢ our core remit, the
Committee will:

~— Monitor the work of Internal Audit in confirming
that the control processes in the new ways
of working developed as part of the Pathway
programme comply with the control standards
of the Group. The programme has been through
a period of robust review throughout 2019 by
the Board.

= Monitor completion and integration of the
OMNOVA acquisition, with particular focus on
internal controls.

= Complete the design of the appropriate Internal
Audit function for the enlarged Group and oversee
the implementation of these arrangements.

Caroline Johnstone
Audit Gommittee Chair
& March 2020
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Audit Committee role

Our role is to assist the Board's oversight of our
financial systems and reporting, and the adequacy
and effectiveness of our internal controls and

risk management. We alsc lead the oversight of
both external and internal audit. The full terms

of reference, reviewed and updated during the
year, are available on the Company's website
www.synthomer.com.

Committee members

The Committee comprises four members:

myself, as Chair, and all of the other independent
Non-Executive Directors — our experience is set out
on pages 64 to 65, The Board considers that each of
us is independant within the definition of the Code.

| have recent and relevant financial experience for
the purposes of Provision 24 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code as a Chartered Accountant,

my roles chairing and as a member of other Audit
Committees and my previous position as a partner
at PwC. Together, the Committee members have a
wida range of financial, operational and commercial
experience across the chemicals and enginesring
sectors and the Board has agreed that the
Committee as a whole has competence relevant to
the chemical industry.

Committee meetings and operation

Other members of the Board have a standing
invitation to attend meetings unless notified
otherwise and we regularly have the full Beard in
attendance. In order to address our remit effectively,
| believe it is important to have those working in the
business attend our meetings and | am pleased that
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer both attend our Committee meetings and
other senior managers have regularly attended
Committee meetings in 2019, at our request.

Our programme of risk reviews and updates has
allowed us te invite other high potentiaf diverse
members of the management team to attend the
Committee — for axample, two of our senior female
functional leaders, Group Head of Tax, and Group
Pensions and Rewards Manager have presented

to the Committee on a regular basis and we had a
local team from Pasir Gudang report back tc us on
business continuity planning.

Senior members of the Group finance team and the
Group Operational Review Manager (who leads the
Internal Audit function) attend our meetings as well
as PwC, led by audit partner Matthew Mullins.

The Committee meets on a regular basis with PwC
and with the Group Operational Review Manager
without management present. The Committee meets
privately as required to discuss our views on matters
such as Pathway, developmenit of the Company
culture and the forthcoming agenda.

Qutside of the formal meetings, | meet regularly on
a one-to-one basis with the Chief Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Officer, other senior members
of the Group finance team and PwC to develop
the Committee's programme of work as well as
review progress in addressing actions agreed by
the Committee. It also enables me to explore and
understand key issues as they arise and focus

on ensuring that we have appropriate information
prepared for and sufficient time to address key
issues in Cornmittee meetings.
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As set out in my introductory comments, members
of the Committee undertake a number of activities
outside of the formal Committee meetings and we
reguiarly visit sites and meet with head office staff.

How we addressed our core remit
in 2019

The Committee met formally five times during 2019
and addressed our responsibilities as follows:

Integrity of financial reporting

- Monitored the Group's annual and interim
financial statements and results announcements
and reviewed significant accounting policies,
estimates and judgements and alternative
performance measures reported.

- In conjunction with the Board, reviewed and
challenged the assumptions and sensitivities used
1o support preparing the accounts on a going
concern basis and in assessing the longer-term
viability of the Group.

— Assessed the processes for assuring the
Board that the 2019 Annual Report and
Accounts, when taken together, is fair, balanced
and understandable.

= Received updates of new accounting standards
(including IFRS 16 Leases and IFRIC 23
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments)
throughout the year and assessed the rigour of
the Group’s approach to implementation.

— Undertook regular reviews of the Group's
material litigation. We consider the Group's
provisions appropriate.

— Supervised and reviewed the Group's response
to the FRC review of the Company's 2018 Annual
Report and Accounts.

- Reviewed the UK payment practices report,
discussed the underlying data and chailenged
management on aspects of the report.

= Reviewed the accounting for and disclosure of the
financial derivatives entered into during the year
to manage the foreign exchange exposure of the
rights issue and the acquisition of CMNOVA as
well as the floating to fixed swap for the €440m
revolving credit facitity which was entered into
in 2018.

External audit

= Approved after discussion and challenge the
external audit plan for 2019, including assessment
of significant audit risks, business risk profile,
scope of the audit, materiality level and the de
minimis reporting threshold. We aiso focused
on the experience and expertise of the key
members of the engagement team. The audit
fee was approved, again after some chalenge
and discussion.

= Detailed review of auditor's reports,
including acceunting judgements and the
control environment.

- Reviewed compliance with the FRC's Ethical
Standard for auditors and the restrictions
on auditors o provide non-audit services.
Approved the provision of certain permissible
non-audit services by PwC {page 80).



= Considered and confirmed the independence of
PwC (page 80).

= Reviewed and assessed the performance of
PwC and our lead audit partner and agreed to
recommend the re-appointment of PwC. We also
reflected on the Future of Audil debate and
discussed the various reviews of the profession.

Internal audit and risk management

— The Committee reviewed the reliance placed by
management on the risk mitigating controls of the
Group's highest risks and analysed the types of
assurance, both internal and external, that applied
to these controls.

— Received a report from the Group Operational
Review Manager at each meeting on the status of
ongoing and completed internal audits. We also
assessed the 2019 risk assurance activity carried
out by internal audit in relation to the Group's
principal risks, which included reviews of our
major sites and a thematic review of our capital
approval process.

— Considered the resuits of the 2019 controis
assurance internal audits and the IT audits,
the self-assessment process, the adequacy
of management's response to matters raised
and the time 1aken to resolve such matters.
Where appropriate, we invited management
to the Committee to discuss its response and
action plan to address fingings of the internal
audit review.

= Reviewed and approved the 2020 internal audit
plan and ensured there is sufficient resource to
deliver the plans.

- We invited managers across the Group to
provide a deeper insight into the controls and risk
management of business units and functions,
including:

Divisional Function or thematic
Performance

Elastomers Pensions
Functional Solutions  Tax

Industrial Specialities  Insurance

IT and cyber security
reviews, including distributed
control systems security

R&D and regulatory affairs

Strategic sourcing
operations

Business continuity planning

= Undertook an assessment of strengths of
the Internal Audit function. We reflected on
the drafl Interna! Auditors Code and how that
might influence our approach to developing the
Internal Audit function in the enlarged Group,
when the acquisition of GMNOVA is completed.
We are in the process of reviewing the Internal
Audit arrangements for the future as indicated
on page 75.

Governance

= Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s anti-
bribery and anti-fraud procedures, including those
for whistleblowing, and had oversight of the roll-out
of our new Code of Conduct and Ethics hotline
across the Group.

~ Received reports on the independent investigations
that had been conducted in response to concerns
raised under the whistleblowing policy and
reported to the Board that we were satisfied with
the outcome, including follow-up actions.

— Met with internal audit and external audit without
management on a number of occasions.

= Undertook an effectiveness review, reviewing the
resuits of an internal questionnaire, and concluded
that the Committee was operating affectively.

- Reviewed our terms of reference to reflect the role
and responsibilities of the Committee are aligned
with the new UK Corporate Governance Code.

— Completed our annual review of the Group's tax
strategy and risks (which can be found on our
waebsite: www.synthomer.com).

Significant areas of judgement and estimate

As part of our monitoring of the integrity of the
financial statements, the Committee assesses
whether suitable accounting policies have been
adopted and it considers particular areas where
management has had to exercise judgement or make
estimates. The main areas which we reviewed during
the year ended 31 December 2019, together with a
summary of our work, are set out below:

= Taxation: with operations across 18 countries,
significant judgement has to be exercised by
management, with advice from appropriate tax
advisers, to arrive at tax provisicns, given that the
final tax outcome is uncertain and may not be
known for several years,

The Group Head of Tax presented to the
Committee on the basis for calculating the effective
tax rate and provided regular updates on any local
tax audits. She also set out 1he detailed rationale
and judgement for each of the current tax liabilities.
The Committee reflected on the liabilites in the light
of our Group tax strategy and alsc the work done
by PwC, which reviewed the judgements that had
been made, using tax specialists as required, and
provided the Comrnittee with its assessment of

the appropriateness of managernent judgements.
The Committee concluded that the estimates and
disclosures were appropriate.

= Pensions: the Group operates a number of
definad benefit schemes (particularly in the UK
and Gerrany) which have significant liabilities,
as outlined in note 26 to the Group financial
statements. Although the UK scheme is closed to
future accrual, both the UK and German schemes
are sensitive to changes in actuarial assumptions.
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The Group uses appropriately qualified external
actuarial advisers to help establish the actuarial
assumptions used in the valuation of the Group's
pension liabilities. PwC evaluated the assumptions
and rmethodologies used by the Group's actuarial
advisers and management and assessed whether
the assumptions made were appropriate and not
materially different from external benchmarks

for simifar types of schemes, PwC reported to

us that it was satisfied with the assumptions

used and with the way that the schemes had
been accounted for. The Committee reviewed

the assumpticns and methodology used by
management, including comparisons to those
used by other companies, and concurred with

the conelusions.

Fair, balanced and understandable

The work undertaken by management {and reviewed
by the Committeg} to support the Board's statement
included the following:

— Estabiishing a working group of key individuals,
who are appropriately qualified, within the Group
to oversee the drafting of the Annual Report.

= The Chief Executive Cfficer and Chief Financial
Officer confirming that, in their opinion, the
drafting of the Annual Report was ‘fair, balanced
and understandabie’.

- Requesting that certain key contributors to
sections of the Annual Report (for example,
Presidents and Finance Directors of divisions)
sign a declaration confirming the accuracy of the
information provided.

— Arranging for Deloitte LLP, the Company's
remuneration consultants, to review the Directors’
Remuneration Report and having our design
agency, Luminous, procfread drafts of the
Annual Report.

— An audit trail being completed by the Diractor of
Group Finance for material data underpinning
non-financial information in the Annuat Report.

= Circulating drafts of the Annual Report to PwC,
the Committee and the Board for review.,

= Discussing material disclosure items at a meeting
of the Committee held in February 2020.

The Committee discussed the “fair, balanced and
understandable’ statement at a meeting in March
2020 in the light of the above and, having done so,
recommended that the Board provide it in the form
set out on page 105.

Going concern and viability statements

The process conducted by management, and
reviewed by the Committee to support the Board's
staterment, included the following:

— Reviewing the Group’s available sources of
funding and, in particular, testing the covenant
and assessing the avallable headroom using a
range of sensitivities.

~ Reviewing the short, medium and long-term
cash flow forecasts in various severe but
plausible scenarios.

= Assessing the level of available facilities, which
are considered necessary to support the Group's
ability to trade ang deliver future growth,
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- Assessing the Group's current and forecast
activities and those factors considered
likely to atfect its future performance and
financial position.

The Committee discussed the going concern
staternent at a meeting in February 2020 and, having
done so, recommended that the Board provide it in
the form set out on page 104,

The Board has chosen to consider the prospects
of the Group over a five-year period ending

31 December 2024, consistent with the five-year
Strategic Plan of the Group, as it considers it to
be a period over which the Group actively focuses
on its long-term product development and capital
expenditure investments.

The Committee’s robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group included a review of the
potential impact of severe but plausible scenarios
that could threaten the viability of the Group

and the potential mitigations that management
believes would be available. The scenarios included
trading volatility, increased competition, disruption
as a result of Brexit, delays in project delivery,
failure of new products, the temporary loss of a
manufacturing site, a fine by a regulating body and
a situation where the OMNOVA acquisition does not
complete. The scenarios also included risks such
as significant foreign exchange rate movements,
which are deemed to be outside the control of

the Group. The Group considered the scenarios
independently and then modelled the unlikely event
of alt downside scenarios.

The Committee discussed the viability statement at
a meeting in February 2020, debated and challenged
the scenarios modelled and, having done so,
recommended that the Board confirm the staternent
in the form set out on page 37.

Systems of risk management and internal
controls effectiveness

Each year, the Board is required to conduct a review
of the effectiveness of the Group's systems of risk
managemant and internal control. The Board's
statement about this review is set cut on page 73.
At a meeting in February 2020, the Committee
reviewed management’s assessment of the key
elements of these systerns and confirmed their
overall effectiveness. In forming its conclusion,
the Committes reflected on matters including

the following:

= The internal audit programme completed during
2019 and the pregress in implementing actions
arising therefrom.

= Our own programme of risk reviews and
discussions with senior managers and other
staff across the Group throughout the year,
We reviewed a re-mapping of existing risks to
the new global business structure in February
2019 and all further reviews were based on the
new structure.



= Assurance (via Committee papers, Board and
Committee presentations and discussions) that
management centinued 1o review the Group’s key
financial controls to ensure that they supported
the Group's continued growth.

= The key controls guestionnaire, which is
completed and signed by each operating unit
across the Group on a quarterly basis,

= Representations from financial and commercial
management in the business to the Chief
Financial Officer, made twice each year.

Code of Conduct and ethics {(whistieblowing)
The updated Code of Conduct and a new extemnal
ethics {(whistleblowing} helpline was implemented in
December 2018 and the Committee has overseen
the roll-out, communication and embedding of this,
which has been very positively received across

the business. The Code is available online and is
available in 13 languages, and the Committee was
impressed with the simple language and examples
used to help employees identify with an issue and
support them in its resolution. At each Committes
meeting during the year, the Committee was
provided with details of the issues reported during
the period and how management had investigated
thern, together with any update on ongoing
investigations. No material issues were reported
during the year.

Cyber-security and GDPR

The Committee kept a watching brief as the Group
completed its work to become GDPR comypliant.

It is a regular agenda item for the Commiittee and we
have had no reportable breaches in 2019.

The risk reviews set out earlier inciuded regular
updates on the Group's cyber-security, across both
our operational and support areas. There were no
sericus attacks in 2019 but, like all businesses,

we are faced with attacks on our systems on a
daily basis — the Group has implemented a range
of training, education and iive testing 1o help
everyone in the business to protect themselves
and the businsss. We will continue to focus on this
and particutarly on the programme to protect our
operatienal control systems at our preduction sites.

Business continuity planning

The Group developed an updated Business
Continuity Planning Framework and our fargest
site, Pasir Gudang, was selected t¢ be the first site
to implement and test the Framework. Using our
Project Excellence methodology, a dedicated team,
with involvernent across the site, identified seven
predefined scenarios and developed business
impact analyses and recovery strategies for each

- this was a detailed but vitai exercise and by year
end, the team had developed a cormprehensive
plan for each scenario. In 2020, the plans will be
finalised, validated and stress-tested followed by
roll-out of training and communications to ensure
that those responsibie react instinctively when
required. This important work will be shared across
the business with other sites. We will continue to
overses this work.

Pensions

Qur Group Pensions and Rewards Manager regularly
attended the Committee in 2019 to update the
Committee on our UK pensions scheme and also

to update us on a global review of all of the Group's
pension arrangements. The Committee was pleased
with progress, particularly in the overseas pensions,
where the Group has a much better assessment of
risks, having taken steps to mitigate and develop
robust plans to monitor the schemes. In the UK, we
reviewed the annual financial statements of the Yule
Catto Retirement Benefits Scheme and noted that all
governance matters had been addressed.

internal audit

The Group Operational Review Manager {who leads
the interna! audit function) was appointed in 2016.
We have a dedicated and focused in-house internal
audit function, which draws on specialist resources
as required. At each meeting, the Committee
reviewed progress against the internal audit annual
pian and explored areas identified for action.

The Committee also reviewed completed audit
reports, focusing on recurring themes, which might
require Group actions, and areas where there was
divergence from self-assessments prepared.

The proposed acquisition of OMNCVA provides
the Group with an opportunity to refiect on the
appropriate form and nature of our Internal Audit
arrangements which we discuss on page 77.

The internal audit plan for 2020 was reviewed

at our meeting in Novermber 2019 and includes
auditing areas which account for more than 82%
of net assets as wel as certain thematic audits
e.g. IT security, IT environment and procurermnent.
Specialists will be included in a number of audits
as appropriate. We mapped the plan to our key
risks and also viewed a potential three-year
audit plan of Synthomer in conciuding that the
plan was appropriate, ahead of completing the
OMNOVA acquisition.
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External audit

At its meetings in Novernber 2019 and February
2020, the Commitlee discussed the 2019

audit process:
November 2018

QOutcomeraction taken by the Committee

PwC's audit plan

Chalienged and agreed by the
Committee

PwC’s audi risk
assessment
[discussed with
key function and
group managers)

Discussed with PwC (including
the approach to identified risks)

Materiality lavel for
the audit

Agreed with PwC (at a similar
level to 2018), atfter reviewing
local materiality, local statutory
accounts required and site visits
by PwC group team

PwC'’s resources

Reviewed and discussed
with Pw{, in particular, the
experience of PwC audit
partners in our key territories

Audit fee
and terms of
engagernent

Reviewed, challenged and
approved by the Committee

February 2020

Outcomesaction taken by the Committee

Confirmation of
PwC's audit plan

PwC confirmed no material
changes made to agreed plan

Audit findings, Discussed with PwC and
significant management

issues and other

accounting

judgements

Management Reviewed and approved by the
representation Committee

letter

PwC's Independence and cbiectivity
independence confirmed; quality control

and objectivity
and quality control
procedures

procedures reviewed

The Chair of the Committee was in regular
discussion with PwC's lead audit partner 1o discuss
the progress of the audit. Ahead of and following
the conciusion of the February 2020 meeting, the
Committee met PwC without managsment being
present: no significant issuss were raised.

Auditor objectivity and independence and
non-audit services provided by the auditor

The Committee has a clear policy on the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditor. We have
defined the very limited non-audit services which can
be provided by the external auditors. Services can
only be provided if approved by the Committee

and subject 1o a cap of 70% of the average of audit
fees for the preceding three years — with discretion
to exceed this until 1 January 2020. The policy is

in compliance with the FRC Ethical Standard for
Auditers effective from April 2017 and a full copy

of our policy on the provision of non-audit services
by the external auditor is available on the Company
website, www.synthomer.com
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Details of audit and non-audit fees paid 1o the auditor
in 2019 are set out in note 7 on page 125. Non-audit
fees principally relate to reporting accounting work
for the Prospectus and Circular required for the
acquisition of OMNOVA and to the interim review at
the half year. The Committee concluded that PwC's
independence and objectivity was not compromised
by providing these services and that, as a result of its
knowledge of the Group and its financial statements,
it was in the Group's inferests to engage PwC to

do so.

As part of the 2019 audit, PwC confirmed that it

was independent within the meaning of applicable
regulatory and professional requirements. Taking this
into accournt and having considered the steps

taken by PwC to preserve its independence and

the approach to non-audit services set out above,
the Committee concluded that PwC continues

to demonstrate appropriate independence

and cbjectivity.

PwC provides internal audit services and tax
compliance and advice to OMNOVA. The Committee
will monitor that PwC’s independence is not
impaired by ensuring that PwC cease all prohibited
services immediately on acquisition of OMNGVA.,

During the year, the Committee established a policy
whereby all engagements for non-audit services
with any audit firm must be pre-approved by the
Committee, This is to ensure that as many firms as
possible would be independent for the purpose of
any audit tender.

How we reviewed PwC’s performance

During the year, the Committee evaluated the
performance and effectiveness of the external
auditor, PwC and Matthew Mullins, our audit partner.
Feedback was obtained from people across the
business who were involved with the external audit
and the Committee reflected on the effectiveness

of Matthew Mullins and team members, both in
Committee meetings and in discussions with the
Audit Committee Chair,

The Committee assessed the robustness of the
audit, the guality of delivery of the audit against the
agreed plan and the competence with which the
auditors handled key accounting estimates and
judgements. We also reviewed the FRC's report,
highlighting its conclusions from a review of a
selection of PwC audits.

Having considered all of these factors, the
Committee concluded that the external auditors
were effective.

Re-appointment of the auditor

PwC was re-appointed external auditor in 20186,
following a full re-tender process, having been the
Group's auditor since 2012, Having assessed the
effectiveness of the external audit referred to above
and the independence of PwC, the Committee
recommends the re-appeointment of PwC at the
2020 AGM.



Statement of compliance

The Committee confirms that, during the year ended
31 December 2019, the Company complied with

the applicable provisions of the Competition and
Markets Authority's Statutory Audit Services for
Large Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory
Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audtt
Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014,

Committee evaluation

In 2018, we undertook a thorough internal evaluation
of the Committee's performance using an internal
questionnaire process, with input from regular
attendees as well as the Cormmittee mambers.

We covered all aspects of the Committee’s agenda
and approach, including composition, remit and
culture of the Committee.

There was positive feedback on our training in
2019 as we used technical accounting updates
from two accounting firms and held a working
session with Committee members and other
Non-Exgcutive Directors,

Areas for focus for the Committee reflect our
priorities for 2020 set out above, and include:

= Integration and control environment of OMNOVA;

= Controls in new ways of working with the
deployment of the Pathway programme; and

— Redefining our Interna! Audit requirements.
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Governance

Nomination Committee report

Nell Johnsen
Nomination Committee
Chair

Nomination Committee Membership
Since 1 January 2019

Number of
Appointmant mestings

Pasition date attended  Attendance
Neil Johnson  Chair May 2012 1 100%
Brandan Sanior March 2014 1 100%
Connolly independent

Non-Executive

Diractor
Caroling Indegendent  April 2015 1 100%
Johnstona Non-Executive

Director
Role

The Committee's remit includes respensibility for:

= The regular review of the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity) of the Board and the
making of recommendations with regard to
any changes;

= Leading the process for Board appointments
and nominating candidates for non-executive
positions; and

— Coensidering succession planning for Directors
and senior executives and reviewing the
succession plans put forward for ensuring the
executive leadership needs of the Company
are met.

Synthomer ple Annual Report 2019

Activities in 2019

The Nomination Committee held one formal meeting
during 2018 as well as meetings in cembination

with other formal meetings of the Board where it
was appropriate to do so. In addition, a number of
informal meetings and telephone calis have taken
place in connection with succession planning.

The Committee reviewed progress against

the 2018 management succession action plan
presented to the Board at the start of the year and
also reviewed the Board succession plan. The Board
succession plan in place takes account of the Code
provisions regarding the maximum tenure of board
chairs and independent Non-Executive Directors.

In connection with the Board's commitment o
recruit an additional fernate Non-Executive Director
in 2020 the Committee is leading the process and
will appoint an independent recruitment consultancy
{with which the Cormpany has no other connection),
to assist with the search process.

Diversity

The Board adopted its current policy on diversity in
2014 in recognition of the importance of diversity in
strengthening decision making and competitiveness.
This policy {available at www.synthomer.com) seeks
to ensure that diversity in its broadest sense is taken
intc account in the process of making appointments
on merit against objective selection criteria.

Our diversity and inclusicon initiatives for 2020 and
reporting are set ot on page 55 and will lead to the
setting of measurable objectives when actions have
been implemented. In the short term we are mindful
of the need to make progress on gender diversity
at a senior ievel given that our Executive Committee
is all male and as reported to the Hampton-
Alexander annual survey in 2019 wormen make up
less than 10% of the Executive Cormmittee and its
direct reports.

Evaluation of the Board and its Commiittees
and Director contribution

The processes deployed in connection with the
evaluation of the Board and its Committees are

set out on page 72. Details of individual Director
contribution to the long-term success of the
Company wiil be contained in the 2020 Notice of
Annual General Meeting in support of the resolutions
for Director re-appaintment.

Neil Johnson
Chair
5 March 2020



Directors’ Remuneration report

Brendan Cannclly
Remuneration Commities
GChair

Remuneration Committee membership
Since 1 January 2019

Number
of
Appointment meetings

Pgsition date attended Attendance’
Brendan Chair March 2014 § 100%
Gonnolty
Just Jansz Indegendent  May 2012 6 100%
Non-Executive
Director
Caraline independent April 2015 & 100%
Johnstons Nen-Executive
Director
Holly A Van  independent March 2019 4 100%
Deursen Non-Executive
Director
Other
attendees:
Chigf Executive Company
Officer Secretary
President Celoitte LLP
Glebal HR
Group HR
Dirgctor
Note:

1. Based on number of mestings ehgible to attend.

Dear Shareholders,

I'would like to thank our stakeholders for

their continued support in 2019 whereby the
Remuneration report {reflecting our existing policy
which was originally approved at the 2017 AGM)
was approved by 99% of voting shareholders at the
2019 AGM.

This year, alongside our narmal duties, we have been
preparing and discussing a new remuneration poficy
and we have consulted extensively with our major
shareholders on our proposed policy which will be
presented for approval at the 2020 AGM. | would like
to thank those shareholders who have participated in
this process for their feedback and guidance, which
resulted in changes to the original proposal.

2020 Directors’' Remuneration Policy

Since our 2017 Policy was implemented, Synthomer
has grown significantly in terms of size, geographic
reach and complexity doubling in size since the last
review. [n 2015 there were 2,038 employees and

19 manufacturing sites and foliowing the completion
of the OMNOVA acquisition, we will be a business of
over 4,750 employees with an additional 19 sites.

Over the last three years, the Group has expanded
through acquisition as well as organic growth.
Hexion PAC was acquired in 2016, adding seven
sites and 760 employees, followed by an additional
site from Perstorp OXO in Belgium and a BASF site
in Austria. And finally, we announced the acguisition
of OMNOVA Solutions tnc on 3 July 2019 (approved
by shareholders on 31 July 2019) which we expect
to complete by the end of March 2020 following
Phase 1 European Commission merger clearance
on 15 January 2020. This is a very exciting stage in
Synthomer's development, with OMNOVA adding
$736 million of revenue?, $70 million of EBITDA?,

an additional 13 manufacturing sites and 1,850
employees to our foctprint.

Notwithstanding the current challenging economic
circumstances which have impacted short-term
performance, the management team has continued
to make positive steps in driving the Group forwards.
Growth has accelerated through disciplined M&A
activity and impressive organic growth of the
Group assets, where over £140 million of capital
expenditure has been invested during 2018/19

in large-scale manufacturing assets. During this
transformation Synthomer will have {post OMNOVA
acquisition) increased EBITDA more than two times
since the last remuneration review and improved
and maintained employee safety statistics in legacy
Synthomer by circa 70% over 2014 rates.

Bynthomer in 2020 is a larger, far more complex
global speciality company than it was in 2015 when
the new managernent team were appointed and the
Company continues to follow an ambitious strategy
butin a disciplined manner. The next three years are
critical to the Group and include the integration of
OMNOCVA which has targeted over $26.6 million of
cost synergies. The Board considers that it is now of
the utmost impertance that we maintain momentum
and deliver on this highly challenging agenda to
ensure we continue to grow the value of the business
and deliver returns to shareholders.

Note:
2. OMNOVA results for the year ended 30 Novemnber 2019
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Given the significant change in the size and scope
of Group’s operations the Committee undertook

a detailed review of remuneration arrangements
including considering how arrangements
compared to external and internal comparators.
When reviewing external market ievels the
Committee considered practice within the following
comparator groups: {ij companies in the FTSE 151
- 350 group; (i} companies with a similar market
capitalisation of Synthomer (cE1bn to £2bn); (i)
companies of a similar size and complexity taking
into account financial size, headcount, complexity
and geographical locations; and (iv) other FTSE All
Share Chemical companies. In all cases, each of
the Executive Directors’ total remuneration level was
close to or at the lower quartile.

In the context of the development of the business
and the significant increase in our size and
organisational complexity, described above the
Committee has made a number of changes to
the remuneration framework to better reflect the
Company’s current size and cormplexity. At the

same time, we continue our journey to create an
increasingly performance-based package as well as
improving shareholder alignment through deferrals
and shareholding requirements. We have alse made
other changes to remuneration arrangemerts to
reflect the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code.

I have set out a summary of the changes to
remuneration policy below. The Committee believes
that the remuneration package offers a strong

link between the Company’s strategy and values
incorporating targets that support inmovation,
excellence and growth,

Increase in annual and
long-term incentive
opportunities to better
refiect the current size
and complexity of the
organisations

An| I

= The annual bonus opportunity has been increased to 150% of base salary (previously 125% of salary for

the CEQ and 115% of salary for the CFQ).

= in light of the change in opportunity, the porticn of the bonus deferred has been increased to one third
of the total bonus (previously 20% deferral for the CEO and 13% deferral for the CFO). This increase
in deferral means that the cash bonus opportunity remains broadly the same as in previous years,
Deferred shares will continue tc be required to be held for two years.

= On target financial performance will result in 50% of the maximum bonus being paid (previcusly 60% paid
for on-target performance) to align with shareholders’ expectations.

PSP

= The maximum PSP award under our policy has been increased to 200% of salary for the CEO (currently
150% of salary) and 150% of salary for the CFO {currently 120% of salary). Taking into account feedback
from shareholders, the increase in award lavels will be phased over the next two years with awards for
2020 being limited to 175% of base salary for the CEC and 135% of base salary for the CFO. Awards for
2021 will be 200% of base salary for the CEQ and 150% of base salary for the CFQ).

= PSP awards will continue to be subject to performance over a three-year period plus a two-year post

vesting holding period.

— The potential to grant an exceptional award of 300% of salary will be removed.

= The Committee considers that the revised incentive opporiunities are a more appropriate reflection of the

size and complexity of Synthomer today.

Clawback and malus
provision expanded

= The circurnstances in which clawback and malus may apply have been expanded to include serious
misconduct or corporate failure to align with best practice. Clawback and malus could already be applied
in the event of a material misstatement of results, error in the calculation of performance conditions which
results in overpayment or material reputational damage to the Group.

Pension for new hires
reduced to match wider
workforce and CEO’s
pension frozen at the
current value

— The pension arrangements for any new Executive Director hire to the Board will be aligned with the rate

available for the majority of the workforce.

= The current pension allowance for the CEC has been frozen at current cash value of £137,891 (or 20% of

salary if higher).

= The CFO's pension ailowance will continue to be 20% of base salary.

= We have noted the current guidance and aside from existing contractual conditions have committed to
align the pensions to the workforce average in the next policy.

Increased shareholding
guidelines to further
align executives with
shareholders. Post-

employment shareholding

guideline introduced

= Shareholding guidelines will be increased to 220% of base salary for the CEC (currently 200% of salary)
and 175% of salary for the CFO (currently 150% of salary).

= A post-empioyment shareholding guideline will be introduced with effect from 25 Aprit 2021 (being the
anticipated first anniversary of the approval of the new policy) requiring Executive Directors to maintain
their shareholding guideline {or actual shareholding if lower) for 1 year fellowing stepping down as an
Executive Director, and 50% of their guideline for a further year.
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Implementation of policy for 2020

Base salaries

Salaries for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Cfficer were increased at the start of 2020
inline with the average pay increase for the Group's
UK workforce of 2.7% plus an additional 2.5% giving
a total increase of 5.2%. This increase was made

to reflect the significant increase in the size and
complexity of the Company as described above.
Following this increase, salaries will continue to be
positioned at or below the median when cornpared
with a range of peer groups which the Committee
considers to be appropriate,

Performance measures

For 2020 the annual bonus will continue to be based
80% on Underlying PBT performance, 10% on SHE
objectives and 10% on persona!l strategic objectives.

For PSP awards granted in 2020, an additional
measure will be introduced to incentivise and
reward the successful integration of the OMNOVA
acquisition and the achievement of cost synergy
targets. Awards will be based 30% on TSR relative
to the FTSE 250 excluding investment trusts

and financial services companies, 30% on EPS,
30% on OMNOVA cost synergies and 10% on
strategic measures.

Shareholder consultation outcome

We consulted with our largest 22 shareholders
and leading proxy advisory bodies and had
conversations, email exchanges or meetings with
18. There was a high level of support from our
sharehoiders for the modified policy as presented
opposite from those with whom we spoke.

Remuneration outcomes in 2019

During 2019 the Company has made significant
progress against strategic objectives and has
continued 1o expand with the anncunced acquisition
of CMNOVA, Financial performance, however, has
been impacted by economic and sector headwinds
which has been reflected in the variabie pay
outcemes for 2019.

Bonus plan: 20% of maximum
opportunity achieved

For 2019 the bonus plan consisted of three
parts: Financial (80% on Underlying PBT), SHE
{10%) and strategic personal goals {10%).

= Financial: 0% achieved. Due 1o trade headwinds,
pofitical uncertainty and specifically weakness in
the European SBR markets, the threshold target
was not met and as such the financial element will
not be paid.

= SHE: 10% achieved. the continued journey
to improve and sustain safety performance at
the chemical mdustry upper-quartile levels has
been demonstrated with an improved outcome
in process safety and a third consecutive year
of a stable cutcome in the reportable injury
rate. The Committee has decided that it was
appropriate to award the full amount of the bonus
based on SHE perfermance to recognise this
strong progress notwithstanding the financial
out-turn.

- Personal strategic goals: 10% achieved.
The CEO and CFO have delivered fully against
their strategic personal goals. A focus on M&A
has led to the acquisition of OMNOVA after
thorough due diligence, whilst the Pathway
Programme is broadly within budgeted time and
cost parameters. The leadership organisation
has been strengthened in both the operaticnal
and finance function, and open and frequent
communications with cur shareholders have
been maintained.

PSP: 10% achieved

The 2017 PSP award was based on EPS growth
(40%), relative TSR {40%} and strategic goals (20%).

= EPS growth: 0% achieved. The threshold (4.5%
compound annual growth} target from 2016 was
not met, primarily due to the challenges in respect
of 2019 performance.

= Relative TSR: 0% achieved. The Group
performance against the FTSE 250 (excluding
investment and financial services) was below
median against the comparator group and
therefore no portion of this award will pay out.

= Strategic targets: new product develocpment
(Vitality Index) of between 15% and 20% of total
product sales (excluding Monorners) bas been
mat at 22%. Cumulative PBT added through
acquisitions of betwaen £43.3m and £86.5m, has
not been met. Half of the portion of the award
linked to strategic targets will vest.

Activities during the vear

As well as focusing on the policy review, the
Remuneration Committee alsc considered, reviewed
and debated all the required topics set cut it in

its terms of reference (which can be found at
www.synthorner.com) to ensure that best practice

is followed. All new guidance has been considered
during the year and adopted in a manner felt to be
most applicabie to the Company. Our tendency is to
try and balance the 'mew guidance’ with the 'existing’
in a manner that does not afienate the executive
teams but rather keeps them focused on what will
be a challenging next three years in the chemical
industry. As examples, tailored policies on post-
employment shareholdings and pension contribution
alignment with the workforce have all been included
in our proposed remuneration policy.
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

UK Corporate Governance Code and other
regulations

All new regulatory requirements, including those
relating to the Chief Executive Officer’s pay ratic
and the impact of share price performance on
remuneration, have been complied with in full in the
Directors’ Remuneration report.

The remuneration package of the Executive Directors
remains structurally the same assuring clarity,
simplicity, predictability and continuity. The rationale
for each of the components of the remuneration
structure was discussed with the shareholders
during the consultation process. We aim to have a
consistent and explainabie approach which is fair,
taking into account both external and internal ratios
while supporting the execution of our strategy and
being aligned with cur cutture.

The outcomes for 2012 reflect the overall
performance of the Group in a challenging year,
and therefore the structure seems appropriate and
aligned. As a Committee we retain our ability to
mitigate outcomes through discretion, though in
2019 none was applied as the outcomes reflected
performance. The workforce engagement process
has now started and though at an early stage, the
Commitiee will discuss any feedback received

cn remuneration policy going forward, Pay ratios
and pay gaps will continue to be reviewed when
setting policy.

Remunaeration report

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy will require a
binding vote at the 2020 AGM, with the Directors’
Remuneration report being subject to an
advisory vote.

| ask that you consider the changes to the policy and
its implementation for 2020 outlined in the light of a
Group that: will be over twice the size it was in 2015;
has double the number of sites; has a significant
increase in employees; is spread over an increased
geography; and is much more complex.

| would like to thank all our stakeholders and
shareholders and the Remuneration Committee
for their time, input and guidance in forming and
supporting this policy.

Brendan Connolly
Remuneration Commitiee
Chair

5 March 2020

B6 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2012



At a glance
2019 outcomes:

Base salaries were increased for the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financia! Officer by 5.2% from
1 January 2020.

= Annual bonus plan - 20% of maximum
opportunity achieved.

= 2017 PSP award vested at 10% of
maximum oppertunity.

Directors’ remuneration - policy
principles

The key principles for Executive Directors’
remuneration at Synthomer are as follows:

= Remuneration should be clear and simple with
maxirmum award levels being clearly defined.

= Sufficient to attract and retain Executive Directors
of the ability and expertise necessary to achieve
the strategic goals of the Company.

= Incentivise Executive Directors by rewarding
performance and driving the right behaviours
while ensuring appropriate safeguards are in
place to mitigate risk.

— Align Executive Director reward with the
experience of shareholders.

In setting Executive Directors’ remuneration, the
Committee takes account of pay and conditions
throughout the Group to ensure that the
arrangements are appropriate in the context of
internal pay ratios. The Committee aiso considers
corporate governance requirements and best
practice in terms of remuneration structures and the
process of setting executive remuneration,

The Cormmittee reviews performance targets
regularly to ensure that they do not encourage or
motivate inappropriate risk taking. Furthermore,
the Committee, when necessary, will take into
account any envircnmental, social and governance
(ESG} events and the Audit Committee’s reviews
of the effectiveness of internal controls and risk
management when assessing performance.

The following diagram provides an overview of the
key elements of reward for Executive Directors and
the performance measures used.

Directors’ remuneration policy
The following sections set out our proposed new
Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the ‘Palicy”).

The new Policy, which is intended to replace the
policy appreved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM,
is subject to a binding vote by shareholders at the
AGM on 29 April 2020 and, if approved, will come
into effect from that date. The background to and
explanation of the key changes from the current
policy are given in the letter from the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee starting on page 83.

In determining the new Remuneration Policy the
Committee followed a robust process which
included discussions on the content of the Policy
at Remuneration Committee meetings during the
year. The Committes considered the input from
Management and our independent advisers, as
well as considering best practice and guidance
from major shareholders. We have consulted
extensively with our major shareholders on our
proposed policy. There was a high level of support
for the modified policy. We also considered the
approach te remuneration though-out the group to
ensure it was appropriate. While we did not consult
directly with employees on executive remuneration
we considered general feedback provided via the
gesignated employee Non-Executive Director.

The proposed Policy includes a number of changes
from the previcus policy approved by shareholders
at the 2017 AGM:

= The maximum bonus opportunity will be
increased from 125% to 150% of salary. The CEQ
and CFO bonus opportunities will be increased 1o
150% of salary.

= The bonus award for target performance will be
reduced from 60% to 50% of maximum,

— Bonus deferral will be increased to one third of the
bonus received by the Executive Directors and the
deferred shares must be retained for two years.

= The annual PSP awards will be increased.
The Chief Executive Officer's award will be
increased from 150% to 200% of salary and the
Chief Financial Officer's award will be increased
from 120% to 150% of salary, The increases
will be phased over two years, with the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
receiving an award of 175% and 135% of salary
respectively in 2020.

Key elements of reward

Base Pension Annual Performance
salary & benefits bonus Share Plan
& 1 i 4
At least 70% At 9
Profit befora tax Based on
financial measures
Up to 30% Upto20%
Strategic and operational Strategic
measures, including measures
personal objectives
2020 awards: 2020 awards;
80% Profit before tax 30% relative TSR
10% SHE 30% OMNOVA cost synergies

10% Individual strategic
and operationat goals

30% EPS growth
10% Strategic moasures
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Future Policy table

= The potentia! under the PSP to grant an
exceptional award of 300% of salary will

be removed,

— The current CEQ's pension allowance will be
frozen at its current cash value {or 20% of salary
if higher). Pensicn allowances for new Executive
Director hires will be aligned to the pension
contribution rate available for the majority of

the workforce.

- Post-employment shareholding guidelines will be
introduced from April 2021, requiring Executive

post cessation.

leaving for one year post cessation and reducing
to 50% of that holding in the second year

— Shareholding guidelines wil be increased.
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer will be required to build an interest in
shares of at least 220% and 175% of salary
respectively within five years of appointment.

= The malus and clawback policy for bonuses and

Directors to retain their shareholding at the date of

PSP awards will be extended to include serious
misconduct and corporate failure.

Purpose and
link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

Base salary

Supports the
recruitment and
retention of Executive
Directors,

Reflects the
individual's skills,
experience,
performance and role
within the Company.

Salary levels are generally reviewed
annually by the Committee.

When reviewing salary levels the
Committee takes into account:

= the individual's skills, experience
and performance;

— the size and scope of the
individual’s responsibilities;

= pay and conditions elsewhere in
the Group;

~ pay at companies of similar size; and

= the complexity and international
scope of the Group.

Thete is no overall maximum for

salary oppoertunity or increases.

Salary increases will normally be in-line
with the increases awarded to other
employees within the Group.

Larger increases may be made under
certain circumstances, including but not
limited to:

= an increase in the scope and/or
responsibllity of the individual’s role;

= the development of the individual
within the role;

= alignment to market levels; and

— corporate events such as a
significant acquisition or Group
restructuring which impacts the
scope of the role.

For 2020, Executive Director salaries
are as follows:

~ G G MaclLean: £580,246 (increase of
5.2% on 2019 salary of £551,565)

— S G Bennett: £368,831 (increase of
5.2% on 2019 salary of £350,600)

None, although individual
and Company performance
are factors taken into
account when considering
salary increases.

Benefits

Provided to support
the retention and
recruitment of
Executive Directors.

Benefits to Executive Directors may
include private health insurance,

life insurance and a car allowance.
From time to time the Committee
may review the benefits provided.
The Committee may remove benefits
that Executive Directors receive or
introduce other benefits if it considers
it is appropriate to do so. Any other
benefits will be proportionate with the
current benefits provided and will be
set taking into account the benefits
provided to other employees in

the Group.

Where Exacutive Directors are required
ta relocate or complete an international
assignment, the Committee may offer
additional benefits {either on a one-

off or on-going basis) or vary benefits
according to local practice.

Executive Directors may participate in
any all-employee share schemes or
other benefit arrangements on the same
basis as other emplovees.

There is no overall maximum for
benefits, as the cost of insurance
benefits may vary from year-to-
year depending on the individual
circumstance and the level of any
relocation benefits, allowances
and expenses will depend on the
specific circumstances.

None.

88 Synthamer plc Annual Report 2018



Purpose and
link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

Pension

Provide a competitive
level of retirement
benefits to support
both retention and
recruitment of
Executive Directors.

Executive Directors are eligible to
participate i the Group personal
pension plan.

Executive Directors may receive
payments as a cash allowance which
they may use either in conjunction with
that plan and/or to enable them to make
their own arrangements.

For new Executive Director hires, a
maximum percentage of base salary
aligned to the pension contribution
rate available for the majority of

the workforce,

Allowances for current Executive
Directors are:

= C G Maclean: frozen at its current
cost value of £137,891 {ar 20% of
salary if higher)

= S G Bennett: 20% of salary

None.

Annual bonus

Incentivises the
delivery of financiat,
strategic and
operational objectives
selected to support
our business strategy
within the year.

Performance targets will be determined
by the Committee at the beginning of
the annual performance pericd.

The Committee will assess performance
against these targets following the end
of the performance period.

The Committee may in its discretion,
adjust annual bonus payments, if it
considers that the cutcome does not
reflect the underlying financial or non-
financial performance of the participant
or the group over the relevant period or
that such payout level is not appropriate
in the context of circumstances that
were unexpectad or unforesesn when
the targets were set. When making this
judgement the Committee may take into
account such factors as the Committes
considers relevant,

The Committee may reduce or defer
the level of payment of an award

to take into account exceptional
business circumnstances, if there are
circumstances giving rise to material
reputational damage 1o the Group,
an Executive Director has committed
an act of serious misconduct or in the
event of corporate failure.

A proportion of any benus earned is
deferred for two years. For current
Executive Directors this is as follows:

= C G MacLean: one third of any bonus
= S G Bennett: one third of any bonus

The Committee may claw back awards
up to three years after paymert if

the Group's accounts have been
materially misstated, there has been

an error in the calculation of any
parformance conditions which results in
overpayment, if there are circumstances
giving rise to material reputationai
damage to the Group, if an Executive
Director has committed an act of
serious misconduct or in the event of
corporate failure,

The maximum opportunity is up to
150% of salary.

Opportunities for current Executive
Directors are as follows:

= C G MacLean: 150% of salary
= S G Bennett 150% of salary

At least 70% of awards are
subject to Underlying profit
before tax (or other relevant
financial measure) targets.

Up to 30% of awards are
subject to strategic and
operational measures,
including personal cbjectives.

For 2020 awards,
performance measures will be
80% Underlying profit before
tax, 10% SHE cbjectives, and
10% personal strategic and
operational objectives.

The award for threshold
performance is normally 0%
of maximum.

The award for target
performance is normally 50%
of maximum.
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Gaoverpance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Purpose and
link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

2011 Performance Share Plan (PSP)
Approved by shareholders at the 2011 EGM

Incentivises

Executive Directors

to deliver sustained
performance and
sustginable returns for
shareholders over the
longer term.

The vesting of awards is conditional on
the Group's performance against long-
term targets over a performance period
of at least three years.

The Committee may in its discretion,
adjust the leve! of vesting of an award, if
it considers that the oulcome does not
reflect the underlying financial or non-
financial performance of the participant
or the Group over the relevant pericd or
that such payout level is not appropriate
in the context of circumstances that
were unexpected or urforeseen when
the targets were set. When making this
judgerment the Committee may take into
account such factors as the Cornmittee
considers relevant.

The Committee may reduce or defer the
level of vesting of an award where an
event has occurred, such as a material
SHE incident or which ctherwise gives
rise to material reputational damage

to the Group {for awards from 2020
onwards) or if an Executive Director has
committed an act of serious misconduct
or in the event of corporate failure.

The Committee may claw back

awards up to three years after vesting

if the Group's accounts have been
materially misstated, there has been

an error in the calculation of any
performance conditions which results in
overpayrment, if there are circumstances
giving rise 1o material reputationat
damage 10 the Group, or (for awards
from 2020 onwards) if an Executive
Director has committed an act of
serious misconduct or in the event of
corporate failure.

Vested awards relating to grants made
from 2017 onwards are subject to

a holding period post vesting of an
additional two years.

Sh;holdiné guidelines during and post emﬁlo_ifrﬁent

Under the plan rules approved by
shareholders, the value of shares
awarded o an individual in respect of
any one year may not hormally exceed
300% of salary.

For 2020 annual awards to current
Executive Directors are:

— G G Maclean: 175% of salary
= S G Bennett: 135% of salary

From 2021 annual awards to current
Executive Directors are:

= C G MaclLean: 200% of salary
= S G Bennett: 150% of salary

- At least 80% based
on financial measures.
This may include
TSR, EPS, Return on
Invested Capital {(ROIC)
or any other measure
censidered appropriate
by the Committee.
Any change o the
financial measures used
woukd be subject to prior
shareholder consultation,

= Up to 20% based on
performance measures
linked to the delivery of the
business strategy.

= No single measure will
constitute more than 50%
of an annual award.

For 2020 awards,
performance measures

willbe 30% relative TSR,

30% EPS, 30% cost synergies
related to the OMNCVA
acauisition and 10%

strategic measures.

A maxirmum of 25% of
each element will vest for
thresheld performance.

The Company oparates shareholding guidelines for Executive Directars to strengthen the alignment batween the interests of the Executive
Directors and the shareholders. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer will be expected to bulld interests in shares of at
least 220% and 175% of salary respectively within five years of appointrent.
Executive Directors that step down from their role from April 2021, will normally be expected 1o maintain their minimum shareholding (or

actual shareholding if lower) for the first 12 months following departure from the Board and 50% of their minimum shargholding (or actual
shareholding if lower) for the subsequent 12 months. The Committee retains discretion to walve this guideline if it Is not considered to be
appropriate in the specific circumstances.
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Provisions to withhold or recover sums paid under incentives are as
detailed in the table above, N cther elements of remuneration are
subject to recovery provisions,

The Committes reserves the right to make any remuneration
payments and/or payments for loss of office {including exercising

any discretions available to it in connection with such payments)
notwithstanding that they are not in line with the Policy set out above
where the terms of the payment were agreed (i) before the policy set
out above came into effect, provided that the terms of the payment
were consistent with any applicable shareholder-approved Directors’
remuneration policy in force at the time they were agreed or where
otherwise approved by sharehoiders; or (i) at a time when the refevant
individual was not a Director of the Company (or other persons to
whom the Policy set out above applies} and, in the opinion of the
Committee, the payment was not in consideration for the individua!
becoming a Director of the Company or such other person. For these
purposes ‘payments' in¢ludes the Committee satisfying awards of
variable remuneration and, in relation to an award over shares, the
terms of the payment are ‘agreed’ no later than the time the award is
granted. This policy applies equally to any individual who is required
to be treated as a Director under the applicable regulations.

The Committee may make minor adjustments 1o the Policy (for
regulatory, exchange control, 1ax or administrative purposes or to
take account of a change in legislation} without obtaining shareholder
approval for that amendment.

Awards granted under the PSP may:

a) be granted as conditional share awards or nil-cost options or in
such other form that the Committee determines has the sarme
sconomic effect;

have any performance conditions applicable to them amended or
substituted by the Committee If an event oceurs which causes the
Committee to determine an amended or substituted performance
condition would be fair, reasonable and not be materially less
difficult to satisfy;

b

¢} incorporate the right to receive an amount equal to the value of
dividends which would have been paid on the shares under an
award that vest up to the time of vesting (or where the award
i subject to a holding period, release). This amount may be
calculated assuming that the dividends have been reinvested in
the Company's shares on a cumuiative basis;

be settled in cash at the Committee’s discretion. For Executive
Directors, this provision will only be used in exceptional
circurnstances such as where for regulatory reasons it is not
possible to settle awards in shares; and

d

==

be adjusted in the event of any variation of the Company’s share
capital or any demerger, delisting, special dividend or other event
that may materially affect the Company's share price.

&

Deferred bonus shares may be structured as conditional share
awards, nil-cost option or the delivery of shares subject to sale
rastrictions. In sach case, the parameters of the PSP set out above
will apply where applicable, save that shares subject to sales
restrictions will receive dividends rather than dividend equivalents.

Performance measures and targets

Annual bonus

The annual bonus performance measures are chosen to provide an
appropriate balance between incentivising Executive Directors to
meet financial targets for the year and to deliver specific strategic and
operational goals. The balance allows the Cormmittee to effectively
reward performance against key elements of cur strategy.

The bonus targets are set by the Committee each year 1o ensure that
Executive Directors are appropriately focused on the key objectives
for the next 12 months. Targets are set by reference to the Company’s
business plan.

Performance Share Plan

The performance measures under the PSP are set to align the
long-term strategy of the Company and long-term vaiue creation for
sharsholders. Measures for 2020 awards include the following:

— EPS growth - reflects the financial performance of the Company.
The Committee sets largets to be appropriately stretching, with
regard to a number of internal and external reference points.

= Reiative TSR — Tota! Shareholder Return (TSR) reflects
the Company's ultimate delivery of value to shareholders.
The Committee considers that this promotes alignment
between the interests of Executive Directors and the
shareholder experience.

- Cost synergies — reflects a key financial rationale for the acquisition
of OMNOVA. The Committee has set targets to drive additional
synergy benefits,

— Strategic measures — this element directly incentivises
management to deliver the Company’s key strategic priorities.

The Committee considers that this performance framework
represents an appropriate and balanced basis on which to measure
the performance of the Company.

Difference in policy for Executive Directors and other
employees

The remuneration policy for cur Executive Directors is designed in
accordance with the same principles that underpin remuneration
for the wider employee population. The wider employse group

also participates in performance-based incentives. Throughout the
Group, base salary and benefits levels are set in accordance with
the prevailing market conditions, Differences between Executive
Director pay policy and other employee pay reflects the seniority of
the individuals, the prevailing market conditions and the corporate
governance practices for Executive Director remuneration. The key
difference in policy is that for Executive Directors a greater proportion
of fotal remuneration is based on incentives.
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Non-Executive Director fees

Non-Executive
Director fees

The Board reviews Non-Executive Director fees annually. When reviewing fee levels, the Board may consider the
scope and time commitment of the role, the skills and experience of the individual, and fee levels at ather companies.

Non-Executive Directors do not participate in the determination of their own fees.

Non-executives are paid differential fee ievels based on their membership of Board commiittees, chairmanship
of Board cornmittees or role as Senior Independent Director and the time commitment required from them.
Additional fees may be paid to reflect additional Board or Committee responsibilities as appropriate.

Expenses incurred in the performance of Non-Executive Director duties for the Company rmay be reimbursed or paid
for directly by the Company, as appreptiate, including any tax due on the expenses.

Non-Executive Directors do not participate in incentive arrangements or receive pension or benefite. Non-significant
additional benefits may be introduced if considered appropriate.

Chairman fees

The Committee reviews Chairman fees annually. When reviewing fee levels, they may consider the scope and time

commitment of the role, the skills experience of the individual, and the fee levels at other companies. The Chairman
does not participate in the determination of the fee level.

Expenses incurred in the performance of duties for the Company may be reimbursed or paid for directly by the
Company, as appropriate, including any tax due on the expenses,

The Chairman does not participate in incentive arrangements or receive pension or benefits. Non-significant additional
benefits may be introduced if considered appropriate

Total fees to Nen-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, operate within the cap defined in the Articles of Association, currently £750,000

per annum.

Recruitment policy

Executive directors

The Committee would have regard to the following principles when
agreetng the components of a remuneration package upon the
recruitment of a new Executive Director:

— Base salary will be set taking into account the principles set out in
the policy table and may be set at a higher or lower leval than the
previous incumbent.

= The Committee may, on appointing an Executive Director, need
to ‘buy out' remuneration arrangemsents forfeited on leaving a
previous employer. Any buy out would take into account the terms
of the arrangements {e.g. form of award, performance conditions,
time frame) being forfeited in the previous package. The form of
any award would be determined at the time and the Committee
may, if necessary, make use of LR 9.4.2 of the Listing Rutes (for
the purpose of buy-out awards only). The overriding principle will
be that any replacement buy-out awards will, in the opinicn of the
Committee, be no more valuable than the entitlement which has
been forfeited.

= Annual bonus opportunity will be no more than the maximum set
out in the policy table. The Committee may determine that for the
first year of appointment the annual bonus award wil' be subject to
such conditions as it may determine.

= PSP apportunity will be no more than the plan rules maximum set
out in the policy table.

= The maximum variable pay opportunity on recruitment (excluding
buy-outs} is 350% of salary, consistent with the maximums in the
policy table above.

Other

For interim positions, a cash supplement may be paid rather than
salary (for example a Nen-Executive Director taking on an executive
function on a short-term basis}.

Where an executive is appointed from within the Company, the
normal policy of the Company is that any legacy arrangements
would be honoured in line with the original terms and conditions and
that they would be appointed on a new sarvice contract. Similarly,

if an Executive Director is appointed following the acquisition or
merger with ancther company, legacy terms and conditions would
ve honoured.
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Non-Executive Directors and Chairman

In the event of the appointment of a new Non-Executive Director
or Chairperson, remuneration arrangements witt be in {ine with the
principles detailed in the relevant table above.

Service contracts
The current contracts in place for Executive Directors are as follows:

Diractor Date of contract
C G Maclean 17 November 2014 .
S G Bennett 31 March 2015

There is no unexpired term as each of the Executive Directors’
contracts is on a rolling basis. Save in circumstances justifying
summary termination, the notice period for each of the above
contracts is one year. Service contracts for new executive directors
will be limited to 12 months’ notice. The Company may at the
Committee's discretion make a payment in lieu of notice equal to the
salary, pension contributions and contractual benefits that would have
been paid during the notice period. This payment may be made at the
Committee’s discretion as a lump sum or monthly instalments and
may be subject to mitigation if the Director finds an alternative position
during the notice period.

The Executive Directors are also entitled 1o 25 working days’ holiday
plus public holidays per calendar year.

All Non-Executive Directors are appointed in writing. Letters of
appointment de not include entitiement to participate in the
Company's share incentive plans or any other of its employee benefits
and do not currently have a notice period. The Company may add

a notice period of no more than three months. The Non-Executive
Directors are subject to annual re-election, There is no right to
compensation for loss of office if they are not re-elected or if the
Company terminates the appeintment because the non-executive

has accepted a position with another company without prior Board
approval and which the Board reasonably considers likely to give rise
to a material conflict. The pericd of appointment and the requirements
for re-election of Non-Executive Direciors are provided within the
‘Composition, Succession and Evaluation' section of the Governance
report on page 72.

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are available

for inspection at the Company’s registered office guring normal
business hours and will be available ai the AGM.



Policy on payment for loss of office
The Committee takes a number of factors into account when
determining leaving arrangements for an Executive Director:

— Where either party gives notice of the terrmination of an Executive
Director's employment, the Committee may make a payment
in lieu of notice for the putstanding period as described above.
Other than this provision, the oligation to pay accrued but
untaken holiday and as cutlined below regarding bonus and
the PSP, service contracts make no provision for pre-defined
compensation on termination.

—~ The Committee reserves the right to make any other payments
in connection with a Director’s cessation of office or employment
where the payments are made in good faith in discharge of an
existing legal obligation {or by way of damages for breach of such

= The Committee may award an annual bonus for leavers taking
into account the circumstances of departure. Any bonus would
normally be subject to performance and time pro-rating and would
not be made in circumstances of peor performance. Any such
benus wouid be in such proportions of cash and shares and
subject 10 such deferral arrangements as the Committee considers
appropriate in the circumstances.

= On cessation of employment, the Executive Director will retain
any deferred bonus shares and the deferred period will normally
continue 10 the original release date.

— The treatment of cutstanding PSP awards is governed by the
2011 PSP rules under which Executive Directors may currently
held awards in the forrm of share options or conditional rights to
receive shares.

an obligation) or by way of & compromise or setilement of any
claim arising in connection with the cessation of the Divector's
office or employment, Any such payment may include but is not
limited to paying any fees for outplacement assistance and/or the
Director's legal or professional advice fees in connection with his or
her cessation of office or ermployment.

Treatment for ‘other leavers’

Plan ‘Good leaver’ categories Treatment for ‘good leaver’
2011 Performance  — Death = Awards will vest subject to the — Unvested awards lapse in full
Share Plan achievermnent of periormance conditions

= Injury, ill-health or disability and {unless the Committee determines

otherwise) will be time pro-rated to reflect
the proportion of the vesting period that
has passed at the time of leaving.

— Transfer of employing
company or business outside
the Group

— Retirement with agreement of  — The vesting date for such awards

the Committes will normally be the original vesting
date, although the Committee may
determine that awards can vest upon the
cessation of employment (subject to the
assessment of any performancs condition).
Where unvested awards are subject to an
additional holding period, the Committae
will determine the extent to which the
holding period applies folfowing cessation.

= Redundancy

= Any other reason as
determined by the Committee

— Awards in the form of options that vest
early due to cessation of employment
may be exercisable until the earlier of (i}

12 months from the date of vesting, and (i)
the normal expiry of the exercise period.
Following this date, unexercised awards
will lapse.

— If the participant ceases employment after
the ncrmal vesting date, options may be
exercisable until the eariier of (i} 12 months
from the date of cessation, of (i) the normal
expiry of the exercise period. Following this
date, unexercised awards will lapse.

if an individual leaves holding vested PSP awards which are still subject to a holding period, the underlying shares will either be released at the
end of the original holding period, or at an earlier date determined by the Committee.

Where an award is made for the purpose of recruitment (for example a buy-out award) then the leaver provisions would be determined at the
time of award having regard to the circumstances of the recruitment, the terms of awards being bought out and the principles for leavers in
the current policy.

In the event of a change of control of the Company, unvested PSP awards will normally vest early and deferred bonus shares will normally
be released. The extent to which unvested PSP awards vest will be subject to achievement of the performance conditions (as determined

by the Committeg) at the time of the change of control and, unless the Committee determines otherwise, will be time pro-rated to reflect the
proportion of the vesting period that has elapsed at that time. In the event of an internal recrganisation, the Committee may determine that
awards are autematically surrendered for a new award which the Committee determines is equivalent to the surrendered award (including
as to any performance condition) except that it shall be over shares in the acquiring company or some other company.

In the event of a dernergar, special dividend or ather similar event which, in the opinion of the Committee, would materially affect the market
price of shares, the Committee may allow PSP awards to vest or deferred bonus shares to be released on the same basis as for a change

of control.
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

llustrations of application of remuneration policy

The following charts illustrate the different elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration under three different performance scenarios:
‘Minimum, ‘Target' ang *Maximum’. The assumptions used are provided below the charts. The illustrations are based on annual benus awards

for 2020 and PSP awards to be made in 2020.

C G MacLean S G Bennett
3,600,000 2,000,000
£3.1m £1.8m
3,000,000 16% 14%
£2.6m 1,600,000 £1.5m
2,500,000 39% 33% 33% 28%
2,000,000 1,200,000
£1.5m E?g,’“ 37% 32%

1,500,000 17% 33% 28% 800,000 .

259 ' 36%

c
1,000,000 £0.7m £0.4m
500000 100% 48% 28% 25% 400,000 400% 50% 30% 26%
O P - . - S ————

Minimum Target Maximum Max Minimum Target Maxirnum Max
+50% share +50% share
price growth price growth

Fixed Pay  Annual Bonus Fixed Pay  Annual Bonus
Performance Share Plan  50% share price growth Performance Share Plan  50% share price growth
Compenent Minimum Target Maximum Maximum + 5G% shars price
growth
Fixed Base salary Base salary for 2020
~ {C G MacLean: £580,246, S G Bennett: £368,831)
Pension Value of cash supplement for 2020
{C G Maclean: 137,891, § G Bennett: £73,767)
Benefits Taxable value of annual benefits provided in 2019
{C G MaclLean: £13,200, 8§ G Bennett: £17,820)
Variable Annual benus 0% of maximum 60% of maximum C G MaclLean: 150% of salary  Same as maximum
S G Bennett: 150% of salary
2011 PSP’ 0% vesting 25% vesting C G Maclean: 175% of salary Maximum plus 50%
S G Bennett: 135% of salary share price growth
Note:

1. The value for the PSP 1s based on the face value of annual awards under the Policy and base salaries for 2020. The calculation excludes share price growth or dividends during the

performance period other than where stated.
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Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2019

Operation of the Executive Director Remuneration Policy for 2020
The current Policy has been in force since 27 April 2017. Subject to approval of the new policy by shareholders at the AGM on 29 April 2020,

the specific remuneration arrangements for 2020 are described below.

Base salary

In order to reflect the substantial size and complexity differences of the Group from when the previous policy was
set, increases were awarded with effect from 1 January 2020 of 2.5% for the Chief Executive Cfficer and the Chief
Financial Cfficer on top of an increase in line with that for the average of the UK workforce, giving a total increase of
5.2% and 2020 salaries as follows:

— C G MacLean: £5680,246

= S G Bennett: £368,831

uodey nbeeng

Pension
and benefits

Executives receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions, car allowance and private health insurance.

Tnhe Committee reviewed pension provision for Executive Directors in light of the UK Corporate Governance Code
and shareholder expectations. The Chief Executive Officer's pension allowance has been frozen at its 2019 value (or
20% of salary if higher). In making this decision the Committee took inta consideration the views of our shareholders
as well as the existing contractua! commitments and considered that this approach struck an appropriate batance
between the two.

We have committed to align the pensions to the workforce average in the next policy aside from existing
contractual conditions,
2020 cash allowances in lieu of pension contributions are:

= C G MaclLean: £137,891
— S G Bennett: 20% of salary

Annual bonus

For 2020, performance under the annual bonus will be measured on the following basis:

= B0% subject to performance against Underlying profit before lax targets.

— 10% subject {0 performance measures against key SHE targets.

= 10% subject to performance against individual strategic and operational goals.

= Targets and objectives for 2020 are, by their financial and commercial hature, considered by the Board to
be unsuitable for disclosure in advance. However, the Committee will provide information on targets and
objectives retrospectively.

2020 maximum award opportunity:

— C G MaclLean: 150% of salary

= S G Bennett: 150% of salary L

Performance
Share Plan

For awards to be made in 2020, performance will be measured as foliows:
— 30% based on relative TSR performance versus FTSE 250 (exciuding investment trusts and financial
services companies):
- 25% of this element will vest for median performance.
- 100% vesting for upper-quartite performance.
- Vesting on a straight-line basis between these points.
— 30% based on Underlying EPS growth:
- 25% of this element will vest for EPS growth of 4.5% per annum,
- 100% vesting for EPS growth of 10% per annum.
- Vesting on a straight-line basis between these points.
— This target range was set following consideration of the long-term strategy and the outlook for the markets in
which we operate.
— 30% based on cost synergies related to the acquisition of CMNOVA!
— 10% based on réducticn of carbon dioxide eauivalent’

2020 maximum award opportunity:

— C G Mackbean: 175% of salary
~ 5 G Bennett: 135% of salary

Shareholding
guidelines
during employment

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are expected to build interests in shares of at feast 220%
and 175% of salary respectively within 5 years of appeintment.

Chairman and Nen-
Executive Directors

The fees to be paid in 2020 to the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors were reviewed in Novernber 2019 and
as a result:

— the Chairman’s fee was increased from £180,000 p.a. to £184,860 p.a. with effect from 1 January 2020;
= the fees for the Non-Executive Directors were increased by 2.7% with effect from 1 January 2020.

Note:

1. The targets for these measures, and the level achieved, will be disclosed following the end of the perfermance.

Synthomer pl¢ Annval Report 2019

95

BOURUIBADE)

SIBWIGIE]S [BLRY dnoJDy

s|uaWelRIS reoueLy Aueduos

UORBULONI 8L



Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued
The following information is audited:

Single figure of remuneration for Executive Directors

Base Annual Long-term
salary Benefits' bonus incentives? Pensicn Total
Year £ £ £ £ £ £
Executive Directors
C G Maclean 2019 551,665 13,200 137,89 58,998 137,891 899,545
2018 535,500 13,200 512,072 612,304 133,875 1,806,951
S G Bennett 2018 350,600 17,820 80,638 29,485 70120 548,663

2018 334,560 22,730 294323 306033 66,912 1,024,564

Notes:
1. Thisis the totel taxable value of benefits received by each Executive Director during the year The table below provides details of the main cornponent of the relevant benefits paid 1o

Executive Directors

2. Fer 2012 the values relate (o awards granted under the 2011 PSP and made n 2017 and which vest in May 2020. Further information about the level of vestmg 15 provided wn this report.
As these awards have not yet vested they have been valued hased on the average share price for the period 1 October 2619 to 31 December 2019 of 306p, along with accrued dividends
from the date of grant. There was no share price appreciation that impacted the value of the award and the Remuneration Committee did not exercise discretion in respect of the share
price changes.

3. 2016 PSP awards vested on B April 2019. For tha purpese of the 2018 single figure these awards were valued based on the average share price for the perod 1 Octobar 2018 to
31 Dacember 2018 of 399 7p. Thasa swards have bean re-valuad hased on tha share price on the datg of vesting of 389.4p, Tha values disciossd in tha 2018 singls igure ware. C G
MacLsan, £728,681 and § G Bennaett, £364 149, The share price used tc valua the awards on the date of grant of 11 April was 366.9p. The share price used to value the PSP for single
figure purpose of 389.4p represents an increase of 22.8p per share. The propertich of tha PSP value disclosed in the single figure attributable to share price growth was therefore 6.2%.
The Remuneration Committee did not exercise discration in respect of the share pnce changes.

Additional information for single figure remuneration
Benefits

Car
expenses/benefit Cthers Total
£ £ £
C G Maclean 13,200 - 13,200
S G Bennatt 16,700 1,120 17,820

Annual bonus

2019 award
For 2019 the Company operated a cash bonus plan for the Executive Directors related to the achievement of Underlying profit before tax

targets, SHE targsts and individual strategic and operational goals.

The achievement of the Underlying profit before tax target representsd up to 80% of the maximum bonus opportunity achievable of 125% and
115% of annual basic salary for C G MacLean and S G Bennett, respectivety.

The SHE targets were given a 10% weighting of the maximum achievable, with the balance of 10% relating to individual strategic and
operational goals.

Cveral! bonuses for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Maximum bonus  Total bonus as a Total bonus
Executive Directors as a % of salary % of maximurm N
C G Maclean 125 20 137,891
S G Bennett 115 20 80,638

During 2019 the Company has made significant progress against strategic objectives and has continued to expand with the announced
acquisition of OMNOVA. Financial performance, however, has been impacted by economic headwinds which has been reflected in the annual
bonus cutcomes for 2019, The Committee considered that the overail level of bonus was appropriate to reflect the strong progress on our
critical safety and strategic objectives during the year. No discretion was exercised in relation to the annual bonus ocutcome.
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Further information of the three elements of the bonus are as follows:

1. Underlying profit before tax (80%)
The Underlying profit before tax targets set and achievement are set out below:

Threshold Target Maximum Achievad?
Level of award (% of element) 0% 60% 100% 0%
Underiying profit before tax' £140.2m £147.6m £162.4m £113.4m

Notes:

1. Targets are set by reference to the Board approved internat budget for the Group and measured on a constant currency basis
2. For the purposes of calculating achieved Underhying profit before tax, adjustments were made for currency.

2. SHE {10%)

Targets with an aggregate weighting of 10% related to improvements in recordable injury and process safety.

Process safety

Target

Level of award

Recordable injury {fmeasured as

{measwred as process

} injury rate) safety event rate)
0.21 or less 0.16 or less

0% forarate 0% for arate

greater than  greater than

0.21; 0.16;

5% forarate 5% for arate

less than 0.21  less than 0.16

Rate achieved

.20 an

Award outcome

5% 5%

Further details of the definition and measurement of the recordable injury rate and the process safety incident rate are given on page 59.

3. Individual strategic and operational goals (10%)}
Individual goals and achievements against them considered by the Remuneration Committee with an aggregate weighting of 10% included:

Chief Exacutive Officer

Chief Financial Otficer

Target

1. Identification and where appropriate execution of
acquisition opportunities.

2. Management of the Pathway Programme.

3. Strengthening of leadership and
organisational capability.

1. Management of M&A processes.
2. Management of the Pathway Programme.

3. Management of investor relationships.

Levef of award

Up to 10%

Up to 10%

Performance against targets

1. OMNOVA acguisition delivered after a thorough
due diligence process and conservatively financed.

2. Pathway Programme continues to progress on time
and within budget.

3. Leadership crganisation strengthened in the
operational and finance functions.,

1. OMNOVA acquisition delivered after a thorough
due diligence process and conservatively financed.

2. Pathway Programme continues to progress broadly
on time ang within budget.

3. Delvery of investor relationship objectives for the
year in full.

Award outcome

10%

10%
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Additional information for single figure remuneration
Long-term incentives

2011 Performance Share Plan
The awards made on 4 May 2017 for C G MaclLean and for S G Bennett under the 2011 PSP were subject to a relative total shareholder return

performance condition, an absolute Underlying earnings per share performance condition and a strategic measures condition as follows:

Relative TSR condition EPS condition’
Company relative TSR EPS for the 2019 financial year Percentage of award that vests Performance achieved
performance against the FTSE 250

Index {excluding investment trusts

and financial services companies)

over three-year period ended

31 December 2019

Upper quartile 35.2 pence of more 40% EPS of 25,3 pence gives nil
Between mediar and Between 30.2 pence and On & straight-line basis between  vesting for that condition.

upper guartiie 35.2 pence 10% and 40% TSR parformance at the 70th
Median 30.2 pence 10% percentile gives vesting of 0% for
Below median Less than 30.2 pence 0% that condition.

1. The targets have been adjusted 10 take account of the bonus factor ot 1.0713 for the rights issue in 2019,

A further 20% of the award was subject to two equally weighted strategic measures:
- Percentage of Group sales (by volurme) in the 2019 financial year derived from new products launched in the five years ended

31 December 2019,

Mew product percerage’ Percentage of award that vests Percentage achieved
< 15% 0%
15% - 20% 2.5% - 10% 22% gives vesting of 10% of award.
> 20% 10%
Note:

1. Excluding volume atlributable to Manomers, where thers is no scope for new product development.

= Cumuiative Underlying Profit before tax (PBT) added through acquisitions for the three years ended 31 December 2019,

Cumulative PBT added through acquisitions Parcentage of award that vests Percentage achieved

< £43.3m 0%

£43.3rh — £86.5m 2.5% - 10% " ££43.3m gives vesting of 0% of the award.
> £86.5m ' 10%

In aggregate, 10% of the 2017 award vested. The Committee considered that this level of vesting is appropriate to reflect the strategic
progress delivered over the last three years while recognising the financial returns in 2018 which have been impacted by economic headwinds.

No discretion wags exercised.
The 2017 award will vest for C G MacLean and 5 G Bennett in April 2020 as follows:

Na. of shares
inoriginal Mo of shares No. of shares
award’ that lapse that vest
C G MacLean _ 173,162 155,846 17,316
8 G Bennett 86,548 77,894 8,654
Note.

1. Number of shares in oniginal award wera adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for the nghts issue in July 2019,

Overall, the Committee considers that the Remuneration Policy has operated as it intended during 2019 and that the pay cutcomes are aligned
with the experience of shareholders and other stakeholders.

Pension entitlements

Both Executive Directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions as outlined above. No additional benefit is receivable in the
evert of a Director retiring sarly.
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Singie figure of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors 2
Committes &
membership Committee ‘é
Non-Executive Directors Base fee fee chair foe Total =
N A Johnson 2019 180,000 - - 180,000 ‘g’_
2018 170,000 - - 170,000
The Hon, A G Catto 2018 41,200 - - 41,200
2018 40,000 - - 40,000
B W D Connolly’ 2019 45,000 15,000 5,000 65,000
2018 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000
brJd J C jansz 2019 40,000 15,000 - 55,000 o
2018 40,000 10,000 - 50,000 §
)
C A Johnstone 2019 40,000 15,000 5,000 60,000 §
2018 40,000 10,00C 5,000 55,000
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 2019 41,200 - - 41,200
2018 40,000 - - 40,000
H A Van Deursen? 2019 40,000 15,000 - 55,000
2018 11,000 - - 11,000
Notes: o
1. Base fee includes an amaunt of £5,000 per annum for role as Senior Independent Directar. g
2. Appointed to the Board on 21 Septermber 2018, 1;
E
Directors’ shareholding and share interests %
Total g
unisttered @
Vested iMerests in %
Interests in unegxercised shares and Unvasted Share Interests (5}
Company performance vestad performance optiens Share in shares at
shares related options opticns related options exarcised ownership 31 Dagcember
31 Decembar 31 December 31 December 31 Dacember during requirements 2019
Directors 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 (% of salary) {% of salary)
C G MacLean 606,504 ~ 606,504 584,430 157,243 200% 389 S
S G Bennett 153,662 - 153,662 294,150 78,591 150% 155 é
The Hon. A G Catto 1,614,239 2
7,072 447 g
B W D Conrolly 4000 7 S - -
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 55,953 §
DrJ.J C Jansz 12,500 §
N A Johnsen 125,000
C A Johnstone -
H A Vanh Deursen 6,250

Notes:
Non-beneficial interest

1. Unvested performance related options comprise the awards made under the 201t PSP in 2017, 2018 and 2018 and have been adjusted 1o take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for
the rights issue in 2018, Details of the performance conditions attaching 1o the 2017 awards are set out on page 98; 2018 and 2015 awards are set out balow.

2. Until this requirement is met, no sales of shares that vest under iIong-term incentive plans are permitled other than to satisty tax abiities that anse on the exarcise of share awards under
such plans. The Committee considers that unfeltered unexsercised vested nil-cost awards are sconomically squivalent to shares and as such that they should count {on a net of tax basis)
toward compliance with the share ownership guidelines, The share ownership requirements will increass 10 220% for the Chief Executive Officer and 175% for the Chief Financial Officer
with effect from the approval of the new remuneration policy

2018 awards

The performance conditions attaching to the PSP awards granted in 2018 are as follows:

Refative TSR condition

EPS condition!

Company relative TSR performance against the FTSE
250 Index {exciuding investment trusts and financial
services companies} over three-year period ending

31 December 202

EPS for the 2020 financial year

Percentage of award that vests

Upper quartile

40.7 pence or more

40%

Between median and upper guartile

Between 34.9 pence and 40.7 pence

On a straight-line basis

between 10% and 40%

Median

34.9 pence

10%

Beiow median

Less than 34.9 pence

Q%

Note:

1. The targets have beaen adjusted to take account of the nights issue in 2019,

A further 20% of the award is subject 1o strategic measures including ROIC, the targets for which will be disclosed following the end of the

parfermance peried.
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

2019 award
The awards made on 11 March 2019 to C G MaclLean and S G Bennett were as follows:
Percantage
vasting at Performance
threshold pencd
Scheme Basis of award  Number of shares” Face value performance end date
C G MacLean 2011 PSP - nii—cost options 150% of salary 235,069 £886,304 25% 31/12/2021
S G Bennett 2011 PSP - nil—cost options  120% of salary 119,536 £450,699 25% 31/12/2021

Nota:

1. Number of shares in original award were adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for the rights issue in 2019.

The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 377.04 pence per share, the average share price on the five dealing days
prior to ihe date of grant.

The awards made on 11 March 2019 under the PSP are subject to the following performance conditions:

Relative TSR condition EPS condition'

Company relative TSR performance against the EPS for the 2021 financial year Percentage of award that will vest

FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts and

financial services companigs) over three-year
period ending 31 December 2021

Upper quartile 40.7 pence or more 40%

Between median and upper quartile Between 34.9 pence and 40.7 pence  On a straight-line basis
between 10% and 40%

Median 34.9 pence 10%

Below median Less than 34.9 pence 0%

Nete:

1. The targets have been adjusted to take account of the rights issue in 2019

A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures including ROIC, the targets for which will be disclosed following the end of the
performance period:

Payments to past Directors
No payments were made to past directors.

Payments for loss of office
No payments for loss of office were made during the year.

The following information is unaudited:

Performance graph and table
The graph and the table below allow comparison of the TSR of the Cempany and the Chief Executive Officer remuneration outcomes over the

last terr years.
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— Synthomer plc -==-- FTSE 250 {excluding investment and financial services companies)

The graph above compares the TSR performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 250 (excluding investment and financial services
companies) which is considered to be the most appropriate index against which to make a comparison and was chosen because it represents
a broad eduity market index of which the Company is a constituent.

2010 20M 202 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
CEQ fotal single figure of rermnuneration (£000} 1,484 3,934 1,487 923 967 1,246 1,218 2,516 1,023 900
Banus (% of maximum awarded) 100 100 27 C 57.3 96.7 100 160 76.5 20.0
PSP (% of maximum vesting) 100 100 100 50 0 n/a n/a 96.3 86.2 10.0

The Chief Executive Officer total single figure of remuneration inciudes salary, benefits and pension contributions paid in the year together with
bonuses and fong-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in the year.
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CEO to all employee pay ratio
The following table provides pay ratio data in respect of the CEQ's total remuneration compared to the 25th, median and 75th

percentile employee.

25th percantile Median 75th percentile
Financial year Method pay ratic pay ratra pay ratio
2019 Option B 28:1 231 161

The employees used for the purposes of compiling the table above were identified on a full-tire equivalent basis as at the pay period during
which 5 April 2019 fell. Option B, which involves identifying the employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile from our gender pay gap
report, was chosen as the calculation methodology.

uodey a16elesg

Option B was considered tc be the most simple and accurate way of identifying the relevant employees. Using this methodology we were able )
to identify specific employees to make the required comparisons. g
The definition of pay used included: §
H
= Annual salary
= Overtime and extra pay
— Car allowances
= All other cash allowances
= All bonuses and incentive scheme payments
= Private medical insurance value g
el
The value of company cars has been excluded from the data. The UK car scheme is closed to new entrants and very few employees are now 2
provided with a car, the scheme will close completely within the next 12 months as remaining leases expire. The CEO is not provided with a 3
company funded car. ;j
g
The following table provides salary and total remuneration information in respect of the employees at each guartile. %
25th percentile Median T5th percentile %
Financial year Element of pay employee employee employee
Salary £33,387.36 £40,893.24 £57,656.19
2019 Total remuneration £38,069.57 £45,012.30 £62,918.72

In future years we wili provide context to any changes in the ratios by setting out a table showing changes over time and narrative
explaining them.

Cur CEC pay is made up of a higher proportion of incentive pay than that of the majority of our employees. This is likely to introduce more
variability in the CEQ total compensation.

The Beard have confirmed that the ratios is consistent with the Company’s wider palicies on employee pay, reward and progression.

Percentage change in remuneration of Director undertaking the role of Chief Executive Officer compared with UK Group
employees
The table beiow sets out the increase in total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer ang that of ihe employees of the Group’s main UK
trading subsidiary. Total employee pay is based on the total salary, benefits and bonuses for employees of that company, comprising some
390 employees. The Directors consider that this employee population is the most relevant for comparison purposes, taking into account
geographical location and rermuneration structure.

Taxable banefits

Salary % increase/ Annual bonus

% Incregase {decraase) % decreasse

C G Maclean 3 - (73)
4 9 (80)

Total employee pay, benefits and bonuses

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the reiative importance of the Group’s all employee remuneration expense compared with returns to sharehoigers by

way of dividends.
2019 2018

£m £m % change
Dividends 47.9 42.5 12.7%
115.5 1231 (6.2)%

Total employee remuneration

Dividends are the dividends paid in the year. Total employment remuneration is the consolidated salary cost for all Group employees.

2019 2018
Emoluments’ £000 £000
The total amounts for Directors' remuneration and other benefits were:
Emoluments 1,649 2138
Note:

1. Emoluments are recognised on a pro-rata basis for the period that Directors held their posts.
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Governance

Directors’ Remuneration report continued

External appointments
Executive Directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board, provided that there is no adverse

impact 1o their role and duties 1o the Company. Any fees arising from such appointrnents may be retained by the Executive Directors where
the appointment is unrelated to the Group's business. § G Bernett does not currently hold any external appointments. C G MaclLean was
appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Saudi Basic Industries (SABIC), headquartered in Riyadh, in October 2017 and receives a board
membership fee of $157,500 per annum anrd a committee fee of SAR 259,000 per annum. Mr MacLean was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of Clariant Lid on 16 October 2018 following his nomination by SABIC under the terms of the governance agreement between Clariant
and SABIC, and receives a fee of CHF 280,000 per annum in aggregate for board and committee roles in relation to Clariant Limited,

Remuneration Committee
Rermuneration Committee membership since 1 January 2019:

B w D Connolly Chair

JJ C Jansz
C A Johnstone
H A Van Daursen

Attendance at Committee meetings is set out on page 83.

Key duties of the Committee

During 2019 the Committeée was respensible for determining, ir agreement with the Board, the Company’s policy on executive remuneration
and the specific remuneration for the Chairman and each of the Executive Directors, including pension rights, within the terms of the agreed
policy. The Committee was also responsible for the specific remuneration of all senior management and reviewing remunération elsewhere in

the Group.

Advisers
The Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary, President — Global HR and Group HR Director are invited to attend Committee meetings to

contribute to the Commiittee in its deliberations. However, no individual is involved in discussions, or is part of any decisions, relating to their
own remunaration.

The Committee received independent advice from Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) which was appointed as the Committee’s independent remuneration
adviser in April 2013.

Dring the year, Deloitte provided advice on governance and market trends and other remuneration matters that materially assisted the
Committee. The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalied £22,100 for advice in
2019. The Committee is comfortable that the Deloitte engagement tearn that provides remuneration advice to the Committee do not have
connections with the Company or its Directors that may impair their independence. The Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of
interest and judged that there were appropriate safeguards against such conflicts. Deloitte also provided tax services to part of the Group in the
year. The Cammittee was satisfied that this did nct compromise the independence of the advice received.

Deloitte is a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its code of conduct. Deleitte was appointed directly by
the Committee, and the Committee is satisfied that the advice received was objective and independent.

Statement of voting at the AGM
The table below sets out the results of the votes on the Directors’ remuneration at the 2016 AGM (Annual Report) and the 2017 AGM (Directors’

Remuneration Policy).

Voles for Voles againsl wotes wilhheld 3
Number % of vote Number % ot votse Nurnber
2019 Annual Report on Remuneration 260,223,551 99 3,789,718 1 32,481
2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy 265,001,288 99 1,980,697 1 1,657,331
By order of the Board
R Atkinson
Company Secretary

5 March 2020
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Repart of the Directors

The Directors submit their Annual Report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, None of

the matters required to be disclosed by Listing Ruie 9.8.4R apply to the Company other than the amount of capitalised interest (see Firancial
Statements note 2), details of Jong-term incentive schemes {see Directors’ Remuneration report {pages B3 10 102) and shareholder waiver

of dividends {see Financial Statements note 31). The Directors’ Report comprises pages 103 to 104 and the following sections of the Annual

Report which are incorporated by reference:

Item {ocation in Annual Report

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities Page 105

Financial risk management Financial statements - note 22
Present membership of the Board Pages 64 to 65

Corporate Governance report Pages 66 to 73

Strategic report {inciuding principal activities} IFC to 83

Management risk and Viability statement Pages 3010 37

Pages 53 to 55
Pages 83 to 102
Financial statements — note 27

Employee engagement
Directors’ Remuneration report

Share capital
Greenhouse gas emissions Pages 60 to 63
ESG report Pages 46 to 63

Resuits and dividends
The profit attributable to sharehclders for the year was £84.6m. The interim dividend of 4.0 pence per share was paid on 5 Novernber 2019

The Directors recommend a final ordinary dividend of 6.9 pence per share payable on 7 July 2020 to those shareholders registered at the
close of business on 5 June 2020. A dividend reinvestment plan is available to sharehotders and this alternative will continue to be offered until

further notice,

Acquisitions and Disposals
On 3 July 2019 the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries Spirit USA Holdings Inc and Synthomer USA LLC signed an agreement and
plan of merger with OMNOVA Soiutions Inc {OMNOWVA) on the terms of a recommended acquisition of the entire issued and to-be-issued share

capital of OMNOVA at a price of $10.15 per OMNOVA share.

Directors
Al the Dirgctors will retire and will be seeking election or re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors seeking re-election has a service contract other than C G MaclLean and S G Bennett, who each have a service contract
which contains a twelve month notice period.

Director indemnity provisions

Linder the Company's Articles of Association, the Directors of the Company have the benefit of a qualifying third-party indemnity provision
which provides that they shall be indemnified by the Company against certain liabilities as perrmitted by Sections 232 and 234 of the
Companies Act 2006 and against costs incurred by them in relation te any liability for which they are indemnified. The Company has purchased

and maintains insurance against Directors’ and cofficers’ liabilities in relation to the Company.

Share capital and control
On 30 July 2019 the Company issued 84,970,192 new ordinary shares of 10p each in accordance with the terms of a rights issue on a 1 for 4
basis at a price of 240 pence per new share. During 2019 ro shares were repurchased. A total of 73,842 shares were purchased on the open

market on behalf of the shareholders who elected to participate in the dividend reinvestment plan.

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company's ordinary shares, being the only class of issued share capital, as well as the powers of
the Company's Directors, are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association, copies of which can be obtained from Companies House or can
be downloaded from the Company’s website www.synthemer.com. There are no restrictions on the voting rights attaching to the Company's
ordinary shares or on the transfer of securities in the Company. No person hoids securities in the Company carrying special righis with regard
to the control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements between holders of securities that may result in restrictions

of the transfer of securities or on voting rights. Unless expressly specified 1o the conirary in the Articies of Association of the Company, the
Company's Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution of the Company's shareholders.

Other than in relation to its borrowings which, unless certain conditions are satisfied, become repayable on a takeover, the Company is not
party to any significant agreements that would take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of contro! following a takeover bid. The Company
does not have agreements with any Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or employment resulting from

a takeover.

All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions relating to a change of control, Qutstanding options and awards would normally vest
and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Major shareholdings
Other than the shareholdings disclosed as Directors’ interests in the Directors’ Remuneration report as at 21 February 2020, the Company had

been notified under Section 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority of the following significant holdings of voting
rights in its ordinary shares:

Qrdinary Percentage af ordinary
shares (numbar} shares in issue Nature of holding
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Berhad Group 85,424,250 201 Direct interest
Standard Life Aberdeen plc 26,390,337 B8.21 Indirect interest
Merian Global Investers (UK) Limited 25,096,134 5.91 Indirect interest
Kames Capital Pl 14,117,612 3.32 Direct and indirect interest
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Governance

Report of the Directors continued

Employment policies and employee involvement

The Group gives every consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons. Employees who become disabled are given every
opportunity to continue emnployment under normal terms and conditions with appropriate training, career development and promaotion wherever
possibie. The Group seeks to achieve equal opportunities in employment through recruitment and training policies.

The Group encourages employee involvement in its affairs. Dialogue takes place regularly with employees to make them aware of the financial
and economic factors affecting the performance of the Group. Performance related bonus schemes are in operation throughout the Group.
Alex Catto has been designated as the Non-Executive Director responsible for gathering the views of the workforce and further information on
the Board's workforce engagement methods are on page 54, The Group's approach to diversity and inclusion is on page 55.

Authority to purchase own shares

The Company has a general authority, which expires at the conclusion of the 2020 AGM, to make market purchases of not more than
33,988,076 of the Company’s ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the special rescolution passed at the 2079 AGM. A resolution will
be tabled at the 2020 AGM to renew this authority for an amount representing approximately 10% of the Company's issued share capital as at

4 March 2020.

Political donations
No political donations were made in the year.

UK pension funds
The trustees have reviewed the independent investment management of the assets of the Company pension schemes in the UK and assured

themselves of the security and controls in place. In particular, it is the trustees’ pelicy not to invest in Synthomer plc shares nor lend money to
the Company.

Subsidiaries
All the Group's subsidiarias, joint ventures and related undertakings are listed on pages 152 1o 153,

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditor
Each Director of the Company confirms thai, so far as he or she is aware, there s no refevant audit information of which the Company's auditor

is unaware and that he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order 1o make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. For these purposes, refevant audit
information means information needed by the Company's auditor in connection with preparing its report on pages 106 to 110.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Going concern
The Directors have acknowledged the latest guidance on going concern and in reaching their conclusions have taken into account factors

which include {j) the refinancing irt July 2018 of the Group's main borrowing facilities described on page 134, comprising a committed
unsecured four-year revolving credit facility of €440 million and (i) the putting in place of new financing facilities conditional on the completion
of the acquisition of OMNOVA and comprising a $260 million term loan on €460 million RCF with five year terms ending on 3 July 2024 and

a €520 million acquisition financing bridging factlity. The bridging facility is available for 75 months from July 2019 and may be extended for
two periods of six months. After making enquiries and taking account of reasonably pessible changes in trading performance, the Directors
are satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements of both the Group and the Company.

Cautionary statement
The purpose of this report is to provide information to the members of the Company. It contains certain forward-looking statements with

respect to the operations, performance and financial condition of the Group. By their nature, these staternents involve uncertainty since future
events and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materially from those anticipated. The forward-iooking statements
reflect knowledge and informaticn available at the date of preparation of this report and the Company undertakes no cbligation to update these
forward-looking staternents. Nothing in this report should be construed as a profit forecast.

Independent auditors
A resolution to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held at the offices of the Company at 45 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5JG on 29 April 2020 at 11.00 am.

By order of the Board

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
5 March 2020
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Qirectors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as adopted by the European Union and
Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the
financial staternents uniess they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit
or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

— state whether applicabie IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed for the Group financial statements and United
Kingdorn Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company financial statements, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financiaf statements;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

— prepare the financial statements on the geing concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will continue
in business.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company's website, Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations
The Directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the

information necessary for sharehclders to assess the Group and Company's position and performance, business model and strategy.
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Report of the Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

= the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law), give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabiiities, financial positicn and profit of the Company;

= the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

-~ the Report of the Directors includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and
Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

By order of the Board

C G MaclLean S G Bennett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Group financial statements
Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Synthomer plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

= Synthomer plc’s group financial statements and company financial statements {the “financial staterments”) give a true and fair view of the
state of the group’s and of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended,

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as
adopted by the European Urion;

— the company financial staternents have been properly prepared in accerdance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial staterments, included within the Annua! Report, which comprise: the consolidatad and company balance sheet

as at 31 December 2019; the consoligated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash

fiow statement, and the consclidated and company staternents of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial

staternents, which include a description ot the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We condutted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) {(18As {UK)"} and applicable law. Our responsivilities
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of cur report. We believe

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apprepriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are refevant to our audit of the financial statements

in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable 1o listed public interest entities, and we have fulfiled our cther ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Ta the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the
group or the company.

Other than those disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the company in the
period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019,

Our audit approach
Overview

= Overall group materiality: £5.810,000 (2018: £6,750,000), based on 5% of underlying profit
before taxation.

— QOverall company materiality: £3,500,000 (2018: £5,500,000), based on 2% of total assets.

= Audit procedures provide coverage of 89% of revenue, 94% of operating profit and 95% of underlying
operating profit.

= Audit scope covers eight countries, performing procedures over 14 entities.

= Financially significant components in the UK, Germany and Malaysia.

= Valuation of defined benefit pension fiabilities.

= Provisions for uncertain tax positions.

The scape of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.
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Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-cornpliance with laws and reguiations
related to breaches of environmental, health and safety and competition reguiations, tax legislation and equivalent local laws and regulations
applicable to significant component teams, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the
financial statements. We aisc considered those laws and regutations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements
such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fravdulent manipulation of the financial
staternents {including the risk of override of controis}, and determined that the principal risks were relaled to posting inappropriate journal
entries to increase revenue and management bias in accounting estimates. The group engagement team shared this risk assessment with
the component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures
performed by the group engagement team and/or component auditors included:

= Discussions with management and internal audit, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and

regulation and fraud;

= Evaluation of managerment’s controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

— Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to
provisions for uncertain tax positions and the valuation of defined benefit pension liabifities (see related key audit matters pelow);

— ldentifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations or posted by

senior management.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations

is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may invelve deliberate
cancealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors' professional judgement, were of mast significance in the audit of the financial
staternents of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest etfact on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit;
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon,
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion ¢n these matters. This is not a complete fist of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of Defined Benefit Pension Liabilities

As set out in Note 26, the Group has significant defined benefit
pension schemes. These primarily represent the Yule Catto Group
retirement benefits scheme in the UK and an unfunded scheme

in Germany, which account for £55.7 million and £73.4 million,
respectively, of the net pension deficit of £140.0 million recorded
on the Group balance sheet at the year end. We focused on

the pension liabilities as the amounts reflected in the financial
statements for defined benefit scheme liabilities are sensitive

to relativety small changes in a few key assumptions such as

the inflation rate, mortality tables and the discount rate applied.
The Group uses third-party actuaries to calculate the amounts

te reflect in the financial statements in respect of these schemes’
liabilities and accoerdingly it is important for us to assess the work
they perform and their competency to undertake the work in order
to conclude on the results of their work.

We obtained external actuaria! reports of the UK and German schemes
which set out the calculations and assumptions underpinning the year
end pension scheme liabilities valuation. We read these reperts and
held discussions with the external actuaries and were satisfied that the
scope of their work was such that we could use this work to provide
evidence for the purpose of our audit. We assessed the competency
and objectivity of the external actuaries commissioned by the Group

to perform the year end calculations by considering their technical
expertise and independence from the Group. We identified no concerns
over their competancy or objectivity. We used our own specialist
actuarial knowledge to evaluate ail the key assumptions used in each of
the two schemes by comparing these assumptions to our expectations
for similar schemes as at the year end. We found management’s
assumptions to be within an acceptable range.

Provisions for Uncertain Tax Positicns

The Group has a wide geographic footprint and is subject to a range
of tax laws in a number of different tax jurisdictions. In determining
the amount to record at the year-end for tax liabilities there is an
element of judgement as to what amounts will ultimately be payable
for assessed tax exposures. As set out in Note 10 at 31 December
2019, the Group has recorded current tax liabilities totalling

£38.7 million. A significant element of this tax liability relates to
uncertain tax positions. We focused on this area due to the size of
the amounts invalved and level of judgement needed 1o determing
the estimated provisions,

We used our tax specialists to assess the level of provisions heid
against various tax exposures and to consider the appropriateness
of any provisions. In our assessment we had regard to the nature of
the individual exposures, inchuding their origin, and any developments
in the year to assess the rationale for their continued validity at the
current year end, As part of this work we inspected correspondence
with tax authorities and the Group's tax advisors. We challenged

the judgements made by assessing individual provisions against our
expectaticns of potential exposures, having regard t¢ the facts of each
case. No significant issues arose from this work to suggest that the
judgernents made and arncunts recerded were inappropriate.

We delermined that there were no key audit matters applicable to the company to communicate in our report.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we perfoermed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate.
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Group financial statements
Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

As set out on the inside front cover the Group reports its results as three segments: 'Performance Elastomers’, ‘Functional Solutions’, and
‘Industrial Specialities’. The Group financia! statements are a consolidation of reporting units, being holding companies, intermediate holding
companies and operating companies, across 21 countries. Three countries, being the UK, Germany and Malaysia, account for the majority for
the Group's results. We accordingly focused our work on three of the reporting units in these countries, which were subject to audits of their
cemplete financial information. In addition, to increase our coverage of the Group's revenues and underlying profit betore tax we performed
audit procedures at an additional 10 reperting units located in the UK, italy, Belgium, Germany, Malaysia, Finland, the Netheriands and the
Czech Republic. These components accounted for 89% of the Group'’s revenue, 84% of the Group’s operating profit and 95% of the Group’s
underlying operating profit.

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvermnent we needed te have in the audit work at those
reporting units to be able to ¢onclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group
financial statements as a whole. During the audit, senior members of the Group team held a nurmber of meetings with the audit teams at the key
reporting units in the UK, Germany and Malaysia and reviewed the work performed by these teams over those areas of higher audit risk.

Materiality
The scope of cur audit was infiuenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together

with qualitative considerations, hbelped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of cur audit precedures on the
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the

financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group Ninancial statements Company financial statements
QOverall materiality £5,810,000 (2018: £6,750,000}. £3,600,000 (2018: £5,500,000).
How we determined it 5% of underlying profit before taxation. 2% of total assets.
‘ We believe that underlying profit before We believe that total assets is the primary

taxation, being profit before tax adjusted for ~ measure used by the shareholders in assessing
special dems, is a key metric against which the the performance of the company, and is &
Group's financial perforrance is measured in - generally accepted benchmark. This has
the Chairman’s and CEQ’s statements within  been capped at a level beiow that of the
the Annual Report. Itis also a key metric group matetiality.

Rationale for benchmark applied for investors.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range of
materiality allocated across components was between £300.000 and £3,500,000. Certain camponents were audited 1 a local statutory audit
materiality that was also less than our overal! group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £290,000 (Group audit)
(2018: £337,000) and £290,000 (Company audit) {2018: £337,000) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in cur view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
In accordance with ISAs {(UK) we report as foilows:

Reporting obligation Outcome
We are required to report if we have anything material to add or We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.
draw attention to in respect of the Directors’ statement in the However. bacau ot all future events or conditions can be predicted
financial statements about whether the Directors considered it this sta?e'm ent issneorl]a ualrJa:tee as tc? the group’s and com Zn ; '
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in o e que group pany

. ) N . R . ahility to continue as a going cencern, For example, the terms of the
preparing the financia! statements and the Directors’ identification of ) | . .

. L , \ o United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union are not clear,

any malerial uncertainties to the group's and the company's ability L AT

. ) . and it is difficult to evaiuate all of the potential implications on the
to continue as a going concern over a peariod of at least twelve rouo's trade, Custorners. suppliers and the wider econom
months from the date of approval of the financial staternents. group & » SUpR Y-
We are required to report if the Directors’ statement relating We have nothing to report.

to Geing Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is
materially inconsistent with our knowledge ottained in the audit. N B B
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Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial staterents and our auditors’ report thereon.

The Directors are responsibie for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informatior and, in doirg so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obitained in the audit, or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated. if we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statemants or a materiai misstatement of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors” Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CAQE), ISAs
(UK} and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authoerity (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below
(required by ISAs (UK} uniess otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirernents. {CAQE)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstaternents in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The Directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency

or liquidity of the group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

= The Directors’ confirmation on page 73 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the
group, including thosea that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.

— The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

— The Directors’ explanation on page 37 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period they
have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the group will be able to continue in operation and mest its liabilities as they fall due over the pericd of their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the Directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust agsessment of the principai
risks facing the group and statement in relation to the fonger-term viability of the group. Cur review was substantially less in scope than an

audit and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the Directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the statements
are in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the "Code™); and considering whether the statements

are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit.

{Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when:

~— The statement given by the Directors, on page 105, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and
understandabie, and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group's and cormpany’s position and performance,
business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the group and company cbtained in the course of performing
our audit.

- The section of the Annual Report on pages 74 o 81 describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

— The Directors' statement relating to the company’s compliance with the Code dees not properly disclose a depariure from a reievant
provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors' Remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 1o be audited nas been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act

20086. {CA0G)
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Group financiat siatemants
independent auditors’ report continued
o the members of Synthomer plc

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements
As axplained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilitios in respect of the financial statements, the Directors are responsibie for the

preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for baing satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 10 enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from materfal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial staterments, the Direciors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company's ability 1o continue as a going
concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters retated to going concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the Directors
etther intend 1o liguidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Cur objectives are to obtaih reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from rnaterial misstatement,
whather due to fraud or error, and {0 issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial staternents.
A further description of our responsibiiities for the audit of the financial statements is ocated on the FRC's website at: wwwifrc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilittes. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of

Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assurme responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where axpressly agreed by our prior

consent in writing.
Other required reporting

Companies Act 2008 exception raporting
Under the Companles Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and sxplanations we require for our audit; or

- adequate accounting records nave not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
riot vigited by us; or

= certain disclosures of Directors’ ramuneration specified by law are not made; of

= the company financial statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Repart to be audited are not in agresement with the
accounting records and reiurns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
Appointment

Foliowing the recommendation of the audit commities, we were appointed by the Directors on 12 July 2012 to audit the financial staternents
for the year ended 31 Degember 2012 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 8 years, covering the

years ended 31 December 2012 to 31 December 2019,

Matthew Mullins {Senlor Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountarts and Statutory Auditors
London

5 March 2020
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2018 2018
Ungerlying Special Underlying Special
performance temns IFRS performance ttems IFRS
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,459.1 - 1,459.1 1,618.9 - 1,618.9
Company and subsidiaries befare Special ltems 124.9 - 124.9 141.7 - 1417
Acquisition costs 4 - (9.2) (9.2) - {0.5) {0.5)
Restructuring and site closure 4 - {0.8) {0.8) - (12.2) (12.2)
Foreign exchange gain on rights issue 4 - 3.5 3.5 - - -
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 4 - (8.7) (8.7} - (16.4) {(16.4}
Sale of business 4 - - - - 3.8 a8
Sale of land 4 - - - - 16.4 18.4
Aborted bond costs 4 - - - - (1.7} (1.7)
UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation 4 - - - - {2.8) 2.8)
Company and subsidiaries 124.9 (15.2) 109.7 141.7 (13.4) 128.3
Share of joint ventures 18 0.9 - 0.9 0.4 - 4
Operating profit/{loss) 6 125.8 {15.2) 110.6 1421 (13.4) 128.7
Interest payable 9 (6.7} - {6.7) (4.9) - 4.9
Interest receivabile 9 0.9 - 0.9 1.1 - 1.1
Fair value loss on unhedged interest derivatives 4 - {0.5) (0.5) - {1.4) (1.4)
{5.8) {0.5) {6.3) (3.8} {1.4) (5.2)
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 9 2.7} - {2.7) 3.2) - {3.2)
Intarest element of lease payments <] (1.1 - 1.1 - - -
Finance costs {9.6) {0.5) (10.1) (7.0} (1.4) 8.4)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 116.2 (18.7) 100.5 13541 (14.8) 120.3
Taxation 10 (16.3) 14 (14.9) {23.0) 6.0 (17.0)
Profit/{loss) for the year 99.9 (14.3} 85.6 1121 {8.8) 103.3
Profit attibutable te non-controlling interests 0.4 0.6 1.0 0.5 3.0 3.5
Profit/{loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 99.5 {14.9) 84.6 111.6 (11.8) 998
99.9 {14.3) 85.6 121 {8.8) 103.3
Earnings/{loss) per share
-- Basic 13 25.3p {3.8)p 21.5p 30.7p (3.3)p 27.4p
— Diluted 13 25.2p {3.8)p 21.4p 30.5p (3.2p 27.3p
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Group financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Equlty Non- Equity Non-
holders of  controiling holders of controling
ths parent Interests Total tha parent interests Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Profit for the year 84.6 1.0 85.6 99.8 3.5 103.3
Actuarial {losses)/gaing 26 {27.2) - {27.2) 15.5 - 15.5
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 10 4.7 - 4.7 (2.3) - (2.3}
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or ioss {22.5) - (22.5) 13.2 - 13.2
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {15.3) (0.4) {15.7) 16.9 0.8 17.7
Exchange differences recycled on sale of business - - - {0.4) - 0.4)
Fair value loss on hedged interest derivatives 27 {8.7) - 8.7 {3.9) - 3.9
Losses on net investment hedges taken to equity 27 (1.9) - (1.9} 3.2 - 3.2)
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss {25.9) (0.4} (26.3) 9.4 0.8 10.2
Other comprehensive (expense}/income for the year {48.4) {0.4) (48.8) 226 0.8 23.4
Total comprehensive income for the year 36.2 0.6 36.8 122.4 4.3 126.7
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Hedging
Capital and Non-
Share Share redemption translation Rstained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve sarnings Total interests equity
Note £m Em £m £m £m Em £m £m
At 1 January 2019 34.0 230.5 0.9 6.4 1921 463.9 211 485.0
Profit for the year - - - - 84.6 84.6 1.0 85.6
Cther comprehensive expense for the year = - - (25.9) {22.5) {48.4} (0.4) {48.8)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (25.9) 62.1 36.2 0.6 36.9
Dividends 12 - - - - (47.9} {47.9) (0.6} (48.5)
Issue of shares 27 8.5 190.6 - - - 199.1 - 199.1
Share-based payments - - - - {1.9) {1.9) - (1.9}
At 31 December 2019 42.5 4211 0.9 (19.5) 204.4 649.4 21.1 670.5
Hedging
GCapital and Non-
Shara Share redemption translation Retained controling Total
capital premium reserve reserve Barnings Total interests equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 (3.0) 126.5 387.9 18.3 408.2
Profit for the year - - - - 89.8 99.8 3.5 103.3
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 9.4 13.2 226 08 23.4
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 9.4 113.0 122.2 4.3 126.7
Dividends 12 - - - - (42.5) (42.5) (1.5) 44.0)
Share-based payments - - - - (3.9 (3.9 - (3.9}
At 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 09 6.4 1921 463.9 211 485.0
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Note £m £m
Non-current sssets o
Goodwill 14 324.4 3365
Acquired intangible assets 15 56.8 69.1
Other intangible assets 16 22,0 54
Property, plant and eqguipment 17 404.9 3700
Deferred tax assets 1 228 234
Investment in joint ventures . — B, 185 86
Total non-current assets - ) o o Bisa 8127
Current assets
Inventories 19 12219 1419
Trade and other receivables 20 190.6 2329
Cash and cash equivalents 21 103.6 96.9
Derivative financial instruments . o . 2 49 -
Total current assets L e ) » 421.0 4Nz
Totalassets o N . ) : 1,259.4' 1,%
Currentlabllites T
Borrowings 21 - (70.1)
Trade and other payables 24 {232.9) (263.2)
Leass liabilities 23 {7.5) -
Current tax liabilities 10 {38.7) (38.3}
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 4.9} 9.4
Derivative financial instruments _ B L 22 {14.3} _ By
Total current liabilities o _ {298.3) (386.3)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 (82.9) (240.8}
Trade and other payables 24 0.5) {0.7)
Lease liabilities 23 {(34.4) -
Defarred tax liabifities 11 (30.8) (34.3)
Retirement benefit obligations 26 (140.0) {132.5)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges _ o 25 (2.0 @.8)
Total non-current liabilities = e o (290.6) #13.1)
Total liabilities o L o =889 {799.4)
Net assots §70.5 485.0
Equity
Share capital 27 42,5 340
Share premium 27 4211 2305
Capital redemption reserve 0.9 0.9
Hedging and translation reserve 27 {19.5) 6.4
Retained eamings . ~ 27 204.4 1921
Equity attributable te equity holders of the parent 649.4 4639
Non-controlling interests ) L 211 2141
Totai equity 870.5 485.0

The financial statements on pages 111 to 147 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 5 March 2020, They are

signed on its bebalf by:

™ r\&\,ﬁ

C G Maclean
Director

Diractor
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Group financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2018 2018
Note £m £m £m £m
Operating
Cash generated from operations 28 170.2 124.9
Interest received 0.9 1.1
Interest paid {7.0) {5.6)
Interest element of lease payments {1.1) -
Net interest paid (7.2) 4.5}
UK corporation tax paid - -
Overseas corporate tax paid {11.1) {23.0)
Total tax paid {11.1) 23.0)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 151.9 97.4
Investing
Dividends received from joint ventures 18 1.6 1.1
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (69.1) {75.7)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 17.5
Net capital expenditure {68.8) {58.2)
Purchase of business - (¢5.8)
Proceeds from sale of business - 3.7
Net cash cutfiow from investing activities {67.2) {79.2)
Financing
Dividends paid 12 (47.9) 42.5)
Dividends paid tc non-controlling interests {0.6) (1.5)
Proceeds on issue of shares 199.1 -
Settlement of equity-settled share-based payments (2.5) 5.4)
Repayment of principal partion of Jease liabilities {6.8} -
Repayment of borrowings 21 {216.3) (63.5)
Proceeds of borrowings 21 15.0 103.8
Net cash outflow from financing activities {60.0) 9.0)
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 24.7 9.2
Comprising increase in:
Cash and cash equivalents 21 4.1 5.6
Bank overdrafts 21 20.6 36
24.7 9.2
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 1 January 76.2 65.4
Foreign exchange and other movements 21 2.7 1.6
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 21 103.6 76.2
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement in net debt
201% 2018
Note £m £m
Net cash infiow from operating activities 151.9 97.4
Add back: dividends received from joint ventures 18 1.6 11
Less: net capital expenditure {68.8) 58.2)
Less: net purchase of business - (22.1)
84.7 18.2
Ordinary dividends paid 12 (47.9) 42.5)
Dividends paid to non-controding interests {0.6) {1.5)
Proceeds on issue of shares 199.1 -
Settlement of equity-settled share-based payments {2.5) 5.4)
Repaymeni for principal portion of lease liabitities (6.8} -
Forgign exchange and other movements 21 8.7 (2.3)
234.7 {33.5)

Decrease/(increase) in net debt
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2018

1 General information

Synthomer plc {the *Company’) is a public limited company
incorporated and domiciled in the Uinited Kingdom under the
Companies Act. The address of the registered office is given on
page 156, The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries {the
‘Group’) and the nature of the Group’s operations are set out in the
Strategic report.

The consolidated financial statemeants are prepared in pounds
sterling, the functional currency of the Company. Foreign operations
are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time for the
reporting period commencing 1 January 2019 and the impact is
disclosed in note 3.

Synthomer has also adepted IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments. The interpretation clarifies the application of the
recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 Income
Taxes when there is uncertainty over incorne tax treatment.
Synthomer applies judgement in guantifying uncertainties over
income tax treatments and has considered whether it should
adjust its uncertain tax provisions in ling with this new criteria.
Adoption of IFRIC 23 has not had a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

There are no other standards or interpretations that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

2 significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted
by the European Union (IFRS), IFRS interpretations Committee
interpretations and the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments that
are measured at fair vaiue at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Going concern

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements,
a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they centinue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) made up to 31 Decemmber each year. Control is
achieved when the Company:

— has the power over the investes;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

= has the ability to use its power to affect its returns,

Consclidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the Company
obtains control and ceases from the date the Company loses control,
Where necessary on obtaining control, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
into ling with those used by the Group.

The results of joint ventures are accounted for using
aquity accounting.

Non-controling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
frem the Group's equity therein. Subsequent to the date on which
the Company obtains control, the carrying amount of non-controliing
interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the
non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acguisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of assets fransferred by the Group,
liabiiities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss

as incurred.

At acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in
accordance with |AS 12 Income Taxes;

~ liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
racognised and measured in accordance with 1AS 19 Employee
Benefits; and

— assets {or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard.

If the initial accounting for & business combination is incomplete by
tha end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,

the Group reperts provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incompiete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during a measurement pericd (see below), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

A measurement period is the peried from the date of acquisition to
the date the Group cbtains complete information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to
a maximum of one year.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held interest in the acquired entity is remeasured to its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred

over the Group's interest in acquisition-date identifiable assets
acquired less liabilities assumed.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least
annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash generating units expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Cash generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. it the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is alfocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then 1o the other assets of the unit pre-rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss for
goodwill is not reversed in a subseqguent period.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2019

2 Significant accounting policies continued

On disposal of 2 subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS
has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves
under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not
included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, interests in joint ventures
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acguisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income.

Revenue

General

Synthomer manufactures and sells water-based polymers
acToss a diverse range of end use applications. Our products are
predominantly sold in liquid form, in bulk containers.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer when
performance obligations are satisfied. Revenue is recognised at
the point in time when control of the product is transferred from
Synthomer to the customer,

The customer is deemed to obtain contro! of the resultant asset in
line with the Incoterms under which it is soid. The significant majority
of Synthomer’s products are sold under Carriage Paid To (‘CPT’) and
Carriage and Insurance Paid {('CIP") International Commercial Terms.
Under these terms, control of the product is transferred when the
goods reach their destination. At this peint the risks of obsclescence
and 'oss have been transferred and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the product.

A receivabie is recognised at this point in time as consideration

is unconditional and only the passage of time is required before
payrnent is due.

Rebates

Synthomer may grant customers rebates if the gocds purchased

by the customer excesd a contractually defined threshold within the
specified period. Rebates are usually deducted from the amounts
payable by the customer. Depending on the terms of the underlying
contract, Synthomer uses either the expected value or the most likely
armount to estimate the variable consideration for expected future
rebates. Historical, current and forecast information is considered
when calculating rebates.

The majerity of rebate programmes are aligned with the Group's
financial year end, providing certainty around how much should be
recognised in the financial statements.

Other

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of promised goods to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group applies
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 and does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of

the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets
and iiabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
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fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
tarms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for;

= exchange differences on transactions entered inte to hedge certain
foreign currency risks (see below under 'hedge accounting'); and

= exchange differences on monetary items receivable or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to oceur in the foreseeable future {therefore forming part of the net
investrment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other compreheansive income and reciassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's non-Sterling
operations are trans'ated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. The Group elected to treat goodwill
and tair value adjustments arising on acquisitions ipefore the date of
transition to IFRS as sterling-denominated assets and liabilities.

Operating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before
financing costs and taxation.

Taxation
The 1ax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductibie in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

A provision Is recognised for those matlers for which the 1ax
determination is uncertain but it is congidered probable that there
will be a future outflow of funds tc a tax authority. The provisions

are measured at best estimate of the amount expected to become
payable. The assessment is based cn the judgement of tax
professionals within the Company supported by previous experience
in respect of such activities and in certain cases based cn specialist
independent tax advice.

Deferred tax

Deferrad tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax iiabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxabile profits will

be available against which deductible temporary differences can

be utiiised.

Deferred tax kabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer



probable that sufficient taxabie profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovared.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement,

except when it relates to items charged or credited directly 1o other
comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in other comprehensive income.

The measursment of deferred tax labilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would folliow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and fiabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceabile right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or gitferent taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Leases

Finance leases and operating leases for the year ended 31 December
2018 were recognised and measured in accordance with IAS

17 Leases.

The accounting policies set out below are those applied to the current
period, in accordance with IFRS 16.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or comains a lease, at
inception of the contract, The lease term is determined from the
commencement date of the contract and covers the non-cancellable
term. if considered reasonably certain, extension or termination
options are included in the lease term.

At the commencement date, a lease liability is recognised, measured
at the present value of the future lease payments and discounted
using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted by increasing the carrying amount to refiect
interest on the lzase liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

At the commencement date, a right of use asset is recognised,
measured at an amount equal to the lease liability plus any lease
payments made before the commencement date and any initial direct
costs, less any lease incentive payments. An estimate of costs fo be
incurred in restoring an asset, in accordance with the terrms of the
lease, is als0 included in the right of use asset at initiat recognition.
Subsequently, right of use assets are measured in accordance with
the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment and are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and the useful life
of the underlying asset. Any adjustments to the correspending lease
liability are reflected in the corresponding right of use asset.

Short-term feases and low value leases are not recognised as lease
fiabilities and right of use assets, but are recognised as an expense
straight-ling over the lsase term.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Cost comprises
original purchase price and the costs attributable to bringing the
asset to its working condition for its intended use, including, where
appropriate, capitalised finance costs,

Freehold 'and is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as 10 write-off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their usefu! lives, using the straight-line
methed, on: the following bases:

- 50 years
— the lesser of 50 years and

Freehold buildings
Leasehold land and buildings
the period of the lease

Plant and equipment - between 3 and 15 years

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any
recognised impainment oss, Finance costs directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. Depreciation of these assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting pericd, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for cn a prospective basis.

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, which is
regarded as their cost, Where necessary the fair value of assets at
acquisition and their estimated useful lives are based on independent
valuation reports.

Acquired intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-fine basis over estimated useful lives, on the
following bases:

- between 5 and 15 years
—-up to 10 years

Customer relationships
Other intangibles

Assets with an indefinite life are not subject o amortisation.

Acquired intangible assets are derecognised upon reaching the end
of their useful lives.

Other Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are not acquired through a business
combination are initially measured at cost and amortised on a
straight-line hasis over their estimated useful lives of up to ten years.

An imernally generated intangible asset arising from development (or
from the development phase of an internal project} is recognised only
if all of the following conditions have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the asset;
= the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell t;

- the ability to use or sell the asset once deveiopment has
been completed;

= the probability that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits;

~— the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development; and

— the asset created can be separately identified and the development
cost can be measured reliably.

The amount initially recognised for internally ganerated intangibte
assets Is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2019

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its pfant, property and equipment and intangible assets
te determine whether there is any indication that those assets

have sutfered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
racoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairmant lass (if any). Where the asset does not
generate cash fiows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverabie amount of the cash generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

The recoverabie amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash generating unit} is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount 1o the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been deterrmined had no impairment loss been recognised

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment ioss is recognised
immediately in the income staterment.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable vaiue.
Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicabie, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calcutated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and
cosis 10 be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Provision is
made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. ’

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the
following categories:

- financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost (AC');

= financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
[FVTPL); and

= financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other
comprehensive income {(‘FVTOCH).

Financial assets and liabiiities are initially measured at fair vaiue
including, where permitted, any directly attributable transaction costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on
their classification.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. Cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash held in bank accounts with no access
restrictions, bank term deposits repayable on demand or maturing
within three months of inception.

At each reporting date the Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortised
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cost. In establishing the appropriate amount of loss allowance to be
recognised, the Group applies either the general approach or the
simplified approach, depending on the nature of the underlying class
of financial assets:

— Under the genseral approach, the Group recognises a loss
allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the 12-month
expected credit losses, unless the credit risk on the financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recagnition, in which case
a loss allowance is recognised at an amount equal to the litetime
expected credit losses.

= The simplifisd approach is applied to the impairment assessment
of trade and other receivabies, Under this approach, the Group
recognises expected difetime losses upon initial recognition.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings. Borrowings are
measured at amortised cost uniess they form part of a fair value
hedge relationship. The difference between the initial carrying amount
of barrowings and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the contractual terms using the effective interest

rate method.

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value through
profit or loss when they do not meet the criteria to be measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive incomne.

Financial assets and liabilities at FYTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship (see below).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to
manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk,
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps
and foreign currency options. Further details of derivative financial
instruments are set out in note 22,

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remaasured to their fair vajue at the end of each reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement
immediately urless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the
income statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

To mitigate foreign currency and interest rate risk, the Group
designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in fair value
hedges, cash fliow hedges, or hedges of net investrents in foreign
operations as appropriate.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents

the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
itern, along with its risk management cbjectives and its strateqy for
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair value
or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

On adoption of IFRS 3, the Group elected to continue 1o apply

the hedge acceounting requirements of IAS 39 as permitted by

the standard.

Fair value hedges

The Group only applies fair value hedge acceunting for foreign
currency risk.

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognised
in the income statement and is recognised in the same line as the
hedged item.



Cash flow hedges

The seffective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that

are designated and quality as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash
flow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair vaiue of
the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

Gains or losses relating to an ineffective portion are recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified in the income statement in the
periods when the hadged item affects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction resutts in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a
nen-financial fiability, the gains and losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed
from eguity and inclkuded in the initial measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Headge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
Any gain of 1085 accumulated at that time in equity is recognised
when the forecast transaction ig ultimately recognised in profit or
loss, When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to oceur, the
cumuiative gain or loss in equity is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted

for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain Or loss on the hedging
instrument retating to the effective porticn of the hedge is recognised
in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation
reserve. The gain or loss relating te the ineffective portion is
recognised imrmediately in the income statement,

Gaing and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective
portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
foreign operation.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions. Payments made o state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are treated as payments

1o defined contribution schemes where the Group’s obligations
under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined
contribution scheme.

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is
calculated using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations carried out at the end of each reporting period.

Defined benefit costs are split into three categories, namely:

- service costs, which includes current service cost, past service
cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settiements;

- net interest expense; and
- rermeasursments.

The Group presents service costs within cost of sales and
adminisirative expenses in its consolidated income statement.
Past service cost is recognised when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs.

Net interest expense is recognised within finrance costs and
is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability.

Remeasurement cornprising actuarial gains and losses and the return
on scheme assets {excluding interest} are recognised immediately in
the balance sheet with a charge or credit to the statement of other
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur and are not
subsequently recycled.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
{legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to setlie that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
measured as the best estimate of the expenditure required tc settie
the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to
present value where the effect is material.

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group
has a detailed formal ptan for the restructuring that has been
communicated to affected parties,

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees. These are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of
non-market-based vesting conditions. The fair value determined

at the grant date of the equity-settied share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest.
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the
effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustrent to equity reserves. The Group will on
occasion, at its own discretion, settle these share-based payments in
cash rather than equity.

For cash-settled share-based payrments, a liability is recognised for
the goods or services acquired, measured inftially at the fair value of
the liability. At each balance sheet date until the liability is settled, and
at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured,
with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year,

Alternative performance measures
The Group has consistenily used two significant Alternative
Performance Measures (‘APMs') since its adoption of IFRS in 2005:

= Underlying performance, which excludes Special ltems from IFRS
profit measures,

= EBITDA, which excludes Special ltems, amortisation and
depreciation from IFRS operating profit.

The Board's view is that Underlying performance provides additional
clarity for the Group’s investors and s it is the primary focus of the
Group's narrative reporting. Further information and the recongiliation
to the {FRS measures are included in note 5.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2019

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations)
that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to
make estimates and assurnptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assurnpticns are reviewsd on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that pericd, or in the pericd of the revision and future pericds if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below. The assumptions for each estimate are set out in
the relevant note referenced below.

« Defined benefit obligation {note 26).
Calculation of the Group's defined benefit obligation includes
a nurmber of assumptions which impact the carrying value of
the obligation.

= Valuation of goocdwill and intangible assets on acquisition:
In a business combination, intangible assets are identified and
recognised at fair value. The assumptions involved in valuing these
intangible assets require the use of estimates that may differ from
the actual outcome. These estimates cover future growth rates,
expected inflation rates and the discount rate used. Changing the
assumptions selected by management could significantly affect the
aliccation of the purchase price paid between goodwill and other
acquired intangibles.

= Current tax liabifity and deferred tax (notes 10 and 11):
The Group annually incurs significant amounts of income taxes
payable to vartous jurisdictions around the worid and it alsc
recognises significant changes in deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities, all of which are based on management’s
interpretations of applicable laws, regulations and relevant
court decisions,

Critical jJudgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving

estimations {which are discussed above), that the Directors have

made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
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3 Adoption of new and revised standards

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases with effect from 1 January
2019 but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period,
as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard.
The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing
rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on

1 January 2019.

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following
practical expedients permitted by the standard.

= Reliance on previcus assessments on whether ieases are onerous.

= The accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of
less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases.

= The exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right
of use asset at the date of initial application.

= The use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

Adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16

The Group has a portfolic of leases mainly comprising land and
buildings, chemical storage tanks and vehicles. On adoption of
IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases
which had previously been classified as operating leases under the
principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the
present value of the remaining fease payments, discounted using
each lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities in the balance sheet at initial adoption on 1 January 2019
was 2.49%.



Information in respect of the carrying vaiue and interest arising on lease liabilities is set out below:

2010
Amounts
without
adoption of IFRS 16
IFRS 16 impact As reported
£m £m £m
Impact on the consolidated income statement
EBITDA 170.0 7.9 177.8
Cepreciation and amortisation (44.8) {7.3) {52.1)
Underlying operating profit 125.2 0.6 125.8
Special ltems {15.2) - (15.2)
Operating profit 110.0 0.6 110.6
Finance costs (9.0) (1.1} {10.1}
Profit before taxation 101.0 {0.5) 100.5
Taxation {14.9) - {14.9)
Profit for the year 86.1 {0.5) 85.6
Earnings per share
Basic 21.6p {01)p 21.5p
31 Dscember
2019
Lease liabilities included in the balance sheet £m
Current 7.5
Non-current 34.4
Total 419

The lease liability recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 was £45.6 million. Operating lease cormmitments under IAS 17 disclosed at 31 December
2018 were £30.4 million, which approximates to £26.6 million when discounted at the incremental borrowing rate disclosed above.

The difference arises due to the different recognition criteria of IFRS 16 such as treatment of extension options and the inclusion of liabilities for
oneraus leases, previously recorded within provisions.

Right of use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease Jiability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. Onerous lease contracts required an adjustment to the right of

use assets at the date of initial application.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

= the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

= any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
= any initial direct costs; and

- restoration costs.

EBITDA, segment assets and segment liabilities for the year ended and as at 31 December 2019 all increased as a result of the change in
accounting policy. The following segments were affected by the change in policy:

Finance Increase in Increase in

Dapreciation EBITDA costs assels liabilities

£m £m £m £m E£m

Performance Elastomers 1.8 20 - 15.3 {18.2)
Functional Salutions @2 4.4 - 178 (179)
Industrial Specialities (0.7) 0.8 - 2.3 (2.4)
Unallocated corporate expenses . (0.6) 07 (1.1) 3.5 (3.4)
Total (7.3) 79 (1.1 38.9 {41.9)
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consoclidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

4 Special tems

IFRS and Underlying performance

The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group as a whole and as such include ail sources of income and expense, including
both one-off items and thase that do not relate to the Group's ongoing businesses. To provide additional clarity on the angoing trading
performance of the Group's businesses, managemeant uses ‘Underlying’ performance as an alternative performance measure to plan for,
controf and assess the porformance of the segments. Underlying performance differs from the IFRS measures as it excludes Special items.

Special ltems
Special Items are disclosed separately in order to provide a clearer indication of the Group's underlying performance.

Special ltems are either irregular, and therefore including them in the assessment of a segment's performance would lead to a distortion of
trends, or are technical adjustments which ensure the Group's financial statements are in compliance with IFRS but do not reflect the operating
parformance in the year, or both. An example of the latter is the amortisation of acquired intangibles, which principally relates to acquired
customer relationships. The Group incurs costs, which are recognised as an expense in the income statement, in rmaintaining these customer
relationships. The Group considers that the exclusion of the amortisation charge on acquired intangibles from Underlying performance avoids
the potentiat double counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Special ltem from Underlying performance.

The following are consistently disclosed separately as Special ltems in order to provide a clearer indication of the Group's
underlying performance:

= Restructuring and site ¢closure costs;

= Sale of a business or significant asset;

— Acquisition costs;

= Ameortisation of acquired intangible assets;

= Impairment of non-current assets;

— Fair value adjustments in respect of derivative financial instruments where hedge accounting is not applied,
- lterns of income and expense that are considered material, either by thelr size and/or nature;

= Tax impact of above items; and

= Settlement of prior period tax issues.

Special ltarms comprise:

2018 2018

Note £m €m

Acquisition costs (9.2) 0.5
Restructuring and site closure {0.8) (12.2)
Foreign exchange gain on rights issue 3.5 -
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 (8.7) (16.4}
Sale of business - 3.8
Sale of land - 16.4
Aborted bond costs - (1.7)
UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation 26 - 2.8

Operating loss {15.2) {13.4)

Finance costs

Fair value loss on unhedged interest derivatives g {0.5) {1.4)
Loss before taxation - (5.7 (14.8)
Taxation 10 14 8.0
Loss for the year {14.3) 8.8)

Acquisition costs relate to the proposed acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc partly offset by a gain of £4.0 million on a foreign exchange
derivative entered into in July 2019 to hedge the acquisition price. The 2018 costs related to the BASF Pischelsdort acquisition.

Restructuring and site closure largely comprise a charge of £1.9 million in relation to the reorganisaticn of the Group into global business
segments. This is partly offset by a partial reversal of the provision recognised in 2018 for the closure of the natural rubber and polyester resins
production lines as certain elements have been less expensive than originally estimated.

Foreign exchange gain on rights issue represents a gain made on a forward contract which was entered into 10 swap the proceeds of the
Sterling rights issue inte Euro in order to pay down part of the Group’s Euro borrowings.

Amortisation of intangibles decreased during the vear as the custormner-related intangibles from the 2011 PolymerlLatex acquisition reached the
end of their amortisation period in H1 2018.

Sale of businesses in 2018 related to the disposal of the Leuna {Germany) site and the disposal of $51% of the Group's Dubal operations.

Sale of tand in 2018 related tc the disposal of the final tranche of Malaysian land at Kluang.
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Anead of the Group’s 2018 refinancing, a process was underiaken 10 issue fixed rate unsecured senior notes, Despite a strong response from
investors, the Group decided not to complete the transaction due to unfavourable market conditions.

A £2.8 million actuarial adjustrment was booked in H2 2018 following the UK High Court’s ruling on equalisation of male and female Guaranteed
Minimum Pensions. This was treated as a pension plan amendment, unrelated to Underlying performance of the Group.

In July 2018 the Group entered into swap arrangements to fix Euro interest rates on the full value of the €440 million committed unsecured
revolving credit facility. The fair value of the unhedged interast rate derivatives relates to the mark-to-market of the swap at 31 December 2019
in excess of the Group's current borrowings.

5 Segmental analysis
The Group's Executive Committes, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, examines the Group's performance.

Following a review in 2018, a new Group structure was adopted from 1 January 2019 to reflect the increasingly global nature of the Group's
operations. The new structure enables Synthomer 1o better serve its customers, provide a global product offering and to drive operational
efficiencies. Gonsistent with the new Group structure, three new reportable segments were identified:

Performance Elastomers

Performance Elastomers is focused on healthcare, carpet, paper and foam markets through our water-based Nitrile Butadiene Rubber latex
(NBR) and Styrene Butadiene Rubber latex (SBR) products.

Functional Solutions

Functional Solutions is focused on coatings, construction, adhesives and technical textiles markets through our water-based acrylic and vinylic
based dispersions products.

Industrial Specialities
Industrial Specialities is focused on speciality chemical additives and non-water-based chemistry for a broad range of applications from

polyrner additives to emergiryg materials and technologies.

The Group's Executive Committee is the chief operating decision maker and primarily uses a measure of earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amontisation and Speciat ltems (EBITDA) to assess the performance of the operating segments. No information is provided
to the Group’s Executive Committee at the segment level concerning interest income, interest expense, income tax ot other material non-

cagh iterns.
No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s revenue,

A segmental analysis of Underlying performance and Special ltems is shown below.

2018
Performance Functional {ndustrial -
El s Se Speciatities  Corporate Total
£m £m £m £€m £€m

Revenue
Total revenue 623.7 612.8 228.8 - 1,465.3
Inter-segmental revenue - - {6.2) - {6.2)
623.7 612.8 222.6 - 1,459.1
EBITDA 96.3 69.9 248 {13.1) 177.9
Depreciation and amortisation _ (24.8) {17.6) {8.8) {0.9) 52.1)
Operating profit before Special Heins N 71.5 52.3 16.0 {14.0) 125.8
Special ltems (0.3} (4.3) {4.7} (5.9) (15.2)
Operating profit 71.2 48.0 11.3 {19.9) 110.6
Finance costs {10.1)
i 100.5

Profit before taxation
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

5 Segmental analysis continued

2018
Parigrmance Functiona! Industrial
Elastorners Solutions Specialites Corporate Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Revenue

Total revenue 704.5 680.1 240.2 - 1,624.8
Inter-segmental revenue - - (5.9} - 5.9)
7D4.5 6801 234.3 - 1,618.9

EBITDA 107.9 641 235 {14.5) 181.0
Depreciation and amortisation {20.7) (1.1} 6.8) {0.3) (38.9}

Operating profit before Special ltems 87.2 53.0 18.7 (14.8) 1421
Special ierns 2.5) 2.6) 4.6) 3.7 13.4)
Qperating profit 847 504 121 (18.5) 128.7
Finance costs {8.4)
120.3

Profit before taxation

Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customers and its non-current assets (excluding deferred tax} by gecgraphical location are detailed below:
Non-current assets

Revenue by destination

2019 2018 2019 2018
£m £m £m £m
UK 80.0 87.0 134.6 171
Germany 201.3 2345 198.5 1951
Italy 78.3 876 521 54.9
Netherlands 76.3 94.9 15.9 5.2
France 64.5 824 17.3 14.0
Belgium 52.8 62.0 7.7 729
Cther Europe 309.0 347.5 62.4 67.9
Malaysia 250.6 260.1 166.1 161.7
China 82.4 69.9 0.6 0.1
Other Asia 125.9 125.3 9.7 9.8
UsA 90.2 80.4 791 21.9
Rest of World 47.8 874 7.6 8.6
1,459.1 1,698.9 815.6 789.3
6 Operating profit
2019 2018
Note £m £m
Revenue 1,459.1 1,618.9
Cost of sales (1,185.3) (1,3251)
Gross profit 273.8 203.8
Sales and marketing costs (43.8) {42.9)
Administrative expenses {53.0} (70.3)
Share of joint ventures 18 0.9 04
EBITDA 1779 1810
Depreciation and amortisation — Underlying performance {52.1) {38.9)
Operating profit - Underlying performance 1258 1421
Special termns (15.2} (13.4)
Operating profit - IFRS 110.6 1287
2019 2018
Note £m £m
Operating profit is stated after charging the following:
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 8.7 16.4
Amortisation of other intangibles 16 14 1.1
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 43.4 378
Depreciation of right of use assets 17 7.3 -
Research and development expenditure 16.6 17.1
1.2 0.8

Net loss on foreign exchange
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7 Auditors’ remuneration

2018 2018
£°000 £000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for:

audit of the Company’s annual financial statements and the consolidated annual financial staternents 218 142

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:
audit of the Company's subsidiaries’ annuail financial staterments 661 750
Total audit fees 876 892
Audit related assurance services 23 22
Other assurance services 1,010 a5
Other taxation advisory services - 3
1,033 120

Total non-audit fees

Details of the Company's policy on the use of auditors for non-audit services, the reasons why the auditors were used rather than another
suppler and how the auditors’ independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee section of the Corporate

Giovernance report on page 80. No services were provided pursuant to contingent fee arrangements.

8 Staff costs

2019 2018
The average monthly number of employees during the year by segment was:
Performance Elastomers 877 788
Functicnal Solutions 1,203 1,313
Industrial Specialities 658 642
Corporate 20 175
2,939 2918
2010 2018
£m £m
ﬁ; aggregate remuneration of all Group employees comprised:
Wages and salaries 115.5 1231
Social security costs 20.5 215
Pension costs 8.7 11.3
Share-based payments 0.6 1.5
145.3 157.4
Directors' emoluments are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 95 to 102,
9 Finance costs
2019 2018
£Em £m
Interest payable on bank toans and overdrafts 6.7 4.9
Less: interest receivable {0.9) (1.1}
5.8 3.8
Net interast expense on defined bensfit obligation 2.7 3.2
Inferest element of lease payments 14 -
Net interest payable 9.6 7.0
Fair value loss on unhedged derivatives ) 0.5 1.4
104 8.4

Total finance costs

The fair value of the unhedged derivatives relates o the mark-to-market of the swap arrangements at 31 December 2019 in excess of the

current borrowings of the Group. This has been taken through Special lems as it is not reflective of the Underlying performance.
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

10 Taxation

2019 2018
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax - 0.1
Querseas tax 15.5 238
15.5 239
Deferred tax
Origination and reversai of tempaorary differences 0.8 0.9
16.3 23.0
Special Items
Current tax:
Historical issues - (2.5)
Purchase and sale of busingss {0.3} {0.1)
Restructuring and site closure costs (0.3) -
Deferred tax:
Restructuring and site ¢losure costs - {0.2)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles {0.8) (3.2}
{1.4) {6.0)
Total tax on profit before taxation 14.9 17.0

UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% (2018: 19.0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year, Taxatien for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation
The differerices between the total tax expense shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax to
the profit before tax is as follows.

2018 2018
£m £m
Profit before taxation 100.5 120.3
Tax on profit before taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2018: 19.0%} 181 22.9
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 9.9 4.8
Tax incentives and items not subject 1o tax {15.5) (11.8)
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 4.5 6.8
Other deferved tax asset not recognised less amaunts now recognised {0.7) R.2)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods 2.1 2.4
Effect of change of rate on deferred {ax {0.3} 0.1}
Tax charge for year 4.9 170
Tax reilating to components of other comprehensive income
2019 2018
fm frn
Current tax credit in respect of actuarial gains 26 -
Deferred tax credit/(charge) in respect of actuarial gains 2.1 2.3
Total tax credit/(charge} in respect of actuarial gains 4.7 2.3)
Current tax liabilities
2018 2018
£m Em
Current tax liabilities {38.7) (38.3)

The tax incentives and iterns not subject to tax comprise profits from the Nitrile Latex business in Malaysia which benefits from Pioneer Status
until 28 February 2020,

In Agpril 2019, the European Commission released its final decision which concluded that, up until 31 December 2018, the Group Financing
Exemption (‘GFE’) in the UK Controlled Foreign Company legislation partially represented State Aid. On 12 June 2019 the UK Government
appealed this decision and on 4 July 2019 Synthomer pic filed an annutment application with the EU General Court, in-line with the approach
of a number of other UK muftinationals impacted by the Commission’s decision. There remains considerable uncertainty as to how any final
liability under this ruling will be determined, in particular given the need to consider the relevance of any UK Significant People Functions {SPFs).
The maximum potential exposure, accessing certain tax attributes in line with latest HMRC guidance, is currently calculated at £4.8 million.
This exposure significantly reduces on the basis only certain profits are attributable to UK SPFs. Based on our current interpretation of the
relevant legislation, the Commission's decision, HMRC's latest guidance and management's judgement, the Group has partially provided in the
current year against the GFE amounts previously claimed. Developrments will continue to be monitored and assessed.
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11 Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets to the

extent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered.
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below.

Deferred tax liabilities

2019
Accelerated
tax Acquired
depreciation  Intangibles Other Total
£m £m £€m fm
At 1 January {18.7) 113.4) {2.2) {34.8)
Credited to income statement 0.1 0.8 11 2.0
Exchange adjustment 0.7 0.8 - 1.5
At 31 December {17.9) {11.8) {1.1) (30.8)
Deferred tax assets
2019
Pansion Other Total
£m £m £m

At t January 177 57 234
Charged to income staterment {0.5) 1.5} {2.0)
Credited to statement of other comprehensive income 2.1 - 2.1
Exchange adjustment {0.6} {0.1) {0.7)
At 31 December 18.7 4.1 228
Deferred tax assets not recognised
The amounts of deferred tax not recognised at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

2619 2018

£m £m

UK pension liability 3.5 52
Tax losses 14.9 139
Accelerated capital atowances 27 18
QOther timing difierences 0.2 c2

21.3 2141

{f the unrecognised tax losses set out above, £0.6 million expire at the end of 2020, £0.6 million expire at the end of 2021, £0.5 million expire
at the end of 2022, £0.4 million expire at the end of 2023, £0.3 milion expire at the end of 2024 and £1.5 million expire at the end of 2025,

Other losses of £11.0 million can be carried forward indefinitely.

12 Dividends

2018

201¢ Pence
Pence 2018 per share 2018
peor share £m frestated) m
Interim dividend 4.0p 17.0 3.7p 1386
Proposed final dividend 6.9p 29.3 8.5p 30.9
10.9p 46.3 12.2p 44.5

The proposed final dividend is subject tc approval by sharehoiders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these

financial statements.

The 2018 dividend per share figures have been restated to reflect the bonus factor of 1.0713 arising from the rights issue which completed on

29 July 2019.
Dividends paid
2018 2018
£m £m
Interim dividend 17.0 13.6
Prior year final dividend 30.9 289
47.9 425
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

13 Earnings per share

2019 2018 {rastaled)
Underlying Special Underking Special -

o performance Hems IFRS performance terns IFRS
Earnings
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent £m 99.5 {14.9) 84.6 111.6 (11.8) 89.8
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — basic 000 393,349 363,977
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares 000 2,109 1,937
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — diluted 'C00 395,458 365,914
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share pence 253 (3.8) 21.5 30.7 (3.3) 27.4
Diluted earnings per share pence 25.2 {3.8) 214 30.5 3.2) 27.3

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year to 31 December 2018, used in the calcutation of earnings per share, have been
adjusted by multiplying by an adjustrnent factor of 1.0713 to reflect the bonus element in the shares issued under the terms of the rights issue

which completed on 29 July 2018,
14 Goodwiill

2019 2018
£m £m

Cost

At 1 January
Exchange adjustments
Purchase of business
At 31 December

350.6 3432
{12.1) 6.2

338.5 3508

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January and 31 December 141 141

Net book value
At 31 December

324.4 336.5

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units {{CGUSs') that are expected to benefit from
that business combination.

From 1 January 2019, the Group reorganised its CGUs into three global divisions to better service customers and markets. The Group's
goodwill was re-assessed and allocated into these new CGUs on an appropriate basis.

Fully impaired goodwill relating to disposed businesses was derecognised. Accumulated impairment losses at 31 December 2019 arese pricr
to the Group's adoption ot IFRS and are denorninated in pounds stering.

The allocation of the carrying value of goodwill is represented below:
Reallocation

Net ook Net ook Into now Net book

value at value at  divisions on valud at

1 January Exchange  Purchase of 31 Dacember 1 Jamuary Exchange 31 December

2018  adjustments business 2018 2019 adjustments 2019

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Performance Elastomers - - - - 124.8 (5.8) 119.0
Functional Solutions - - - - 184.7 {4.7) 180.0
Industrial Specialities ~ - - - 27.0 (1.6) 25.4
Europe & North America 295.7 46 1.2 301.5 {301.5) - -
Asia & Rest of @Worid ) 33.4 1.6 - 35.0 {35.0) - -
Total 3291 8.2 1.2 336.5 - (12.1) 324.4

The Grotip tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts for CGUs are determined from value in use calcufations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are the
discount rate, profitability and growth rate. These assumptions have been revised in the year in light of the current economic environment,

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The discount rate is based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted, where appropriate, for the risk
premium attributable to the particular CGU's activities and geography of operation. A pre-tax discount rate of 8.4% has been used in the
above calculations for each division, In 2018, pre-tax discount rates of 11% and 12% were used jor Europe & North America and Asia & Rest of

World respectively.
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The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent five-year business plans approved by management and extrapolates

cash flows for the following five years based on estimated growth rates of 3.5%, 2.6% and 2.6% for Performance Elastomers, Functional

Solutions and fndustrial Specialities respectively. In 2018, growth rates of 2% and 5% were used for Europe & North America and Asia & Rest of
World respectively. These rates do not exceed average long-term growth rates for relevant markets. The cash fiow for year ten is then assumed

to apply without further growth into perpetuity.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests. For each CGU, the Directors believe that there is no reasonably

possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based that would cause the aggregate carrying amount 1o exceed

the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.

15 Acquired intangible assets

Other
Customer acquired
refat intangibl Total
£m £m £tm
Cost
A1 January 2019 111.6 12.8 124.4
Exchange adjustments {14.0) {0.6}) {14.6)
Derecognition of fully amortised assets {26.3} 3.1) (28.4)
At 31 Decernber 2019 71.3 21 80.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 50.6 4.7 55.3
Exchange adjustments {10.9) Q1) {11.0)
Amortisation charge for the year 7.4 1.3 8.7
Derecognition of fully amortised assets {26.3) {3.1) (28.4)
At 31 December 2019 20.8 2.8 23.6
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 50.5 6.3 56.8
Other
Customer acgquired
relationships intangibles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 250.2 57 255.9
Exchange adjustments 5.0 0.2 5.2
Purchase of business 107 6.9 17.6
Derecognition of fully amortised assets {154.3) - {154.3)
At 31 December 2018 111.6 12.8 124.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 187.2 25 189.7
Exchange agiustments 35 - 35
Amortisation charge for the year 14.2 2.2 16.4
Derecognition of fully amortised assets (154.3) - {154.3)
At 31 December 2018 50.6 a7 55.3
Net book value
B81.0 8.1 69.1

At 31 December 2018

The prior year comparatives have been restated to reflect the derecegnition of fuliy amortised assets upon reaching the end of their useful

economic lives.
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Group financiai statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

16 Other intangible assets

Other
intangible  Assets under
assets  construction Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2019 4.6 3.2 7.8
Exchange adjustments (0.2) - {0.2)
Additions 3.8 14.7 18.5
At 31 December 2019 8.2 17.8 261
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 2.7 - 2.7
Exchange adjustments - - -
Amortisation charge for the year 14 - 1.4
At 31 December 2019 4.1 - 4.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 4.1 17.9 22.0
Other
intangiole Assets under
assets ¢onstruction Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2018 3.6 - 3.6
Additions 11 3.2 4.3
Disposals T X)) - 0.1
At 31 December 2018 4.6 3.2 7.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 17 - 17
Amoartisation charge for the year 1.1 - 11
Disposals (e8] - {0.1)
At 31 Decermnber 2018 27 - 27
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 1.9 3.2 5.1

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
As disclosed in note 2, there are various conditions required by IAS 38 for an internally generated intangible asset to be recognised.

During the year the Group invested £14.7 miliion in its Pathway programme. This programme is designed to deliver a unified operating model
on a single set of integrated systerms to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Group. This programme is expected to complete in 2022
based on the current Group and the investment is shown as an asset under construction until the deployment phase begins.
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17 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assats

Right of use assets

Freshold

Leasshold

land and land and FPlant and Assets under Land and Plant and
b i ilding i construction bulldings  equipment Total
£m £m £m £in £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2019 108.9 8.6 580.2 29.3 - - 737.0
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 - - - - 18.2 24.6 42.8
Exchange adjustments 4.9 0.1 (19.7) {1.1) (0.9) 1.2) {26.9)
Additions 1.3 - 33.0 18.8 4.2 1.0 58.3
Disposals - - (0.4} - - - {0.4)
Transfer from assets under construction - - 33.6 (33.6) - - -
At 31 December 2019 106.1 8.7 636.7 13.4 21.5 24.4 810.8
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 37.0 4.6 325.4 - - - 367.0
Exchange adjustrments {1.5) - {9.8) - {C.1} {0.2) {11.6)
Depreciation charge for the year 5.0 0.3 38.1 - 2.5 4.8 50.7
Assets written down - - (0.1} - - - 0.1)
Disposals - - {0.1) - - - (0.1}
At 31 Decomber 2019 40.5 4.9 353.5 - 2.4 4.6 405.9
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 65.6 3.8 283.2 13.4 19.1 19.8 404.9
Freshold Leasehold
land and {and and Plant and  Assets under
buildings buildings equipmeant  construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 104.9 8.1 499.3 33.8 646.1
Exchange adjustments 2.8 - 1.3 09 15.0
Additions 1.0 - 34.8 37.2 73.0
Purchase of business 1.2 - 4.2 - 5.4
Sale of business - - [(sh)} - 0.
Disposals {0.9) - (1.5) - {2.4)
Transfer from assets under construction - - 42.6 42.6} -
Reclassification (Al 0.5 {©.4) - -
At 31 December 2018 108.9 8.6 590.2 29.3 737.0
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 313 37 289.0 - 324.0
Exchange adjustments 0.6 - 5.7 - 6.3
Depreciation charge for the year 5.3 0.5 32.0 - 378
Sale of business - - 0.1 - ©.1)
Assets written down - - 0.2} - 0.2
Disposals {©.2) - 0.6) - 08
Reclassification - 04 0.4) - -
At 31 December 2018 ) 370 46 325.4 - 3670
Net bock value
At 31 December 2018 71.9 40 264.8 29.3 370.0

Freshold land is not depreciated and is held at historical cost. At 31 December 2019, the Group's freehold land was recognised at £17.6 million

{31 December 2018; £17.6 million).

At 31 December 2019 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and eguipment amounting 1o

£11.7 million (2018: £21.2 million},
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2019

18 Investmaent in joint ventures
Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:

% of ownership

Name of enlity Place of incorporation 2019 2018 Principal activity Segment

Synthomer Middle East Saudi Arabia 49% 49%  Manufacture and saie of acrylic and Functional Solutions
vinyl resin emulsions

Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO  UAE 49% 49%  Trading in adhesives and oilfield chemicals  Functional Solutions

Synthemer FZCO UAE 49% 49%  Sales and marketing support for Functicnal Solutions
Synthomer Group companies

Super Sky Ltd UK 50% 50% Non-trading Unallocated

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the joint ventures is set out below, This information represents amounts in the joint ventures’

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Summarised balance sheet (100%)

2019 2018

£m £m

Non-current assets 6.6 5.2
Cash and cash equivalents 3.8 4.7
Other current assets 174 18.6
20.9 23.3

Total current assets

Other current liabilities

(12.3) {10.9)

Total current liabilities {12.3) (10.9)
Net assets 15.2 17.6

2019 2018
Group share: £m tm
Total assets 13.5 14.0
Total liabilities (6.0} {5.4}
Net assets 7.5 8.6
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%)

2019 2018

Em £m

Revenue 48.2 ) 423
Gperating profit 2.0 0.9
Interest - -
Taxation {0.1) -
Profit for the year 1.9 0.9
Exchange differences on trans!ation {0.9) 1.1
Total comprehensive income 1.0 2.0
Dividends paid 3.3) (2.3}
Movement in retained earnings (2.3) 03
Group share:
Profit for the year 09 o4

(0.4) 04

Exchange differences c¢n translation
Dividends paid

(1.6) (1.1)
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The following table reconciles the summary information above to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint ventures:

Investment in joint ventures

uaday, adelens

The nature of the chemical reaction necessary 10 produce finished goods from raw materials is such that 'work in progress’ is not a material
part of the Group’s inventory at any given point of time.

2019 2018
£m Emr
At 1 January 8.6 75
Profit from continuing operations 0.9 0.4
Exchange differences on translation (0.4) 0.4
Partial disposal of UAE business - 1.4 ©
o
Dividend paid ) {1.6) ()] g
At 31 December 7.5 8.6 5
19 Inventories
2019 2018
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 55.5 681
Finished goods 66.4 738
1219 1419
o
g
Stock written off during the year 1.5 07 4
=
Cost of inventory recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales 885.5 1,126.6 B
£
]
3
*
#

20 Trade and other receivables

2019 2618

£m £m

Trade receivables 162.7 196.2
Other receivables 22.3 306
Prepayments 5.8 6.1
190.6 2329

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

Before accepting a new customer, the Group uses appropriate procedures to assess the potential customer’s credit quality in order to set a
credit limit. Other receivables mostly relate to indirect taxes.

The Group applies a simplified approach 1o measure the 10ss allowance for trade receivables classified at amortised cost, using the lifetime
expected loss provision. The expected credit loss on trade receivables is estimated using a provision matrix by reference 10 past default
experience and credit rating, adjusted as appropriate for current observable data. The Group has no significant cencentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a large number of customers. The following table details the risk profile of rade receivables based on the Group's
provision matrix.

Trade recelvables - days past due

Not yet due <80 61-120 > 120 Total

2019 £m £m £m £m £m

Gross carrying amount 145.9 16.9 0.1 0.7 163.6

Expected credit loss rate 0.06%

Lifetime expected credit loss {0.9)

Total 162.7
TFrade receivables — days past due

Not yet due < 60 61-120 > 120 Total

2018 £m £m £m £m tm

Gross carrying amoun? 171.8 238 0.3 1.1 197.0

Expected credit loss rate 0.05%

Lifetime expected credit loss {0.8)

196.2

Total
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

20 Trade and other receivables continued

The following table shows the movement in the lifetime expected credit Joss that has been recognised for frade receivables in accordance with

the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9:

2019

2018

£m £m
At 1 January 0.8 1.6
Exchange adjustments {0.1) -
Sale of business - o
Transfer to/{from) credit impaired 0.7 {0.1)
Uncollectable amounts written off or recovered {0.5) {0.6)
At 31 December 0.9 08
21 Cash and borrowings
1 Cash Exchange 31
January inflows/ and other  December
209 {outflows} movements 2018
£m Em fm £m
Bank overdrafts (20.7) 20.6 0.1 -
Current borrowings {49.4) 49,7 {0.3) -
Current liabilities (70.9) 70.3 0.2) -
Non-current borrowings {240.8) 151.6 6.3 (82.9)
Non-current liabilities {240.8) 151.6 6.3 (82.9)
Total borrowings (310.9) 221.9 6.1 (82.9)
Cash and cash equivalents 96.9 a1 26  103.6
Net debt (214.0) 2260 8.7 20.7
L ease liabilities - (6.8) (35.1) (41.9)
Total cash and borrowings (2140) 2192  (26.4) (21.2)
Lease liabilities were recegnised on adoption of IFRS 16 Leases.
Capitalised debt costs shown in the tables above, which have been recognised as a reduction in borrowings in the financial statements,
amounted to £1.7 million at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: £1.8 million).
Analysis of cash and borrowings by currency:
Cash Cash
and cash Total and cash Tatat
equivalents borrowings equivalents borrowings
£Em £m £m £m
Steriing 3.1 - 03 21
Euro 13.4 B84.6 39.0 309.4
US dollar 28.0 - 74 12
Malaysian ringgit 49.0 - 341 -
Other 101 - 16.1 -
Total ] 103.6 84.6 96.9 3127

The principal teatures of the Group’s borrowings are as foliows:

The Group refinanced in July 2018 eritering into a committed unsecured four-year multicurrency revolving credit facility (RCF') of €440 million

expiring July 2022 with an option to request an extension to July 2023.

As part of the Cmnova acquisition financing, the Group put in piace new facilities conditional on completion of the acquisition. These consist
of a $260 miliion term loan and €460 million RCF with five-year terms ending on 3 July 2024, and a €520 million acquisition financing bridging
facility. The bridging facility is available for 15 months from July 2019 and may be extended for two periods of six months.
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22 Financial instruments
The table below sets out the Group's accounting classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities:

Financial instruments

Carrying
smount Valuation
Carrying within acope categoryin Fair value
amount of IFRS 7 accordance Falr valus hisrarchy
£m £m  with IFRS 8 £m lavel
Trade receivables 162.7 1627 AC 162.7 Level 2
QOther receivables 22.3 8.7 AC 8.7 Level 2
Cash and cash equivalents 103.6 103.6 AC 103.6 Level 2
Derivatives ~ no hedge accounting 4.9 4.9 FVTPL 4.9 Level2
Total assets 293.5 279.9 276.9
Borrowings (82.9) (82.9) AC (84.6) Level2
Trade and other payables (233.4) (225.8) AC (225.8) Level2
Derivatives — no hedge accounting {11.0) {11.0) FVTPL 110} Lewel?
Derivatives — hedge accounting {3.3) {3.3) FVTOCI {3.3) Level2
Total liabilities (330.6) (323.0) {324.7)
Note:

1. AC: amortiseg cost, FVTOC!. fair value through other comprehensive ncome; FVTPL: fair value through profit or loss, a more datailed description of the categones can be found
innote 2,

The fair vaiue of the Group's borrowings at 31 December 2019 was £84.6 million. This does not include capitalised debt costs.

Financial risk management

The Group's policies, approved by the Board, provide written principles on financial risk management and the use of financial derivatives.
These risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk}, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has a policy of hedging significant foreign exchange transactional exposure at operating company level. The Group regularly reviews

its net assets and borrowing currency exposures, borrowing in overseas currencies in order to hedge the net assets held in those currencies as
appropriate. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Currency risk
The Group presents its consaoiidated financial statements in sterling and conducts business in many currencies. As a result, it is subject
to foreign currency risk due to exchange rate movements, which will affect the Group’s transactions and the translation of the results and

underlying net assets of its operations.

To manage the currency risk the Group uses foreign currency borrowings, forward contracts and currency swaps to hedge overseas net
assets, which are predominantly denominated in euro, US dollar and Malaysian ringgit. Profit translation exposures are not hedged.

The Group hedges currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed order, using forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's
policy is, where practicable, to hedge all exposures on monetary assets and liabilities. Gonsequenitly, there are no material currency exposures
to disclose (2018: none).

Interest rate risk
The Group has an exposure to interest rate risk, arising principally on changes in US dollar and eure interest rates. To manage interest rate

risk, the Group ranages its proportion of fixed to floating rate borrowings, and utilises interest rate swaps. These practices aim to minimise
the Group's net finance charges with acceptable year-on-year volatility.

At 31 December 2019 the Group had in place swap arrangements to fix interest rates on the full value of the €440 million committed,
unsecured RCF.

The Group’s interest rate derivatives are designated as fair value hedges with fair value movement on the hedged portion recognised in equity.
Interest paid on these derivatives is recognised in the income statement, within interest paid. Fair value movement in the unhedged portion is
also recognised in profit and loss, as a Special item.

After taking account of interest rate swaps, the Group's currency and interest rate exposure as at 31 December 2019 was:

2019 2018
Floating rate Fixed rate Total Floating rate Fixed rate Total
borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowtngs borrowings
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Sterling - - - 21 - 21
Euro - 84.6 84.6 174 2920 309.4
US dollar - - - 1.2 - 12
Total - 84.6 84.6 20.7 292.0 3127
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

22 Financial instruments continued

Market risk sensitivity analysis

The Group's main exposure to market risk is in the form of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group uses a sensitivity analysis

that estimates the impacts on the consolidated income statement and cther comprehensive incorme of either an instantaneous increase or
decrease of 1.0% in market interest rates or a 10% strengtihening or weakening in sterling against all other currencies, from the rates applicable
at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 with all other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis excludes the impact of market
risks on the net post employment benefit liabilities and assets, and corporate {ax payable. This analysis is for ilustrative purposes only, as
interest and foreign exchange rates rarely change in isolation.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

2018 2018
Income statement Equity Income statement Equity
Undertying IFRS IFRS Underlying IFRS IFRS
i+ €M -/+ Em -/+ Em -+ £m -+ £m -+ Em
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
UK interest rate +/- 1.0% - - - - - -
Euro interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.1 3.0 0.8 - 1.0 2.9
US interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.3 - - 0.1 01 -
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Sterling -/+ 10% {1.7) {1.7) - 0.8) {0.8} {1.5)
Malaysian Ringgit exchange rate -/+ 10% - - - - - -
Eurc exchange rate -/+ 10% 1.4 1.4 - 0.6 0.6 1.5
US dollar exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.4 0.4 - 0.2 0.2 -

The interest rate sensitivity analysis has been delermined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instrurments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabliities, the analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of liability cutstanding at
the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

For interest rate derivatives the mark-to-market adjustment, and amount recognised in equity as part of a hedging arrangement, is estimated
using the interest rate sensitivity against the nominal amount.

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates, The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as welt as loans to foreign operations
within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender or borrower.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers 10 the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractua!l obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises

on cash balances, derivative financial instruments and credit exposures to customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group's exposure ta credit risk at the balance shest date as disclosed at the start of this
note. A financial asset is in default when the counterparty fails to pay its contractual obligations. Financiai assets are written-off when there is
no reascnable expectation of recovery. Credit risk is managed separately for financial and business-related credit exposures.

Financial credit risk

Synthomer aims to minirmise its financial credit risk through the application of risk management policies approved and monitored by the Board.
Counterparties are predominantly limited to major banks and financial institutions with a credit rating of investment grade and the policy
restricts the exposure to any one counterparty by setting credit limits. The Group's policy is designed to ensure that individual counterparty
limits are adhered to and that there are na significant concentrations of credit risk. The Board also defines the types of financial instruments
which may be transacted. Synthomer annually reviews the credit limits applied and regularly monitors the counterparties’ credit guality,

reflecting market credit conditions.

Business related credit risk

Trade and other receivables exposures are managed locally in the operating units where they arise and active risk management is appiied,
focusing on country risk, credit limits, ongoing credit evaluation and menitoring procedures. There is no significant concentration of credit risk
with respect to receivables as the Group has a large number of custormners which are internationally dispersed. See note 20 for information on
credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Synthomer is unable to meet its payment obligations when due, or that it is unable, on an ongoing basis, to borrow
flinds at an acceptable price to fund actual or proposed commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuousfy monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity

profiles of assets and liabilities.
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The following tables provide an analysis of the anticipated undiscounted contractual cash flows including interest payable for the Group's
financial liabiiities and derivative instruments. The liquidity analysis for lease liabilities is included in note 23. Where interest payments are
calculated at a floating rate, rates of each cash fiow until maturity of the instruments are calculated based on the forward yield curve prevailing
at the respective year ends. Derivative contracts are presented on a net basis.

2019 2018
Amount due Amount due
between between between  between
within 1and 2 and after within 1 and 2 and after
1 year 2 yoars 5 yeoars 5 yoara 1 year 2 years 5 years & years
£m £m £m £m £m £m £rm £m
Overdrafts - - - - (20.7) - - -
Financtal liabilities in trade and other payables {225.3) (0.2) {0.3) - {253.4) 0.9) {0.3) -
Bank loans - principal - -  (84.6) - {49.4) - (242.6) -
Interest payments on borrowings {0.9) {0.9) (0.5) - {2.3) {1.9) 2.9 -
Total non-derivative financial liabilities (226.2) {11} (85.4} - {325.8) (2.3} (245.8) -
2019 2018 o
Amount due B Amount due
batween betwaen batwsen  betwesn
within 1and 2 and after within 1 and 2 and alter
1 year 2 years 5 yaars Syears 1 year 2 years 5years 5 yaars
. £m £m £m £m Em £m £m £rm
Deal contingent currency fix 4.0 - - - - - - -
Currency forwards 0.9 - - - - - - -
Total derivative financial assets 4.9 - - - - - —
Interest rate swaps {3.6) 3.6) (10.9) 2.7) (3.3) 3.3 (100 5.8
Total derivative financiat liabilities {3.6) {3.6) {10.9) {2.7) 3.3) 3.3 (00 (5.8)

The financial covenant for the RCF is that net debt must be less than 3,25 times EBITDA.

Any non-compliance with covenants underlying Synthomer’s financing arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of default with
respect 1o any such arrangements, and any non-compliance with covenanis may, in particular circumstances, fead o an acceleration of
maturity on certain borrowings and the inability to access committed facilities. Synthomer was in full compliance with its financial covenants in
respect of its borrowings throughout each of the years presented,

At the year end, Synthomer had available undrawn committed bank facilities as follows:

2019 2018
Expiring Expiring

hetween Expiring betwean Expiring

2 and after 2 and after
5 years 5§ years Total S years 5 years Total
£m £m tm £m tm £m
Unsecured €440m multi-currency RCF expiring 23 July 2022 287.4 - 2874 152.8 - 1528
Unsecured €55m loan expiring 26 July 2019 - - - - - -
2874 - 2874 152.8 - 152.8

Fair value measurement
Certain of the Grougp's financial instruments are held at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received

to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabiity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the balance sheet date.
As prescribed by IFRS 13 Fair Vaiue Measurement, fair vaiues are measured using a hierarchy where the inputs are as follows:
— Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

— Level 2 — not level 1 but are observable for that asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

= Level 3 — not based on observable market data.

interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps are valued using discounted cash flow techniques. These techniques incorporate
inputs such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which are used in a discounted cash flow calculation incorporating the instrument’s
term, national amount and discount rate, and taking credit risk into account. As significant inputs to the valuation are observable in active
markets, all of the Group's financial instruments are classified as level 2 financial instruments.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and currency swaps Is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows using forward exchange rates, interest rates and prices at the balance sheet date.

There were no transfers of any financial instrument between the tevels of the fair value hierarchy during the current or pricr years.
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Group financlal statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

22 Financial instruments continued

Hedge relationships
The Group targets a one-to-one hedge ratio. Strengths of the economic reiationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument is

analysed on an ongoing basis. Ineffectiveness can arise from subseguent change in the forecast transactions as a result of timing. cash flows
or value except when the critical terms of the hedging instrument and hedged item are closely aligned. The change in the credit risk of the
hedging instruments or the hedged items is not expected to be the primary factor in the economic relationship.

The notional amounts, contractual maturities and rates of the hedging instrurnents designated in hedging relationships as of 31 December 2019
by the main risk categories are as 1ollows:

Hedged sk Notienal amount Maturity Range of nedyed rates
2019
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swap Interest rate Up to €440m 28/08/2018 — 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed
2018
Cash flow hedges
Iinterest rate swap Interest rate Up to €440m 28/08/2018 — 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed
Fair value hedges
Foreign currency debt Currency Up to €350m 01/01/2018 - 31/12/2018 £1: €1128 - €1.140

Where hedge accounting is applied, hedges are docurnented and tested for effectiveness on an ongoing basis.

The ratio for hedging instruments designated in both net investment and cash flow hedge relationships was 1:1. Ineffectiveness could occur on
either hedging relationship due 10 significant changes in countarparty credit risk or a reduction in the notional amount of the hedged item during

the designated hedging period.

Cash flow hedges
The Group designated as a cash flow hedge the interest rate swaps used to manage interest rate risk on its Eurc borrowings.

In 2019 a loss of £8.7 miflion {2018: £3.9 millicn loss) was recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in respect of these derivatives.

At 31 December 2019 the cash flow hedge reserve includes a loss of £12.6 million (2018: £3.9 million), all of which relates to continuing cash
flow hedges. The cash flows are expected to occur between 2020 and 2025,

In the year, the Group’s borrowings fell below the total of the interest rate derivative contracts, leading to a reduction in the balance designated
as a cash flow hedge. The change in fair value relating to the unhedged portion of the interest rate swaps was £0.5 million (2018: £1.4 million)
which was recognised in the income statement within finance costs as a Special ltem.

Capital management
The Board is committed t¢ enhancing shareholder value in the long term, both by investing in the business s¢ as to deliver continued

improvement in the return from those investments and by managing the capital structure.

Synthomer manages its capital structure to achieve capital efficiency and to provide flexibility to invest through the economic cycle and give
efficient access to debt markets at attractive cost levels. This is achieved by targeting a net debt to EBITDA ratio between 1.G and 2.0. in order
to finance acquisitions, the Group may increase the ratio to 3.0, with deleveraging within 12-24 months,

As at 31 December 2018 the net debt to EBITDA ratio was -0.1 times.

The Board maintains a dividend policy to 2.5 times earnings cover. Should excess capital not be deployed for acquisitions or capital
expenditure, the Board will periodically consider one-off capital returns to shareholders in order to maintain an efficient balance sheet.
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23 Lease liabilities
Information presented in this note is in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 and is presented in accordance with IFRS 16.

Information in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented in accordance with IAS 17

The Group has a portfolio of leases mainly comprising land and buildings, chemical storage tanks and vehicies. Further details are given
in note 2.

Information in respect of right of use assets, including the carrying amount, additions and depreciation, are set cut in note 17 to thase financial
statements. Information in respect of the carrying value and interest arising on lease liabilities is set out in note 23 and note 9 respectively.
A maturity analysis of lease llabilities is set out below.

Synthomer also enters into short-term leases and low value leases which are not recognised as right of use assets and lease liabilities.
The expense recognised in the period in relation to these leases is not material. Synthomer has no material exposure to variable lease
payments, extension options or committed leases not yet commenced.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabifities in the statement of financial position at the initial adoption
on 1 January 2019 was 2.49%.

The total cash outflow for leases in the year was as fellows:

2019
£m
Payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities 6.8
Payments for the interest portion of lease liabilities 1.1
Lease liabiiities included in the balance sheet
31 December
2018
£m
Current 7.5
Non-current 34.4
41.9
The following table details the maturity of contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities:
2019
£m
Eéss than one year 7.6
Between one and two years 7.3
Between two and five years 17.7
More than five years 17.5
24 Trade and other payables
2019 2018
£m £m
Amount due within one year
Trade payables 186.8 204.9
Other payables 15.4 277
Accruals 30.7 30.6
232.9 263.2
Amount due after one year
Trade payables - -
Other payables - -
Accruals 0.5 07
0.5 0.7

Average trade payable days in 2019 was 58 (2018 61). This figure represents trade payable days for all trading operations within the Group,
calculated as a weighted average based on cost of sales,

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals approximates to their fair value.
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Group financial statemants
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

25 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Liability

arising en

a business
Restructuring  cembination Total
£m £m £m
At 1 January 2019 14.0 0.2 14.2
Credited 1o the income statement 1.1 {0.2) {1.3)
Reclassified on adoption of IFRS 186 (2.8) - (2.8)
Utilised during the year (3.2) - (3.2)
At 31 December 2019 6.9 - 6.9

Analysis of provisions
31 December 31 December

2019 2018
£m £m
Non-current 2.0 4.8
Current 4.9 9.4
6.9 14.2
Analysis of (credit)/charge to the income statement
2019 2018
£m SmA
Underlying performance {0.2) (2.5)
Special terns (1.1) 9.3
{1.3) 68

Restructuring
During the year, the Group progressed site restructuring activities in Ribécourt, France and Kluang, Malaysia. Gosts in Kluang were lower than

anticipated and £1.1 miliion was released back to Special iterns in the year.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to rely on its assessment of whether leases are onerous under IAS
37. In accordance with IFRS 18, the right of use asset was adjusted at the date of initial application by the amount recognised on the balance
sheet immediately before this date. At 31 December 2018, the Group held a £2.8 millicn onerous iease provision for the closed site in Ossett
which was allocated against the right of use asset on 1 January 2019,

26 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group cperates a variety of retirernent benefit arrangements, covering both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes.

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes for its employees. Costs recognised in respect of defined contribution pension

plans across the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were £7.1 miilion {2018: £6.8 million).

Multi-employer schemes

The Group participates in several tariffs of the Pensionskasse Degussa in Germany, which s a multi-employer pension scheme.,

Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating employer for new benefits accruing. The assets of all participating
employers are pooled, and contributions are calculated based on aggregated demographic experience. Therefore sufficient information is not
avallable to identify the Group’s share of the assets on a consistent and reliable basis and the Group accounts for the scheme on a defined
contribution basis. The Group expects to make a regular contribution of £2.3 million to the scheme in 2020.

To the extent that there is underfunding in the scherme, deficit contributions are payable based on an actuarial assessment of each pariicipating
employer's share of the future benefit accrual. At 31 December 2019 there is ne indication of any commitment for additicnal deficit contributions
in excess of regular contributions.

Detined benefit schemes

UK

The Group's UK defined benefit scheme is administered by a fund that is legally separate from the Company. The trustees of the pension fund
are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme. The trustees of the pension are responsible

for the investrnent policy with regard 1o the assels of the fund.

The scheme was ¢losed to future accrual in 2008 and all retirement benefits since that time are provided by way of a defined contribution
scherne. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the companies concerned. A triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme
was undertaken in 2018 and completed in 2019,

Germany
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes in Germany. These schemes are closed to new members. In line with common

practice, these schemes are unfunded and liabilities are settied on a cash basis as they fall due. At each balance sheet date, obligations are
caloulated by external actuaries.
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Other schemes

The Group operates a number of smaller overseas pension and retirement benefit schemes. For the furided schemes, assets are held

separately from those of the Group.

The aggregated pension disclosures for the other defined benefit schemes have been compiled from a number of actuarial valuations at

31 December 2019,

Retirement benefit risks

Defined berefit schemes expose the Group to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset return risk The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields;  plan assets
underperform this yield, this will increase the deficit. The scheme holds a significant proportion of equities which are
expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term while providing volatifity and risk in the short term,

Interest rate risk A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the

value of the plans’ bend holdings.

Longevity risk The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expeactancy wil

result in an increase in the plans’ liabilities.

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members (widow and orphan benefits} is re-insured by an external

insurance company.

Charge to income statement in respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes:

2018 2018
UK Germany Cther Total UK Germany Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Service cost 0.7 0.4 0.5 1.6 0.8 0.4 0.5 17
Net interest expense 1.3 1.3 0.1 2.7 1.8 1.3 #A] 3.2
Special ttem — UK GMP equalisation - - - - 28 - - 28
2.0 17 0.6 4.3 54 1.7 0.6 7.7
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:
2019 2018
UK Germany Other Total UK Germany Qther Tatal
£€m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Return on pian assets excluding amounts B
inciuded in interest expense/{income) 33.5 - 11 34.6 (13.5) 01 {0.2) {13.6)
{Losses)/gains from changes in assumptions {50.9) (9.0) (1.9} {61.8) 277 1.1 0.3 291
Actuarial (fosses)/gains {17.4) {9.0) (0.8) {27.2)} 14.2 1.2 0.1 15.5
Amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s defined benefit scheme obligations:
2019 2018
UK Germany Other Yotal UK Germany Qther Total
Em £m £y £m £m £m Em em
Present value of defined benefit cbligations (422.2) {79.3) {171) {518.6) (372.3) {75.0) {15.8) 463.1}
Fair value of scheme assets 366.5 ) 3.1 9.0 378.6 3181 3.3 8.2 330.6
Net liability arising from defined benefit
obligations {55.7) {76.2) (8.1) (140.0) (53.2) (71.7) (7.6) (132.5)
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Group financial statamants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2019

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued

Fair value of scheme assets:

2018 2018
UK Germany Other Total UK Garmany Dther Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 3191 3.3 8.2 330.6 3325 3.2 7.6 343.3
Interest income 8.9 0.2 0.1 9.2 8.2 Q.1 01 8.4
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benefit schemes 8.9 0.2 18] 9.2 8.2 a1 0.1 84
Remeasurement:
Return on plan assets excluding amounts
included in interest income 33.5 - 11 346 (13.5) 041 ©.2) {13.6)
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 335 - 1.1 346 (13.5) 01 0.2) (13.6)
Contributicns:
Employers 16.2 - 0.3 16.5 16,8 - 0.3 15.8
Payments from plans:
Benefit payments (16.8} {0.2) {0.2) {17.2) (23.6) ©.2) {0.2) (24.0)
{0.6) (0.2) 0.1 {0.7) (8.1) 0.2) 01 8.2
Disciosure of annuity asset on a gross basis 56 - - 5.6 - - - -
Plan assels from acquired entities - - - - - - 0.6 Q.6
Exchange adjustments - {0.2) (0.5) {0.7) - 04 - 0.1
At 31 December 366.5 3.1 9.0 378.6 3191 3.3 8.2 3306
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2018 2018
B UK Germany o UK Germahy
£m £m £m £m
Hedge funds 45.7 - 36.2 -
Equities 71.5 1.5 64.9 1.6
Debt instruments 229.5 1.6 192.2 1.7
Property 12.2 - 8.2 -
Annuity assets 5.6 - - -
Cash 2.0 - 17.6 -
Total fair value of assets 366.5 3.1 319.1 3.3

All investments in equities, bonds and property are guoted.
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Present value of scheme liabilities

2019 208
UK Germany Other Total UK Germany Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January (372.3) {75.0) (15.8) (463.1) #410.8) (75.2) {14.5) (500.5)
Current service cost (0.7) {0.4) {0.5) (1.6} .8 {0.5) {0.5) (1.8}
Past service cost - - - - (2.8 o1 - 2.7)
Interest expense (10.2) (1.5) (0.2} {11.9) (10.0) (1.4} {0.2) {11.6)
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benefit schemes (10.9) {1.9) 0.7} {13.5) (13.6) (1.8 0.7) {(16.1)
Remeasurement;
{Losses)/gains from changes in financial
assurnptions (48.0} {10.2) {1.8) {60.0) 189 1.2 0.4 8.5
Losses from changes in demographic
assumptions {2.9) - - (2.9) {0.3) - - 0.3
Gains/llosses) from experience
__adjustments - 1.2 {0.1) 14 1.4 ©4) 0.9 109
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income {50.9} {9.0) (1.9) {61.8) 277 11 03 29.1
Contributions;
Employers 0.7 1.7 D.2 2.6 0.8 1.6 04 2.8
Payments from plans:
Benefil payments 16.8 0.2 0.2 17.2 23.6 0.2 0.2 24.0
17.5 1.9 0.4 19.8 24,4 1.8 06 268
Scheme liabilities from acquired entities - - - - - - (1.2) 1.2
Other: Disclosure of annuity asset on a
gross basis {5.6) - - (5.6} - - - -
Exchange adjustments - 4.7 0.9 56 - 0.9 0.3 (1.2}
At 31 December {422.2) (79.3} (171} {518.6) {372.3) {75.0} (15.8) 463.1)

The Group remains committed te funding its deficit recovery plan for the UK scheme. The 2018 triennial valuation, which completed in 2018,
indicated a shortfali of £77.0 million when measured against the scheme's technical provisions. This shortfall is expecied to be eliminated by
2023 and the Group remains committaed to paying contributions for the periocd 6 April 2015 to 5 April 2023, increasing from £16.4 million in

the year commencing 6 April 2019 to £18.2 million for the year commencing 6 April 2022. Contributions from the sponsering companies are

expected to be £16.5 million in 2020.
The Group's other defined benefit schemes are largely unfunded, with minimal plan assets. Liabiiities from these schemes are settled on a cash
basis as they fall due.

Actuarial assumptions
The major assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2018 2018
UK  Germany Qvergeas UK Germany Ove;;

% % % % % %

Ea!e of increase in pensions in payment 2.80 1.00 2.00-2.25 2.00 1.00 1.90-2.63
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment 2.10 2.50 1.50-2.25 2.20 3.00 1.50-2.63
Discount rate 2.00 1.20 0.30-0.90 2.80 2.00 0.7G-1.90
Inflation assumption 2.90 1.75 1.00-2.00 3.20 1.75 1.50-2.00
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Assumptions regarding future maortality are based on actuariat advice in accordance with published statistics. These assumptions translate into
an average life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at 65 as follows in the tabie below.

Mortality assumptions are based on country-specific mortality tables and, where appropriate, include an allowance for future improvements
in life expectancy. In addition, where ¢redible data exists, actual plan experience is taken into account. The Group's most substantial pension
liabilities are in the UK and Germany where, using the mortality tables adopted, the expected lifetime of average members currently at age 65
and average members at age 85 in 20 years' time is as follows:

2018 2ms
Retiring today Retiring In 20 years Reliring today Roetiring in 20 years
- UK Germany UK Germany UK Germany . UK Germany
Male 87.2 B5.2 88.8 88.0 87.1 85.0 83.7 87.8
Fernale 89.5 88.7 91.3 90.9 89.4 88.6 91.2 90.8

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 15.7 years for the UK scheme (2018: 14.0 years)
and 18.2 years for the German schermes (2018; 17.6 years).

Sensitivity analysis

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and mortality. The sensitivity analysis
below has been determined based on reascnably possible changes of the assumptions cccurring at the end of the reporting period, assuming
that alt other assumptions are held constant:

Increase in scheme
ltabilities

UK Germany

£m £m
Discount rate (decrease of 1%) 61 14
Future mortality rate (one year increase in expectancy) 19 1

The above sensitivities are based on a change of assumpticn while holding all other assurmptions constant. In practice this is unlikely to ocgur
and changes in some of the assumptions may have some correlation. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation o
significant actuarial assumptions, the same method {present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the balance sheet.

27 Share capital and reserves
Share capital

2018 2018 2019 2018
Number Numiper £m £m

Ordinary shares of 10 pence
Shares in issue at 1 January 339,880,769 339,880,769 34.0 34.0
Issued in year 84,970,192 - 8.5 -
Shares in issue at 31 December 424,850,961 339,880,769 42.5 34.0

Ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income.,

On 28 July 2019 the Group compieted a rights issue on the basis of one share for every four fully paid ordinary shares held, resulting in the
issue of 84,970,192 ordinary shares at 240 pence per share.

Share premium

2019 2m8e
£m £m
Balance at 1 January 230.5 230.5
Premium arising on issue of shares 195.4 -
Expenses of issue of shares (4.8) -
Balance at 31 December 4211 2305
The share premium account represents the difference between the issue price and the nominal value of shares issued,
Retained earnings
2019 2m8
£m £
Balance at 1 January 1921 12556
Dividends paid (47.9) {42.5)
Net profit for the year 846 988
Actuarial {{osses)/gains recognised in other comprehensive income {27.2} 15.5
Tax arising from other comprehensive income 4.7 2.3)
Charge to equity for equity-settled share-based payments ] {1.9) (3.9
Balance at 31 December 204.4 1921
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Hedging and translation reserve

Cash flow
hedging  Translation
reserve reserve Total
£m £ £m
Balance at 1 January 2018 (3.9) 10.3 6.4
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign operations - {15.3) {15.3)
Loss on hedging instrument designated as a hedge of the net assets of foreign cperations - (1.9) (1.9}
Gain/{loss) recognised on cash flow hedges:

Interest rate swaps {8.7) - (8.7)
Balance at 31 December 2019 {12.6} {6.9) (19.5)
Balance at 1 January 2018 - (3.0) 3.0)
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign operations - 16.9 16.9
Exchange differences recycled on sale of business - 0.4} 0.4
Loss on hedging instrument designated as a hedge of the net assets of foreign operations - {3.2) 3.2
Gain/{loss) recognised on cash flow hedges:

Interest rate swaps {3.9 - (3.9)
Balance at 3t December 2018 (3.9 10.3 6.4

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges.
The cumulative deterred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the

profit or {oss, or is included as a basis adjustment te the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Translation reserve

Exchange differences reiating tc the translation of the net assets of the Group's fereign operations, which relate to subsidiaries only, from their
functional currency into the parent’s functional currency, being sterling, are recognised directly in the translation reserve. Gains and losses on
hedging instruments that are dasignated as hedges of net investrents in foreign operations are included in the translation reserve.

28 Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations

2018 2018
£m £m
Operating profit - continuing operations 110.6 128.7
Less: share of profits of joint ventures {0.9) (0.4)
109.7 128.3
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 43.4 37.8
Depraciation of right of use assets 7.3 -
Amgrtisation of other intangibles 1.4 11
Share-basad payments 0.6 15
Special terns 15.2 134
Cash impact of restructuring and site closure (4.4) (3.3
Cash impact of acquisition costs {7.5) {0.5)
Cash impact of gain on rights issue 3.5 -
Cash impact of aborted bond costs - {1.2)
Pension funding in excess of service cost {17.5) (17.0)
Mavement in working capital 18.5 {35.2)
Cash generated from operations 170.2 1249
Reconciliation of movement in working capital
Decrease/{increase) in inventories 15.0 {13.5)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 34.3 (5.6
Decrease in trade and other payables {30.8} {16.1)
18.5 (35.2)

Moverment in working capita
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Group financial statements
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2019

29 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, bave been eliminated on consolidation and are not included
in this note. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company's financial statements where appropriate.

The UK defined benefit scheme is a related party; see note 26.

2019 2018
Key manhag t comp i £m £m
Short-term employee benefits 4.3 5.2
Pension costs 05 0.4
Share-based payments 0.6 1.5
5.4 7.1

The key ranagement figures given above include the Directors and members of the Executive Committee.

30 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees

Other guarantees and contingent liabilities of the Group amount to £2.6 million (2018: £8.4 million) and relates to an environmental liability

in France. The 2018 balance included a gontingent liability arising from the European Commission State Aid case in ralation to the Group
Financing Exernption {'GFE') in the UK Controlled Foreign Company legislation. Following the release of the Commission’s final decision in April
2019, the Group has partially provided for the GFE amounts previously claimed. This is discussed further in note 10,

The Company and its subsidiaries have, in the normal course of business, entered into guarantees and counter-indemnities in respect of
periormance bonds, relating 1o the Group's own contracts.

During 2018, the European Commission {the ‘Commission’) initiated an investigation inte practices relating to the purchase of Styrene monomer
by companies, including Synthorner, operating in the European Economic Area. The Company has and will continue to fully cooperate with

the Commission during its investigation. As the investigation is ongoing and the Commission does not provide feedback on its work until the
irvestigation is complete, it is not possible to determine whether or not a liability exists in relation to this matter.

31 Share-based payments

Executive share option scheme

The Group's share option scheme is described in the Directors’ Rernmuneration report on pages 83 to 102. in addition 1o the two Executive
Directors, it is available to other senior management. Movement in the options held under the scheme are defined as follows:

Weighted av. Weighted av

exercise exercise

Options price (£) Options price (L}

2019 2018 2018 2018

number number number numbetr

QOutstanding at 1 January 1,807,963 - 2,257,771 -
Granted during the year 914,184 - 547,752 -
Exercised during the year {697,627) - {883,923) -
Lapsed during the year (87,522) - (113,637} -
Outstanding at 31 December 1,936,998 - 1,807,963 -
Exercisable at 31 December 36,414 - 170,622 -

Grants in 2019 included 143,146 options arising to counter the dilutive effect of the rights issue.

The cutstanding share options were all issued under the executive share option scheme. As at 31 December 2019 the following options were
outstanding:

Nun_'EEL
Exercisable between 2016-2023 ) 12,725
Exercisable between 2017-2024 13,473
Exercisable between 2018-2025 10,216
Exercisable between 2019-2026 -
Exercisable between 2020-2027 532,849
Exercisable between 2021-2028 588,689
Exercisabte between 2022-2029 779,046
1,936,998

The total exercise price for ail the above grants is £nil.

For options outstanding as at 31 December 2019, the exercise price was £nil and the weighted average remaining contractual life was 5.07
years (2018: 4.75 years).

The Group also operates a cash settled share-based payment scheme for which there was an expense in the year of £0.1 million
(2018: £0.5 million) and for which there was a liability at the year end of £0.7 million (2018: £1.5 milfion).
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The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust
The Company established a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Employee Benefit Trust, on 17 July 1996 to distribute shares to employees enabling

the obligations under the Yule Catto Longer-Term Performance Share Plan and the Yule Gatto Longer-Term Deferred Bonus Plan to be met.
The Trust is managed by the RBC Trustees (Guernsey} Limited, an independant company located in Guernsey.

At 31 December 2019, the Trust held 1,880 {2018: 110,969} ordinary shares in the Company with a market value of £0.0 million
{2018: £0.4 million).

The dividends on these shares have bean waived. All of the shares are under option. Costs are amartisad aver the life of the plans.
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £3.61 (2018: £4.91).

The weighted average fair value of the options at the measurement date granted during the year was £1.81 (2018: £2.68). The valuation was
based on the following inputs and assumptions, using a Maonte Carlo simulation model,

2018 2018

Weighted average share price {f) 3.77 4.88
Option price {£) - -
Value of optionality nil nil
48% 55%

Vesting assumption

The vesting assumption is the estimate at the measurement date of the percentage of the options that will ultimately vest and is based on
market conditions and management’s assessment of the likelihood of achievernent of the performance criteria.

32 Share price information
The middie market value of the listed ordinary shares at 31 December 2019 was 353.8 pence {31 December 2018: 357.4 pence). During the

year, the market price ranged between 278.0 pence and 420.8 pence. The latest ordinary share price is available on the Group's website,
www.synthomer.com

33 Audit exemptions
The following subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2019 available under $479a

of the Compantes Act 2008, as the Company has given a statutory guarantee of all of the outstanding liabilities of these subsidiaries as at
31 December 2019.

Company registration

Company
Dimex Limited 01763129
Ecatto Limited 009784
Harlow Chemical Company Limited Q0778831
PolymerLatex Limited 03439041
Revertex Limited C0B73653
S.A. (300} Limited 00236227
Super Sky Limited 02021871
Synthomer Overseas Limited 06349474
Termple Fields 514 Limited 04541637
Ternpie Fietds 515 Limited 00692510
Termple Figlds 522 Limited 05516912
Termnple Fields 523 Limited 05516913
00831113

Temple Fields 530 Limited
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Comparty financial staterneants
Company balance sheet
31 December 2019

2019 2018
_ NBE.‘;.,_ o £m . ) E:m
Non-current assets o o o
Irvestment in subsidiaries and joint ventures 3 264.6 2081
Property, plant and equipment 4 5.6 2.3
ST ’ T R © 2102 2104
Current assets
OCther receivables 5 877.0 963.6
Cash and cash equivalents 21.8 53.3
Derivative financial instruments ) g 49 -
o E T o T 9037 10168
Current liabilities
Borrowings 8 {11.6) (74.3)
Other payables 8 {251.9) 262.9)
Derivative financial instruments 9 {14.3} (5.2)
Lease liabilities o B {0.4) -
- - T - _@78) (3425
Netcumemtasels o mromooew Y
Total assets less current fiabilities o 8958 8848
Non-current liabilities ) i
Borrowings 8 (82.9) (2408
Leasa liabilitios B o - ~ ) i B (E.O} -
Netassets B o T 808.9 6440
Equity
Share capital 10 425 34.0
Share premium 421.1 2305
Rewvaluation reserve 0.8 0.8
Capital redermnption reserve 0.8 0.9
344{ N 3778

Retained samings

Equity attributable to ehareholders

As disclosed in note 2, the Company's profit for the year was £25.2 million {2018: £46.9 milliors).
The notes on pages 150 1o 153 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Synthomer plcgregistered number 88381) on pages 148 1o 153 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 5 March 2020. ey

C G MacLean —_
Director Director

e
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Capital

Share Share Revaluati redemptl Retained Total

capital premium reserve reserve sarnings aquity

£m £m £m £m £m Em

At 1 January 2019 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 377.8 644.0
Profit for the year - - - - 25,2 25.2
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 25.2 25.2
Issue of shares B.5 190.6 - - - 199.4
Dividends - - - - {47.9) {47.9)
Share-based payments - - - - (1.9 {1.9)
Fair vaiue loss on hedged interest derivatives - - - - (8.6} (8.6)
At 31 December 2019 42.5 421.1 0.8 0.9 344.6 809.9

Capital

Share Share Revaluation redamption Retained Total

capital premijum reserve reserve 8amings squity

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 381.2 6474
Profit for the year -~ - - - 46.9 489
Total compretensive income for tha year - - - - 46.9 488
Dividends - - - - 42.5) (42.5)
Share-based payments - - - - 3.9 3.9
Fair vaiue loss on hedged interest derivatives i - - - - {3.9} (3.9
At 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 08 0.8 377.8 644.0
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Company financral statements
Notes to the Company financial statements
31 December 2019

1 Significant accounting policies

The separate financial statements of the Cormpany are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. The Company meets the definition of
a qualitying entity under FRS 100 'Application of Financial Reporting Requirements' issued by the FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements
were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Frameawork'.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Gompany has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions avaitabie under that standard in relation to share-
based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective and certain
related party transactions.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis except for the remeasurement of cenain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

The principal accounting policies adopted are the samea as those set out in note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements except as

noted below,

Investrnents in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment. The camying amounts of
the Company's investments are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whather there is an indication of impairment. If such an indicaticn
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Losses are recognised in the income statement and reflected in an allowance against
the carrying value. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed

through the income statement.

Intercompany balances are shown gross unless a right of set-off exists. Balances are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on
demand. All intercompany loans are repayable on demand and the Company has the ability to refinance any of its subsidiaries using equity
allowing the subsidiary to repay any receivables owed to Synthomer plc.

Dividend distributions t¢ the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company's financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Cempany's shareholders.

There are ne significant accounting judgements and estimates applied in preparing the Company's account except for the impairment testing
of amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings. When measuring the potential impairment of receivables from subsidiaries, forward-looking
information based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers are considered.

2 Profit for the year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate profit and loss account or statement of comprehensive income
is presented for Synthomer plc. The Company reported a profit of £25.2 million for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2019 (2018: profit of

£46.9 million).
The auditor’s remuneration for audit and othar services is disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Gompany had no empioyees during the current or prior year.

3 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Joint

Subsidiaries ventures Total
£m £m £m
Cost )
At 1 January 2019 207.8 0.5 208.3
Additions 56.5 - 56.5
At 31 December 2019 . 264.3 0.5 264.8
Provisions
At 1 January and 31 December 2019 - 0.2 0.2
Net book value
264.3 0.3 264.6

At 31 December 2019

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures are included in note 11 on pages 152 to 153.

Following a return of capital in December 2018, the Company’s investment in Synthomer Jersey Limited was reduced to nil. As the qualifying
criteria for hedge accounting were no longer met, the Company de-designated the fair value hedge of euro denominated borrowings against

this investment.
Directors consider the value of investments to be supported by underlying assets.
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4 Property, plant and equipment

2019 Land and buildings

2018 Land and buildings

Right of uss

assots Freehold Total Freehoid Total
£€m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January - 3.0 3o 2.8 2.8
Additions 3.2 - 3.2 0.2 0.2
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 0.9 - 0.9 - -
At 31 December 4.1 30 71 3.0 3.0
Accurmulated depreciation
At 1 January - 0.7 0.7 0.7 6.7
Charge for the year 0.6 0.2 0.8 - -
At 31 December ) 0.6 0.9 1.5 0.7 0.7
Net book value
At 31 December 3.5 21 5.6 2.3 23
Freehold land amounting to £1.8 miflion (2018: £1.8 millicn) has not been depreciated.
5 Other receivables
2019 2018
£m £m
Amocunts owed by Group undertakings 875.6 962.9
Other receivables 0.3 0.7
Prepayments and accrued income 1.1 -
877.0 963.6

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.

Of the parent company’s amounts owed by subsidiaries, £149.0 million is imgaired (2018: £151.4 million). Future expected credit losses on

amounts receivable from subsidiaries are immaterial.

6 Other payables

2018 2018
£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 244.5 2541
Qther creditors 4.1 23
Accruals and deferred income 3.3 6.5
2519 2629
Amounts owed to Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.
7 Guarantees
The Company has provided financial guarantees amounting to £19.1 million {2018 £37.2 million) in respect of bank and other facilities of
subsidiaries and joint ventures.
8 Borrowings
2018 208
J— £m £m
Current borrowings
Overdrafts 1.5 249
Bank loans - 404
1.5 74.3
Non-current borrowings
Bank loans 82.9 240.8
82.9 2408

Detaiis of the bank Joans are given in note 21 1o the consolidated financial staterments,
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continved

31 December 2019

9 Financial instruments

The fair value of the financial instruments disclosed in the Company’s statement of financial position are as follows:

Financial instruments

Carrying
amount Valuation
Carrying within scope categeryin Fair value
amount ofiIFR87 accordance fair value hierarchy
£m £m  with IFRS 9 £m teyel
Other receivables 871.0 876.8 AC 876.8 Level 2
Cash and cash equivalents 21.8 21.8 AC 218 Level 2
Derivatives — no hedge accounting 4.9 4.9 FVTPL 4.9 Level 2
Total assets 903.7 903.5 903.5
Borrowings (82.9) {82.9) AC (84.6) Level2
Trade and other payables {251.9) {251.9) AC (251.9}) Level 2
Derivatives — no hedge accounting (11.0) (11.0) FVTPL (11.0) Level2
Derivatives — hedge accounting (3.3) (3.3} FVTOCI (3.3} Level2
Total liabilities (349.1) (349.1) {350.8)
1. AC: amortised cost; FYTOCH fair value through ether comprehensive incorne; FYTPL: fair value through profit or loss.
Further disclosures on financial instruments are included in note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.
10 Share capital and share premium
Details of the Company's share capital and share premium are shown in note 27 of the consolicated financial statements.
11 Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Qwnership Cwnarship
Country of incorporation and registered address Principal activity % Country of incorporation and registered address Principal actwvity %
United Kingdom Austria
Central Road, Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH lndustriepark, Pischelsdorf, 3435
Dimex Limited Holding Company 100 Synthomer Austria GmiH Trading 100

Holding Company 1008
Holding Company 1002
Holding Company 100

Ecatto Limited
Harlow Chemical Company Limited
PolymerLatex Limited

Revertex Lirnited Dormant 1008
S.A. (300) Limited Holding Company 1008
Star Pharma Limited Dormant 100

Holding Company 5042
Trading 100

Holding Company 1002
Holding Company 1002
Dormant 100
Dormant 100°

Helding Company 100%
Holding Company 100
Helding Gompany 1002
Holding Gompany 1008
Holding Company 100
Dormant 100

Trading 100

Dorrnant 1002

Super Sky Limited
Synthomer (UK} Limited
Synthomer Holdings Limited
Synthomer Overseas Limited
Temple Fields 510

Temple Fields 512 Limited
Temples Fields 514 Limited
Temple Fields 515 Limited
Termple Fields 522 Limited
Temple Fields 523 Limited
Temple Fields 530 Limited
Temple Fields 534 Limited
William Biythe Limited

Yule Catto Overseas

45 Palf Mall, London, SWtY 5.)G

Synthomer Trading Limited Trading 100

44 Esplanade, $t Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG

Synthomer Jersey Limited 1002

Dormant

Australia
58 Gipps Street, Collingwood, Victoria, 3066

Synthomer Austradia Pty Limited R Trading 100
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Brazil
Av. Casa Verde, 3100, Sala 1, Casa Verde, Sao Paulo, 02520-
300

Synthomer Participacoes Ltda
China

Building 53-55, 1000 Zhangheng Road,
Zhangjiang High-Tech Park, Pudong, Shanghai, 201203

Shanghal Synthomer Chemicals Co Ltd Trading 160
Czech Republic

Tovarnf 2093, Sokolov, 356 01
Synthomer AS

V Celnici 1031/4, Prague, 110 00
Synthomer Heldings (CZE) SRO
Egypt

Industriel Zone 1-B, 10th of Ramadam City, Sharkiya
Synthomer SAE Trading 88
Finland

PO Box 175, Oulu, F1 90101
Synthomer Finland Cy
France

704 rue Pierre et Marie Curie, Ribécourt-Dreslincourt, 60170
Synthomer France SAS Trading 100
6 Place de 'a Madelaine, Paris, 75008
Yule Catto France SA

Yule Catto International SA

Trading 100

Trading 100

Non-Trading 100

Trading 100

Non-Trading 100
Non-Trading 100




Ownership Ownership
Gountry of incorpcration and registered address Principal actvity % Country of incorporation and registered address Principal activity %
Germany T usA
Werrastrasse 10, Marl, 45768 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atjanta, GA, 30361
Synthomer Deutschiand GmbH Trading 100 Synthomer LLC Trading 100
Temple Fields GmbH Non-Trading 100 Yule Catte Inc Non-Trading 100
Temple Fields GmbH & Co Chemie cHG Nen-Trading 100 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, DE, 19904
Tempile Fields Verwaltungs GmbH Non-Trading 106 Synthomer USA LLC Trading 100
Yule Catto Holdings GmbH Holding Company 100 Vietnam
Ialy 8, 6th Street, Song Than Industrial Park, Di An

Via delle Industrie 9, Filago, BG, 24040
Synthomer Sir,.

Via Morozzo 27, Sant’Albano Stura, CN, 12040
Synthomer Specialty Resins S.r.l.
Piazza Cavour 3, Milano, MI, 20121
UQUIFA Italia S.r.l.

Malaysia

Unit 16-2, Wisma Uoa Damansara ll, 6 Changkat Semantan,
Damansara Heights, Kuala Lumpur, 50490

Trading 100

Trading 100

Non-Trading 100

Desa Baiduri Sdn Bhd Property Letting 70
Fine Chemicals Sdn Bhd Non-Trading 70
Kind Action (M) Sdn Bhd Trading 70
PolymerLatex Sdn Bhd Trading 100
Quality Polymer Sdn Bhd Trading 70
Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhao Trading 70
Rexplas Sdn Bhd Dormant 70

Trading 100
Holding Company 100

Synthorner Sdn Bhd

Terra Simfoni Sdn Bhd
Netherlands

ljsselstraat 41, Oss, 5347 KG
Synthomer BY

Trading 100

Yule Catto BV Non-Trading 100
Yule Catto Nederland BV Non-Trading 100
Saudi Arabia

27 Street, 2nd Industrial City, Dammam, 31472
Synthomer Middle East Company Ltd

Spain

Camino de Sangroniz 8, Sondika, 48150
Synthomer Asua SL

Rambia de Catalunya 53, Barceiona, 08007
Yule Catto Spain SL Non-TFrading 100
Sweden

Tostarpsvagen 11, Kavlinge, 244 32
Synthomer Speciality Additives AB
Thaitand

219/16 Moo 6, Bowin, Si Racha, Chonburi, 20230

Synthomer (Thailand} Limited Trading 100
Synthomer Bangkok Limited Trading 100
Synthomer Holdings (Thailand) Limited Non-Trading 100
UAE

Building 2101, Office $10122A2, Jabel Ali Free Zone, Dubai
Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Trading 49

Trading 49 ]

Trading 100

Trading 100

East Wing 2, Office 201, Po Box 54645,
Dubai Airport Free Zone, Dubai

Synthomer FZE Trading a9

Synthemer Vietnam Co Ltd Trading 60

Notes

1. Joint ventures.

2. Harlow Chemicat Company Limited s incorporated in UK but 1s resident in Netherands,
3. Shares directly held by Synthomer pic.
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Other information

Glossary of terms

AGM Annual General Meeting Net debt Cash and cash eguivalents together with short- and
AIMS Accident and Incident Management System long-term borrowings
APMs Alternative Performance Measures NO, Nitrogen Oxides
C&C Construction and Coatings Operating Cperating profit represents profit from continuing
CarF Carpet and Foam profit activities before finance costs and taxation
Capital Net assets excluding third party net debt BT Profit Before Tax
employed PE Performance Elastomers
coP Carbon Disclosure Project PHA Process Hazard Assessment L
cGU Cash Generating Unit PPE Property, Plant and Equipment
CH, Methane FPSA Pressure Sensitive Adhesive
CiA Chemical Industries Association PSE Process Safety Events
CQ, Carbon Dioxide PSP Performance Share Plan
COse Carbon Dioxide equivalent PTW Permit to Work
Constant Reflects current year results for existing business PvC Polyviny! Chioride
currency translated at the prior year's average exchange R&D Research and Development
rates, and includes the impact of acquisitions RC Responsible Care -
CRM Customer Relationship Management system ROIC Return on Invested Capital is calculated as Group
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility Underlying operating profit as a percentage of
DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Group capital employed
EBITDA EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before SBR Styrene Butadiene Rubber
depreciation, amortisation and Special ltems sSD Sustainable Development
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting SEC Specific Energy Gonsumption
EPS Earnings Per Share SHE Safety, Health and Environment
ERP Enterprise Resource Planning SHEMS Safety, Health and Environment Management
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance Systemn i
FEED Front End Engineering Design The Cods The UK Corporate Governance Code
FP i Functional Polymers TSR Tatal Shareholder Return
FRC Financial Reporting Council UK GAAP UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
Free Cash The movement in net debt before financing Underlying Underlying perfermance represents the statutory
Flow activities, foreign exchange and the cash impact performance perfaormance of the Group under IFRS, excluding
of Special ltlems, asset disposals and business Special ltems
combinations VOCs Volatile Organic Cempounds
FRS Financial Reporting Standard
FS Functional Solutions
GHGs Greenhouse Gases
GJ Gigajoule
GRI Global Reporting nitiative
GWP Global Warming Potential
H&P Health and Protection
HR Hurman Resources
HSSBR High Solids Styrene Butadiene Rubber
1AS International Accounting Standard
ICCA International Council of Chemical Associations
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
1S Industrial Specialities
ISA International Standards of Auditing
KPis Key Performance Indicators
ktes Kitotonne or 1,000 tonnes (metric) o
LTA Lost Time Accident
LTIP Long-Term Incentive Plan
M&A Mergers and Acquisitions
MOC Management of Change
MYR Malaysian Ringgits
NG Nitrous Oxide
NBR Nitrile Butadiene Rubber
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Five-year financial summary

2
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 é’
£m £m £m £m m 5]
Revenue 1,459.1 16189 14802 1,045.7 8701
Underlying performance {3
EBITDA {b) 177.9 181.0 176.2 1601 125.0
QOperating profit [(9)] 1258 1421 139.0 130.2 102.9
Finance costs {9.6) (7.0) (9.0) 8.0 (7.6)
Profit before taxation 116.2 135.1 130.0 122.2 95.3 g’
Basic earnings per share {f} 25.3p 30.7p 287p 26.4p 20.1p 5
Dividends per share ) 10.9p 12.2p 1.4p 10.5p 8.0p §
Dividend cover 23 25 25 25 25
IFRS
Operating profit (c) 110.6 128.7 95.4 1447 803
Finance costs {10.1) 8.4) 9.0} 8.0) (7.8)
Profit before taxation 100.5 120.3 86.4 136.7 725 5
Basic earnings per share {f} 21.5p 27.4p 20.3p 30.3p 16.61 g
Dividends per share {f} 10.8p 12.2p 11.4p 10.5p 8.0p %
Dividend cover 2.0 2.2 1.8 2.9 21 é
g
Net debt (d) 20.7 (214.0) (180.5) (150.3) (B0.1) ;E}
Capital expenditure (e} 69.1 757 6C.3 45.6 228 C

Nates:

(a) As presented in the consolidated income statement on page 111,
(b} As defined in the accounting pohicies note and reconciled in note 5.
{c) As defined in the accounting policies note on page 116.

(d) As reconciled in note 21,

{e) As presented on the consolidated cash flow statemant
{f} Dividends and earnings per share figures for 2018 and prior have been restated to reflact the bonus
factor of 1.0713 ansing from tha rights issus which completed on 28 Juty 2019,
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Other information

Advisers

Registered office
Synthomer plc

Temple Fields

Harlow

Essex

CM20 2BH

Registered number 28381

Company Secretary
Richard Atkinson

Bankers

Barclays Bank plc

Commerzbank AG

HSBC Bank plc

Citibank

Lloyds Bank plc

SEB

China Construction Bank Corporation

Joint stockbrokers

Barclays Bank pic and Numis Securities Ltd

156 Synthomer plc Annual Report 2019

Registrars

Computershare investor Services plc
Lochside House

7 Lochside Avenue

Edinburgh Park

Edinburgh

EH12 9DJ

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers |LLP
Chartered Accountants and
Statutory Auditors

London

Solicitors
Herbert Smith Freehills L1 P
Squire Patton Boggs (UK) LLP



